Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of lettuce downy mildew

Alicia Ann Farmer

A thesis submitted for the degree of PhD at the University of St Andrews



2024

Full metadata for this thesis is available in St Andrews Research Repository at: <u>https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/</u>

Identifier to use to cite or link to this thesis: DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.17630/sta/1130</u>

This item is protected by original copyright

This item is licensed under a Creative Commons Licence <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

Candidate's declaration

I, Alicia Ann Farmer, do hereby certify that this thesis, submitted for the degree of PhD, which is approximately 70,000 words in length, has been written by me, and that it is the record of work carried out by me, or principally by myself in collaboration with others as acknowledged, and that it has not been submitted in any previous application for any degree. I confirm that any appendices included in my thesis contain only material permitted by the 'Assessment of Postgraduate Research Students' policy.

I was admitted as a research student at the University of St Andrews in January 2020.

I received funding from an organisation or institution and have acknowledged the funder(s) in the full text of my thesis.

Date 02/10/2024 Signature of candidate

Supervisor's declaration

I hereby certify that the candidate has fulfilled the conditions of the Resolution and Regulations appropriate for the degree of PhD in the University of St Andrews and that the candidate is qualified to submit this thesis in application for that degree. I confirm that any appendices included in the thesis contain only material permitted by the 'Assessment of Postgraduate Research Students' policy.

Date 30/09/2024 Signature of supervisor

Permission for publication

In submitting this thesis to the University of St Andrews we understand that we are giving permission for it to be made available for use in accordance with the regulations of the University Library for the time being in force, subject to any copyright vested in the work not being affected thereby. We also understand, unless exempt by an award of an embargo as requested below, that the title and the abstract will be published, and that a copy of the work may be made and supplied to any bona fide library or research worker, that this thesis will be electronically accessible for personal or research use and that the library has the right to migrate this thesis into new electronic forms as required to ensure continued access to the thesis.

I, Alicia Ann Farmer, confirm that my thesis does not contain any third-party material that requires copyright clearance.

The following is an agreed request by candidate and supervisor regarding the publication of this thesis:

Printed copy

No embargo on print copy.

Electronic copy

No embargo on electronic copy.

Date 02/10/2024 Signature of candidate

Date 30/09/2024 Signature of supervisor

Underpinning Research Data or Digital Outputs

Candidate's declaration

I, Alicia Ann Farmer, hereby certify that no requirements to deposit original research data or digital outputs apply to this thesis and that, where appropriate, secondary data used have been referenced in the full text of my thesis.

Date 02/10/2024 Signature of candidate

Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew. Population diversity and epidemiology of Bremia lactucae the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

Abstract

Bremia lactucae is an obligate biotroph that causes Lettuce Downy Mildew (LDM), a foliar disease of lettuce which negatively affects crop value though reduced yield and quality. Emergence of new strains of *B. lactucae* that can overcome host resistance or result in reduced sensitivity to fungicide active ingredients is a consistent risk to LDM management and crop production.

From the 254 UK samples of *B. lactucae* collected and genotyped successfully using ten SSR loci, 135 multilocus genotypes were identified. Evidence was found of widespread incidence of heterokaryosis and overwintering clonal lineages. At least one UK isolate was able to overcome each differential line in IBEB differential set-C, of which cv Dandie containing *Dm3* was least overcome by isolates tested. Of 15 *B. lactucae* samples tested with the fungicide active ingredients axoystrobin, mandipropamid and dimethomorph, no fungicide insensitivity was observed. No conclusive evidence of association between genotype to fungicide insensitivity nor virulence was obtained. When trials were inoculated with isolates of various pathogen genotypes, cultivar choice was found to greatly influence the population diversity of *B. lactucae*, with specific MLLs associated with some of the trial cultivars.

The study of aerial dispersal of sporangia using the LAMP assay and aerial samplers found it was predominantly local to infected plants (<5m). DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected up to 100m from an inoculum source. In commercial environments detection using the LAMP assay was as early as two days before LDM was reported in field, with symptomatic plants observed ~50-80m away from samplers.

The UK population of *B. lactucae*, based on samples collected, is diverse in genotype and phenotype. LDM management should account for the genetic flexibility of *B. lactucae* heterokaryons, which may contribute to overwintering soil-borne inoculum, and aerial dispersion of sporangia, which transmits the pathogen and can contribute to gene flow.

General acknowledgments

After 4 years of work there are quite a few people to acknowledge and thank for their help and guidance in completing this thesis, especially during the stress of Covid which hit roughly a month into the start of this PhD. I'll begin in no particular order.

To my supervisors, thank you for all your support. Alison Lees for guidance and keeping me on track. David Cooke for always seeing the positive. John Jones for navigating the St. Andrews system, and Tim Pettit for your ideas for experiments.

A great thanks to the James Hutton Institute for hosting my PhD. A big thanks to the wonderful people at Hutton, including the whole coffee break crew. Special thanks to James Lynott, Beatrix Keillor, and Louise Sullivan, for helping cover me with fieldwork especially when I had Covid, and for being such a great wealth of experience and knowledge. Jennie Brierley for help with the LAMP assay. Eva Randall for hosting me in lab and teaching advanced lab cleaning protocols. Linda Milne for the screening of SF5 genome for SSRs. Thank you also to Michelmore's group at UC Davis, especially Charlotte Acharya for sharing her SSRs. Thanks to G's Fresh and Kettle Produce for their support during the PhD.

To my mum, a big thanks for being incredibly supportive of me in every step of this PhD journey, from heading up to Scotland, to looking after me in the final writing push. My dad for encouraging me to do further education. My siblings, for consistently being their goofy selves. My cats Poppy and Pippin, in addition to Paws the friendly cat away from home. My wider family for their support and listening to me talk about the PhD subject even when I got excited and spoke to much in science jargon.

A big thanks to all my friends. Jeni, Trisha and Akis for being great PhD mentors, and for the game nights. Anna, Matthew and Coline for the great joy and the IKEA-Costco trip of wonder, and the Raft nights. Sophia, for being my PhD cohort co-buddy, and for having the best cake recommendations. Martina, my ride or die since 6th form may we continue our journey forwards. George, Owen, and Louis, for poster advice and video hangouts. Jack for being the calm, the logic, and love, helping me to balance life with work.

Honourable mentions to the font Comic sans MS for making editing easier, the Tay river for being an excellent view from my window, the video games Minecraft and FFXIV for provisioning long distance hangout especially during Covid, along with caffeine for helping with everything thesis.

Funding acknowledgment:

This work was supported by the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB).

Population diversity and epidemiology of Bremia lactucae the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

Contents

Abstract		2
General ack	knowledgments	3
Funding ack	knowledgment:	4
Chapter 1	Introduction	11
1.1 Let	ttuce	11
1.1.1	Lactuca spp. taxonomy, classification, and distribution	11
1.1.2	Lettuce (<i>Lactuca sativa</i>) as a crop	12
1.1.3	Lettuce breeding	13
1.1.4	Lettuce cultivation	15
1.1.5	Crop protection and common diseases	16
1.1.6	Lettuce downy mildew (LDM)	17
1.2 Bre	<i>emia lactucae,</i> the cause of LDM	19
1.2.1	Oomycetes and the taxonomy of <i>B. lactucae</i>	19
1.2.2	B. lactucae geographical distribution and hosts	20
1.2.3	<i>B. lactucae</i> lifecycle	20
1.2.4	Environmental parameters: role in LDM epidemiology	25
1.2.5	Genetics of <i>B. lactucae</i>	29
1.3 LD	DM management	31
1.3.1	Host resistance	31
1.3.2	Chemical control	
1.3.3	Disease forecasting and other management tools	35
1.3.4	Management challenges	
1.4 Ob	oserving and monitoring pathogen population genetics	40

1.5 Literature conclusion, thesis aims and outline	1 6
Chapter 2 Development of a Simple Sequence Repeat marker assay for genotyping samples	of
B. lactucae	1 7
2.1 Background to SSR assay development	1 7
2.2 Methodology	51
2.2.1 UCD SSR marker selection	51
2.2.2 Testing UCD SSR markers in singleplex reactions	54
2.2.3 Testing UCD SSR markers with universal tags in multiplex reactions	55
2.2.4 Additional markers developed at Hutton from the <i>B. lactucae</i> genome	57
2.2.5 Progression from the universal tags to testing unique fluorescently labelled prime	rs
	54
2.3 Analysis of data in GeneMapper	58
2.4 Results	70
2.4.1 UCD SSR Primers amplification in singleplex	70
2.4.2 The effect of annealing temperature in the downstream analysis of UCD candida	te
markers	73
2.4.3 The effect of split-pooling on allele detection from products of the multiple	ex
reaction	75
2.4.4 Hutton designed SSR Primer amplification	77
2.4.5 Multiplex testing with integration of the UCD and Hutton markers, and DNA from	m
FTA cards	30
2.4.6 Amplification observed with labelled primers in singleplex and multiplex testing	••
	35
2.5 Finalised Assay	39
2.6 Discussion	€€

Chapter 3	The genotypic and phenotypic diversity of the UK population of <i>B. lactucae</i>	94
3.1 I	ntroduction	94
3.1.1	Aims	97
3.2 N	Naterials and methods	98
3.2.1	Bremia lactucae isolate collection, maintenance, and storage	98
3.2.2	Isolate characterization	99
3.2.3	Assessing <i>B. lactucae</i> virulence profiles	99
3.2.4	Fungicide insensitivity testing	100
3.2.5	Data Analysis	100
3.3 F	Results	102
3.3.1	Overview of genetic diversity of UK samples of <i>B. lactucae</i>	102
3.3.2	Marker discriminatory power	105
3.3.3	Population structure determined by <i>K</i> -means clustering	107
3.3.4	Analysis of structure and reproductive mode	114
3.3.5	Virulence	117
3.3.6	Association between SSR genotype and virulence	118
3.3.7	Fungicide Insensitivity and association with genotype	121
3.4 I	Discussion	126
3.5 C	Conclusion	132
Chapter 4	Investigating selection in <i>B. lactucae</i>	133
4.1 E	Background	133
4.1.1	Aims	135
4.2 N	/lethodology	136
4.2.1	Mark and recapture experiment	136

4.2.2	Data Analysis
4.2.3	Preliminary examination of differential selection
4.3 Res	ults141
4.3.1	Trial 1
4.3.2	Trial 2
4.3.3	Selection of alleles of isolates of <i>B. lactucae</i> on lettuce differentials
4.4 Dise	cussion
4.5 Cor	nclusion
Chapter 5	Validation and application of a real-time LAMP assay for the detection of <i>B. lactucae</i>
5.1 Bac	kground information172
5.1.1	Benefits of diagnostic assays:
5.1.2	<i>B. lactucae</i> diagnostic assays
5.1.3	LAMP assays and their use as early warning tools174
5.1.4	Validation of diagnostic assays
5.1.5	Aims and objectives
Part A. Ev	aluating sensitivity of the LAMP assay178
5.2 Mat	terials and methods
5.2.1	DNA extraction from sporangial suspensions178
5.2.2	LAMP assay protocol178
5.2.3	qPCR assay protocol
5.2.4	Sensitivity of detection of DNA of <i>B. lactucae</i> from aerial sampling rods to which
sporang	ia were added artificially179
5.2.5	Melt-curve analysis

5.3	Det	rection and quantification of DNA of <i>B. lactucae</i> from Rotorods using the LAMP an	d
qPCI	R assa	ıy18	2
5.3	3.1	Detection limit of LAMP and qPCR assay18	62
5.3	3.2	Detection of DNA of <i>B. lactucae</i> from Rotorods to which sporangia had been adde	d 33
5.3	3.3	Comparison of <i>B. lactucae</i> detection from Rotorod samplers compared with control.	ls \$5
5.3	3.4	Assessing LAMP CT cut-off values	57
5.3	3.5	Assessing qPCR CT cut-off values	7
5.3	3.6	Parameters for determining a positive result	8
5.3	3.7	Comparison of LAMP and qPCR assays	8
5.4	Dis	cussion19	0
Part	B. Im	plementing the LAMP diagnostic under field conditions	1
5.5	Ma	terials and methods19	1
5.5	5.1	Monitoring aerial dispersal of sporangia of <i>B. lactucae</i> from an inoculum source 19	1
5.5	5.2	Examining timing of sporangial release from diseased plants	3
5.5	5.3	Commercial field site testing	4
5.5	5.4	Sample purification	7
5.5	5.5	Data analysis	7
5.6	Res	ults19	9
5.6	5.1	Dispersal gradient of sporangia of <i>B. lactucae</i> originating from an inoculum source	e 19
5.6	5.2	Timing of sporangial release21	4
5.6	5.3	Aerial sampling at commercial field sites21	.7

5	5.6.4	.4 Inhibition and contamination	
5.7	,	Discussion	
5.8		Conclusion	
Chap	oter	r 6 General discussion, conclusions and future directions	231
6.1		Reiteration of research problem and aims	
6.2		Key results	
6.3		Study limitations	
6.4		Recommendations for future directions	234
6.5		Conclusion	
Refer	enc	nces	
Appe	endi	tix	
i.	DI	ONA extraction of aerial sampler samples	
ii.	Bi	Binary data-set rules	

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Lettuce

1.1.1 Lactuca spp. taxonomy, classification, and distribution

The genus *Lactuca* L. is currently classified within the subtribe Lactucinae, tribe Cichorieae (also called Lactuceae), subfamily Cichorioideae of the Asteraceae family (previously Compositae) which is the largest family of flowering plants (Kilian et al., 2009; Wei et al., 2017).

The taxonomic position and boundaries of *Lactuca* lineage (or *Lactuca* alliance sensu, Kilian et al., 2017) have been a topic of extensive deliberation, encompassing complications arising from reliance on morphological characteristics and geographical locations (both of which are diverse, Lebeda et al., 2004), and molecular based phylogenetics (Koopman et al., 1998, 2001) for identifying where and what constitutes a *Lactuca* species as reviewed by Koopman et al. (1998); Lebeda et al. (2019); Wang et al. (2013); Wei et al. (2017).

To summarise, only recent comprehensive molecular phylogenetic studies (Kilian et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2017), using nuclear recombinant DNA (rDNA) internal transcribed spacer (ITS) (Kilian et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2013), neutral chloroplast markers (Kilian et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2013) and chloroplast genes (Wei et al., 2017) on a geographically wide and species diverse combination of accessions has led to a general consensus than most generic groupings do not reflect molecular phylogenetics. For example, the study by Wei et al. (2017) suggested there are two distinct clades within *Lactuca*, the crop clade and *Pterocypsela* clade. However, with biogeographical and divergence dating analysis (Kilian et al., 2017) the resolved lineages were referred as not "practical taxonomical entities", suggesting multiple independent migrations occurred in different geographical locations leading to the complex taxonomic tree.

Prior *Lactuca* groupings suggest there are currently 98 formally described wild *Lactuca* spp. (Lebeda et al., 2004); although estimates suggest that more than 100 *Lactuca* species may exist but roughly 40 are part of the *Lactuca* lineage (Kilian et al., 2017). *Lactuca* species predominately occur naturally in the northern hemisphere in temperate and warm regions (Lebeda et al., 2004) and a majority of wild *Lactuca* spp. are native to Africa and Asia, (Petrželová & Lebeda, 2004).

According to Lebeda et al. (2004) most *Lactuca* spp. are characteristically xerophytes, adapted for dry climatic regions, though there is diversity in the ecological habitats with *Lactuca* spp evident in wasteland environments to rocky slopes, sandy shingles, and woodland habitats.

Sixteen species of *Lactuca* have been documented to be native to Europe (Petrželová & Lebeda, 2004) with four of these; *L. serriola*, *L. sativa*, *L. virosa* and *L. saligna* reported in the UK (Carter & Oswald, 1998; Oswald, 2000). Several species in the *Lactuca* genus have been considered to have the common (vernacular) name of "lettuce" but in general this refers to the horticultural crop *Lactuca sativa* and will be referred to in this way hereafter (Frietema, 1994; Lebeda et al., 2002).

1.1.2 Lettuce (Lactuca sativa) as a crop

Lettuce is thought to have been domesticated in Egypt, with the presumed first record dated at 4500 BC, (Lindqvist, 1960; Whitaker, 1969). The first evidence of lettuce cultivation in Egypt was as early as 2680 BC, in which the crop was predominately used for producing seed oil (Noumedem et al., 2017). The Egyptian cultivated lettuce was introduced to Greece and Rome from where it spread around Europe, with many varieties being developed in this region between the late 16th and the early 18th century (Noumedem et al., 2017).

One of the attractive qualities of *L. sativa* is its genetic plasticity, which is attributed to its capacity for self-fertilisation. Through selective breeding, this diploid plant can achieve considerable variation in morphology, flavour, and texture (Kim et al., 2016; Whitaker, 1969). Lettuce cultivars are often roughly grouped into morphological forms. According to classification criteria (Křístková et al., 2008), there are seven main cultivar types of *L. sativa*: Butterhead, Crisphead, Cos, Cutting, Stalk (also called asparagus lettuce or celtuce), Latin and Oilseed lettuce. Most lettuce cultivar types are produced for the fresh market, with the exceptions of stalk and oilseed.

The popularity of lettuce types differs between global regions, with the Stalk (or stem) type (*L. sativa* var. *angustana*) being more commonly grown in China and Crisphead lettuce being the most popular type in the US (Kim et al., 2016). FAO statistics (FAOSTAT, 2021), which group chicory with lettuce, indicate that the largest producer of lettuce (and chicory) is China, followed by the US, with 15.5 million tonnes and 3.7 million tonnes produced respectively in 2018. In 2017, 99,000 tonnes of lettuce, worth £184 million, were produced in the UK, utilising 4% of UK land

designated for field crops and representing 16% of the total value of all the UK's field produced vegetable crops (DEFRA, 2023). UK spending on prepared chilled leafy greens and vegetables was in excess of £1.1 million in 2021, which was more than twice that recorded in 2008 (Statista, 2023).

1.1.3 Lettuce breeding

The breeding history of lettuce is complicated due to geographical spread, its capacity to be intercrossed with wild species, the demand for different morphological types and specific targeting of regional pests and pathogens of lettuce. Cultivated lettuce is considered to have a primary gene pool based on *L. sativa* derived cultivars and land races (Lebeda et al., 2001). In recent years, desirable traits have been introgressed into *L. sativa* from other wild *Lactuca* species, predominately *L. serriola*, as it is fully cross-compatible and interfertile with *L. sativa* (Lebeda et al., 2001, 2009). Other *Lactuca* species are more challenging to cross directly with *L. sativa* (Lebeda et al., 2001; van Soest & Boukema, 1997). However, the observed high interfertility of *L. serriola* with other wild *Lactuca* species, such as *L. aculeata*, and *L. dregeana*, has allowed indirect introgression of traits (Lebeda et al., 2009; Zohary, 1991). For example, there are multiple documentations of introgression of wild varieties to commercial cultivar lines to improve crop resistance to disease (Crute, 1992a, 1992b; Giesbers et al., 2018; Lebeda et al., 2002, 2014; Mikel, 2007); a specific example would be the cultivar Titan developed by Sluis & Groot from introgressing *L. saligna* (accession originally from Israel) into another commercial cultivar providing *Dm6* resistance to *B. lactucae* (Lebeda et al., 2002).

According to Lebeda et al. (2014) the categorisation of *Lactuca* species into *L. sativa* gene pools still requires clarification, this could be in part due to the difficulties in determining the *Lactuca* lineage, as Lettuce is generally believed to be polyphyletic in origin (Lebeda et al., 2019). The *Lactuca* lineage alliance (Kilian et al., 2017) or *Lactuca* subsect *Lactuca*, (sensu Koopman et al. (1998, 2001)) are generally very closely related (conspecific) *Lactuca* species which could be capable donors of useful genetics (Lebeda et al., 2014). Though there are discrepancies in the groupings of donor wild-type species, generally the primary gene-pool reported for cultivated lettuce includes *L. sativa*, *L. serriola*, and secondary including *L. saligna* and *L. virosa* (Kilian et al., 2017;

Koopman et al., 1998, 2001; Lebeda et al., 2004). Though comparatively studied in less depth than European species, there are Asian and African *Lactuca* species that are reportedly grouped within primary, secondary, and tertiary gene-pools for *L. sativa*, such as *L. dregeana*, *L. altaica*, *L. georgica*, all of which could provide genetic material in lettuce breeding (Kilian et al., 2017; Koopman et al., 1998, 2001; Lebeda et al., 2004)

Availability of data on UK lettuce variety pedigrees is limited, however the genealogy and genetic composition of US cultivars from 1970-2010 has been documented (Mikel, 2007, 2013). Despite the genetic diversity available from many wild type accessions and species, limited parental material was often used to select for particular morphologies. The cultivar 'Parris Island Cos' was reported to contribute 25.9% of genes in most US romaine cultivars (Mikel, 2013). As a result of low genetic diversity within each morphotype, cultivars of the same morphotype can be similarly susceptible or resistant to the same pathogen through limited resistance diversity. For example, many modern crisphead (iceberg) lettuce cultivars have a recessive allele *cor* which confers resistance to corky root, a disease caused by a bacterium *Sphingomonas suberifaciens* (Lebeda et al., 2014; Mou et al., 2007). Similarly, modern varieties of crisphead lettuce were conferred with resistance to the *Tombusviridae* virus family that causes lettuce dieback, whereas all romaine cultivars were not (Grube et al., 2005).

Contemporary breeding includes genomic techniques, such as marker assisted selection, that can screen genotype at seedling stage (Collard & Mackill, 2008). Therefore, traits controlled by major resistance (R) genes or large effect quantitative trait loci (QTLs), can be identified by early generational testing (Hayes & Simko, 2016). Cultivar traits can be curated with the utilization of CRISPR Cas-9 to precisely modify the genome, a technique known as genome editing. (Rönspies et al., 2021). Genomic regions that favour resistance have been identified, for example, chromosome 2 in lettuce contains Dm3/RGC2 the largest resistance gene cluster, which includes several *B. lactucae* resistance genes (Dm), along with Root aphid (Ra), and a *Tombusviridae* resistance locus (Tvr1) (Grube et al., 2005; Meyers et al., 1998). There are gene characteristics that can and have been used to identify these important genome regions for breeding, for example leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) are common in major R genes (reviewed in Baker et al. (1997)). In

addition to genomics, contemporary breeding can utilise optic sensors for high throughput phenotyping. For example, young lettuce plants were subjected to temperature and salinity stress and were evaluated through the usage of hyperspectral imaging and chlorophyll fluorescence imaging (Simko et al., 2016). In addition to "speed breeding", in which the breeding cycle is reduced through careful management of the growing environment including but not limited to photoperiod, light intensity, CO₂ concentration and temperature (He et al., 2024; Watson et al., 2018).

1.1.4 Lettuce cultivation

Lettuce production is usually grouped into two types; protected and field grown. Protected refers to sheltered or indoor growing, including but not limited to, greenhouses and hydroponic systems. Field production can be achieved by direct sowing of lettuce seeds into the soil, though it is common to sow indoors and transplant seedlings to fields (Wallace et al., 2012). Intensification of lettuce production through practices of monoculture, successive plantings, use of fertilisers and chemical control have contributed to increasing yields for this agricultural crop (Barrière et al., 2014; Michelmore & Wong, 2008).

Lettuce production can generate a potentially large income for a small area of land in the UK. However, as noted in the guide to standards (AHDB, 2022; Assurance, 2015, 2016; Red Tractor Assurance, 2015, 2016) many inputs are required for its cultivation. A US-based study (Tourte et al., 2017) estimated total operating costs to produce and harvest iceberg lettuce on a conventional farm in the central coast region to be \$9,947 per acre. However, the study noted that the profit margins can be narrow, dependant on a fluctuation in the amount and costs of input required in a particular growing season.

Lettuce crops tend to have a short growing period, taking 43-65 days from seed to harvest for most varieties, and around 30 days for baby leaf salad (Simko, 2019; Wallace et al., 2012). This allows for several successional plantings in a growing season, thus maximising production on a relatively a small area of land. Lettuce cultivation requires careful management to reduce the impact of pests and diseases whilst maintaining quality.

A key element of lettuce cultivation is to ensure that the crop complies with crop marketing and agricultural regulations. In the UK there are strict guidelines (DEFRA, 2011; MAFF, 1999) on marketing crops, which include the amount of fungicide residue, nutrient levels and overall crop appearance, these traits can determine the marketability of the crop. An example of UK marketing regulations regarding lettuce is the maximum nitrogen level allowed in the marketable lettuce heads. Excessive nitrogen contributes to environmental damage, such as eutrophication, reduces crop yield, and contributes to consumer health problems. For these reasons the UK has set a maximum of 4000 mg nitrate kg⁻¹ in lettuce harvested between April and September, and 5000 mg nitrate kg⁻¹ in lettuce harvested between October and March (Aydinsakir et al., 2019; Red Tractor Assurance, 2016). A preliminary WRAP study into crop wastage has estimated lettuce crop losses of around 24% of lettuce head weight was left in field due to crop trimming, for 2015 lettuce crop wastage (including trimming) was estimated at £7 million in the UK (Sheane et al., 2017).

1.1.5 Crop protection and common diseases

In general, intensification of lettuce production, such as monoculture and successional planting, has created an environment that is conducive to pests and diseases.

Cultural control measures such as removal of infected crop material, or treatment of crop residues before rotovation into the soil or removal from the field, can reduce the impact and spread of many pathogens (Barrière et al., 2014; Red Tractor Assurance, 2016). Crop rotation can be used for pathogen management and in lettuce production this typically includes Solanaceaeous and Cucurbitaceae crops (Barrière et al., 2014). Prophylactic calendar-based agrochemical application is often used on lettuce to protect the crop, even in the absence of pathogens, to ensure and preserve the marketability of the lettuce crop (Barrière et al., 2014).

Key Lettuce diseases in the UK are Fusarium wilt caused by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lactucae* (AHDB, 2019a; Barrière et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2018), Ring Spot (*Microdochium panattonianum*) (AHDB, 2019a), Grey mould (*Botrytis cinerea*) (AHDB, 2019a), Lettuce Downy mildew (LDM) (*Bremia lactucae*) and *Sclerotinia (Sclerotinia minor* and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*) (AHDB, 2019a; Barrière et al., 2014; Subbarao et al., 2018). Lettuce crop wastage is generally not quantified based

on individual factors i.e. pests and diseases but is instead often measured in the difference between lettuce planted and heads sold, therefore the overall impact of pests and diseases is not known (Sheane et al., 2017). From the Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) interviews on crop wastage with thirteen UK lettuce growers, four said that pests and diseases were reasons for ploughing whole areas, and ten said that pest and disease were reasons to leave individual lettuce heads in field (Sheane et al., 2017). Reportedly, diseases caused by fungi or oomycetes lead to huge crop losses (AHDB, 2019a), for example Fusarium Wilt is reported to cause losses up to 60% in the UK and Ireland (Taylor et al., 2018).

1.1.6 Lettuce downy mildew (LDM)

Lettuce downy mildew (LDM) is a disease of lettuce, which results in foliar damage that decreases the quality and thus the marketability of lettuce crop. Reduced marketability is due to lettuce being grown predominately for fresh markets requiring high crop quality standards. LDM reduces the marketability of lettuce by foliar damage, visible lesions, and discolouration. Low levels of LDM can increase post-harvest decay in storage or transit (Subbarao et al., 2018), and can incur significant crop trimming to remove infected leaves, reducing crop weight and thus economic value (Hutchinson et al., 1975; Subbarao et al., 2018). High levels of LDM can make a lettuce head completely unmarketable; in pointed lettuce, if the pathogen gets into the lettuce heart the whole head is discarded (G's Fresh, 2020; Subbarao et al., 2018).

In 1966-1969, 2% of California head lettuce weight was reportedly lost to trimming (Hutchinson et al., 1975). According to conversations with commercial lettuce growers in the UK, lettuce heads are usually trimmed by 1-2 leaves, but with LDM symptoms this can increase to 3-4 leaves, any further trimming is considered an economic loss, and the plant will not be harvested (G's Fresh, 2020).

In addition to aesthetic damage, LDM can also render lettuce unmarketable by increasing the risk of secondary pathogen infection. Simko et al. (2015) reported that LDM promoted the colonisation of romaine lettuce by the human pathogens *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* effectively rendering the lettuce crop unsafe for consumption.

LDM affects both in-field and greenhouse produced lettuce, and *B. lactucae* can infect lettuce at any growth stage, meaning it is a potential threat throughout the entirety of production. LDM related plant death tends to occur due to early infections of young plants, or indirectly through secondary infections, often through lesions turning necrotic in adult plants (Spring et al., 2018).

Economic damage caused by LDM is not generally quantified, or details are not made publicly available, however losses are estimated to be in the region of £15 million per annum in the UK (AHDB, 2019b). Due to various direct and indirect (stress related) damage caused by LDM it is difficult to define and measure the full impact. In addition, severe LDM epidemics tend to occur at a local or regional level initiated by the emergence of a new virulence phenotype of *B. lactucae* able to overcome host resistance genes used widely in the area (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b, 2003a), resulting in the economic effect being regionally concentrated (Spring et al., 2018; Subbarao et al., 2018).

1.2 Bremia lactucae, the cause of LDM

1.2.1 Oomycetes and the taxonomy of *B. lactucae*

The oomycete pathogen *Bremia lactucae* causes LDM. The oomycetes are eukaryotic stramenopiles that include many destructive plant pathogens (Beakes et al., 2012; Beakes & Thines, 2017; Fry & Grünwald, 2010). The similarities in filamentous structures observed both in fungi and oomycetes led to oomycetes being previously considered fungi (Cavalier-Smith & Chao, 2006); fungal terminology is therefore not uncommon in the literature (i.e. hyphae, fungicides). Molecular based phylogenetic analysis confirmed that oomycetes are more closely related to land plants and algae than fungi (Thines et al., 2010; Thines & Choi, 2016).

The cell wall of oomycetes are predominately composed of cellulose and glucans, (Fawke et al., 2015; Fry & Grünwald, 2010; Thines, 2014). Oomycetes tend to be coenocytic, a multinucleate condition arising from a lack of septa (cell walls) in hyphae (Fry & Grünwald, 2010). These vegetative mycelia typically have diploid nuclei (Fawke et al., 2015; Fry & Grünwald, 2010). Most oomycetes produce wall-less, motile infectious propagules called zoospores which move chemotactically towards host plants over short distances and can have an important epidemiological role in disease spread (Fry & Grünwald, 2010).

One oomycete genus that has lost zoospores is *Bremia*, which resides taxonomically within the *Peronosporaceae* family (Thines, 2014; Thines & Choi, 2016). The *Peronosporaceae* are obligate biotrophs and their survival is intrinsically linked and dependent on obtaining nutrition from a living host (Thines, 2014; Thines & Choi, 2016). *Bremia* species have therefore evolved a range of mechanisms to infect and replicate within a susceptible host, including the ability to penetrate the leaf cuticle and epidermis of suitable hosts (Lebeda et al., 2008; Norwood & Crute, 1983), creating an entry point for the pathogen to colonise leaf tissues without utilising the stomata (Michelmore & Wong, 2008).

The genus *Bremia* was initially distinguished from other *Peronosporaceae* based on sporangial morphology. The genus was presumed to have only two species which were host family specialists; *B. lactucae* which parasitised the Asteraceae (Compositae) and *B. graminaria* which affected Poaceae (Lebeda et al., 2002). However, phylogenetic analysis has since established that

within *Bremia* there are several taxonomically distinct clades, and currently 15 classified species, the majority of which are host-specific and target the Asteraceae family (Choi et al., 2011; Schoch et al., 2020; Thines & Choi, 2016).

1.2.2 *B. lactucae* geographical distribution and hosts

LDM has been reported in several *Lactuca* species, the most common hosts being *L. sativa* and *L. serriola* (Lebeda et al., 2002; Thines et al., 2010). There have been occasional reports of *B. lactucae* infecting non-*Lactuca* species including strawflower (*Helichrysum bracteatum* (Venten.) Andr.) (Koike & Ochoa, 2007). However, reports of infections by *B. lactucae* must be viewed with caution, as it was previously thought to be a monotypic species that affected a broad range of hosts (Choi et al., 2011; Thines et al., 2010).

B. lactucae has been observed wherever cultivated lettuce has been grown, most frequently in temperate climatic regions (Lebeda et al., 2002). To the author's knowledge, in-depth studies of *B. lactucae* distribution in wild *Lactuca* populations have not occurred, with the exception of the Czech Republic (Mieslerova et al., 2013; Petrželová et al., 2013; Petrželová & Lebeda, 2004) and the Netherlands (Hooftman et al., 2007) where surveys looked at wild *Lactuca* populations. Between 44.4% and 63.3% of *L. serriola* populations observed (n>65 populations) in the Czech Republic were reported to have *B. lactucae* infections from a survey during May-September of 2007-2011 (Mieslerova et al., 2013). There are records of the presence of *B. lactucae* in wild *L. serriola* populations in other European countries (Lebeda et al., 2001). In general, most *B. lactucae* isolate monitoring and collection is focused to sampling of commercial environments, mostly with lettuce crops (Nordskog et al., 2014; Souza et al., 2014; Souza et al., 2022; van Hese et al., 2016). These studies (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b; Nordskog et al., 2014; Souza et al., 2022; van Hese et al., 2016) tended to focus on the virulence profile of the *B. lactucae* samples and as such, the overall frequency, distribution, and prevalence of *B. lactucae* is likely under-reported due to this bias towards commercial environments.

1.2.3 B. lactucae lifecycle

B. lactucae can reproduce through a polycyclic asexual cycle, and an infrequent sexual cycle as depicted in Figure 1-2. The asexual cycle begins when an aerial spore of *B. lactucae* lands on a

suitable host and germinates directly to form a germ tube (Sargent et al., 1973). The germ tube emerges to form a hooked appressorium, a structure that directly penetrates the plant cell (Michelmore & Wong, 2008; Sargent et al., 1973). Sargent et al. (1973) noted that the appressorium shape, coupled with the shape and profile of the leaf cuticle and epidermal walls during penetration, suggested that mechanical force was minute, or not applied at all. They concluded that with the absence of evidence supporting mechanical force as the main mode of entry, this suggested that penetration utilises enzymatical digestion (Sargent et al., 1973). However, there has since been evidence (Bronkhorst et al., 2021, 2022) of another oomycete *Phytophthora infestans* having an appressorium reinforced with an actin-based 'mechanostat', which is when the actin cytoskeleton restructures to have tip sharpness allowing the hyphae to slice host walls at a diagonal with a 'naifu' cutting action. It is possible that *B. lactucae* could also share this mechanism, though there is currently no direct evidence to support this.

Once inside the host, *B. lactucae* forms a primary vesicle which acts like a "secondary spore" to hold the nutrients from the initial sporangia; then a secondary vesicle from which the pyriform haustoria (the feeding body) and vegetative hyphae emerge approximately 13 hours after sporangia germination (Sargent et al., 1973). The coenocytic (non-septate) vegetive hyphae then grows in the substomatal cavities in the leaf, penetrating surrounding plant cell walls and forming more haustoria (Verhoeff, 1960). At each haustoria-plant cell membrane interface an extra-haustorial membrane is formed to uptake nutrients and to release effectors to inhibit host immune responses.

Pathogen structures called sporangiophores emerge from the infected leaves usually on the abaxial side and produce many multinucleate sporangia (alternatively referred to as conidia) in a process called sporulation (Figure 1-1) (Fry & Grünwald, 2010), which then are dislodged and aerially dispersed to continue the asexual cycle. The duration of the asexual life-cycle can vary from 5 days to one month depending on environmental conditions, predominately temperature and relative humidity (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1994; Verhoeff, 1960).

Population diversity and epidemiology of Bremia lactucae the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.



Figure 1-1, Sporangiophores protruding from foliar lesions on lettuce leaves: B focus on a single sporangiophore, A and C sporulating lesion.

The sexual reproductive cycle of *B. lactucae* results in the production of thick-walled oospores that are tolerant of a range of environmental stressors. The formation of oospores, as documented by Sargent et al. (1977) begins when vegetative hyphae form into the sexual structures the antheridium and the oogonium. A germ tube from the antheridium to the oogonium joins these two structures and allows the antheridium to donate a nucleus to the oogonium. The oogonium has several nuclei, one of which undergoes nuclear fusion with the antheridial nucleus. This fused nucleus is retained and the rest of the oogonial nuclei degrade. The oogonium eventually matures into an oospore, which resides within the plant tissues.

Little is known about the epidemiological importance of *B. lactucae* oospores; they can be stimulated to germinate by the presence of germinating lettuce seed and have been reported to still be capable of germinating up to 12 months after formation when stored *in vitro* in lettuce cotyledons at 24°C (Morgan, 1978, 1983). Oospores are reported to be produced less frequently

than aerial sporangia, (van Hese et al., 2016). It is presumed that the asexual cycle is the preferential reproductive method, and that sexual reproduction occurs when asexual reproduction is suppressed (Michelmore & Wong, 2008). However, oospores were documented frequently in commercial leaf samples in Brazil (Souza et al., 2022), which may suggest that population may vary in preferential reproduction.

Generally, *B. lactucae* is heterothallic, which means that the sexual structures, the antheridium and oogonium, are only compatible when formed by *B. lactucae* isolates of two different mating types (*B1* and *B2*) (Michelmore & Ingram, 1980). It is presumed that each mating type can produce antheridia and oogonia, as observed in *Phytophthora* species (Michelmore & Ingram, 1982). In addition, homothallic, self-compatible, and self-fertile *B. lactucae* isolates have been documented (Michelmore & Ingram, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). The frequency of homothallism in *B. lactucae* isolates is not extensively studied, however it does present the possibility for some *B. lactucae* isolates to produce overwintering spores without requiring the presence of both mating types.

Genetic variability in *B. lactucae* populations can also be created through somatic variation. Certain *B. lactucae* isolates have been reported to form heterokaryotic mycelia with multiple genetically diverse nuclei (Fletcher et al., 2019). Further research into European *B. lactucae* races, looking at allele balance, suggested that nine of 21 European isolates studied were likely to be heterokaryotic as they were inconsistent with diploidy (Fletcher et al., 2022). A reservoir of diverse genes in a heterokaryon form can increase the probability of rapid adaptation when exposed to selection pressures, such as fungicide insensitivity when exposed to agrochemicals. A polyploid state is usually more stable, and therefore was presumed to be the general means for increasing variation within *B. lactucae* populations (Michelmore & Wong, 2008), but considering these more recent findings, it could be inferred that heterokaryosis seems to play a larger role than expected (Fletcher et al., 2019, 2022).



Figure 1-2 Lifecycle of B. lactucae. Diagram depicting the lifecycle of B. lactucae, adapted from infographics from Padgett-Johnson and Laemmlen (n.d.) and Sargent, Ingram, and Tommerup (1977).

1.2.4 Environmental parameters: role in LDM epidemiology

According to the disease triangle proposed by Stevens (1960), disease can only occur if all the following conditions are met, 1) there is a suitable host, 2) the environmental conditions are conducive to disease and 3) the causal agent of the disease is present. The environmental parameters that effect *B. lactucae* have been studied extensively, although the majority of these studies have focused on effects on specific stages of the asexual cycle as summarised in Table 1-1. Most studies of the effect of environmental parameters on *B. lactucae* have reported that cool damp and low light conditions are conducive to most life stages of *B. lactucae*. Therefore, temperature, humidity, light and leaf wetness duration (LWD) are all key environmental factors that affect *B. lactucae* and subsequently the development of LDM on lettuce crops.

It has been reported that optimal conditions in one environmental factor can mitigate the effect of a sub-optimal conditions in another factor, such as temperatures conducive to sporulation (5-10°C) reduced suppression of sporulation by light by <20% compared to sporulation in the dark (Nordskog et al., 2007). Conversely sub-optimal conditions in certain environmental factors can be inhibiting regardless of other variables, for example at wind speeds above 1.8 km/h sporulation was completely inhibited (Su et al., 2004) regardless of optimal relative humidity (RH) and temperature. Therefore "optimum" thresholds for *B. lactucae* can vary for each factor.

In general, *B. lactucae* can survive at temperatures ranging from 5 – 30°C depending on life stage and the duration of a sub-optimal temperature; though most studies found 15°C to be the optimal temperature for *B. lactucae* (Carisse & Philion, 2002; Nordskog et al., 2007; Powlesland, 1954). Temperature can greatly change the rate of sporangial germination with the optimal temperature for germination between 10-15°C (Subbarao et al., 2018; Verhoeff, 1960). Temperature-RH and temperature-time experiments by Wu et al. (2000) found that regardless of the RH, the higher the temperature, and the more prolonged the exposure to high temperature, both resulted in a reduced number of observed germinating sporangia. Constant temperatures have more of an effect on latency period (time between successful infection of host and symptoms expression and/or sporulation) than fluctuating temperatures; with a constant temperature of 20-22°C the latency period of *B. lactucae* is between 4-7 days, and at 6°C, 24-34 days (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1993, 1994). Little is known about the effect of temperature on oospores and reproductive structures in the sexual cycle.

Sporulation of *B. lactucae* was reported to be suppressed when exposed to high intensity light of 400-450 nm wavelengths, or UV light (Nordskog et al., 2007). Solar radiation or UV B exposure of >1.5 W m⁻² led to degradation of aerial spore infectivity and contributed towards increasing sporangia mortality (Wu et al., 2000). In addition, infection is thought to be unsuppressed under lower light conditions, with overcast days being generally conducive to disease development. Interestingly, sporulation has been linked to photoperiod (Nordskog et al., 2007) and sporangia release is reported to be instigated by low light levels in early mornings suggesting that *B. lactucae* does need light cues to infect plants (Nordskog et al., 2007; Su et al., 2000).

RH and LWD are key environmental factors, with high RH (\geq 90%) being optimal for sporulation and sporangia germination (Fletcher, 1976; Powlesland, 1954; Su et al., 2000). Sporangial release was reportedly instigated by a small drop in RH, however this RH value is still above 90% (Su et al., 2000). LWD at night was reported to be conducive to infection by *B. lactucae*, and LWD in the early morning was reportedly conducive to sporangial release (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1993).

An additional environmental factor affecting the incidence of LDM is wind, as the asexual spores of *B. lactucae* are aerially dispersed. Carisse & Philion (2002) reported that wind speed was positively correlated to aerial spore concentration of *B. lactucae*. However, the methods of data collection did not verify whether sporangia were still viable. Interestingly, sporulation, the precursor step to sporangial release, was reportedly inhibited by wind speeds above 1.8km/h (Su et al., 2004).

Table 1-1 Summary of the ef	fect of environmental conditions	s on each life stage of B. lactucae.
-----------------------------	----------------------------------	--------------------------------------

Life stage	Environmental conditions	Reference
Sporangial dispersal and survival	Spores can survive >12h at 23°C, 2-5h at 31°C at 33% and 78% RH. Release of spores often corresponds to morning light and reduction in RH. Sporangia can travel <3 km with wind. Sporangium viability dependent on temperature, RH, and solar radiation. UV of 0.5 MJ/m ² at short period can lead to spore mortality.	(Wu, Subbarao, and van Bruggen 2000) (Subbarao et al. 2018) (Carisse and Philion 2002) (Wu, van Bruggen, et al. 2001)
Sporangial germination	Can occur 5-20°C at a leaf wetness duration of ≥4h. Not observed at 30°C. Optimum between 10-15°C Relatively lower temperature and water or high humidity conducive for infection.	(Subbarao et al. 2018) (Scherm and van Bruggen 1995b, 1993)
Sporulation	High light intensity (400-450nm) is suppressive. Triggered by RH drop but still in the range of >/=90%RH. Temperature optimal is between 5-15°C, can occur from 5-25°C. Prevented by wind speeds >1.8km/h under high RH.	(Nordskog et al. 2007) (Su et al. 2004) (Scherm and van Bruggen 1994)
Latency period (between infection and symptoms/sporulation)	Determined by temperature, 4-5 days from infection to symptoms at constant 20-22°C. Fluctuating temperatures had reduced latency period.	(Wu et al., 2005) (Scherm and van Bruggen 1994)

Life stage	Environmental conditions	Reference
Overwintering and	Oospores reported Czech Republic, Netherlands, New York, and Sweden.	(Yuen and Lorbeer
survival out of crop	Not predominate in all populations, e.g. California.	1987)
period	Germination can occur at 17°C.	(Gustafsson, Liljeroth,
-	Germination tube can be used to directly infect lettuce plants.	and Gustafsson 1985)
		(Blok 1981)
	Alternative hosts such as <i>L. serriola</i> thought to be a potential inoculum source when	(Ilott, Durgan, and
	cultivated lettuce is not available.	Michelmore 1987)
		(Petrželová and
		Lebeda 2004)
		(Morgan 1978, 1983)
		(Lebeda et al. 2008)

Oospores are generally considered the likely primary source of inoculum (Fall et al., 2016), however, most studies into environmental parameters of *B. lactucae* have focused on the asexual cycle as this is where most *B. lactucae* infections are presumed to originate from and is an area of interest as the information can be used to target fungicide sprays (Fall et al., 2016; Scherm et al., 1995). The effects of environmental factors on oospores have not been well characterised, probably due to practical difficulties in conducting such studies (Fletcher, 1976; van Hese et al., 2016).

1.2.5 Genetics of *B. lactucae*

A review by Michelmore & Wong, (2008) looked at how contemporary and classical genomics had contributed to the knowledge of *B. lactucae* genomics. The genome was estimated to have several chromosomes (minimum of 7-8) pairs ranging from 3-8Mb in size (Michelmore & Sansome, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008), and the total genome was estimated to be ca. 50Mb. Michelmore & Wong, (2008) suspected this figure to be an underestimation, which was confirmed by Fletcher et al. (2019) who used flow cytometry on 39 isolates of *B. lactucae*, giving a haploid genome estimate of ~152 Mb (+/–3 Mb). Further work by Fletcher et al. (2021) using assembly-free linkage analysis pipeline (AFLAP)-based genetic mapping has led to the genome being grouped into 19 linkage groups; synteny analysis with *P. sojae* suggested that linkage groups 9, 11 and 12 are likely to be one chromosomal group, similarly for linkage groups 1 and 13, putting the estimation of the chromosome number for *B. lactucae* between 7-15 (Fletcher et al., 2021; Michelmore & Wong, 2008).

Exploration of *B. lactucae* genome complexity has shown that approximately 65% of the nuclear DNA consists of repeated sequences and 35% of low copy sequences (Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Heterozygosity in *B. lactucae* isolates ranged from 0.77-1.29%, which is generally higher that found in most oomycetes (<1%) (Fletcher et al., 2019).

Somatic variation has been observed across geographically diverse *B. lactucae* isolates. Hulbert & Michelmore (1988) used restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis of 25 isolates collected from a range of countries on different continents and found that there were differences. Most samples collected from Europe were diploid with high heterozygosity and many genotype

variations, which was attributed to the frequent occurrence of the sexual cycle in this continent (Gustafsson et al., 1985; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Whereas isolates from Japan, Australia, and Wisconsin (US) were reported to have genetic indicators of polyploidy or heterokaryons through most tested loci having more than two alleles.

Fletcher et al., (2019) when using distinct allele frequency profiles found genomic signatures that suggested heterokaryosis. This conclusion was reached as both diploid and seemingly 'polyploid' isolates had a similar total DNA content from flow cytometry analysis, whereas with polyploids a larger genome size comparative to the diploid would be expected, i.e. with a triploid isolate you would expect 150% size compared to a diploid isolate. Therefore, the data did not support polyploidy in *B. lactucae* (Fletcher et al., 2019), whereas heterokaryosis would explain the allelic variation between isolates without increasing the total DNA content. Heterokaryons were also reported to behave differently to homokaryons phenotypically, and as heterokaryosis was not associated with geographical or temporal sampling it suggests it is a general trait of *B. lactucae* (Fletcher et al., 2019).

To summarise, *B. lactucae* uses sexual reproduction and heterokaryosis which are beneficial in providing allelic variation; an advantageous trait that is conducive to adapting when exposed to selection pressure.

1.3 LDM management

Management of LDM is often heavily reliant on the utilisation of resistant cultivars and the routine and prophylactic use of chemical controls. Cultural control and knowledge of favourable environmental conditions have allowed alternative methods of management that can supplement resistant cultivars and chemical controls. Oospores and wild hosts are thought to be primary sources of inoculum of *B. lactucae*, but disease management relies on the presumption that infection originates from aerially distributed sporangia. Where these sporangia initially come from, especially after non-growing seasons has not been fully defined or quantified in the literature.

1.3.1 Host resistance

Disease resistant cultivars are one of the most widely utilised methods for LDM management, as these cultivars can reduce fungicide usage and can also help meet the organic market requirements. *B. lactucae* is an obligate biotroph, therefore, to successfully colonise its host plant it must avoid detection as triggering a plant immunity response can also result in a hypersensitive response resulting in cell-death (Jones & Dangl, 2006). Due to needing living host material to colonise successfully, *B. lactucae* has a very complex and specialized interaction with lettuce and its "immune" system, these interactions are usually dependent on gene-for-gene (race specific) mechanisms (Parra et al., 2016).

Gene-for-gene resistance is effectively a monogenic trait, which has been used for around a century in lettuce variety development to improve resistance to LDM (Crute, 1992b, 1992a; Ilott et al., 1989). Currently, the repertoire of resistance for *B. lactucae* is a reported 28 resistance genes (*R*-genes or if *B. lactucae* specific *Dm*) and 23 resistance factors (R) that are being used in lettuce variety development (Parra et al., 2016)

Most *Dm* genes are reportedly located in five distinct clusters within the lettuce genome (Jeuken & Lindhout, 2002). Research into the inheritance of major *R* genes in *L. sativa* and *L. serriola* determined inheritance to be Mendelian (Crute & Johnson, 1976). As lettuce is diploid it is relatively easier to breed in desirable *R* genes than crops with higher ploidy. However, breeding

a new cultivar still takes time to develop and the cost of development can lead to an increase in the price of seed.

Lettuce breeding has not been well documented however historically and contemporarily, introgression using wild *Lactuca* spp. have been used to introduce resistance genes. According to Crute (1992b), breeding specifically for resistance for downy mildew in protected lettuce began with a report from MacPherson (1932) who looked at two French cultivars, Gotte a Graine Blanche de Loos and Rosde Printaniere, that were observed to have complete resistance to LDM. European lettuce cultivars in the 1950's utilised genetic material that originated in old German and French cultivars; whereas in the Netherlands in the late 1960s a resistant variety from a breeding program resulted from an interspecific hybridisation between an established cultivar (Hilde) and an accession of *L. serriola* (Crute, 1992b; Lebeda et al., 2014). Despite limited documentation, what we do know from literature on resistance in cultivars is that several *R* genes for *B. lactucae* have been used extensively in European cultivars, notably, *Dm2*, *Dm3*, *Dm6*, *Dm7*, *Dm11*, and *Dm16* (Crute, 1992a, 1992b). In more recent years the *Dm* profile used in lettuce accessions has changed to include more varied *Dm* sources (Lebeda et al., 2014).

Aside from gene-for-gene resistance, other plant defence responses can be effective against oomycetes including non-host resistance, whereby the entire population of a plant species has immunity to all isolates of a pathogenic organism that affects other plants. The only reported natural host of *B. lactucae* that appears to utilise non-host resistance is *L. saligna*, in which germinating sporangia are "arrested" before normal hyphae develop (Jeuken & Lindhout, 2002; Lebeda et al., 2002). Additionally, host-specific resistance genes have been found in *L. saligna* accessions which are usually present in host plants (Giesbers et al., 2018; Lebeda et al., 2002, 2008; Parra et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2009). Development in understanding of the basic incompatibility of *L. saligna* and the introgression of *L. saligna* into cultivar lines is ongoing.

1.3.2 Chemical control

Chemical control is a common means of managing LDM, as it allows for more susceptible cultivars to be grown that fulfil the other desired requirements of a lettuce crop such as reliable uniformity, in addition to providing assurance of disease control in the event of new virulent, but
not fungicide insensitive, *B. lactucae* races. These chemicals are often applied in spray programs which can be modified according to pathogen incidence in field and/or by environmental cues that indicate an increased risk: such as high humidity and overcast days (Barrière et al., 2014; Scherm et al., 1995). Chemical control can be contact based, targeting *B. lactucae* at its early stages, usually on the surface of the host tissues, or systemic, in which the mode of action targets later-stage processes of the pathogen within the plant tissues (Gisi, 2002). Chemical control can provide additional benefits by targeting more pathogens than *B. lactucae*, reducing crop damage through prevention of multiple plant diseases.

Several active ingredients are registered for LDM management in the UK, such as metalaxyl-M and mandipropamid, a more extensive list can be observed in Table 1-2 (AHDB, 2019a; Raid, 2012). Historically there were more options for active ingredients (Powlesland & Brown, 1954), but these have been overcome by insensitive strains and/or restricted by legislation (AHDB, 2019a). Some of the UK regulations affecting chemical control in lettuce production include restrictions on the field rates, the frequency of use and combinations of active ingredients. This is so that fungicide spray programs can be established to (1) prevent environmental damage, and (2) to prevent a sub-population of the pathogen developing resistance, through the use of several chemical classes which target multiple sites in sequence or mixtures (Gisi & Sierotzki, 2008). Of these active ingredients permitted for UK use, there are a few systemic types: Metalaxyl-M, dimethomorph, propamocarb, fosetyl-AL and azoxystrobin. Systemic fungicides, specifically phenylamides like metalaxyl, target a single specific site in the pathogen (Gisi, 2002; Gisi & Sierotzki, 2008). Fungicide with single specific target site modes of action can be advantageous as this reduces the chance of phytotoxicity, however this makes the mode of action vulnerable to even the smallest of mutations to the target site. Gisi & Sierotzki (2008) described single-site systemics as "high intrinsic risk" as only slight mutations are required to develop insensitivity and the usage of the systemic exerts selection pressure. There are many documentations of B. lactucae sub-populations overcoming single-site systemic fungicides from consistent usage (Brown et al., 2004; Cobelli et al., 1998; Crute et al., 1987).

Active(s) effective actives	Product MAPP No	Extent of Authorisation	Product Expiry Date	Marketing Company	Crop(s) and notes
Azoxystrobin	Amistar 18039	GB and NI	30/06/2027	Syngenta UK Limited	lettuce (outdoor), lettuce (protected)
Mancozeb and metalaxyl-M	Fubol Gold WG 14605	GB and NI	30/04/2024	Syngenta UK Limited	Off-label approval for <i>B</i> . <i>lactucae</i> control
Fluopicolide and propamocarb hydrochloride	Infinito 16335	GB and NI	30/11/2025	Bayer CropScience Limited	Off-label approval for <i>B</i> . <i>lactucae</i> control
Dimethomorph and mancozeb	Invader 15223	GB Only	30/07/2026	BASF plc	Off-label approval for <i>B. lactucae</i> control
Mancozeb	Karamate Dry Flo Neotec 14632	GB Only	30/04/2026	Indofil Industries (Netherlands) B.V.	Off-label approval for <i>B</i> . <i>lactucae</i> control
Oxathiapiprolin	Orondis Plus 19305	GB and NI	19/07/2025	Syngenta UK Limited	lettuce (outdoor)
Dimethomorph	Paraat 15445	GB and NI	31/01/2026	BASF plc	Off-label approval for <i>B. lactucae</i> control
Fosetyl-aluminium and propamocarb hydrochloride	Previcur Energy 15367	GB and NI	31/10/2025	Bayer CropScience Limited	lettuce (outdoor), lettuce (protected, grown in organic media)
Mandipropamid	Revus 17443	GB and NI	31/01/2026	Syngenta UK Limited	lettuce (outdoor), lettuce (protected)

Table 1-2 Fungicides suitable for B. lactucae Field application. Information updated and checked on the 13/03/2023. Updates can be accessed via: Pesticides Register - Search Results.

Contact fungicides are also available for management of *B. lactucae*, including: mandipropamid, a carboxylic acid amide (CAA) fungicide which is absorbed through the waxy cuticle, and disrupts pathogen cell synthesis and spore germination; mancozeb, a dithiocarbonate contact fungicide, which has three modes of action that target the inhibition of glucose oxidation, fatty acid degradation and nucleic acid synthesis (Barrière et al., 2014; Cohen et al., 2008; Gisi, 2002; Gisi & Sierotzki, 2008).

1.3.3 Disease forecasting and other management tools

Integrated Pest Management (IPM) is the utilisation of multiple different approaches to manage pests and pathogens, often with a focus on both prevention and intervention. An example of an IPM approach is the utilisation of the in-depth studies into the environmental conditions optimal for *B. lactucae* survival and persistence, to develop disease forecasting models to be used in decision support sensors (DSS). This relies on the disease triangle theory, aforementioned in section 1.2.4, of which conditions conducive to disease result in the DSS sending alerts suggesting fungicide application based on perceived risk (Scherm et al., 1995; Wu, Subbarao, et al., 2001). An example of environmental parameters beneficial for *B. lactucae* is prolonged LWD during the night, which has been used as an input for likely disease occurrence in forecasting systems (Kushalappa, 2001; Scherm et al., 1995).

There is limited information on the sexual cycle of *B. lactucae*, thus the extent of the epidemiological impact of oospores and environmental parameters affecting the stages of the sexual cycle are relatively unknown. Consequently, most forecasting is calibrated by research on the asexual cycle of *B. lactucae* which may affect accuracy.

Some forecasts have included the detection of LDM symptoms or sporangia of *B. lactucae* as additional variables to improve accuracy of disease risk. Reliance on weather cues for forecasting disease risk does not account for pathogen presence in the field, a key point mentioned by both Kushalappa (2001) and Dhar et al. (2020). Diagnostic assays for *B. lactucae* can also be used in the absence of weather cues and forecasting systems; for example, spore trapping in lettuce fields for the detection of *B. lactucae* (Kunjeti et al., 2016; Kushalappa, 2001). Unlike forecasting, diagnostics take time from sample collection to result, which can delay management decisions.



Figure 1-3 IPM Triangle Image adapted from both (Pennsylvania State University and Agriculture n.d.) and (IBMA, IOBC, and PAN Europe 2019).

In informal talks, industry partners have mentioned how they have switched to drip-irrigation in some instances to reduce the occurrence of favourable humidity conditions for *B. lactucae* in the field. LDM prevention guidelines recommend drip-irrigation (Matheron, 2015; Subbarao et al., 2018; Turini et al., 2017). Primary research has only compared drip vs furrow irrigation and no significant differences were found (Subbarao et al., 1997). This was, expected due to previous similar results between the two irrigation types (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1995a). There are more than two types of irrigation but results for LDM are not available; for spinach, drip irrigation has been found to reduce downy mildew compared withoverhead irrigation (Montazar et al., 2019) and,this likely holds true for LDM.

Another cultural practise industry partners mentioned using was situating the lettuce growing fields against the prevailing wind during the growing season, this is thought to reduce the likelihood of *B. lactucae* infections as *B. lactucae* has aerially dispersed sporangia. Other cultural practises industry partners mentioned were long-term crop rotations spanning four years and mixing blocks of lettuce varieties in field. Many of these management approaches mentioned by

our industry partners have been recommended in the review of lettuce cultivation with less fungicide by Barrière et al. (2014). Further research in crop management is required for optimal overall practice, as management practises for different diseases can be conflicting. For example, Industry partners noted that protective mesh equipment for preventing aphid predation of lettuce increased the local RH, resulting in increases in the observed LDM.

The vulnerability of infectious spores to light (Nordskog et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2000) has led to the development and testing of UV light as a preventative measure (Paul et al., 2012). Novel techniques of detecting disease prior to main symptoms have been developed (Bauriegel et al., 2014) but further logistical developments are required to implement these on a wide-scale under field conditions. This method of disease detection utilised the natural fluorescence of chlorophyll as an indicator of disease, as chlorophyll degradation from disease damage would reduce the light emitted (Bauriegel et al., 2014). This technique has been considered beneficial for screening for disease resistance in lettuce cultivars, which is a more feasible scale than in field.

Alternatives to fungicides have been explored, and although some provide control of LDM, their efficacy is generally lower than fungicides and they are generally recommended to be used with other management techniques. For example, the plant hormone BABA (Cohen et al., 2010, 2011), and an essential tree oil as a biopesticide in Timorex Gold (Reuveni & Cohen, 2020) both reduced LDM. Similar to fungicides, alternative methods of control can often induce the plant immune system which in itself can become a source of stress and can reduce crop weight (Cohen et al., 2010; Thomas & Puthur, 2017); therefore, research into the optimum thresholds for good crop quality and disease management is needed.

1.3.4 Management challenges

Protection from LDM by use of chemical control and resistant cultivars is consistently under the threat from the high evolutionary potential of *B. lactucae* to develop fungicide insensitivity and avirulence genes. This is particularly the case when *B. lactucae* is subjected to strong selection pressure, such as the use of cultivar monoculture, successional planting, and reliance on a select list of active ingredients and resistance genes. There are many reports of numerous races emerging and *B. lactucae* population shifts occurring in Europe, Australia, and America (Brown

et al., 2004; Cobelli et al., 1998; Crute et al., 1987; Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b; Schettini et al., 1991; Trimboli & Nieuwenhuis, 2011).

B. lactucae has a few mechanisms for creating and maintaining genetic diversity, which contributes to its evolutionary potential. The life-cycle of *B. lactucae* can include genetic recombination with *B1* and *B2* mating types, in addition to the formation of heterokaryons (Fletcher et al., 2019). An additional mechanism which can be overlooked is the gene flow in the population, which can be high with the aerial distribution in combination with human activity as observed with the case of Metalaxyl resistance in the UK (Crute et al., 1987).

Management challenges are in part compounded by previous management choices. For example, in the last 50 years, different European countries utilised different resistance breeding strategies and Dm gene deployment, therefore the B. lactucae populations in all these regions were subjected to different resistance gene repertoires in lettuce crops (Lebeda et al., 2014). The deployment of resistant genes matters, as the evolutionary flexibility of *B. lactucae* means the potential of these populations to genetically diverge on local scales to adapt to the environment they have been subjected to is highly likely. In other words, microevolution, and coevolution in response to the specific resistance genes deployed would likely occur. For example, studies of German populations of B. lactucae by Lebeda & Zinkernagel (2003b, 2003a) noted an increase in new virulent isolates of *B. lactucae* that targeted the *Dm16* and R18 resistance common in lettuce crops in this area. In response to the deployment of new race-specific resistance genes, the populations of *B. lactucae* shifted, with the virulence factor frequencies changing to counteract the resistance genes utilised, even on regional levels (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b). There is evidence that these virulence factors then tend to remain fixed in the pathogen population, with many pathogen populations containing 'unnecessary' virulence factors to cultivar R genes that are either present at low frequencies or not at all (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b). Therefore, cycling resistance genes in cultivars would not necessarily be an effective strategy in managing R gene deployment.

Microevolution and coevolution events with *B. lactucae* populations are not isolated to resistance genes, regional adaptation to fungicides have also been observed. An example is metalaxyl, a popular active ingredient which was used from around the 1970s to control oomycetes including

B. lactucae. By the 1980s resistant strains of *P. infestans* were observed in Europe (Matson et al., 2015), and *B. lactucae* followed this trend. Notably, a study by Crute et al. (1987) recorded metalaxyl insensitivity in Preston, Lancashire, in November 1983, where isolates from several outbreak sites were found to be insensitive. Prior to 5 years of continuous metalaxyl use, isolates collected from this region were sensitive to this active ingredient. Most isolates collected from around a 20 km radius from the initial Preston outbreaks were also reported to have metalaxyl insensitivity. Additional reports of metalaxyl insensitive isolates followed from sites further away which was attributed to movement of plants (Crute et al., 1987).

The Preston metalaxyl insensitivity outbreak case study provides an excellent example of the ability of *B. lactucae* to travel. Wu, van Bruggen, et al. (2001) did a spatial analysis of LDM incidence and reported that the range of dissemination of *B. lactucae* could be between 80-3,000m. This study looked at incidence of *B. lactucae* isolates from presumably commercial environments and did not mention monitoring wild hosts or allotments. Inclusion of more than commercial environments is needed to understand the full extent of the dispersal distances of sporangia of *B. lactucae*. The limited information on dissemination of *B. lactucae* provisions an additional challenge with respect to *B. lactucae* management.

In addition, fungicides are subject to regulations by governmental bodies, and legislation can be implemented preventing or restricting their use. For example, the active ingredient Fenamidone used for the control of LDM, was removed from the market in 2019 by UK governmental regulations (HSE, 2023). In the UK, active ingredients are only approved for use for scheduled blocks of time and lobbying for re-authorisation is consistently needed to prevent withdrawal. Regulation can add a level of complexity in management planning given uncertainties around product availability independent of efficacy.

1.4 Observing and monitoring pathogen population genetics

Early detection of plant pathogens can be useful in informing IPM approaches in lettuce production; genetic monitoring of the pathogen population can also be a useful input to IPM. Monitoring genetic variation in the pathogen population can infer which reproductive method the population frequently uses (Gustafsson et al., 1985; Michelmore & Wong, 2008; Souza et al., 2022) and the potential of the population to overcome control methods (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b). For example, a population with high genetic variability, would theoretically have a greater chance of adapting to control methods when subjected to a selection pressure and mixed mating systems and major gene resistance can increase the risk (McDonald & Linde, 2002). The development of avirulence or fungicide insensitivity in response to agriculturally imposed stressors at a local or regional level has been recorded in *B. lactucae* multiple times (Brown et al., 2004; Crute et al., 1987; Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b). Therefore, monitoring virulence and fungicide insensitivity in the population would be a highly useful tool for deciding what methods of LDM management to utilise or which remain effective for that region. Jeuken & Lindhout (2002) stated an added danger of aerially dispersed sporangia which could lead to high gene flow between B. lactucae populations, which may have been a contributing factor to the spread of Metalaxyl insensitivity in the Preston case study (Crute et al., 1987).

Currently information about populations of *B. lactucae* populations focusses on discovering "Race", grouping isolates by virulence, a standardised practice developed by the International Bremia Evaluation Board (IBEB, 2023). In which, a differential set of lettuce cultivars with known *Dm* genes and *R* factors, or contemporary accessions, are grown and then inoculated with the isolate of interest. The pathogen virulence profile assigns a sextet scoring to the isolate tested on the differentials. If said isolate virulence profile is consistently a threat (prevalent and of economic importance) it is assigned a race name. The official IBEB standardised nomenclature, starts with "BI:" followed by a chronological number and a suffix that distinguishes continent, for example "US" for isolates from United States and "EU" for European ones. Virulence profiles have been utilised in monitoring and can provide understanding in population studies (Crute, 1992b; Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b, 2003a)

The differential test does have drawbacks, requiring change and modification to the cultivar line up to accommodate emerging virulence factors in the contemporary pathogen population. From 2010 to 2021 differential sets changed from Set B to Set D, with changes in the cultivar composition: Table 1-3. The biotrophic nature of *B. lactucae* makes testing phenotypic attributes challenging, as growing, or maintaining strains of *B. lactucae* is required, especially as there is evidence of heterokaryons being unstable depending on the cultivar used for maintenance, which could alter the virulence profile (Fletcher et al., 2019; Schettini et al., 1991).

Set B - 2010	Set C - 2016	Set D - 2021
Lednicky	Dandie	Dandie
UC Dm2	R4T57D	R4T57D
Dandie	UC Dm14	UC Dm14
R4T57D	NunDM15	NunDM15
Valmaine	CGDm16	CGDm16
Sabine	Colorado	Colorado
LSE 57/15	FrRsal-1	FrRsal-1
UC Dm10	Argelès	Argelès
Captain	RYZ2164	RYZ2164
Hilde ll	RYZ910457	RYZ910457
Pennlake	Bedford	Bedford
UC Dm14	Balesta	Balesta
NunDm15	Bartoli	Bartoli
CGDm16	Design	Design
NunDm17	Kibrille	Kibrille
Colorado		Fenston
Ninja		Bataille
Discovery		RYZ20007
Argelès		

Table 1-3 IBEB differential sets B-D

Set B - 2010	Set C - 2016	Set D - 2021
RYZ2164		
RYZ910457		
Bedford		
Balesta		
Bellissimo		

The IBEB virulence test examines a single isolate and not its relationship with the pathogen population as a whole, for example synergistic effects or compatible mating types are not included. Additionally, the IBEB testing standards have marginal recording differences between the EU and US counterparts, meaning the race given to an isolate may depend on where it was scored. The binary scoring system (+/- infection) is based on visual results relative to the universally susceptible cultivar, Green Towers. Different interpretations are possible despite reference to a visual scale. Furthermore, some Dm genes are dependent on environmental conditions such as temperature for expression and this means that the virulence results may vary on execution under different conditions (Judelson & Michelmore, 1992; Michelmore & Wong, 2008).

A more uniform and robust method of distinguishing isolates in addition to the phenotypic attributes would aid in monitoring the pathogen population. A genomic variability assay could in theory monitor variation. Linking genetic variation to phenotypic traits would comparatively reduce the amount of plant (host) material to work with than traditionally screening phenotype (i.e. the differential assay for virulence); overall making screening changes more manageable in the population. However, this approach requires a substantial amount of data to build up a profile of the population. The survival limits of *B. lactucae* in the absence of a host (as oospores) is not known. Hypothetically, oospores could be a reservoir of different genetic information to the contemporary population. Therefore, the risk of dormant oospores contributing to the pathogen population diversity in a non-chronological manner is also unknown. There is some indication from the literature, for example oospores could still germinate *in situ* after 12 months

(Morgan, 1978, 1983), however, that study does not account for every environmental parameter combination at every life-stage.

As suggested by Cooke & Lees (2004) a standardised test for monitoring pathogen populations must be capable of discriminating isolates both within their respective populations, and outside of their populations. This requires a careful choice of assay, as the level of differentiation would need to be sufficient to distinguish individuals in the same population without creating an exhaustive list of genotypic profiles that no evolutionary links or information can be drawn from. Race determination by the IBEB differential assay is based on an ever-changing list of differentials, therefore comparisons of earlier denominated races cannot be compared with present results unless a live sample still exists.

In addition to the test itself, some of the complexity and diversity expected from *B. lactucae* populations would be in part due to recombination as a result of sexual selection (Michelmore & Ingram, 1981), or from somatic hybridisation (polyploid and heterokaryotic forms) (Hulbert et al., 1988). If no resolved lineages or groupings of isolates occur, then the assay would create a constantly growing list of different multilocus genotypes (MLGs) which would be uninformative. That is why geographical and temporal knowledge of an isolate is equally important to note. Therefore, to understand the population diversity, monitoring should ideally include both a distinguishing assay and also associated key sample information, such as geographical location and temporal collection.

A system looking at genotypic variability coupled with controlled experimental testing of phenotypic pathogen traits has been successfully conducted on another aerial oomycete, *Phytophthora infestans* the causal pathogen of potato late blight (Cooke & Lees, 2004; Lees et al., 2006). *P. infestans*, much like *B. lactucae*, has high evolutionary potential and as such has been classified as "high risk" for developing insensitivity to active ingredients used (McDonald & Linde, 2002). Extensive collaboration therefore goes into monitoring the pathogen population and has provided utility in noting more virulent and/or fungicide insensitive lineages(Abuley et al., 2023; Cooke et al., 2012a; Lees et al., 2006; Lynott et al., 2023). This system monitors the population through measuring allelic frequencies using simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers.

Simple sequence repeats (SSR), also known as microsatellite or short tandem repeats (STR) DNA, are a monotonous repetition of a 1-6 base long nucleotide motif that naturally occur interspersed across eukaryotic genomes. To summarise, as per the reviews by Vieira et al. (2016) and Agarwal et al. (2008) and by Cooke & Lees (2004): SSRs are abundant, codominant and predictable.

SSR regions are generally non-coding, as such they tend to not correspond directly to genes and are theoretically not influenced by selection pressure. Thus, changes in SSR regions are due to occurrences such as slippage during DNA replication resulting in an alteration of tandem repeated units, therefore repeat length. Though point mutations can occur, this tends to be a less frequent occurrence in comparison to slippage, thus SSR loci are generally hypervariable, but with predictable mutation rates as observed in a study by Temnykh et al. (2001) on SSR conducted in rice.

Different alleles for an SSR locus occur by mutations evading correction systems, as *B. lactucae* is diploid for most of its life-cycle (Michelmore & Wong, 2008) this means two different alleles can occur at a single locus, or even more if heterokaryotic. As SSR markers are codominant, present in great abundance in eukaryotic genomes, and have a fairly standard mutation rate, these markers could potentially identify allelic differences in the various forms of *B. lactucae*, be it as heterokaryons, diploid or polyploid. Therefore, an SSR marker could capture the allelic diversity at a locus for a single isolate. However, a review by (Dufresne et al., (2014) mentioned that scoring allele frequencies in polyploids is still challenging due to nulls (no alleles detected) and identical alleles, i.e. two copies of the same allele in a triploid. Therefore, a quantitative aspect to measuring allele frequencies in an SSR based assay is preferential in order to account for triple or quadruple allele copies.

Fortunately, allele quantification is possible with SSR assays. SSRs can be easily amplified using PCR using primers designed to flank the SSR region, one of which is labelled with a fluorescent tag, with the amplicon products analysed using capillary electrophoresis (protocol as described in supplementary information in Cooke et al., 2012). The method allows for high throughput of samples even with small quantities of DNA and the scale of the fluorescent peaks gives an indication of allele ratio and therefore frequency ratio within an isolate. Therefore, this system is

relatively attractive, and has been adopted not only for *P. infestans* but also with other oomycete pathogens such as *Plasmopara viticola* (Gobbin et al., 2003).

To the author's knowledge, no publicly available and/or published SSR marker assay sets exist for *B. lactucae*. Although other markers are available, they have limitations. For example, internal transcribed spacer (ITS) markers do not have the resolution necessary for within population analysis (Choi et al., 2017) and many RFLP and AFLP markers are complicated to carry out for a large number of samples (Sicard et al., 2003). *Several SSR markers need to be used in combination in order to capture at least two allelic differences and to reflect the population diversity in B. lactucae*. As the *B. lactucae* genome of isolate SF5 has recently been made available, the information needed to screen for suitable candidate SSR makers is available(Fletcher et al., 2019) and an assay to monitor the genetic diversity in *B. lactucae* could be developed.

1.5 Literature conclusion, thesis aims and outline

An improved understanding the *B. lactucae* population could provide many benefits for LDM management, particularly in relation to the sustainability of management strategies including fungicide active ingredients and resistance gene deployment.

One of the aims of this study was to investigate the genetic diversity of the *B. lactucae* population, by developing a multiplex SSR marker assay that could distinguish differences between isolates in the UK pathogen population.

The first step for the SSR assay development, was to screen for candidate regions, design suitable primers to amplify these SSR regions and to test whether these markers could distinguish between pathogen isolates. This was carried out using the recently available SF5 genome (Fletcher et al., 2019) and with SSR markers identified by collaborators in the Michelmore laboratory at UC Davis (Chapter 2).

The multiplex SSR assay was then utilised to document and track the genetic diversity of the population of *B. lactucae* over the three years of this PhD using samples collected across the UK. In conjunction, the *B. lactucae* isolates were assessed for phenotypic traits, specifically fungicide insensitivity and virulence to accessions within the IBEB set C differential set (Chapter 3).

To further understand the effect of cultivar selection on population diversity the SSR assay was used to monitor genotype ratios in a mark and recapture trial. Isolates with different virulence profiles and genotypes were used to inoculate various cultivars following which, isolates were recaptured and genotyped (Chapter 4).

As IPM practices utilise multiple means to manage a disease another aim of this PhD project was to validate a diagnostic assay to measure its utility in early pathogen detection in a commercial field environment (Chapter 5). A LAMP diagnostic assay for *B. lactucae* was tested under field conditions and compared with existing qPCR diagnostics. The long-term aim of this diagnostic assay is to help inform fungicide spray programs so that sprays are utilised, when necessary, i.e. according to the presence of *B. lactucae*. Reducing unnecessary sprays would reduce the evolutionary pressures on *B. lactucae* populations, and the economic costs of production. All the findings are summarised and discussed in Chapter 6, along with suggestions for future research.

Chapter 2 Development of a Simple Sequence Repeat marker assay for genotyping samples of *B. lactucae*

2.1 Background to SSR assay development

To analyse population genetic diversity simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers were utilised. SSR markers (also known as microsatellites or short tandem repeats) are repeats of a short DNA motif that are subject to stepwise mutations that change the length at a more rapid rate than other DNA mutations (Vieira et al., 2016). The mutation rate of microsatellites, which encompasses SSRs, is estimated between 10³ and 10⁶ per cell generation (Gemayel et al., 2012). SSR markers are multiallelic, meaning many allele combinations can occur at a single locus within a population, unlike biallelic single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) which are limited to two alleles (in a diploid organism). In addition to this, SSR markers are codominant molecular markers that are widely distributed throughout the genome of eukaryotes (Li et al., 2002; Vieira et al., 2016). Many studies have reported that genomic distribution of SSRs is non-random, with a lower incidence in gene-coding regions of the genome (Vieira et al., 2016).

The abundance of SSR loci in a genome provides many potential candidate markers for genetic analysis. The co-dominant inheritance and multiallelic properties of SSR loci provides a high resolution that is particularly valuable in analysis of organisms with mixed reproductive systems where clonal or low genetic recombination occurs. Despite being neutral as non-coding segments of the genome, SSR loci can be correlated with pathogenic traits (Zhan et al., 2005). SSRs markers are well studied, therefore the mutational mechanisms are understood, and genetic analysis tools are available (Kamvar et al., 2014, 2015).

SSR amplification involves standard PCR techniques followed by capillary electrophoresis to estimate allelic length, and this makes SSR genotyping a relatively straightforward and accessible technique. SSR markers may be multiplexed with the PCR primers labelled with differing fluorescent dyes to discriminate amongst loci with a range of overlapping amplicon sizes (Guichoux et al., 2011). PCR based assays with primers targeting the flanking regions of an SSR locus means that the amplification is specific to the organism being studied. This is especially valuable in the case of biotrophic pathogens like *B. lactucae* in which the lettuce host DNA will be

present in samples (Grünwald et al., 2017). The consistent high rate of mutation, codominant and multiallelic nature therefore makes SSR markers ideal for identification of genetic variability within and between populations. In addition, the availability of data analysis methods (Kamvar et al., 2014, 2015) that cater to populations of mixed ploidy as well as heterokaryons (Fletcher et al., 2019) make the method appropriate for the study of *B. lactucae*.

SSRs have been utilised to investigate the genetic diversity and population structure of oomycete plant pathogens, an example is Phytophthora infestans the causal agent of Late Blight disease (Lees et al., 2006). The analysis of SSR data provided evidence of gene flow and differentiation between pathogen populations in different geographical regions. SSRs can serve as a good proxy representation of the selection and rates of mutations in a population when subjected to environmental stressors (Ellegren, 2004). It is important to note that the number of markers required for pathogen population genetic analysis varies according to the objective of the study and the biology and genetic diversity of the pathogen under investigation. For example, it was reported that populations of *Plasmopara* could be analysed effectively using four to five markers (Gobbin et al., 2003, 2005), whereas 21 markers were used for studies on Venturia inaequalis (Guérin et al., 2004) and 12 for P. infestans (Cooke & Lees, 2004; Li et al., 2013). Fifteen loci were examined in an investigation of the diversity of *P. ramorum* in forests in Oregon but only five proved polymorphic (Carleson et al., 2020). Despite the value of understanding the genetic diversity of B. lactucae populations there are no published or standardised methods using SSR markers. Unpublished polymorphic SSR markers for *B. lactucae* have however been identified by Charlotte Acharya in the group of Richard Michelmore at UC Davis California, USA and were kindly shared for the work during this PhD (Acharya et al., 2019).

In establishing SSR assays the key steps are first to identify candidate markers from the literature, collaboration or from screening the genome. Next to design PCR primers to amplify candidate loci, and test markers on a panel of reference samples of *B. lactucae* to ensure amplification is efficient and to demonstrate polymorphism amongst samples of the pathogen to be studied. From this a panel of the best markers are selected and developed into an assay.

SSR assays exists in two formats: singleplex where only one SSR marker is amplified or multiplex where multiple primer pairs are used amplify many SSR markers. Singleplex PCR is used to test amplification of each SSR locus but running multiple separate PCR assays would be logistically challenging, costly in reagents and time, and require an aliquot of sample DNA for each reaction. The latter point would be a challenge when limited amounts of sample DNA is available, and though there is a variety of whole genome amplification (WGA) that could increase sample DNA (Wang et al., 2022), including isothermal kits such as GenomiPhi V2 (Cytiva, Cruaud et al., 2018), additional protocol steps to include WGA would still make the overall genotyping more costly in reagents and time. Multiplex assays reduce genotyping to a single reaction but are complex to develop, as unpredictable interactions may occur between the many primers resulting in interference of target DNA amplification. In addition, standardising PCR conditions to give equal amplification of each locus poses a challenge. The benefits of multiplexing have led to the development of PCR kits, such as Type-it Microsatellite PCR KIT (QIAGEN) that allow for more rapid optimisation of multiplex assays (QIAGEN, 2009).

Establishment of multiplex SSR assays is a potentially lengthy and expensive process as one needs to test the utility of candidate markers and whether they are polymorphic for the organism and population tested. One approach would require relatively expensive fluorescently labelled primers for each candidate locus. Polymorphism is a key component required in genetic variation analysis but testing many markers is costly considering many may not be used in the finalised assay if they are monomorphic or difficult to amplify. However, cost-effective approaches to testing markers have been implemented to improve the development process. One such approach is universal tags, in which the fluorescent dye is shared across multiple primer pairs. Blacket et al. (2012) for example, designed universal tags that work through a 3-primer system, where the unlabelled forward primers of each pair have short (15-18 base pair) tag sequences added to the 5' end which corresponds to complementary sequences on universal oligonucleotides tagged with different fluorophores. As the PCR progresses the universal tag becomes incorporated in the PCR product. A skewed ratio of the forward to the reverse primers results in a depletion of the forward primer and its replacement by the labelled tag as the forward primer resulting in a labelled product. The advantage of this 3-primer tag system is that only one tag is required per

fluorophore and multiple candidate SSR markers can be tested at relatively little cost compared to using individually purchased fluorescently labelled oligonucleotides.

The process to develop the SSR assay for *B. lactucae* was to first test markers provided by Michelmore's group from UC Davis then adding Hutton markers developed from the SF5 genome (Fletcher et al., 2019). Next, testing the tagged primer system to screen loci for those most polymorphic, informative, and easy to score, before ultimately developing a single 10-plex multiplex SSR assay with individually labelled fluorescent primers. The objective of this work is to screen a range of candidate SSR markers with the goal of developing sufficient polymorphic SSR markers that work as a cost- and time-efficient multiplex assay for genetic discrimination of samples of *B. lactucae*.

The aim of the SSR marker assay is to provide a toolkit to enable pathologists to monitor the genetic diversity of populations of *B. lactucae*. The selected SSR markers would need to distinguish genetic differences both within and between *B. lactucae* populations.

2.2 Methodology

2.2.1 UCD SSR marker selection

Data on candidate SSR loci, amplification, PCR primers and preliminary findings on US isolates of *B. lactucae* was kindly shared by Acharya et al. (2019). From this data, ten SSR markers were selected for this study according to the following criteria:

- 1. More than two alleles discriminated, and no null alleles reported. This resulted in high polymorphism information content (PIC) values across test samples with a low null allele value.
- 2. Unique locations in the genome, demonstrated from data on the SF5 genome scaffolds.
- 3. Diversity in the type of motif (tri or dinucleotide) and a preference for those with a greater number of tandem repeats.

To improve downstream analysis, the ten candidate primers were modified with the PIGTail sequence suggested by Brownstein et al. (1996), in which a short sequence is added to the 5' end of the reverse primer to reduce stutter and aid allele calling. The primers were also modified to accommodate universal tags at the 5' end (Blacket et al., 2012)(Table 2-1, Table 2-2). The full marker names adopted by UC Davis and their loci of origin are presented (Table 2-3).

Modification Name		Sequence	Corresponding dye	Reference
	Tail A	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCA	FAM	(Roche Applied
Universal	Tail B	GCCTTGCCAGCCCGC	VIC	(Science, 2006)
Tag	Tail C	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTG	NED	(Blacket et al.,
	Tail D	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG	PET	2012)
				(Brownstein et
PIGTail (5'-3')		GTTTCTT		al., 1996)

Table 2-1 Modifications used on primers according to method of Blacket et al (2012) and Brownstein et al (1996)

Marker	Unit	length	Dye	Universal Tag Modification		Sequence (5'>3') with mods all added to the 5' end *1	Primer length
Marker	AAT	21	FAM	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCA	F	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCACGAGAGGAGTCATCGTGAAT	35
1					R	GTTTCTTTTCACACTCGTTGAAAGCG	28
Marker	CTG	21	FAM	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCA	F	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCAGTCTGAGTTCCGCTGACTTA	35
2					R	GTTTCTTACTACGGATGCAACGGATTA	28
Marker	AT	18	NED	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTG	F	GCCTTGCCAGCCCGCAGCTAAAGTAAAGGTAGTTCAAAAGA	41
3					R	GTTTCTTGGGTGATTGTTTGGTTGGTC	28
Marker	TA	16	VIC	GCCTTGCCAGCCCGC	F	GCCTTGCCAGCCCGCCAGGCAACACGTGTTTACTT	35
4					R	GTTTCTTGCATCTACGTTCGCACATA	27
Marker	CA	12	NED	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTG	F	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTGTTTGTCCCCTCTTTAACGCT	38
5					R	GTTTCTTAGGTGGAAAAAGATGCCCAG	28
Marker	-	-	NED	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTG	F	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTGCCACTTGCTGGTCATCTTTG	38
6	*2				R	GTTTCTTCTTTTCCGCTATGTGTCCC	28
Marker	AT	20	NED	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTG	F	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTGATAATGGGAGTAGCAGGCAG	38
7					R	GTTTCTTGATGTCACGTGATGGAGAGT	28
Marker	TGTA	16	PET	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG	F	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTGTCCTATCTCACCCAACAAGC	38
8					R	GTTTCTTCGTGGATACTTTCAAGCGTG	28
Marker	GAA	21	PET	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG	F	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG GAGTCTACCGCACCTTATGT	38
9					R	GTTTCTTATCCATGGCTGGCTGTAAAT	28
Marker	ATA	18	PET	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG	F	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG GATCAGAAACTAGCGCTTGC	38
10					R	GTTTCTTAATCACTAGCGATGGCCAC	27

Table 2-2 Candidate SSR primers from Acharya et al. (2019) and the modifications used in this study.

*1 Italics are PIGtail modifications from (Brownstein et al., 1996)

*2 No unit value nor length was provided for marker

Hutton name	UCD Name	Loci	UCD Forward Primer Name	Forward Primer	UCD Reverse Primer Name	Reverse Primer
Marker	471c	R18_HRSCAF471b4179358	471c-194FAM	CGAGAGGAGTCATCGTGAAT	471c-328R	TTTCACACTCGTTGAAAGCG
1 Marker 2	995b	R113_HRSCAF995b1972571	955b-150FAM	GTCTGAGTTCCGCTGACTTA	955b-345R	ACTACGGATGCAACGGATTA
Marker 3	1106s90	R116_HRSCAF1106b352052	1106s90_197NED	AGCTAAAGTAAAGGTAGTTC AAAAGA	1106s90_413R	GGGTGATTGTTTGGTTGGTC
Marker 4	79s975	R3_HRSCAF79b3387454	79s975_193VIC	CAGGCAACACGTGTTTACTT	79s975_459R	GCATCTACGTTCGCACATA
Marker 5	1122s48	R117_HRSCAF1122b211057	1122s48_175NED	TTTGTCCCCTCTTTAACGCT	1122s48_315R	AGGTGGAAAAAGATGCCCAG
Marker	1089NED	R115_HRSCAF1089NED140004	1089NED-31NED	CCACTTGCTGGTCATCTTTG	1089NED-249R	CTTTTTCCGCTATGTGTCCC
Marker	297s860	R9_HRSCAF297b3110279	297s860_40NED	ATAATGGGAGTAGCAGGCAG	297s860_300R	GATGTCACGTGATGGAGAGT
Marker	162s689	R6_HRSCAF162b2668544	162s689_200PET	TCCTATCTCACCCAACAAGC	162s689_309R	CGTGGATACTTTCAAGCGTG
Marker 9	89a	R4_HRSCAF89b9549053	89a-99NED	GAGTCTACCGCACCTTATGT	89a-296R	ATCCATGGCTGGCTGTAAAT
Marker 10	360b	R12_HRSCAF360b848357	360b-144PET	GATCAGAAACTAGCGCTTGC	360b-406R	AATCACTAGCGATGGCCAC

Table 2-3 Candidate UCD SSR loci and corresponding primers with Hutton shortened codenames.

2.2.2 Testing UCD SSR markers in singleplex reactions

The ten candidate markers were tested (both with and without the universal tags) against *B. lactucae* DNA samples in a single PCR per marker to determine whether the anticipated locus amplified efficiently. Each was then tested further to determine whether the SSR locus showed length polymorphisms amongst a selection of isolates of *B. lactucae*. Universal tags with fluorescent labels were synthesised by Applied Biosystems (Thermofisher, Hertfordshire, UK), the other primers were obtained from Eurofins Genomics (Wolverhampton, UK).

2.2.2.1 Protocol without universal tags

Each primer pair, without the universal tags, was tested on DNA from *B. lactucae* sample 2020_Bl2A. Each 25 µl reaction comprised: 13.38 µl of HPLC grade water, 5 µl of 5X Green GoTaq Reaction Buffer (Promega), 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.5 µM each of forward and reverse primers, 0.75 U of Go Taq G2 Flexi DNA polymerase (Promega), and 1 µl of template DNA. Each sample was run in duplicate with HPLC purified water as a negative DNA control. The PCR program started with 95°C for 5 mins, followed by 35 cycles of 94°C, 57°C and 72°C each for 30 seconds, finished by 5 mins at 72°C. The PCR products were run on a 2% agarose gel stained with SYBR SAFE (Invitrogen, Thermofisher) and visualised with UV light using an Azure c200 gel imaging system (Azure biosystems).

2.2.2.2 Protocol with universal tags and tagged primers

The amplification and allele size variation of each marker was tested in singleplex against four *B. lactucae* DNA samples: two from the UK, 2020_Bl2A, 2020_Bl4E, and two reference isolates obtained from Naktuinbouw (NAK). Each 12.5 μ l reaction comprised: 6.25 μ l Type-it Multiplex PCR Mix (Qiagen), forward primer to a final concentration of 0.1 μ M, reverse primer to 0.2 μ M, and universal tag to 0.1 μ M, 1 μ l of DNA template, and HPLC grade water to make up to the final volume. Each sample was run in duplicate along with HPLC water as a negative DNA control template. The PCR program used was 95°C for 15 mins, followed by 40 cycles of 30 seconds at 94°C, 1.5 minutes at 59°C and 1 minute of 72°C.

Prior to running on the capillary sequencer, a master mix of 6 µl of GeneScan[™] 500 LIZ[™] dye Size Standard (Applied Biosystems) and 1 ml of HiDi Formamide was prepared. After mixing, 10.2 µl of this HiDi/Liz mix was dispensed into each well of a 96-well PCR plate (Abgene AB0600). The PCR product of each reaction was diluted with HPLC grade water to a 1:20 ratio

and an aliquot of 0.6 µl was added to the master mix. The plate was sealed and passed to the Hutton on-site sequencing facility for capillary electrophoresis on an ABI 3730 automated capillary sequencer (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The resultant electropherograms were processed using the GeneMapper (v5.0) software (Applied Biosystems, ThermoFisher, UK).

2.2.3 Testing UCD SSR markers with universal tags in multiplex reactions

Primers for multiple markers were mixed into a single reaction (i.e. a pool) for multiplex amplification. The pools were planned on the basis of the range of anticipated allele sizes with coloured fluorescence tags to discriminate the alleles in the output of the ABI3730. Differences were observed in the alleles detected when loci from the same DNA samples were amplified in either singleplex or multiplex reactions. Adjusting the primer concentrations did not resolve these inconsistencies so further tests were conducted to examine the potential influence of annealing temperature and competition for PCR reagents amongst loci. The aim of these experiments was to obtain a clear allele detection for downstream analysis.

2.2.3.1 Testing the effect of temperature on improving downstream analysis of candidate UCD SSR markers with universal tags

To assess the role of annealing temperature on the generation of discrepancies, a temperature gradient PCR was tested. The temperature gradient PCR was conducted on the two NAK reference isolates over a range of annealing temperatures between 55-62°C. The multiplex PCR followed the same protocol as the universal tags and tagged primers (section 2.2.2.2), except the reaction included all primers and the annealing temperature which ranged from 55-62°C (at eight one degree intervals).

Alleles were called manually in GeneMapper (v5.0), and assigned an arbitrary category of 1, 2, or 3. Categories 1 and 2 were peaks of the predicted product size and identical to that in the singleplex reactions with 1 a peak with a height above 500 relative fluorescent units (RFU) and a category 2 below 500 RFU. Category 3 were low quality peaks in the right size range that could not be called accurately. Each multiplex was compared to that from the singleplex by calculating the percentage of allelic peaks that corresponded between the two reactions.

2.2.3.2 Testing the effect of split- pooling PCR reaction to improve downstream analysis with universal tags

To improve allele detection and mitigate against the presumed primer dimers and issues with competition for PCR reagents amongst loci, three single multiplex reactions (of 8 primer pairs for 8 loci) were split to only include one SSR marker per colour channel (4 primers pairs for 4 loci). Post amplification the PCR products were pooled to create a consolidated sample before running on the ABI3730 capillary sequencer. This method will be referred to as "splitpooling". Each individual PCR was independently genotyped. A total of three multiplex splitpools were examined in this study along with two annealing temperatures determined as the most optimal in a previous test. Three SSR multiplexes, comprised of two splits to include a total of eight SSR markers, were each tested on two *B. lactucae* DNA samples, NAK reference 1 and 2.

The three multiplexes were determined by what markers had the fewest predicted dimers as per Multiple Primer Analyzer Thermofisher (https://www.thermofisher.com/uk/en/home/brands/thermo-scientific/molecularbiology/molecular-biology-learning-center/molecular-biology-resource-library/thermoscientific-web-tools/multiple-primer-analyzer.html) using the standard settings 0.5 µM for primer conditions and sensitivity for dimer detection, along with the default for salt concentration, as the salt level of Type-it kit is not publicly available. The multiplexes tested are shown in Table 2-4.

Mplx 4		Μ	plx 5	Mplx 6		
Split_4.1	Split_4.2	Split_5.1	Split_5.2	Split_6.1	Split_6.2	
M2	M1	M2	M1	M2	M1	
M8	M9	M8	M9	M10	M9	
M5	M7	M5	M7	M7	M5	
M4	M6	M6	M4	M4	M6	
1 dime	er overall	2 dime	2 dimers overall 4 dimers over		rs overall	

Table 2-4 Three multiplex tested in PCR split-pool experiments, with the predicted number of dimers each. Dimer prediction used Multiple Primer Analyser by Thermofisher using the standard settings. M is short for marker

Each split reaction followed the same protocol as the universal tags and tagged primers (section 2.2.2.2), with exception to the PCR programs. There were two PCR programs and machines used to test two different annealing temperatures simultaneously (Table 2-5).

PCR prog Temp.	gram 1		PCR program 2 Temp.			
(°C)	Time			(°C)	Time	
95°	15 mins			95°	15mins	
94°	30 sec			94°	30 sec	
61°	1.5 mins	x40		62°	1.5 mins	x40
72°	1 min	cycles		72°	1 min	cycles
72°	5 mins			72°	5 mins	

Table 2-5 Two PCR programs used.

Preparation for genotyping followed the same as in singleplex (section 2.2.2.2; using a 1:20 dilution) with the inclusion of pooling the subsequent splits of each multiplex in duplicate. The output, which are electropherograms, was observed using GeneMapper (v5.0) and data analysis was carried out as described earlier (section 2.2.2.2).

The results were compared by examining the percentage of allelic peaks that corresponded to the expected results from singleplex reactions for both NAK reference races. The split reactions results, and pooled results were calculated separately and compared to the prior temperature gradient results of a complex multiplex set of the NAK reference races at annealing temperatures 61°C and 62°C.

2.2.4 Additional markers developed at Hutton from the B. lactucae genome

The tested UCD markers did not provide sufficient polymorphic loci for a multiplex assay on the restricted UK DNA pool tested. The number of candidate markers was therefore extended through a screen of the SF5 genome (Fletcher et al., 2019) or new candidate SSR markers. This bioinformatic screen was conducted by Linda Milne (Information and Computational Sciences (ICS) Group at the James Hutton Institute) using the tandem repeat search tool Phobos (v3.3.12- Mayer, 2006-2010).

2.2.4.1 Selection of Hutton markers and primer design

The SSR marker regions were selected based on the similar parameters as when selecting candidates from UCD. These were, (1) from different assembly scaffolds, to cover different regions of the genome, (2) covering a range of different SSR motif types (di and tri nucleotides), (3) those with 100% perfect repeat sequences.

The online software tool Primer3, version 4.1.0 (https://primer3.ut.ee/) was used to design primers targeting the flanking region of each SSR marker. Standard settings were maintained with a melting temperature defined at 58-61°C. Multiple primer options were considered for candidate markers, with product size being chosen to ensure compatibility with the existing UCD candidate markers in multiplex. Several primer combinations were configured and then tested for dimers with Multiple Primer Analyzer Thermofisher (https://www.thermofisher.com/uk/en/home/brands/thermo-scientific/molecularbiology/molecular-biology-learning-center/molecular-biology-resource-library/thermoscientific-web-tools/multiple-primer-analyzer.html), the output was used to narrow down the

candidate primers to test and retain.

As previously, the primers were modified to the 3-primer system with universal tags (Blacket et al., 2012). Each reverse primer was modified to have a GTTT sequence on the 5'end (Brownstein et al., 1996). These HPSF purified oligonucleotides were supplied by Eurofins Genomics (Wolverhampton, UK). Resultant primers and information are shown in Table 2-6.

2.2.4.2 Testing the Hutton markers in Singleplex

To determine the product sizes for building a multiplex, and to determine which markers were polymorphic, singleplex runs were carried out on the Hutton screened candidate markers. The eleven Hutton candidate SSR markers were tested for efficient amplification of the predicted product from *B. lactucae* DNA. The 16 primers were tested in singleplex PCR reactions with the universal tags on five different *B. lactucae* DNA samples, utilising the above protocol (section 2.2.2.2) with a revised annealing temperature of 61°C. To initially check amplification, the PCR products for one DNA sample were run using the above gelectrophoresis protocol (section 2.2.2.1) before capillary electrophoresis of all samples.

Primer pair name	Oligo	unit	unit length	Uni Tag	Sequence (5'>3') with mods all 5' end *1		GC%	Product size	
1001-	1001aF	AAC	41	DET	CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTGAAGGAGTCCGGCGCAAAATA	20.00	50.00	1(5.00	
1001a	1001aR			PEI	<i>GT</i> TTCCAAGCGTTCGTCTTTGC	20.00	50.00	165.00	
1002	1002cF	ACG	37	MC	GCCTTGCCAGCCGGCGCATTCCACATCTGAACCG	20.00	55.00	222.00	
10020	1002cR			VIC	GTTTGCCCTGTCGTCGTTGAGAAA	20.00	55.00	555.00	
10024	1003dF	ACG	18	ΕΛΝ	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCAGTGTTGATCATCTTGCGGCC	20.00	55.00	206.00	
10050	1003dR			ГАМ	GTTTGACTCGTTCCTGCTTCGACA	20.00	55.00	306.00	
10030	1003eF	ACG	18	ЕЛИ	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCAGTGTTGATCATCTTGCGGCC	20.00	55.00	215.00	
10056	1003eR				GTTTCGAAACTCCGACTCGTTCCT	20.00	55.00	515.00	
1004c	1004cF	AC	16	NED	CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTGTGCATTGGGTGAGTTCGCTA	20.00	50.00	278.00	
10040	1004c 1004cR			NED	GTTTCCCTGCGCCATATTCCATC	20.00	55.00	278.00	
10040	1004eF	AC	16	БАМ	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCATACCGCTCCCTTCATGACAC	20.00	55.00	165.00	
10040	1004eR				GTTTGGCCACGCTCTACTTAGACA	20.00	55.00	165.00	
1005c	1005cF	AGC	22	VIC	GCCTTGCCAGCCCGCCACGTTGGTTAATGCCTGCC	20.00	55.00	171.00	
10050	1005cR			VIC	GTTTAGCCACCACCCTTTCCATTT	20.00	50.00	171.00	
1006c	1006cF	AAT	19	БАМ	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCCATTCATGCGCGTCACTA	20.00	50.00	364.00	
10000	1006cR			PAN	<i>GTT</i> TGTGCTTTTCATACGCTGTGC	21.00	47.62	504.00	
1006d	1006dF	AAT	19	БАМ	GCCTCCCTCGCGCCATGCAGATATCGAGACAGCTTGG	22.00	50.00	237.00	
10000	1006dR			PAN	<i>GTT</i> TGGGCTCTACATGGGATTTCC	21.00	52.38	257.00	
1007d	1007dF	AG	15	VIC	GCCTTGCCAGCCGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGAGAGAGA	21.00	57.14	250.00	
1007a 1007d				VIC	GTTTAACTACGGCCACAGACAA	21.00	47.62	250.00	

Table 2-6 The resultant primers from Hutton screen for SSR markers. Numbers in primer name denotes what marker is targeted, up to two primer pairs per marker were considered.

Primer Product unit Uni Tag Sequence (5'-->3') with mods all 5' end*1 GC% pair Oligo unit Length length size name 1008bF ACT 22 CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTGACGCAGACAGATCACACGAA 20.00 50.00 NED 1008b 355.00 1008bR *GTTTCGGGAAAAGCTTGCACTTCA* 20.00 50.00 AG 1009aF 19 CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG TTATTCCGCAGCCTAATCAGC 21.00 47.62 1009a 245.00 PET 1009aR *GTT*TGCGAGTAGTGCCTTACGTT 20.00 50.00 1010cF AC 8 **GCCTCCCTCGCGCCA**ACGGTTAAAGCTCTCTCGAAATG 23.00 43.48 FAM 1010c 175.00 1010cR *GTTT*GGACACCCGTTACATCTATCCT 22.00 50.00 1010eF AC 8 **CGGAGAGCCGAGAGGTG**ACGGTTAAAGCTCTCTCGAAATG 23.00 43.48 1010e PET 315.00 1010eR *GTTTCTTCTTGCACTTCATTCGGTACT* 23.00 43.48 1011aF AGC **CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTG**CATTTCCTCGTTGCTGGGTG 20.00 24 55.00 NED 1011a 216.00 1011aR *GTTT*AACTCGAAACGGGCCAAGTC 20.00 55.00 1011dF AGC CAGGACCAGGCTACCGTGAGCACGGCCTGAAGATGTC 24 19.00 57.89 1011d NED 187.00 1011dR GTTTGCAACTCGAAACGGGCCAA 19.00 57.89

Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

*1 Italics are PIGtail modifications from (Brownstein et al., 1996), and bold is the universal tag modification (Blacket et al., 2012).

2.2.4.3 Testing the multiplex SSR assay on pathogen DNA stored on FTA cards

Testing to date was based on a few reference samples (<5), resulting in some markers appearing monomorphic. As per AHDB aerial oomycete project (CP 184) Hutton has a collection of DNA of *B. lactucae* stored in FTA cards.

Previous tests were done on DNA extracted from sporangial suspensions. Before utilising the FTA collection, tests comparing the marker results of *B. lactucae* strains that had both live samples and DNA pressed onto a FTA card were conducted.

A 5 reaction SSR assay was developed including all markers of interest to determine which were most suited for incorporation into the final assay (i.e. polymorphic for UK samples) and to determine whether the genotyping protocol was effective with FTA samples.

The markers were checked in multiple combinations to determine those that had fewest dimers, no overlap of alleles and to minimise spectral overlap; the resulting combination is shown in Table 2-8. Each reaction consisted of one marker per colour channel, reactions are described in Table 2-7. Pooling the 5 reactions was not possible due to product size overlap.

Nine of 2021 UK *B. lactucae* isolates from four different outbreaks were genotyped using the 5 reaction SSR assay (Table 2-7), using the PCR protocol with universal tags with the amended annealing temperature of 61°C. This was repeated with FTA card samples of the same isolates.

	Each Mu	ltiplex				Primer mix			
							Final Conc	x1 react for 12.5	
	PCR 1	PCR 2	PCR 3	PCR 4	PCR 5	Working Conc.	(µM)	μl	
	M1	1010c	1006d	M2	M1	10pmol/µl 10µM	0.1	0.125	
F	1011d	M5	M7	1008b	1011a		0.1	0.125	
primers	1001a	1009a	M9	1010e	M10		0.1	0.125	
	1005c	M3	1002c	1007d	M4		0.1	0.125	
	M1	1010c	1006d	M2	M1		0.2	0.25	
R	1011d	M5	M7	1008b	1011a		0.2	0.25	
primers	1001a	1009a	M9	1010e	M10		0.2	0.25	
	1005c	M3	1002c	1007d	M4		0.2	0.25	
	A_FAM	A_FAM	A_FAM	A_FAM	A_FAM		0.1	0.125	
Universal	B_VIC	B_VIC	B_VIC	B_VIC	B_VIC		0.1	0.125	
tags	C_NED	C_NED	C_NED	C_NED	C_NED		0.1	0.125	
-	D_PET	D_PET	D_PET	D_PET	D_PET		0.1	0.125	
					2x Qiager	n Type-IT Multiplex	PCR	()5	
					Mix			6.25	
					Water (H	PLC)		3.25	
					DNA	FTA 2mm disc or ~	-4ng/μl	1	
					TOTAL v	volume	0 1	10 5	
								12.5	

Table 2-7 The 5 reaction SSR assay. M short for marker, for the UC Davis screened markers. Hutton primer pair names used for clarification.

Table 2-8 The 5 reaction SSR assay reaction, split by reaction with expected products for each targeted marker on their respective tagged colour channel. M is the abbreviation for marker, UCD markers are in blue and Hutton in green (primer pair names used for clarification).



2.2.5 Progression from the universal tags to testing unique fluorescently labelled primers

The markers that were reproducible and polymorphic were retained. The exception being Marker 7 which despite poor amplification, was the most polymorphic in samples tested and of great distinguishing value and thus retained. The temperature gradient test demonstrated that low Tm increased the risk of non-specific amplification of DNA and the Type-it kit requires a minimal Tm of 60°C (QIAGEN, 2009). To increase the Tm base pairs were added to the 5' end of the UC Davis primers had in accordance with the SF5 genome sequence so that primers would likely still anneal to *B. lactucae* DNA. Marker 10 was less efficient in amplification and the PCR product size overlapped with many other primers preventing inclusion in one reaction, as such a new primer pair was designed using Primer3 (version 4.1.0; https://primer3.ut.ee/). To minimise overlap, markers with similar PCR product sizes were spaced further apart by changing of the fluorescent label or modifying the primers to amplify an adjusted range. Labelled primer sequences are presented (Table 2-12).

2.2.5.1 Singleplex and multiplex tests of labelled primers

As in previous testing, markers were tested in singleplex to ensure they amplified the predicted loci efficiently from *B. lactucae* DNA samples and that the PCR products were not overlapping. The PCR program followed the recommended primer concentration and program of the Type-it kit (Table 2-9 and Table 2-10). Both reference races from NAK were tested in singleplex in addition to two multiplex variants: Mplx 1 and 2 (Table 2-13). Spectral overlap issues with the initial labelled primers for Marker 7 and 4 led to redesign of Marker 7 with one forward primer with three reverse primer options, 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3 (Table 2-11).

Type-it Kit Recommended Programme					
	95°	5mins			
	95°	30sec			
DNA	57°	1.5mins	x28 cycles		
solution	72°	1min			
	60°	30mins	Final extension		
	95°	5mins			
	95°	30sec			
FTA	57°	1.5mins	x33 cycles		
	72°	1min			
	60°	30mins	Final extension		

Table 2-9 PCR program for Labelled primers

Table 2-10 Singleplex PCR mix

Reagent	Working Conc	(μΜ)	Final Conc (µM)	x1 react for 12.5µl
F primers	10pmol/µl	10	0.2	0.25
R primers	10pmol/µl	10	0.2	0.25
2x Qiagen Typ	e-IT Multiple	ex PCR N	Лix	6.25
Water (HPLC)	4.75			
DNA	4ng/µl			1.00
TOTAL Volur	12.5			

Table 2-11 Marker 7 primer redesign

	Primer	Primer Seq (5'>3') w/ Modifications					
Primer type	name						
Forward	UCD7_F	GACTCGGCGTGGTCACTTAT					
	UCD7.1_R	GTTTGACTGATGTCACGTGATGGA					
Reverse	UCD7.2_R	GTTTCCCCACTTAAACAACAGTCAC					
	UCD7.3_R	GTTTCACTCTCCCCACTTAAACAACA					

Table 2-12 Labelled primers, name, motif, modifications, targeted marker and sequence. Initial iteration of Marker 7 primers used.

Marker name	Primer Name	SSR motif	Dye	Primer Seq (5'>3') with all modifications *1	Company	Purification	
1001	1001aF_FAM	AAC	FAM	AAGGAGTCCGGCGCAAAATA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
1001	1001aR			<i>GT</i> TTCCAAGCGTTCGTCTTTGC	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
1009	1008bF_FAM	ACT	EAM	ACGCAGACAGATCACACGAA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
1008	1008bR		ГАМ	<i>GTTT</i> CGGGAAAAGCTTGCACTTCA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
1011	1011aF_PET	AGC	DET	CATTTCCTCGTTGCTGGGTG	Thermofisher	desalted	
1011	1011aR		PEI	GTTTAACTCGAAACGGGCCAAGTC	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m1F	AAT	NED	<u>CA</u> CGAGAGGAGTCATCGTGAAT	Thermofisher	desalted	
1	UCD_m1R		NED	<i>GTTTCTTCCTTATTTCACACTCGTTGAAAGCG</i>	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m2F	CTG	WIC	C GTCTGAGTTCCGCTGACTTA	Thermofisher	desalted	
2	UCD_m2R		VIC	<i>GTTTCTTTGACTACGGATGCAACGGATTA</i>	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m4F	ТА	EAM	CA CAGGCAACACGTGTTTACTT	Thermofisher	desalted	
4	UCD_m4R		ГАМ	<i>GTTTCTTGTAAGCATCTACGTTCGCACATA</i>	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m5F	CA	DET	CGA TTTGTCCCCTCTTTAACGCT	Thermofisher	desalted	
5	UCD_m5R		PEI	GTTTCTTAGGTGGAAAAAGATGCCCAG	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m7F	AT	DET	CTTATAATGGGAGTAGCAGGCAG	Thermofisher	desalted	
7	UCD_m7R		PEI	<i>GTTTCTT<mark>CT</mark>GATGTCACGTGATGGAGAGT</i>	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m9F	GAA	EAM	CAAGAGTCTACCGCACCTTATGT	Thermofisher	desalted	
9	UCD_m9R		ГАМ	GTTTCTT <u>TC</u> ATCCATGGCTGGCTGTAAAT	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
Marker	UCD_m10F	ATA	EAN	CCAGACCAAGAGCAAAAGCA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	
10	UCD_m10R		FAIVI	GTTTCTTCCGATCAAGGCACGAGAATC	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free	

*1 Italics are PIGtail modifications from (Brownstein et al., 1996), bold and underlined is the 5'modification to increase Tm.

		Primer final concentrations (μ M) and other reagents final volume (μ l) per multiplex (Mplx)												
Marke	er, primers/ reagents	Mplx 1	Mplx 2	Mplx 3	Mplx 4	Mplx 5	Mplx 6	Mplx 7	Mplx 8	Mplx 9	Mplx 10	Mplx 11	Mplx 12	Mplx 13
1001	Forward: 1001aF_FAM	0.2	0.1	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
	Reverse: 1001aR	0.2	0.1	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
1008	Forward: 1008bF_FAM	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.09
	Reverse: 1008bR	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.09
1011	Forward: 1011aF_PET	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.25	0.25	0.2
	Reverse: 1011aR	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.25	0.25	0.2
Maker 1	Forward: UCD_m1F	0.2	0.1	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
	Reverse: UCD_m1R	0.2	0.1	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
Marker 2	Forward: UCD_m2F	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.22	0.22
	Reverse: UCD_m2R	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.22	0.22
Marker 4	Forward: UCD_m4F	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.09
	Reverse: UCD_m4R	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.09
	Forward: UCD_m5F	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
Marker 5	Reverse: UCD_m5R	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
Marker 7	Forward: UCD_7F	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.38
	Reverse: UCD_7.1R	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.38
	Forward: UCD_m9F	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.08	0.06	0.06	0.06
Marker 9	Reverse: UCD_m9R	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.08	0.06	0.06	0.06
Marker 10	Forward: UCD_m10F	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.15	0.15	0.14
	Reverse: UCD_m10R	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.15	0.15	0.14
2x Qiagen Type-IT Multiplex PCR Mix		6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25	6.25
Water (HPLC)		0.25	0	0	0.75	0.95	0.825	1.825	0.725	0.775	1.05	1.35	1.8	2.05
$DNA \sim 4ng/ul \text{ or FTA (2mm disc)}$		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Final volur	ne	12.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 2-13 Multiplex primer concentration variations used with the labelled primers throughout assay development. Marker 7 had reiterations of primers, the final version is used.

2.3 Analysis of data in GeneMapper

An objective system for categorising the alleles at each locus was required to describe the resultant peaks and confidence in whether they were PCR artifacts or reproducible alleles was developed and utilised. With each genotyping run the analysis became more conservative as repeated and consistent amplification of allelic peaks increased confidence determining what was an allele and what was an artifact.

Marker panels were set-up on the basis of predicted length, then calibrated according to the singleplex runs of each marker. These panels were then applied to all data input into GeneMapper, and the size-standards were checked. After this manual check of the panel allele calling was carried out accounting for sample DNA repeats, and the negative control sample. If a peak was present across all sample repeats but not the negative control in the expected PCR product range, it was considered an allele.

In cases where differences in peak shape/pattern, more than two peaks, or peaks outside the expected range were observed these were noted and retained. This was to accommodate the potential of the samples being heterokaryotic or polyploid. Peak heights were also noted (as relative fluorescent units), to check the peak height ratios between alleles at a locus which may inform on the level of ploidy. To illustrate this concept, two examples are presented: Marker 1 and Marker 5. Triple peaks were common at Marker 1; 142, 145 and 148. Peaks 142 and 145 were both found as homozygous alleles (Figure 2-1 B and E) in some samples, and with a range of height ratios as seen in Figure 2-1 (A, C, D and F). All these peaks have a characteristic and distinct shape and were therefore considered real alleles. Distinct peak patterns and heights were also important with Marker 5; peak 155 would be called if it was higher or equal to the stutter peak just left of 157 (Figure 2-2 A, B and D). However, if the peak was lower as shown in (Figure 2-2, C) it was not called.

The change of primer multiplexing method did not remove 1-2 bp shifts occasionally seen with certain markers, if one allele shifted an indel mutation at the sequence immediately flanking the SSR marker was presumed. Such mutations affected a single rather than multiple alleles at a locus and these instances of 1-2 bp shifts were also logged, but not always retained in final analysis.


Figure 2-1 Examples of Marker 1 peaks indicating the alleles detected and the range of peak height ratios observed. Numbers are the bp of peaks (x-axis), grey bars are the expected allele bp sizes used by gene mapper to call an allele, y-axis is relative fluorescent units (RFU). 'Added' refers to manually calling an allele, 'changed' refers to manual adjustment of allele already called.



Figure 2-2 Examples of Marker 5 peaks indicating the alleles detected and the range of peak height ratios observed. Panels A, B and D show cases in which allele 155 was called but Panel C where it was absent. No isolate was found with allele 155 in a homozygote form. Numbers are the bp of peaks (x-axis), grey bars are the expected allele bp sizes used by gene mapper to call an allele, y-axis is relative fluorescent units (RFU). Added refers to manually calling an allele.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 UCD SSR Primers amplification in singleplex

Candidate UCD primers amplified predicted SSR loci from *B. lactucae* DNA when tested in singleplex both without universal tags and tested with gel electrophoresis (Figure 2-3), and when tested with capillary electrophoresis with universal tags and tagged primers. Note, the gel electrophoresis was performed to verify the presence of amplified products, with an emphasis on confirming successful amplification rather than assessing exact sizes. Product sizes were however within the expected range of 100-500 bp.

Each tested marker detected at least one allele. Heterozygosity was observed in some markers (such as Marker 1, 7, 5 and 9, Table 2-14) and tri-allelic results were also noted for some DNA samples tested (Figure 2-4 B, Table 2-14). Variation in peak height was observed, with some primers amplifying more efficiently such as Marker 7 and Marker 10 (Table 2-14).



Figure 2-3 Gel Electrophoresis of PCR products from the simplex amplification of each locus. Each test was run in duplicate with its own HPLC grade water control. DNA of the B. lactucae isolate 2020_Bl2 was amplified. 0 refers to the Hyperladder iv 100bp (Bioline, sizes from 100-1000bp). Row A Marker 2 (lanes 1-3), Marker 6 (4-6), Marker 10 (7-9), Marker 7 (10-12), Marker 8 (13-15). Row B primers Marker 5 (16-18), Marker 4 (19-21), Marker 9 (22-24), Marker 1 (25-27), Marker 3 (28-30).



Figure 2-4 Visualisation of amplified loci analysed using fluorescent labelling and high-resolution capillary electrophoresis. A and C are examples of alleles at tri-nucleotide SSR with intervals of 3 base pairs between alleles. B shows a tri-allelic result from a di-nucleotide locus. 'Added' refers to manually calling an allele.

Table 2-14 Genotypic profiles of B. lactucae samples tested in 2021 with singleplex markers. Each row shows a different B. lactucae sample, which was tested in duplicate for each marker. Each set of 2-4 columns is an SSR marker (locus), below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number, the different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

		Marker 1				Marker 2	2	Marker 3	3	Marker 4	4	Marker 5	5
DNA	rep.	1	2	3	4	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
2020_Bl2A	1	150	156			242	278	233	233	284	286	170	170
2020_Bl2A	2	150	156			242	278	233	233	284	286	170	170
2020_Bl4E	1	150	156			242	278	233	233	284	286	170	170
2020_Bl4E	2	147	150	153	156	242	278	233	233	284	286	170	170
Reference_1	1	150	150			242	284	233	233	284	284	168	170
Reference_1	2	150	150			284	284	233	233	284	284	168	170
Reference_2	1	150	156			284	284	219	233	284	284	170	170
Reference_2	2	150	156			284*1	284*1	219	233	284	284	170	170
HPLC	1	150	156										
		Marker 6		Marker 2	7		Marker 8	3	Marker 9)	Marker	10	
DNA	rep.	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	
2020_Bl2A	1	235	244	288	300		130	130	223	223	287	287	
2020_Bl2A	2	235	244	288	300		124	130	223	223	287	287	
2020_Bl4E	1	235	244	286	298	300	124	130	223	223	287	287	
2020_Bl4E	2	235	244	286	298	300	124	130	223	223	287	287	
Reference_1	1	235	238	278*1	288*1		124	130	220	223	284*1	287*1	
Reference_1	2	235	238	278	288*1		124	130	220	223	284	287*1	
Reference_2	1	235	238	282	288		124	130	220	223	284*1	284*1	
Reference_2	2	235	238	282	288		122	130	220	223	284*1	284*1	
HPLC	1												

*1 <500 RFU

2.4.2 The effect of annealing temperature in the downstream analysis of UCD candidate markers

Variations in allelic detection were observed at each marker between different annealing temperatures. For example, Marker 1 when amplified using an annealing temperature of 56°C yielded 16.7% of alleles observed in singleplex when counting peaks above 500 RFU, whereas at an annealing temperature 61°C this rose to 50.0% (Table 2-15).

Relatively higher annealing temperature demonstrated an enhancement of allelic resolution in all markers. More alleles were detected using an annealing temperature of 61°C than all other temperatures in the gradient (correspondence to singleplex total of 25.8% at >500 RFU and 66.7% with all peaks).

The initial primer amplification check in singleplex utilised an annealing temperature of 57°C which was not the highest temperature tested in this experiment, thus, direct comparisons of results may be subjected to discrepancies. However, singleplex generally generated peaks, whereas in the cases of multiplexing there were fewer peaks observed.

Some primers failed to reliably amplify *B. lactucae* DNA, specifically those targeting Marker 2 and Marker 7, of which Marker 2 had no peaks corresponding to singleplex. A considerable proportion of the primers failed to generate allelic peak heights above 500 RFU such as Markers 5 and 10. In both cases, it indicates persistent challenges with other aspects of optimising PCR, such as primer dimerization, or competition for PCR reagents amongst loci.

Table 2-15 Comparison of the frequency of peaks at individual markers with expected product range (alleles) amplified from two DNA samples (NAK reference samples 1 and 2) when tested in multiplex at a range of different temperatures 55-62°C. Correct alleles were if the alleles corresponded to the singleplex experimental results of each marker for that isolate which determined the peak (not shown in table).

Temp.	Type of	Marker										
(°C)	peak	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Total
55	>500 RFU	0.0	0.0	33.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	7.6
	all	16.7	0.0	66.7	16.7	0.0	12.5	0.0	66.7	37.5	0.0	21.2
56	>500 RFU	16.7	0.0	33.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	9.1
	all	33.3	0.0	66.7	0.0	0.0	12.5	0.0	83.3	62.5	0.0	25.8
57	>500 RFU	16.7	0.0	16.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	7.6
	all	33.3	0.0	66.7	33.3	0.0	25.0	0.0	83.3	75.0	0.0	31.8
58	>500 RFU	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	66.7	0.0	0.0	6.1
	all	33.3	0.0	33.3	33.3	0.0	25.0	0.0	66.7	100.0	0.0	30.3
59	>500 RFU	33.3	0.0	33.3	16.7	0.0	25.0	0.0	66.7	37.5	0.0	21.2
	all	66.7	0.0	66.7	66.7	37.5	25.0	0.0	66.7	100.0	33.3	47.0
60	>500 RFU	16.7	0.0	16.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	33.3	0.0	0.0	6.1
	all	66.7	0.0	83.3	66.7	50.0	50.0	0.0	66.7	100.0	0.0	50.0
61	>500 RFU	50.0	0.0	33.3	16.7	0.0	37.5	0.0	50.0	50.0	16.7	25.8
	all	100.0	0.0	66.7	66.7	87.5	87.5	12.5	66.7	100.0	50.0	66.7
62	>500 RFU	50.0	0.0	33.3	16.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	50.0	12.5	0.0	18.2
	all	83.3	0.0	50.0	66.7	75.0	62.5	0.0	66.7	87.5	33.3	54.5

2.4.3 The effect of split-pooling on allele detection from products of the multiplex reaction

A higher frequency of peaks corresponding to singleplex results were observed at an annealing temperature of 61°C than at 62°C, regardless of DNA sample and multiplex tested, (Table 2-16). Pooled multiplex number 4 had the fewest peaks corresponding to singleplex results out of all multiplexes tested, with 4.2% of peaks corresponding to singleplex (using annealing temperature of 62°C). For multiplex 5 and 6 though there were some discrepancies between reference samples, neither multiplex had a corresponding peak frequency to singleplex below 70% at the annealing temperature of 61°C. The genotyping of the split PCR products matched the pooled products confirming that the pooling did not negatively impact the SSR assay.

Table 2-16 Comparison of the frequency of detected peaks in multiplex that corresponded to singleplex product range (alleles) amplified from two NAK reference DNA samples in pooled multiplexes at two different temperatures 61°C and 62°C. Peak size specifications were determined from singleplex experiments (not shown in table). RFU threshold was 500RFU.

	Reference 1Reference 2Temp 61Temp 62Temp 61											
		Temp 6	1]	Гетр 62			Temp 61	-	,	Temp 62	2
Total Peaks	Mplx 4	Mplx 5	Mplx 6	Mplx 4	Mplx 5	Mplx 6	Mplx 4	Mplx 5	Mplx 6	Mplx 4	Mplx 5	Mplx 6
>500 RFU	15	17	26	1	13	13	16	23	20	2	17	15
all	19	17	26	4	19	17	19	24	21	3	17	18
% freq. (>500RFU)	62.5	70.8	100.0	4.2	54.2	50.0	61.5	88.5	76.9	7.7	65.4	57.7
% freq. (all)	79.2	70.8	100.0	16.7	79.2	65.4	73.1	92.3	80.8	11.5	65.4	69.2

When comparing each marker across different multiplex configurations (multiplex in a single reaction, split reaction, split reaction then pooled), the same reference DNA when run in a single reaction exhibited a lower percentage frequency of allelic detection (Table 2-17). With certain markers this was more pronounced, for example Marker 1 in a single reaction multiplex the frequency of peaks corresponding to singleplex were 50%, whereas each split-pool experiment had an >80% of peaks corresponding to singleplex (Table 2-17).

Markers that did not amplify well in a single multiplex reaction did so in the split-pool reaction, such as Marker 2, 5, and 7. The results suggests that splitting the multiplex provided a better primer performance allowing for clearer downstream analysis. Notably when the annealing temperature was 61°C for both single reaction and split-pooling approach it resulted in higher percentages of allelic peaks corresponding to singleplex results than experiments run at annealing temperature of 62°C (Table 2-17).

DNA samples in different multiplex combinations. Temperature gradient (Temp. grad.) experiment results were utilised, and only category 1 peaks (>500 RFU peaks).

Table 2-17 Comparison of the frequency of peaks with correct product range per individual marker amplified from two reference

Markers	Temp. grad. 61°C	Temp. grad. 62°C	Temp. grad. 61°C and 62°C	Only pooled	Temp. 61 pooled and splits	Temp. 62 pooled and splits
Marker 1	50.0	50.0	50.0	83.3	97.2	86.1
Marker 2	0.0	0.0	0.0	75.0	100.0	70.8
Marker 3	33.3	33.3	33.3	55.6	66.7	50.0
Marker 4	12.5	12.5	12.5	47.9	52.1	16.7
Marker 5	0.0	0.0	0.0	80.6	100.0	80.6
Marker 6*1	37.5	0.0	18.8	-	-	-
Marker 7	0.0	0.0	0.0	16.7	41.7	2.1
Marker 8	75.0	75.0	75.0	87.5	100.0	87.5
Marker 9	50.0	37.5	43.8	100.0	66.7	62.5
Marker 10	16.7	0.0	8.3	50.0	83.3	0.0

*1 Indel warning so this marker was removed in later analysis

2.4.4 Hutton designed SSR Primer amplification

This screen of the SF5 genome resulted in 40 SSR candidates of varying motif lengths and from a range of genomic locations across the published genome. Of which 11 candidate markers were chosen. All designed primers amplified the predicted SSR loci from *B. lactucae* DNA and did not amplify in negative control reactions, demonstrating successful primer functionality (Figure 2-5). Some markers, such as 1002(c) and 1007(d) amplified multiple bands suggesting heterozygosity (Figure 2-5).



Figure 2-5, Gel Electrophoresis of PCR products from testing the amplification of each primer pair in singleplex. DNA of the B. lactucae isolate 2020_Bl2A was amplified. 0 refers to the Hyperladder iv 100bp (Bioline, 100-1000bp). DNA template of 2020_Bl2A (odd numbers) and a negative template of HPLC grade water (even numbers). Row A: 1001a (1-2), 1002c (2-3), 1003d (5-6), 1003e (7-8), 1004c (9-10), 1004e (11-12), 1005c (13-14), and 1006c (15-16). Row B:1006d (17-18), 1007d (19-20), 1008b (21-22), 1009a (23-24), 1010c (25-26), 1010e (27-28), 1011a (29-30), and 1011d (31-32).

Single genotyping indicated 7 markers (1001, 1003(d), 1004 (c & e), 1006(c), 1007, 1008, 1011) were polymorphic with peaks that represented alleles varying in size according to the dinucleotide and trinucleotide repeats (Table 2-18). The large size difference in peaks detected at markers 1007(d) and 1003(d & e) were presumed to not be from stepwise mutations. With the reference isolates tested four loci were monomorphic, 1010(c & e), 1006(d), 1005(c) and 1002(c). Markers 1004 (c & e) and 1006 (c and d) did not have matching results between primer pairs used, whereas 1010 (c & e) and 1011 (a & d) did match in number of alleles and/or distance between alleles.

Although monomorphic some markers were not yet excluded as the range of candidate isolate samples was limited, and these markers could still be polymorphic when tested against a more diverse panel of *B. lactucae* samples. However, markers which either generated inconsistent results from the two different primer pairs or those generating alleles unlike those expected of SSR loci were removed from the potential list.

Table 2-18 Genotypes for 5 B. lactucae samples (three UK and two NAK reference races) amplified in singleplex assays. Each row shows a different B. lactucae sample, which was tested in duplicate for each marker. Each set of 2-4 columns is an SSR marker (locus), below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number, the different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele. Red labels were out of expected range peaks and presumed to indicate indels.

DNA Tompl	ato	1001(a)		1002(c)		1003(d)		1003(e)		1004(c)		1004(e)		1005(c)		1006(c)		
DIA Tempi	ale	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3
2020_Bl2A	R1	160	166	345	345	311	311	320	320	297	297	182	182	192	192	315	378	
	R2	160	166	345	345	311	311	320	350	299	299	182	182	192	192	315	378	
2020_Bl4E	R1	160	166	345	345	311	311			297	297	182	182	192	192	315	378	
	R2	160	166	345	345	311	311			297	297	182	182	192	192	315	378	
2020_Bl4G	R1	160	166	345	345	311	311	320	320	299	299	182	184	192	192	315	378	
	R2	160	166	345	345	311	311	320	320	299	299	182	184	192	192	315	378	
Reference 1	R1	166	166	345	345	311	311	320	320	299	299	182	184	192	192	315	378	
	R2	166	166	345	345	311	311	320	320	297	299	182	184	192	192	315	378	
Reference 2	R1	166	184	345	345	311	356	320	410	297	297	182	182	192	192	381		
	R2	166	184			311	356	320	410	297	297	182	182	192	192	315	378	381
		100((1)		1007(1)		1000(1)		1000()		1010()		1010()		1011()		1011(1)		
DNA Templ	ate	1006(d)	2	1007(d)	2	1008(b)	2	1009(a)	2	1010(c)	2	1010(e)	2	1011(a)	2	1011(d)	2	
DNA Templa	ate	1006(d) 1	2	1007(d) 1	2	1008(b) 1	2	1009(a) 1	2	1010(c) 1	2	1010(e) 1	2	1011(a) 1	2	1011(d) 1 210	2	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A	R1	1006(d) 1 252 252	2 252 252	1007(d) 1 266 266	2 288 288	1008(b) 1 377 377	2 377 377	1009(a) 1 264 264	2 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194	2 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337	2 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239	2 239 239	1011(d) 1 210 210	2 210 210	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A	R1 R2 R1	1006(d) 1 252 252 252	2 252 252 252	1007(d) 1 266 266	2 288 288	1008(b) 1 377 377	2 377 377	1009(a) 1 264 264	2 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194	2 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337	2 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239	2 239 239 239	1011(d) 1 210 210 210	2 210 210 210	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E	ate R1 R2 R1 P2	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252	2 252 252 252 252	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377	2 377 377 377 377	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 239	2 239 239 239 239	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210	2 210 210 210 210	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E	R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252 252	2 252 252 252 252 252 252	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266 266	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377 377	2 377 377 377 377 377	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 239 239	2 239 239 239 239 239 239	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210 210 207	2 210 210 210 210 210	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E 2020_Bl4G	R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	2 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266 266 266	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377 377 377 377	2 377 377 377 377 377 377	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 239 236 236	2 239 239 239 239 239 239 239	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210 207 207	2 210 210 210 210 210 210 210	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E 2020_Bl4G	ate R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	2 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266 266 266 266	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380	2 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 239 236 236 236	2 239 239 239 239 239 239 239 239	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210 207 207 207	2 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 210	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E 2020_Bl4G Reference 1	ate R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	2 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 2	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266 266 266 266 288 288	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380 380	2 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380 380	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 236 236 236 236	2 239 239 239 239 239 239 239 236	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210 207 207 207	2 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 207 207	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E 2020_Bl4G Reference 1 Reference 2	ate R1 R2 R1	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	2 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 2	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266 266 266 288 288 288 28	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377 377 377 380 380 380	2 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380 380 380	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 236 236 236 236 236	2 239 239 239 239 239 239 239 236 236 236	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210 207 207 207 207	2 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 207 207 207	
DNA Templa 2020_Bl2A 2020_Bl4E 2020_Bl4G Reference 1 Reference 2	ate R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1 R2 R1	1006(d) 1 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 2	2 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 2	1007(d) 1 266 266 266 266 266 266 266 266	2 288 288 266 266 266 266 266 288 288 28	1008(b) 1 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380 380 380	2 377 377 377 377 377 377 377 380 380 380	1009(a) 1 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	2 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264 264	1010(c) 1 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	2 194 194 194 194 194 194 194 194 194	1010(e) 1 337 337 337 337 337 337 337	2 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 337 33	1011(a) 1 239 239 239 239 236 236 236 236 236	2 239 239 239 239 239 239 239 236 236 236	1011(d) 1 210 210 210 210 207 207 207 207 207	2 210 210 210 210 210 210 210 207 207 207	

2.4.5 Multiplex testing with integration of the UCD and Hutton markers, and DNA from FTA cards

Of the candidate markers tested in multiplex, Marker 3, 1005, 1006(d), 1007, and 1010 proved monomorphic with the DNA pool tested and the others were polymorphic (Table 2-19). Marker 1009 generated atypical peaks that were too difficult for meaningful and reliable interpretation. Marker 1002 had many peaks, as only one (354) was observed in singleplex, the other peaks were attributed to PCR artifacts resulting from primer dimerization of concurrent primers tested. After removal of the problematic loci the list of candidate markers to take forward was reduced to 10.

There was a noticeable difference between the FTA and the DNA solution results. With the multiplex using DNA from FTA cards as a template generally yielding stronger and more consistent amplification, than DNA extracted from sporangial solutions (Table 2-19). For example, Marker 10 with FTA all samples had alleles detected except for one repeat of 2021_Bl3C and 2021_Bl8A, whereas with DNA solutions only one repeat of 2021_Bl8A amplified.

Differences in Marker 1 results from two PCR reactions (PCR1 and PCR5) highlighted that the primer combination in multiplex can alter results. Specifically, the alleles 158 and 159 (Marker 1) that only appeared in seven repeats in PCR reaction 5 (PCR5) when using DNA extracted from sporangial solution.

Table 2-19 Comparisons of genotyping using DNA from sporangial suspensions or from FTA cards and the 5-reaction SSR assay. Each row is a different B. lactucae sample, tested in duplicate for each marker. Each set of 2-4 columns is an SSR marker (locus), below each marker the numbers in the column header represent the allele number, the different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele. Page 1 and 2 of the table show UC Davis screened markers on DNA solution from sporangial suspension, and FTA cards; the following two pages are Hutton screened markers.

			Mar PCF	:ker 1 R 1			Mar PCR	ker 1 5			Mar 2	ker	Maı 3	ker	Marl 4	ker	Mar 5	ker	Mar 7	ker		Mar 9	ker	Ma: 10	rker
type	template		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2
DNA	2021_Bl2B	R1	150	150			150	150			266	282	233	233	284	284	170	170				220	223		
sol.		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233			170	170	293	293		220	223		
	2021_Bl2D	R1					150	150									170	170							
		R2					158	158																	
	2021_Bl3A	R1	150	150			150	156	159				233	233			170	170							
		R2	150	150			159	159							294*1	294 ^{*1}			286	288		223	223		
	2021_Bl3B	R1	150	150			150	150			266	284	233	233			170	170	284	286		220	223		
		R2	150	150			150	150			266	284	233	233	274*1	274*1	170	170	286	288		220	223		
	2021_Bl3C	R1	153	153			159	159														223	223	I	
		R2	150	150																					
	2021_Bl4C	R1					159	159							266*1	266*1									
		R2									278	278			291 ^{*1}	291*1									
	2021_Bl8A	R1					150	150			278	278	233	233			170	170							
		R2					150	150							284	294*1			293	293		220	223	284	287
	2021_Bl8B	R1					159	159					235	235								223	223	I	
		R2					159	159																	
	2021_Bl8C	R1	150	150																					
		R2	150	150			150	150																	
	Neg. C	R1					159	159			278	278	237	237											

			Mar	ker 1			Mar	ker 1			Ma	rker	Mar	ker	Mar	ker	Mar	ker	Maı	ker		Maı	ker	Mar	ker
DNA	DNA		PCF	R 1			PCR	R 5			2		3		4		5		7			9		10	
type	template		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2
FTA	2021_Bl2B	R1	147	147			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	293		220	223	284	284
		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	293		220	223	284	284
	2021_Bl2D	R1	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	293		220	223	284	284
		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	293		220	223	284	284
	2021_Bl3A	R1	147	150			150	150					233	233	284	284	170	170	286	286		220	223	284	287
		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	284	170	170	286	286		220	223	284	287
	2021_Bl3B	R1	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	286	286		223	223	284	287
		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	293		220	223	284	287
	2021_Bl3C	R1	150	150									233	233			170	170	286	286		220	223		
		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	284	170	170	286	286		220	223	284	287
	2021_Bl4C	R1	147	150	153	156	147	150	153	156			233	233	284	284	168	170	286	298		223	223	287	287
		R2	147	150	153	156	147	150	153	156			233	233	284	286	168	170	286	298		223	223	287	287
	2021_Bl8A	R1	147	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170						284	287
		R2	147	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	286	298		220	223	284	287
	2021_Bl8B	R1	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	293		220	223	284	287
		R2	147	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	296	298	220	223	284	287
	2021_Bl8C	R1	150	150			150	150					233	233	284	286	170	170	293	296		220	223	284	287
		R2	150	150			150	150					233	233			170	170	293	296		220	223		
	Neg. C	R1	150	153			150	153	156																

DNA	DNA		1003	l	1002				100	5	100	6	100	7		100	8	100	19	101	.0(c)	101	.0(e)	101	1 (a)		101	1(d)	
type	template		1	2	1	2	3	4	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	3
DNA	2021_Bl2B	R1	166	166	180*2	218*2	275*2		192	192			240	248	266	380	380	264	264	194	194	338	338	239	239				
sol.		R2	166	166	218*2	275 ^{*2}			192	192	252	252	266	266		380	380	264	264			338	338						
	2021_Bl2D	R1			197*2	197*2												264	264					208	208		114	114	
		R2			197*2	218 ^{*2}	275*2											264	264					208	208				
	2021_Bl3A	R1									246	246	266	266				264	266	194	194								
		R2	166	166	180*2	218*2	238*2	275*2	192	192														208	208		201	201	
	2021_Bl3B	R1	166	166	218*2	275*2		_	192	192	252	252	266	266		380	380	264	264			338	338	229	229				
		R2	166	177	197*2	218 ^{*2}	275*2		192	192	252	252	266	266		377	380	264	264	194	194	338	338	208	208				
	2021_Bl3C	R1									252	252												208	208				
		R2			197*2	197*2																							
	2021_Bl4C	R1																						207	207				
		R2									252	252																	
	2021_Bl8A	R1											266	266		380	380	264	264	194	194	338	338						
		R2			218*2	275 ^{*2}	322* ²				252	252												236	239				
	2021_Bl8B	R1			238*2	238*2																							
		R2			238*2	238*2																		208	208				
	2021_Bl8C	R1							276	276														208	208				
		R2							291	291			282	282										236	236				
	Neg. C.	R1																											

DNA	DNA		100	1	1002				1005	5	100	6	1002	7		1008	8	1009	9	101)(c)	1010)(e)	101	1(a)		1011	(d)	
type	template		1	2	1	2	3	4	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	3
FTA	2021_Bl2B	R1			180*2	218*2	267*2	275*2					266	266		380	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	236	239				
		R2	166	166	180*2	218*2	267*2	275*2	192	192			266	266		380	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	236	239		207	207	L
	2021_Bl2D	R1	166	166	180*2	218*2	275*2		192	192								264	266	194	194			236	239		207	207	
		R2	166	166	180*2	218*2	275*2		192	192								264	266	194	194			236	239		207	210	
	2021_Bl3A	R1	166	166	218*2	275*2	345		192	192	252	252	266	266		377	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	229	236	239	201	207	
		R2	166	166	218*2	275*2	345		192	192	252	252	266	266		377	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	229	236	239	201	207	
	2021_Bl3B	R1	166	166	218*2	275*2	345		192	192	252	252	266	266		380	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	236	239		201	207	210
		R2	166	166	218*2	275*2			192	192	252	252	266	266		380	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	229	236	239	201	207	
	2021_Bl3C	R1	166	166	218*2	275*2	345		192	192	252	252						264	266	194	194						201	207	
		R2	166	166	218*2	275*2	345		192	192	252	252	266	266		377	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	229	236	239	201	207	
	2021_Bl4C	R1	160	166	218*2	275 ^{*2}	345		192	192	252	252	266	266				264	266	194	194			236	239		207	210	,
		R2	160	166	218*2	275*2	345		192	192	252	252	266	266		377	377	264	266	194	194	338	338	236	239		207	207	
	2021_Bl8A	R1	166	166					192	192								264	266	194	194			236	239		207	207	
		R2	166	166	180*2	218*2	238*2	275*2	192	192			266	266		380	380	264	266	194	194	338	338	236	239		207	207	r
	2021_Bl8B	R1	166	166	180*2	218*2	275*2		192	192			266	266		380	380	264	264	194	194	338	338	236	239		207	207	,
		R2	166	166	180*2	218*2	275*2		192	192			266	266		380	380	264	264	194	194	338	338	236	239		207	210	,
	2021_Bl8C	R1	166	166	180*2	218*2	275*2	307*2	192	192			266	266		380	380	264	264	194	194	338	338	236	239		207	207	
		R2	166	166	180*2	197*2	218 ^{*2}	307*2	192	192			266	266		380	380			194	194	338	338				207	207	
	Neg. C.	R1																											

*1 low RFU and not clear,

*2 not in fully expected range.

2.4.6 Amplification observed with labelled primers in singleplex and multiplex testing

Most markers when amplified using labelled primers generated consistent peaks when run in singleplex and multiplex, generally producing peaks above 500 RFU (Table 2-20). This is in comparison to the universal tag system (3-primer system), where in singleplex some lower quality amplification was observed in some markers (Marker 10 only 2 DNA template reps >500 RFU out of 8); and in multiplex some markers did not amplify at all (Marker 2).

Singleplex testing of the labelled primers showed that most still amplified the predicted loci from *B. lactucae* DNA. With the NAK reference 1, labelled primers for Marker 7 exhibited difficulty facilitating amplification, with no replicates amplified in singleplex).

Issues with spectral overlap were observed with the some of the labelled primers. This is due to strong amplification that caused the fluorescent signal at one wavelength to cross into that of the adjacent channel and cause peaks. A lowering of the primer concentration of problematic markers reduced the fluorescence signal and thus the spectral overlap (data not shown).

Testing of the redesigned primers for Marker 7 resulted in an improved marker. All new primers yielded stronger and clearer amplification than the initial labelled primers (Table 2-20, Table 2-21). The primer pair using UCD7.1_R as the reverse generated the best results, yielding PCR products for all multiplex replicates even from lower quality DNA samples such as NAK Reference 1. Primers UCD7.2_R and UCD7.3_R generated PCR products of a similar size to Marker 10 and 1008(b) respectively, whereas UCD7.1_R had no overlap and were therefore selected for the final assay.

Table 2-20 Comparison of universal tag system to labelled primers using the two NAK reference races in singleplex and multiplex. NAK reference 1 = ref 1; reference 2 = ref 2, Neg. C = negative control. Each set of 2-4 columns is an SSR marker (locus), below each marker the numbers in the column header represent the allele number, the different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

Multiplay	DNA	DNA		Μ	larker	1	Mar	ker 2	Mar	ker 4	Mar	ker 5	Μ	larkeı	r 7	Mar	ker 9	Marl	ker 10	100	1(a)	100	8(b)	101	1(a)
Multiplex	type	Template		1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
		Ref. 1	R1	150	150		242	284	284	284	168	170	278	288		220	223	284^{*1}	287 ^{*1}	166	166	380	380	236	239
T T T T T			R2	150	150		284	284	284	284	168	170	278	288		220	223	284	287 ^{*1}	166	166	380	380	236	236
Universal	DNA	Ref. 2	R1	150	156		284	284	284	294	170	170	282	288		220	223	284^{*1}	284 ^{*1}	166	184	380	380	236	236
tag Sin alamlau	solution		R2	150	156		284 ^{*1}	284 ^{*1}	284	294	170	170	282	288		220	223	284^{*1}	284^{*1}	166	184	380	380	236	236
Singleplex		Neg. C	R1	150	156		278	278											-						
		U	R2																						
		Ref. 1	R1	150	150				284 ^{*1}	284 ^{*1}	168^{*1}	170 ^{*1}				220 ^{*1}	223 ^{*1}			_	-	_	-	-	-
Universal			R2	150	150				284^{*1}	284^{*1}	168^{*1}	170^{*1}		288		220	223	284^{*1}	284 ^{*1}	_	_	_	_	_	_
tag.	DNA	Ref. 2	R1	150	156				284	294	170^{*1}	170^{*1}				220	223	284	284	_	_	_	_	_	-
Multiplex	solution		R2	150	156				284^{*1}	294	170^{*1}	170^{*1}				220^{*1}	223 ^{*1}	284^{*1}	284 ^{*1}	_	_	_	_	_	_
*3		Neg. C	R1						201		170	170						201	201	_	_	_	_	_	_
		0	R2																	_	-	-	-	_	-
		Ref. 1	R1	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	159				206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
			R2	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157				206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
T 1 11 1			R3	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157				206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
Labelled	DNA	Ref. 2	R1	142	142		272	272	275	277	155	157	266	276	284	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	223
Finalaplay	solution		R2	142	142		272	272	275	277	155	157	266	276	284	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	223
Singlepiex			R3	142	142		272	272	275	277	155	157	266	276	284	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	223
		Neg. C	R1																						
			R2																						

Multiplay	DNA	DNA]	Mark	cer 1		Mark	cer 2	Marl	ker 4	Mark	ker 5	Marl	ker 7		Marl	ker 9	Mar	ker 10) 1001	(a)	1008	(b)	1011	(a)
Multiplex	type	Template		1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
		Ref. 1	R1	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157	276 ^{*1}	276 ^{*1}		206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
			R2	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157				206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
Labelled			R3	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157				206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
Labelled	DNA	Ref. 2	R1	142	142		272	272	275	275	155	157	266	276	284	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	223
Multiplay	solution		R2	142	142		272	272	275	275	155	157	266	276	284	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	220
wiunpiex			R3	142	142		272	272	275	275	155	157	266	276	284	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	220
		Neg. C	R1																						
			R2																						
		Ref. 1	R1 [*] 1	142 ^{*1}	145 ^{*1}	148^{*1}	272	272	275	275	155 ^{*1}	157				206	209	327	327	146^{*1}	164	362	362	220 ^{*1}	220 ^{*1}
	DNA		R2	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157				206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
	solution	Ref. 2	R1	142	142		272	272	275	275	155	157	266 ^{*1}	276 ^{*1}	284^{*1}	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	220
I alsollad			R2	142	142		272	272	275	275	155	157	266 ^{*1}	276^{*1}	284^{*1}	206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	220
Labelled		Ref. 1	R1	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157	276	276		206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
primer Mmby 2			R2	142	148		272	272	275	275	157	157	271	276		206	209	327	327	146	164	362	362	220	220
Mpix 2	FIA	Ref. 2	R1	142	142		272	272	275	277	155	157	266	284		206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	223
			R2	142	142		272	272	275	275	155	157	266	284		206	209	327	330	146	146	362	362	220	220
		Neg. C	R1												•										
		Ũ	R2																						

*1 below 500 RFU

*2 low DNA sample, pattern sometimes obvious but not always clear

*3 results from 61°C temperature gradient test, which only had UCD marker results

Table 2-21 Results of singleplex and multiplex testing of three redesigned labelled primer combinations of Marker 7. The different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

Reverse				Sing	leplex			Mul	tiplex	
primer	DNA		Allele	Allele	Allele	Allele	Allele	Allele	Allele	Allele
used	Template		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4
	Reference 1	R1					284*1	291 ^{*1}		
		R2					284*1	291*1		
	Reference 2	R1	281	291	299		281	291	299	
UCD_7.IK		R2	281	291	299		281	291	299	
	2021_Bl1B	R1	299 *1	299 *1			299 *1	299 *1		
		R2	299 *1	299 ^{*1}			299 ^{*1}	299 *1		
	Reference 1	R1	318*1	318*1					_	
		R2					318*1	318*1		
	Reference 2	R1	308	318	326		308	318*1	326*1	
UCD_7.2K		R2	308	318	326		308	318*1	326*1	
	2021_Bl1B	R1	326*1	326*1			326*1	326*1		
		R2					326*1	326*1		
	Reference 1	R1	325*1	325*1						
		R2				_	325*1	325*1		
	Reference 2	R1	315	325	333		315	325	333*1	
UCD_7.3K		R2	315	325	333		315*1	325*1	333*1	
	2021_Bl1B	R1	333*1	333*1			315*1	333*1		
		R2	333*1	333*1			333*1	333*1		

*1 below 500 RFU

2.5 Finalised Assay

The final SSR assay for *B. lactucae* comprised a mix of UCD and Hutton markers that were tested initially using a cost-effective universal tagged primer system as a first screen followed by using individually labelled primers to develop this single reaction 10-plex multiplex SSR assay. The lengthy and complex process of optimising the assay running conditions has however resulted in an appropriate choice of markers and product sizes for the multiplex assay for subsequent studies.

Nonetheless adjustments in the primer concentration were carried out during the analysis of the many field and population samples (Table 2-13) in the last 18 months of the study. No further changes to the choice of markers or primer sequence were required. The finalised marker line-up (Table 2-22) and the best primer concentrations for multiplex are presented (Table 2-23).

Table 2-22 Finalised labelled primers for SSR multiplex assay.

Marker	Primer Name	length	SSR motif	Dye			
nume			mour		Primer Seq (5'>3') with all modifications	Company	Purification
1001a	1001aF_FAM	20	AAC	ΕΛΝ	AAGGAGTCCGGCGCAAAATA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
	1001aR	22		ГАМ	GTTTCCAAGCGTTCGTCTTTGC	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
1008b	1008bF_FAM	20	ACT	ΕΛΜ	ACGCAGACAGATCACACGAA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
	1008bR	24			GTTTCGGGAAAAGCTTGCACTTCA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
1011a	1011aF_PET	20	AGC	PET	CATTTCCTCGTTGCTGGGTG	Thermofisher	desalted
	1011aR	24			GTTTAACTCGAAACGGGCCAAGTC	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_m1F	22	AAT	NED	CACGAGAGGAGTCATCGTGAAT	Thermofisher	desalted
1	UCD_m1R	32		NED	GTTTCTTCCTTATTTCACACTCGTTGAAAGCG	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_m2F	21	CTG	VIC	CGTCTGAGTTCCGCTGACTTA	Thermofisher	desalted
2	UCD_m2R	29		VIC	GTTTCTTTGACTACGGATGCAACGGATTA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_m4F	22	TA	ΕΛΝ	CACAGGCAACACGTGTTTACTT	Thermofisher	desalted
4	UCD_m4R	30		PAIVI	GTTTCTTGTAAGCATCTACGTTCGCACATA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_m5F	23	CA	DET	CGATTTGTCCCCTCTTTAACGCT	Thermofisher	desalted
5	UCD_m5R	27		111	GTTTCTTAGGTGGAAAAAGATGCCCAG	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_7F	20	AT	PET	GACTCGGCGTGGTCACTTAT	Thermofisher	desalted
7	UCD_7.1R	24			GTTTGACTGATGTCACGTGATGGA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_m9F	23	GAA	ЕЛИ	CAAGAGTCTACCGCACCTTATGT	Thermofisher	desalted
9	UCD_m9R	29			GTTTCTTTCATCCATGGCTGGCTGTAAAT	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
Marker	UCD_m10F	20	ATA	ΕΛΜ	CCAGACCAAGAGCAAAAGCA	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free
10	UCD_m10R	27		FAW	GTTTCTTCCGATCAAGGCACGAGAATC	Eurofins	HPLC and salt-free

Targeted m reagents	arkers and their primers/	Working Conc	(μΜ)	Final Conc (µM)	x1 react for 12.5 µl		
1001	1001aF_FAM	5pmol/µl	5	0.02	0.05		
	1001aR	5pmol/µl	5	0.02	0.05		
1008	1008bF_FAM	10pmol/µl	10	0.09	0.1125		
	1008bR	10pmol/µl	10	0.09	0.1125		
1011	1011aF_PET	10pmol/µl	10	0.2	0.25		
	1011aR	10pmol/µl	10	0.2	0.25		
Marker 1	UCD_m1F	5pmol/µl	5	0.02	0.05		
	UCD_m1R	5pmol/µl	5	0.02	0.05		
Marker 2	UCD_m2F	10pmol/µl	10	0.22	0.275		
	UCD_m2R	10pmol/µl	10	0.22	0.275		
Marker 10	UCD_m10F	10pmol/µl	10	0.14	0.175		
	UCD_m10R	10pmol/µl	10	0.14	0.175		
Marker 9	UCD_m9F	10pmol/µl	10	0.06	0.075		
	UCD_m9R	10pmol/µl	10	0.06	0.075		
Marker 5	UCD_m5F	10pmol/µl	10	0.02	0.025		
	UCD_m5R	10pmol/µl	10	0.02	0.025		
Marker 7	UCD_7F	10pmol/µl	10	0.38	0.475		
	UCD_7.1R	10pmol/µl	10	0.38	0.475		
Marker 4	UCD_m4F	10pmol/µl	10	0.09	0.1125		
	UCD_m4R	10pmol/µl	10	0.09	0.1125		
2x Qiagen Type-IT Multiplex PCR							
Mix							
Water (HPLC)							
DNA ~4ng/µl or FTA (2mm disc)							
Final volume							

Table 2-23 The final SSR multiplex concentration mix used. Labelled primers were used.

2.6 Discussion

In the development of the SSR assay several key aspects were explored. First, the universal tagged primer system (Blacket et al., 2012) was suited to a first cost-effective screen to identify the polymorphic and informative loci. The universal tags had already been used in multiplex tests for population diversity studies in multiple different organisms which suggested it was effective (Miller et al., 2020; Nipitwattanaphon et al., 2020; Vega-Polo et al., 2020). However, when testing this method on *B. lactucae*, issues were identified that prevented its use for downstream processing of samples. It was challenging to achieve consistent results for multiplex analysis due to the amplification of secondary peaks and unpredictable variation in amplification efficiency between markers using the tagged primer system. The cause of this inconsistency was unclear, but it may have been due to competition for PCR reagents amongst loci combined with the genetic complexity of B. lactucae. The pathogen has been shown to have a complex genetic system with variability in the levels of ploidy and heterokaryosis resulting in changing doses of different alleles due to sorting of genetically distinct nuclei in even a single sample (Fletcher et al., 2019). The best resolution obtained with the universal tags was the 5 reaction SSR assay which though more reliable downstream analysis was obtained it was not appropriate for the analysis of samples for which the supply of DNA was limited.

Once the comprehensive list of polymorphic candidate markers was identified the move to shift to individually labelled fluorescent primers improved the clarity and reproducibility of the analysis for genotyping. This shift also proved effective for using in a multiplex assay. This was clearest with Marker 2 and 10 in Table 2-20, where only one replicate amplified effectively with the universal tags system, but with labelled primers all replicates generated alleles for Marker 2, and 13 of 24 replicates amplified alleles at Marker 7.

Some differences between replicate runs of the same sample with different sources of DNA (sporangial or FTA card) were still observed even with labelled primers. In general, clearer downstream analysis was observed when using DNA from FTA than DNA from sporangial suspensions. There are few possible explanations, 1) low or degraded DNA led to poor readings, 2) and difference in sample state in pressed lesions on FTA card compared to the sporangial suspension. Strains of *B. lactucae* have been reported to form heterokaryons

(Fletcher et al., 2019), the heterokaryotic state is thought to be highly transient and the relative frequency of heterokaryosis is not well defined for the UK population. In the literature there are reports of heterokaryons undergoing nuclear sorting or selection of specific genes and alleles over each other with the fungi *Neurospora tetrasperma* (Meunier et al., 2022; Samils et al., 2014).

Therefore, the discrepancies observed between the same isolate genotype when using DNA from sporangial suspensions to DNA from FTA cards may be attributed to nuclear sorting. An effect of nuclear sorting may be more pronounced in a lesion pressed onto an FTA card than in a DNA extraction from a sporangial suspension generated from washing spores from across one or multiple lesions. A single disk cut from a fixed point accommodates location with the plant tissue (FTAs) compared to a sporangial suspension and the spatial differences may explain some of the variation.

Overall, the finalised SSR assay with labelled primers was able to genetically discriminate and characterise samples of *B. lactucae* and was especially effective with lesion DNA stored on FTA cards. It was thus considered appropriate to use to analyse *B. lactucae* populations at a range of scales in the UK.

Chapter 3 The genotypic and phenotypic diversity of the UK population of *B. lactucae*

3.1 Introduction

The lettuce downy mildew pathogen *B. lactucae* is able to generate genetic diversity via a range of mechanisms which, in combination with aerial sporangia that can disperse long distances between crops, provides ample opportunity for gene-flow between sub-populations (Jeuken & Lindhout, 2002). In the longer-term, gene flow is predicted to make LDM disease management more challenging due to the introgression of advantageous traits across the population. Exerting a selection pressure on a genetically diverse population will promote Darwinian selection and adaptation within the population. Management of LDM is generally based on a combination of host resistance, chemical and cultural control. The range of *R* genes (Parra et al., 2016) and fungicide active ingredients are however, limited. Furthermore, introgression of *R* genes into desirable cultivars takes time, and so does the development and regulatory approval of active ingredients (HSE, 2023). A lack of effective host resistance and ineffective chemical control measures can result in poor LDM management and potentially crop failure. Monitoring and thus understanding both the genetic and phenotypic diversity of the pathogen population will inform the stewardship of the *R* gene and fungicide active ingredient resources available (Tör et al., 2023).

There is evidence of populations of *B. lactucae* adapting to management techniques. For example, the changes in the IBEB differential set and the number of pathogen races discriminated over time(IBEB, 2023) suggests the wider population is changing. In addition to many documented reports of population shifts in both virulence (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b; Trimboli & Nieuwenhuis, 2011; van Hese et al., 2016) and fungicide insensitivity (Brown et al., 2004; Cobelli et al., 1998; Crute et al., 1987; Schettini et al., 1991), some outbreaks have reportedly been exacerbated by human activity such as the distribution of infected plants from specialist plant propagators to growers (Crute, Norwood, and Gordon 1987).

Previous research has indicated that the European population of *B. lactucae* undergoes a sexual reproductive stage which generates new allelic combinations and maintains genetic diversity (Gustafsson et al., 1985; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Sexual reproduction is typically heterothallic, requiring the presence of two mating types, B1 and B2 (Michelmore & Ingram, 1980). Sexual reproduction is problematic for disease management due to both the genetic recombination which can produce novel virulence phenotypes (Michelmore & Ingram, 1981), but also the resultant thick-walled oospores that can survive in soil overwinter and produce primary inoculum in the next season (Morgan, 1978, 1983). Though there are some detailed studies on sexual reproductions on cultivated lettuce (Crute et al., 1987; Gustafsson et al., 1985; Souza et al., 2022), and L. serriola (Petrželová & Lebeda, 2004), there are not many studies on the impact or role of sexual recombination in contemporary European population with most of the samples collected before 2010. Exceptions to the requirement of two mating types in sexual reproduction in the form of secondary homothallism have been documented (Michelmore & Ingram, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Contrary to sexual recombination which promotes genetic diversity by inclusion of two different strains, inbreeding driven by homothallism has been demonstrated to reduce heterozygosity by half in every generation (Goodwin, 1997). Regardless of heterothallic or homothallic strains, sexual reproduction results in oospores.

B. lactucae has other means of generating and maintaining genetic diversity. Previous observations have reported somatic fusion leading to the formation of either polyploids or heterokaryons (Hulbert & Michelmore, 1988), and trisomy has been associated with homothallism in sexual reproduction (Michelmore & Sansome, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). The impact of somatic fusion as a significant source of stable phenotypic variation is not known, but recent studies have shown heterokaryons have somatic stability and superior fitness on non-selective hosts compared to homokaryotic derivatives (Fletcher et al 2019). Hence, it can be said that the genetics underlying *B. lactucae* is complex.

As an asexual polycyclic pathogen *B. lactucae* produces abundant aerially dispersed sporangia that disperse locally but also have predicted maximum dissemination modelled up to 3000 m (Wu et al., 2001). Sporulation at each infection cycle results in multinucleate sporangia, which

have been speculated to be genetically distinct (Fletcher et al 2019). Such sporangia could thus be a key contributor to gene flow in the UK population.

Little is known about the genetics of the UK population of *B. lactucae*. As an island the UK is geographically isolated from mainland Europe, and such, physical separation and lack of gene flow is predicted to lead to genetic divergence from the population of mainland Europe. There is evidence that countries in mainland Europe differ in the composition of mating types in *B*. *lactucae* populations: mating type B1 was prevalent in samples from a preliminary study collected from Germany (Lebeda, 1997 as cited in Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b), whereas B2 was prevalent in samples collected from Czech Republic (Petrželová & Lebeda, 2004). Other studies found sexual reproduction was frequent in Swedish populations which was attributed to both mating types being present (Gustafsson et al., 1985; Souza et al., 2022). Other B. lactucae populations on isolated landmasses such as Japan and Australia were reported to be multiallelic and speculated to rely on somatic fusion as a source of genetic variation (Michelmore & Ingram, 1980). There is reportedly an inverse correlation between sexual and asexual reproductive phase, though the reason underpinning this is not well known (Michelmore & Ingram, 1980). Therefore, the reproductive preferences of B. lactucae populations may differ between populations, based on whether homothallic strains are present, the frequency of asexual reproduction and somatic fusion, and the composition of mating types within a population.

Monitoring disease and surveillance of other oomycete plant pathogens has documented the emergence and spread of specific aggressive lineages (Cooke et al., 2012) and new virulent races (Taylor et al., 2018). In the case of *B. lactucae*, regional differences in the efficacy of host resistance have been observed (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b) and such information aids management through informing an appropriate choice of cultivar. Additionally, monitoring will identify any regions of high genotypic or phenotypic variability and therefore regions at a potentially higher risk of management failures. Importantly monitoring can provide records of the population diversity to refer to in future studies.

3.1.1 Aims

This study aimed to understand the genotypic and phenotypic diversity of *B. lactucae* in UK lettuce crops to inform disease management. Isolates were collected via a postal survey and profiled using the previously developed SSR markers to understand their genetic diversity. Live samples were also phenotypically tested for virulence and fungicide insensitivity and this data was evaluated in relation their genetic diversity. The phenotypic and genotypic diversity is examined in geographical and temporal context for patterns that explain the dynamics of the population. The knowledge gained on the evolving contemporary population of *B. lactucae* in the UK will help evaluate the effectiveness of host resistance and fungicides to inform the management practices for industry stakeholders.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Bremia lactucae isolate collection, maintenance, and storage

3.2.1.1 Isolate collection

Samples of *B. lactucae* were obtained from lettuce plants that were naturally infected with *B. lactucae*. Most samples were obtained from industry stakeholders, who were contacted directly or indirectly through publications and newsletters.

Sample packs were sent to interested parties, including a sample form, instructions, and equipment for sampling along with pre-paid return envelopes. The sample form asked for information on the outbreak the sample was collected from, included the outbreak size, the cultivar, the date the sample was taken and the postcode district. An optimal sample comprised four foliar lesions per outbreak, and an additional four lesions pressed onto a FTA® classic card (Whatman®, Merck/Sigma Aldrich) which stabilises and preserves host and *B. lactucae* DNA. FTA cards provided insurance in cases where the leaf material containing *B. lactucae* did not survive postage or the transfer to susceptible lettuce seedlings at Hutton was not successful. Establishing live cultures maintained on lettuce seedlings was critical for bulking inoculum to test for phenotype.

3.2.1.2 Isolate bulking and maintenance

A sporangial suspension from each sample was obtained by cutting isolated sporulating lesions with flame sterilised tools, placing them in a 15 ml centrifuge tube with deionised water and gently shaking to remove sporangia. Plant material was then removed, and the sporangial suspension prepared for isolate maintenance or for storage.

Lesion samples that had very sparse sporulation were placed in dark and high humidity conditions (in a covered Perspex box with damp paper towels), to promote sporulation and prevent sunlight damage to sporangia. Lesion samples that could not be recovered were pressed onto an FTA card to preserve the pathogen DNA.

Since *B. lactucae* is an obligate biotroph, requiring living host tissues for nutrients, bulking up and maintaining biological material required inoculation and serial passaging on susceptible lettuce seedlings. Seedlings of cultivar Green Towers were sown on damp filter paper inside a Perspex box that was then wrapped in plastic to maintain high humidity (preventing the

filter paper from drying out). The boxes were placed in a north-facing greenhouse (approximate day time temperature of 15°C) and when the seedlings were 7 days old or 2 cm long, they were sprayed with a sporangial suspension of the isolate of interest. Post inoculation the box of seedlings was further wrapped in a white opaque plastic bag to reduce direct light and prevent damage to the sporangia. Only one culture was opened at any time, and each handled separately with sterilised equipment and fresh gloves as a precaution to prevent cross-contamination. After 7-14 days depending on the level of sporulation, sporangia were washed off seedlings to make sporangial suspensions.

3.2.1.3 Isolate storage and DNA extraction of sporangial suspensions

The method of isolate storage depended on planned use. Sporangial suspensions were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 minutes, to remove excess water and approximately 1ml containing the sporangial pellet was retained. The tube containing the pellet and 1ml of water was directly stored, or resuspended then stored, at either -20°C or -80°C. Alternatively, sporulating seedlings were bagged and stored at -20°C.

Aside from FTAs, *B. lactucae* DNA was also sourced from maintained isolates. The 1ml sporangial suspensions would be centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 minutes or more until a pellet was visible, excess water was removed. A modified Raeder and Broda (1985) was used, as described in (Lees et al., 2019) in addition to not freeze drying the sporangia. DNA concentration (ng/ μ l) was quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer ND-1000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK).

3.2.2 Isolate characterization

Isolates were genotyped using the SSR assay developed in Chapter 2. As primer concentrations were adjusted to optimise the peak heights between runs not all strains were typed with the same multiplex primer mix, however all the same primers were used. The details are included in the sample information, as required.

3.2.3 Assessing *B. lactucae* virulence profiles

The standardised virulence test from IBEB was used (IBEB, 2023). Sporangial suspensions of *B. lactucae* isolates were sprayed on 7-day old seedlings of cultivars with differing resistance genes. Post inoculation, seedlings were kept in Perspex boxes at 90% RH and 15°C. After 10

days seedlings were assessed for symptoms following the IBEB index and given a sextet score for their virulence profile.

3.2.4 Fungicide insensitivity testing

The AHDB project CP 184 included fungicide insensitivity testing of 15 samples of *B. lactucae* from 10 outbreaks in 2019 (Pettitt et al., 2020) and 10 samples from 7 outbreaks from 2020-2021 (Pettitt et al., 2023). Isolates were tested in duplicate against a range of doses of three fungicides; Cleancrop, Paraat and Revus, each of which contained different active ingredients; azoxystrobin, dimethomorph, and mandipropamid, respectively. Full details on the protocol and results are available in CP 184 year 1 (Pettitt et al., 2020), and final report (Pettitt et al., 2023). This thesis used the data from this project but did not design nor carry out the experiments. The fungicide sensitivity results were compared against sample genotype based on SSR cluster analysis.

3.2.5 Data Analysis

GeneMapper (v5.0) was used to manually call the alleles from peaks generated at each SSR locus. Some minor adjustments of the allele names were required in a few cases where the expected repeat length did not match that predicted; for example, a 1bp difference where 2bp steps were anticipated. This was required to fit the SSR stepwise mutation model used to calculate Bruvo's distances. Data was exported from GeneMapper and processed with Microsoft Excel pivot tables to group the alleles at all loci for each sample. These data were then imported into R as Genclone objects. Samples with unclear SSR alleles were repeated but retained in the dataset to minimise any selection bias. Limited allelic variation and the presence of null alleles in duplicates of the same sample were observed in some cases. To account for such minor genotyping errors the data was filtered in R, first to remove samples with more than 2 loci missing, followed by a multilocus lineage (MLL) filter function in *poppr* that grouped samples within specific Bruvo's distance thresholds into a single lineage. The following R packages and their dependencies were used to examine the structure and diversity of the population: poppr (v2.9.4; Kamvar et al., 2014, 2015), magrittr (v2.0.3; Bache & Wickham, 2022), ggplot2 (v3.4.2; Wickham, 2016), reshape2 (v1.4.4; Wickham, 2020), adgenet (v 2.1.10; Jombart & Ahmed, 2011), ade4 (v1.7-22; Thioulouse et al., 2018), and ape (v5.7-1; Paradis & Schliep, 2019).

AMOVA (Analysis of Molecular Variance) and linkage disequilibrium testing was carried out (in *poppr*) on both clone and non-clone corrected populations to check for clonality in the population and subsequent impact on MLG diversity and allelic linked heritability. *K* cluster analysis was carried out to assess the genetic relatedness of samples without the influence of location or year. Subsets of each *K* cluster were used to produce a UGMA phylogenetic tree based on Bruvo's distance matrix on ten SSR loci. Clusters were chosen based on minimum spanning network output and from the testing multiple *K* values. The genotypic relatedness of samples was also examined with minimum spanning networks.

The virulence data from each tested sample were grouped by year, county, year-county, and year-postcode district, and the proportions of differentials overcome were calculated. Virulence proportions were then grouped by SSR cluster group to assess for any associations between *K* cluster group, county, or year. Additionally, Mapchart.net was used to visualise the sample collection by county (MapChart, 2024).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Overview of genetic diversity of UK samples of B. lactucae

From 2019 to 2022, 298 B. lactucae samples were received in Dundee. This comprised 148 leaf samples and 150 FTAs from a total of 46 disease outbreaks from 12 UK counties (Figure 3-1). Not all live samples were recoverable, and for some FTAs insufficient DNA could be recovered leading to a discrepancy between the number of samples received and those processed successfully. Additional FTA-based DNA samples from continental Europe were obtained from industry contacts to observe allelic variation outside of the UK.

Sample numbers varied from year to year depending partly on whether the weather was conducive to LDM infection and transmission. Fewest samples were obtained in 2020 due to Covid-19 which restricted travel to collect samples and caused postal delays which negatively affected the viability of live samples. Nineteen of the sampled disease outbreaks had lettuce cultivars identified, three of the outbreaks referred to the lettuce morphotype instead of cultivar, e.g. iceberg, and two outbreaks referred to cultivar mixes. The majority of samples came from commercial crops; however, a few came from allotments.





Figure 3-1 Origin of UK B. lactucae samples collected from the years 2019-2022

The multiplex SSR assay described in Chapter 2 was successfully applied to UK samples in this work with consistent amplification of allelic peaks across all ten loci that were labelled with different fluorescent dyes (Figure 3-2). In most cases identical genetic profiles were generated from samples from the same outbreak or in technical replicates of the same sample. Despite this, some differences were observed and re-testing of samples with unclear or ambiguous SSR alleles resulted in a total of 292 genotyped samples. Data from samples that were re-genotyped were retained to help detect any evidence of allele sorting and to prevent any inadvertent bias in selection of which samples to remove. Nonetheless data was filtered to remove 57 samples missing data at two or more loci. In total 168 DNA samples generated profiles of sufficient quality with repeats of these samples bringing the total number of profiles to 254.

Due to the many minor differences in SSR alleles and some missing data the MLL approach was applied to collapse the 158 MLGs from 254 UK genotype reads into lineages (Kamvar et al 2015). The average neighbour algorithm was selected and a Bruvo's distance threshold of 0.003906 was determined. The missing data cut-off was set to 0.1 which also removed the data from Marker 2. This process collapsed the 158 MLGs into 135 MLLs that were used for further analysis (Table 3-1).

The number of MLLs observed each year varied with 2021 having the highest (MLL=54) and 2020 having the lowest (MLL=17). However, after correction for sample size the number of MLLs expected (eMLL) and Simpson's diversity value was similar across the years (Table 1-1). No clear trend for change in overall genetic diversity across the years 2019-2022 was noted with eMLL ranging from 17.00 to 20.10, and Simpson's diversity (lambda corrected) ranging from 0.94 to 0.97. The samples collected from the year 2022, had the lowest expected heterozygosity (Hexp = 0.36) observed out of the four sampling years. Notably of 254 MLLs, 168 were found to be tri-allelic or tetra allelic at one or more markers. In addition to samples collected from mainland Europe not showing many novel alleles not found in the UK (data not shown). However, permission has not currently been granted to release these FTA card results for the continental European isolates.



Figure 3-2 Screenshot of the genotype of two isolates from different outbreaks, 2021_Bl4H and 2021_Bl6G, showing representative MLGs of 8 of the 10 SSR loci amplified with the FAM (blue) and PET (red) dyes. Marker names are Marker 9 = 89, Marker 7 = 297.UCD_7, Marker 10 = 360, Marker 5 = 1122. "Added" means allele was manually called, and "changed means allele name was changed manually.
Voor	NI	NAT T	oMI I a	сгb	Цc	Cd	lambda	E 5f	Uovpg
Tear	IN	IVILL	elviLL"	3E-	11	G	corrected ^e	E.J ⁻	Ttexp®
2019	59	33	17.20	1.82	3.05	12.30	0.94	0.560	0.509
2020	26	17	17.00	0.00	2.63	10.90	0.95	0.770	0.459
2021	94	54	20.10	1.87	3.67	26.60	0.97	0.671	0.469
2022	75	43	18.90	1.84	3.36	15.30	0.95	0.517	0.357
Total	254	135	22.10	1.79	4.47	49.40	0.98	0.559	0.479

Table 3-1 The genetic diversity of UK B. lactucae samples collected from 2019-2022 based on ten SSR loci with data analysed using poppr. Names of indices of genetic variation and their descriptions are in the table footnotes.

^a eMLL is the expected MLLs at the lowest common sample size (n=26), \geq 10 based on rarefaction

^bSE is standard error for rarefaction analysis used to create eMLLs

^c H is Shannon-Wiener Index of MLL diversity (Shannon, 2001) the higher the number the higher the diversity, includes genotypic diversity and evenness in calculations, is sensitive to number of different MLGs and evenness.

^d G is Stoddart and Taylor's Index of MLL diversity (Stoddart & Taylor, 1988), the higher the number the higher the diversity, includes genotypic diversity and evenness in calculations

^e lambda corrected is Simpson's Index (Simpson, 1949) of diversity, corrected to population size, values from 0-1, with 0 being no diversity, and 1 all genotypes are different.

^f E.5 is Evenness (Grünwald et al., 2003), values from 0-1, with 0 being complete unevenness.

^g Hexp is Nei's unbiased gene diversity (Nei, 1978), i.e. expected heterozygosity, values from 0-1, with 0 not heterozygous/ no diversity.

3.3.2 Marker discriminatory power

A range in discriminatory power was observed across the ten SSR markers, (Table 3-2). Highly polymorphic loci like Marker 7 with 15 detected alleles, had a greater value in discriminating isolates compared to markers with fewer alleles, such as 1001a with only two alleles. Among the markers tested on UK samples, the markers 1001a, 1008b and Marker 9, resolved three or fewer alleles.

Indexes for diversity and heterozygosity for each locus produced nearly identical scores. Markers tested ranged in Simpsons diversity scores, from high diversity of 1-D= 0.87 to low 1-D =0.22, which was mirrored in expected heterozygosity (Hexp=0.22-0.87). Evenness for all loci was above 0.5, which means the population trended towards more even distribution of alleles. Populations with a dominant clonal lineage would have skewed scores in diversity and evenness as the dominance of one genotype would trend towards zero at 1-D, Hexp, and

Evenness for most markers. Exceptions to this pattern would be shown if several distinct clonal lineages were present or the unlikely scenario where clonal lineages were present having all potential alleles for every marker.

locus	alleleª	1-D ^b	Hexp ^c	Evenness
Marker 1	4.0	0.37	0.38	0.58
Marker 2	5.0	0.55	0.55	0.78
Marker 4	5.0	0.50	0.50	0.81
Marker 5	4.0	0.33	0.33	0.64
Marker 7	15.0	0.87	0.87	0.78
Marker 9	3.0	0.45	0.45	0.88
Marker 10	4.0	0.43	0.43	0.82
1001a	2.0	0.22	0.22	0.61
1008b	3.0	0.50	0.50	0.92
1011a	4.0	0.56	0.56	0.83
mean	4.9	0.48	0.48	0.77

Table 3-2 Allelic diversity statistics for sample UK population

^a allele = number of alleles per locus

^b 1-D = Simpson's index

^c Hexp = Nei 1978

As a further test of the suitability of the SSR markers for assessing population diversity a genotype accumulation curve of the UK sample population is presented (Figure 3-3). This graphical representation of how many of the MLGs of *B. lactucae* were discriminated by an increasing number of the markers was generated using the genotype curve function of *poppr*. It is analogous to a rarefaction analysis and shows the curve approaching 100% of the MLGs with the addition of the tenth marker and demonstrates that additional markers would not discriminate further genotypes in the population.



Figure 3-3 Genotype accumulation curve of ten SSR loci on 254 DNA samples of B. lactucae collected from the UK between the years 2019-2022.

3.3.3 Population structure determined by *K*-means clustering

In order to understand population structure within the dataset, unbiased analysis of genetic similarity amongst MLLs was conducted using *K*-means clustering that was then studied in relation to the sample location and year of sampling. *K*-means clustering uses genetic distances between samples to partition data into distinct clusters based on similarity and identifies clusters that minimize within-cluster variance based on many permutations (Grünwald et al., 2017; Jombart et al., 2010). Systematic tests on *K* cluster numbers to find the optimal cluster number to represent data based on BIC (Bayesian Information Criteria) value were carried out.

A preliminary analysis with K=15 cluster groups and all *B. lactucae* samples is shown to illustrate the pattern of SSR profiles by county (Figure 3-4). In some countries such as Suffolk and Dorset, only a single genotype was sampled. Many cases can be observed where genetically identical sample types were abundant across many outbreaks within a single county and also shared between counties. One example is the purple cluster in Lancashire that was also sampled in Fife. Similarly, the olive-green coloured group was sampled across Norfolk, Suffolk, Cambridgeshire, Kent, and West Sussex. In subsequent analysis we simplified the cluster groups down to K=7 and showed (Figure 3-5) only representative samples rather than the whole dataset.

The *K* clustering analysis (*K*=7) showed the majority of groupings corresponded to year-postcode-district and led to the placement of most samples from the same outbreak in the same cluster group. For example, all samples from the first outbreak of 2021 (2021_Bl1) grouped together in group 6. This indicates that samples from the same location are more likely to be genetically identical or nearly identical and represent a localised clonal population from a single source of primary inoculum (Figure 3-4). This analysis also demonstrated the SSR assay was robust and reproducible in confirming identical profiles in technical replicates (as predicted) but also in *B. lactucae* samples from the same sampled disease outbreak.

Bruvo's genetic distance is a measure specifically optimised for organisms with a range of ploidies (Bruvo et al., 2004). To visualise genotypic relatedness within and between *K* cluster groups, representative samples from each cluster were selected, and their Bruvo's distances utilised in an UPGMA algorithm to construct a phylogenetic tree, as illustrated in Figure 3-5

The phylogenetic tree showed a complex mix of degrees of relatedness with some groups of genetically identical or near identical samples and others with greater Bruvo's distances of up to 0.25 (in the case of an outlier sample Bl6H) from other samples in the same *K* cluster group. The majority of cluster groups were polyphyletic but with distances from 0.00-0.05, suggesting minimal genetic differences. As *K*-means clusters do not perfectly correspond to dendrogram clusters it indicates a level of panmixia (sexual reproduction) and gene flow from other sources.



Figure 3-4 The SSR genotypic profiles of all 254 genotyped B. lactucae samples from the UK, plotted by the county they were sampled from, and coloured by K cluster group (K=15). Isolate names are not intended to be legible, outbreaks within a county are offset to upper and lower position to illustrate the common association between outbreak and K cluster. Sampling year labels are presented in the centre of each sample batch from the same year within a county. Lei = Leicestershire, and Sur = Surrey.

In several K cluster groups (2, 4, 6, and 7) the clades on the Bruvo's distance tree did not correspond to the K clustering. K cluster group 2, for example, comprised samples from 2021 and 2022 in Fife, 2019 Surrey, and some 2022 Lancashire samples that were in three different clades of the tree. There were also distinct K cluster sub-groups that were monophyletic; for example, samples 2022_Bl5A, 2022_Bl4, 2022_Bl8F, 2022_Bl10F and 2021_Bl13E (from group 2 and 7), formed a monophyletic group with a Bruvo's distance below 0.05, suggesting a genetic similarity between these cluster groups. The biggest difference was with the outlier sampler 2019 Bl6H from West Sussex with a Bruvo's distance of 0.25 to all other samples. Samples from the same outbreak, 2019_Bl6E and 2019_Bl6E 6G, were also in different cluster groups to 2019_Bl6H thus confirming that more than one pathogen genotype may be found within the same outbreak. This was also the case for samples 2021 Bl10F 2 and 2021 Bl10H from the same Lincolnshire outbreak but in distinct parts of the Bruvo's distance tree and in K clusters 5 and 4, respectively. In contrast, the three samples from the 2021_Bl1 outbreak in Cambridgeshire all grouped into K cluster 3 and formed a single clade indicative of a genetic clonal lineage. Group 5, a K cluster group of interest, formed a monophyletic group despite being comprised of samples from multiple counties and years, with samples from outbreaks in Norfolk 2019, West Sussex 2020, and Suffolk 2020. Group 5 additionally contained samples from Cambridgeshire in 2019, 2020 and 2021, indicating a clonal lineage that survived overwinter. Group 1 was similar to group 5; in that it was comprised of samples from different years and locations forming a near monophyletic group. In conclusion some outbreaks comprised a single clone while others were genetically diverse.

A more detailed look at the *B. lactucae* sample SSR data from cluster group 5 shows there is a dominant genotype pattern, (Table 3-3). Noticeably the MLLs include some triploid loci and the samples with only two alleles generally had two of the alleles also present in the triploid. As evident in Figure 3-5, the SSR alleles in *K* means in cluster group 1 were clearly distinct from those in group 5 but the diversity within the group was slightly higher due to variation at three of the ten markers (Marker 4, Marker 7 and 1011a; Table 3-4). Interestingly in Marker 7, the occurrence of two small alleles produced three and four allele peaks. From the SSR data of cluster group 1 it is clear why 2019_Bl6H did not group with the rest of the group and formed an outlier in the phylogenetic tree (Figure 3-5). It likely grouped in *K* cluster group 1 due to shared unique 161 allele in Marker 5 which no other group has.



Figure 3-5 Phylogenetic tree constructed using UPGMA algorithm on Bruvo's distances between genotypes from representative samples of each K cluster group. MLL filters were applied to account for minor genotypic differences. Node labels show the percentages bootstrap support amongst 999 trees tested (cutoff at 50%). Colours next to sample names are the K cluster groups, and colours to the right are associated with county (names included). The scale bar above the tree shows the Bruvo's distance of nodes in the tree.

Table 3-3 Genotype profiles of representative samples of K cluster group 5. Below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number. The different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

		Mar	ker 4		Mark	er 9	Mark	er 10	Ma	arker	1	Mar	ker 2	Mai	rker 5	100	1a	1008	b	101	1a	Ν	Iarke	r 7		
Sample	County ^c	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	4	
2019_Bl12E	СВ	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	303		
2019_Bl8E	Norf.	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	303		
2019_Bl10E	W. Ssx	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	301		
2020_Bl5E	Suff.	275	277	291	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	376	220	223	290	292	299		
2021_Bl2E	CB	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	301		
2021_Bl4E_1	CB	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	301		
2021_Bl5H	CB	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	301		
2021_Bl12A	Kent	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	157	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	292	301			
2020_Bl4E_1ª	CB	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	299	301	
2020_Bl2A_1 ^b	W. Ssx	275	277		209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	157	157	140	146	359	359	223	223	292	303			

^a FTA_Mplx6_2020_Bl4E_R1

^b FTA_Mplx6_2020_Bl2A_R1

^c Abbreviations: CB = Cambridgeshire, Norf. = Norfolk, W. Ssx = West Sussex, Suff. = Suffolk,

Table 3-4 Genotype profiles of representative samples of K cluster group 1. Below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number. The different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

0 1		Mar	ker 4	Mar	ker 9	Marl	ker 10	Mar	ker 1	Mar	ker 2	Μ	arke	r 5	100)1a	100)8b		1011a	ı		Mar	ker 7	
Sample	County	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	3	4
2019_Bl6E	W. Ssx	275	275	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157	161	146	146	362	362	202	220	223	249	281	299	
2019_Bl1E	Fife	275	275	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157		146	146	362	362	220	223		249	251	281	299
2019_Bl6G	W. Ssx	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157		146	146	362	362	220	220		281	299		
2019_Bl11G	Kent	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157		146	146	362	362	220	223		249	251	281	299
2019_Bl7B	Surr.	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157		146	146	362	362	220	223		249	251	281	301
2021_Bl11E	Norf.	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157		146	146	362	362	220	223		281	281		
2021_B13F_1	Lanc.	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142	272	272	155	157		146	146	362	362	220	223		281	281		
2019_Bl6H	W. Ssx	291	291	206	209	333	333			269	272	161	161		140	146	362	376	220	223		299	299		

^a Abbreviations: Norf. = Norfolk, W. Ssx = West Sussex, Surr. = Surrey, Lanc. = Lancashire

3.3.4 Analysis of structure and reproductive mode

The above *K* cluster group analysis presented evidence of some clonal lineages spanning multiple years and across counties which suggested inoculum could overwinter. However, there was also a more diverse element of the population suggestive of a sexual or panmictic phase and this mixed reproduction within the UK population required further analysis. Specific tests for the population structure, by year, county, and post-district, and for linkage disequilibrium between markers, using index of association, were conducted.

Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA) is an analysis that partitions genetic variation amongst different population structural levels. AMOVA analysis of a dataset is usually compared with a clone corrected version of the dataset. When partitioning genetic variance of ten SSR loci by year, country, and post-district, using *poppr*, AMOVA analysis showed that the highest percentage of variation observed was attributed to 'within post-district' (>50%) regardless of clone correction. Clone correction increased the percentage of genetic variation for tested loci 'within post-district' (from 50.5% to 63.2%, Table 3-5). Correcting for clones by removing duplicate data points did not change the levels at which structure was observed but further emphasised the structures shown in the non-clone corrected data.

Differentiation between years, and counties 'between years' was minimal compared to strata levels at county and postal district (below <15%, Table 3-5), again suggesting lineages or sub-populations within the UK samples collected. Though the majority of genetic variation was found to occur 'within post-districts', the next largest proportion (>30%) was attributed to samples 'between post-district within county' (Table 3-5). This suggests genetic differentiation at more local and regional levels is common, and that geolocation is more important to genetic differentiation than year.

To objectively measure evidence of mating within populations, linkage disequilibrium analysis was carried out. Linkage disequilibrium assumes panmixia, in which loci are not linked, which in the context of population genetics is presumed from widespread random mating of freely recombining populations. The closer the r_D value to 0 the closer to panmixia, and compared to Ia, r_D accounts for the known number of loci and is less bias. Significant results deviating from the assumption of panmixia would indicate that reproduction is not random and therefore sub-populations or clonal lineages are present.

Dataset treatment	Populations	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	Sigma	%	Phi	<i>p</i> -value ^b
MLL filtered ^a	Between Year	3	3.7	1.2	0.007	6.2	0.06	0.114
	Between County Within Year	15	6.7	0.4	0.013	11.9	0.13	0.418
	Between post-districts Within County	8	3.0	0.4	0.033	31.4	0.38	0.001
	Within post-districts	227	12.2	0.1	0.054	50.5	0.50	0.001
	Total	253	25.5	0.1	0.106	100.0		
Clone-corrected	Between Year	3	1.4	0.5	0.004	4.2	0.04	0.127
and MLL filtered ^a	Between County Within Year	14	3.4	0.2	-0.005	-4.7	-0.05	0.832
	Between post-districts Within County	7	1.6	0.2	0.039	37.3	0.37	0.001
	Within post-districts	110	7.4	0.1	0.067	63.2	0.37	0.001
	Total	134	13.8	0.1	0.106	100.0		

Table 3-5 AMOVA results on SSR data from samples of the UK population of B. lactucae

a - MLL filtered with Bruvo's distance using the average distance as it was the highest threshold value, with a threshold of 0.00390625, and a missing data cut-off of 0.1 which removed marker 2

b - Out of 999 permutations

Dataset	N	Ia	r _D
UK samples	254	1.07 ^a	0.13 a
UK samples clone corrected	135	0.59 a	0.07 ^a
Lancashire	78	0.75 ^a	0.10 ^a
Lancashire clone corrected	57	0.41 ^a	0.06 ^a
PR4	53	0.65 ^a	0.09 ^a
PR4 clone corrected	41	0.47 ^b	0.06 ^a
Cambridgeshire	68	2.24 ^a	0.28 ^a
Cambridgeshire clone corrected	39	1.62 a	0.20 a
CB7	38	1.87 a	0.23 a
CB7 clone corrected	21	0.73 ^a	0.09 ^a
Fife	24	0.53 a	0.09 a
Fife clone corrected	20	0.50 b	0.09 ^a
KY15	11	0.88 ^b	0.17 ^a
KY15 clone corrected	8	0.92 b	0.16 ^a

Table 3-6, Linkage disquillibrium analysis of SSR data from B. lactucae *samples from selected counties and post-districts of interest.*

 I_A = Index of association

 $r_D = rBarD$

a, p<0.001

b, *p*<0.01

Linkage disequilibrium was tested on the overall UK population using *poppr*, and with the most abundantly sampled regions and post-districts, all suggested asexual reproduction, as all observed values (r_D) differed significantly (*p*<0.05) from expected values if panmixia was met (Table 3-6). Samples collected from Cambridgeshire had a higher proportion of clones in the population (0.43) than samples collected from Lancashire (0.27) and Fife (0.17), suggesting that clonal reproduction predominates in this region. The amount of linkage disequilibrium indicates that there is no evidence of panmixia, as such sexual recombination is likely non-random or not widespread.

Overall, the evidence from the molecular markers suggests that the UK population comprises a mix of asexually reproducing clones (that are also able to overwinter) in addition to limited occurrence of sexual recombination (see later discussion).

3.3.5 Virulence

The IBEB differential assay for the virulence profile was carried out on 52 *B. lactucae* samples from 26 outbreaks from 11 counties across the UK. The IBEB differential set consists of lettuce cultivars and clones each containing different known host resistance (R) genes. 35 isolates were tested on differential set C before set D was released, 12 isolates were tested on set D. All samples could overcome the universally susceptible differential cv Green Towers, indicating that the assay was robust.

In general, the virulence profiles of UK samples did not match any designated IBEB race. Exceptions to this are isolates 2019_Bl2A and 2019_Bl2B from Dorset, which had the same virulence profile to Bl: 35EU. Isolates from the same outbreak tended to have similar but not always identical virulence profiles.

Of the tested *B. lactucae* samples \geq 90% of samples tested could overcome the differential lines cv. R4T57 D (*Dm4*) and cv. Colorado (*Dm18*) (Figure 3-6). Of set C the differential lines that had the lowest percentage of samples with LDM symptoms were cv. Dandie (*Dm3*) 13% of samples tested, cv. Balesta (unknown) 23% of samples and cv. Bartoli (unknown) 31% of samples.

Interestingly, only samples that were collected in 2021 and 2022 had samples that could overcome cv. Dandie, cv. Balesta and cv. Bartoli, most of which were collected from Cambridgeshire and Lancashire. Only one differential line, cv. Bataille (set D) was overcome from a single sample collected from Fife in 2022 though fewer *B. lactucae* samples were tested with this set. A general overview of host resistance can be viewed in Table 3-7, where proportion of samples that successfully infected differential lines is grouped by year, county, and post district.



Figure 3-6 Proportion of B. lactucae samples that could overcome each differential line. Right of the red line are the 3 new differentials added to set-C to make set-D, which were only tested against 17 B. lactucae samples.

3.3.6 Association between SSR genotype and virulence

The relationship between genetic fingerprint (by *K* cluster group analysis on ten loci) and virulence profile was examined for cases in which both data sets were available (n=16). For the cases where direct comparison between DNA sample and virulence test could be made, samples from the same outbreak were used.

Some similarity in virulence profile of samples linked with *K* cluster group 5 was observed. A sample from Norfolk 2019 (2019_Bl8A) and one from West Sussex 2019 (2019_Bl10A), for example, had identical virulence profiles (Table 3-8). This identical virulence profile was similar to other samples within the cluster, such as 2020 West Sussex sample (2020_Bl2A) and two 2020 Cambridgeshire samples (2020_Bl4E, 2020_Bl4G) which differed by 1-2 differential lines to the virulence profile of 2019_Bl8A and 2019_Bl10A.

Table 3-7, Proportion of differential lines overcome by B. lactucae samples listed according to year, UK county and post-district. n = number of samples tested. Colour scale ranges Proportion scale ranges from 1 in which all samples can overcome the differential to 0 where no samples could overcome the differential. Colour scale was added to add visualisation of this with red = 1, and green = 0. Each differential line contains a different set of resistance genes or factors (DM or R genes). cv Green Towers is the positive control. Table continues onto the next page.

				Green Towers	Dandie	R4T57 D	UC DM14	NunDm15	CG Dm16	Colorado	FrRsal-1	Argeles	RYZ 2164	RYZ 910457	Bedford	Balesta	Bartoli	Design	Kibrille	Fenston	Bataille	RYZ20007
			R gene	NA	Dm3	Dm4	Dm14	Dm15	Dm16	Dm18	Rsal-1	R38	Dm24/38	R52	R53	R54	R55	R56	Dm11, R57	R65	R59	Dm11, R58
Year	County	Location	Ν	S0	S1	S2	S3	S4	S5	S6	S7	S8	S9	S10	S11	S12	S13	S14	S15	S16	S17	S18
2019	total	total	15	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.67	0.80	0.93	1.00	0.47	0.80	0.40	0.93	0.53	0.00	0.00	0.87	0.60			
	Cambridgeshire	CB7	4	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.50	1.00	0.75	0.00	0.00	0.75	0.75			
	Dorset	DT2	2	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00			
	Fife	KY15	2	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00			
	Kent	ME19	2	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00			
	Leicestershire	LE10	1	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00			
	Norfolk	Unknown	1	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00			
	Surrey	KT11	2	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.50	1.00	0.00	0.50	0.50	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.50			
	West Sussex	PO18	1	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00			
2020	total	total	3	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.67	0.00			
	Cambridgeshire	CB24	2	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00			
	West Sussex	PO22	1	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00			

				Green Towers	Dandie	R4T57 D	UC DM14	NunDm15	CG Dm16	Colorado	FrRsal-1	Argeles	RYZ 2164	RYZ 910457	Bedford	Balesta	Bartoli	Design	Kibrille	Fenston	Bataille	RYZ20007
			R gene	NA	Dm3	Dm4	Dm14	Dm15	Dm16	Dm18	Rsal-1	R38	Dm24/38	R52	R53	R54	R55	R56	Dm11, R57	R65	R59	Dm11, R58
Year	County	Location	Ν	S0	S1	S2	S3	S4	S5	S6	S7	S8	S9	S10	S11	S12	S13	S14	S15	S16	S17	S18
2021	total	total	22	1.00	0.14	1.00	0.95	0.64	0.82	0.86	0.23	0.91	0.64	0.41	0.05	0.55	0.41	0.45	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Cambridgeshire	CB24	1	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00			
	Cambridgeshire	CB7	4	1.00	0.25	1.00	1.00	0.25	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.25	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.50			
	Cambridgeshire	CB75	3	1.00	0.33	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.67	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.67	0.67			
	Dundee	DD2	1	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00			
	Fife	KY14	4	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.50	0.75	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.25			
	Lancashire	PR4	5	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.80	1.00	0.20	1.00	0.20	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.20	1.00	0.80	0.20	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Lincolnshire	PE12	4	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.75	1.00	0.75	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.25	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.75	1.00			
2022	total	total	12	1.00	0.33	0.92	1.00	0.75	0.17	0.83	0.67	0.42	0.42	0.67	0.75	0.00	0.58	0.83	0.33	0.00	0.08	0.00
	Fife	KY15	2	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.00	0.50	0.50	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00
	Fife	KY16?	1	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Lancashire	Unknown	2	1.00	0.00	0.50	1.00	1.00	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.50	0.50	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Lancashire	PR4	7	1.00	0.57	1.00	1.00	0.71	0.14	0.86	0.57	0.71	0.43	0.71	0.57	0.00	1.00	1.00	0.57	0.00	0.00	0.00
Grand Total			52	1.00	0.13	0.98	0.83	0.67	0.71	0.90	0.38	0.77	0.48	0.58	0.35	0.23	0.31	0.67	0.46	0.00	0.02	0.00

Aside from group 5, in general samples from different outbreaks tended to not have the same virulence profile, in fact a lack of correlation was evident in analysis of the wider dataset. Of which several scenarios were observed, as demonstrated in Table 3-9 and Table 3-10.For example, samples from the same outbreak could be identical or almost identical in genotype and have a virulence profile that only differed at three cultivar lines, as seen with the 2021_Bl1 outbreak. Samples from the same outbreak with different genotypic profile but similar virulence profile were also observed with 2020_Bl4E, and 2020_Bl4G. Samples from outbreaks nearby had similar but not identical genotype and virulence, 2022_Bl4 and 2022_Bl4.1, which though post code district were not the same, these were from fields in approximately the same location. There were also samples from the same outbreak that had mixed genotypes, such is the case with 2021_Bl2 outbreak, of which three samples had similar genotypes (2021_Bl2E, F and H) and one that differed (2021_Bl2G). These samples from the 2021_Bl2 outbreak the virulence profiles of samples tested differed at four differential lines.

3.3.7 Fungicide Insensitivity and association with genotype

There were 15 samples from 10 outbreaks in 2019, and 10 samples from 7 outbreaks from 2020-2021 tested with three fungicides at four different spray rates. The highest fungicide spray rate, which was field rate, gave good control, from 81-100% when compared to untreated (Figure 3-7). As there was no evidence of fungicide insensitivity in samples tested, as such no association no association between genotype cluster and fungicide insensitivity was observed (Figure 3-7).

		Green Towers	Dandie	R4T57 D	UC DM14	NunDm15	CG Dm16	Colorado	FrRsal-1	Argeles	RYZ 2164	RYZ 910457	Bedford	Balesta	Bartoli	Design	Kibrille
	R genes		Dm3	Dm4	Dm14	Dm15	Dm16	Dm18	Rsal-1	R38	Dm24/38	R52	R53	R54	R55	R56	Dm11,R57
	Grid Position		S1	S2	S3	S4	S5	S6	S7	S8	S9	S10	S11	S12	S13	S14	S15
County	Sextet Value		1	2	4	8	16	32	1	2	4	8	16	32	1	2	4
Norfolk	2019_Bl8A	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	-
Cambridgeshire	2019_Bl9A	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
West Sussex	2019_Bl10A	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	-
Cambridgeshire	2019_Bl12A	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+
Cambridgeshire	2019_Bl12B	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+
West Sussex	2020_Bl2A	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
Cambridgeshire	2020_Bl4E	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
Cambridgeshire	2020_Bl4G	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cambridgeshire	2021_Bl2B	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+
Cambridgeshire	2021_Bl2D	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+
Cambridgeshire	2021_Bl2H	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-

Table 3-8, Virulence profiles of samples of B. lactucae collected from outbreaks that had samples in K cluster group 5 tested using IBEB Differential Set C. + indicates that the differential line was overcome. Outbreaks are separated by dotted lines.

Table 3-9, Examples of UK genotypes of B. lactucae for which the virulence was also tested. Below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number. The different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

Sample	Mar	ker 4	Mar	ker 9	Mar 10	ker	Mark	er 1]	Marke	er 2	1122		1001	a	1008	b	1011	a		Mark	er 7		
name	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	3	4
2022_BL4_2	275	275	206	209	327	330				272	272	157	157	146	146	359	362	214	220	223	283	290	292	
2022_Bl4_3	275	275	206	209	327	330	142	142		266	272	157	157	146	146	359	362	214	220	223	290	292		
2022_BL4.1_2	275	275	206	209	327	330	142	142		272	272	157	157	146	146	359	362	214	220	223	290	292		
2021_Bl2E	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223		290	292	301	
2021_Bl2F	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223		290	292	301	
2021_Bl2H	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223		290	292	301	
2021_Bl2G	275	277	206	209	330	330	142	142		266	266	157	157	140	146	359	362	214	220		290	299		
2021_1A_1	275	275	209	209	330	330	142	145		272	272	157	157	146	146	359	359	220	223		299	299		
2021_1B_1	275	275	209	209	330	330	142	145		272	272	157	157	146	146	359	359	220	223		299	299		
2021_1J_1	275	275	209	209	330	330	142	145		272	272	157	157	146	146	359	359	220	223		299	299		
2020_Bl4G_2	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223		275	277	288	
2020_Bl4E_2	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	155	157	140	146	359	362	220	223		275	277	284	286

	Green Towers	Dandie	R4T57 D	UC DM14	NunDm15	CG Dm16	Colorado	FrRsal-1	Argeles	RYZ 2164	RYZ 910457	Bedford	Balesta	Bartoli	Design	Kibrille
		Dm3	Dm4	Dm14	Dm15	Dm16	Dm18	Rsal-1	R38	Dm24/38	R52	R53	R54	R55	R56	Dm11, R57
2022_Bl4	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	-	+	-
2022_Bl4.1	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	-
2021_Bl2B	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+
2021_Bl2D	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+
2021_Bl2H	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-
2021_Bl1A	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	+
2021_Bl1B	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
2021_Bl1J	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
2020_Bl4E	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
2020_Bl4G	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3-10, Virulence profiles for virulence-genotype associations, comprised of samples of B. lactucae collected from UK outbreaks tested using the IBEB Differential Set C, that also had a corresponding genotype. + indicates that the differential line was overcome. Outbreaks are separated by dotted lines.



Figure 3-7 Average percentage of disease control of UK B. lactucae samples from active ingredients A, azoxystrobin, B, dimethomorph, C, mandipropamid, applied at a range of concentrations compared to an untreated control and coloured by genotype cluster group (K=7). Graphs were adapted from CP 184 project data from Pettitt et al. (2020, 2023). Each isolate was tested in duplicate. Error bars represent the difference between replicates; however, the negative range was not displayed to enhance visibility of data. Samples and K cluster are listed in legend below. Note for each product the field rate is the highest fungicide spray used.

3.4 Discussion

This study is the first usage of SSR markers to survey *B. lactucae* genetic diversity in the UK. The sample UK population collected between 2019 and 2022, showed high genotypic and allelic diversity using ten SSR loci. Each of the ten SSR markers had different discriminatory powers on the UK isolates tested (Table 3-2). Three of the ten markers (1001a, 1008b, and Marker 9) that had relatively lower discriminatory power could, in the future, be replaced with more informative markers. However, the ten markers combined produced a GAC curve that trended towards 100% with UK samples tested (Figure 3-3). Almost all replicate tests of isolates and samples from the same outbreak had identical genotypes which gave confidence to the SSR assay developed. Therefore, with 135 MLLs from 254 samples, the UK population may be considered genetically diverse (Table 3-1).

After adjustment for population size, consistency was observed in the population statistics characterising genetic diversity of UK samples, including Simpson's diversity index, expected MLL, evenness and Nei's unbiased gene diversity, across the years 2019 to 2022 (Table 3-1). Overall, there was a consistency across the sampled years. K-means clustering grouped samples mostly by outbreak, though some clusters had wide geographical spread, indicating localised genetic uniformity and a degree of regional gene flow. This was expected given that many outbreaks comprising a single clone were observed, whereas others were genetically diverse. The K-means clusters obtained did not perfectly correspond to the Bruvo's distance based dendrogram clusters and suggests an element of sexual reproduction and gene flow from other sources (Figure 3-5). However, the population was dominated by clones, and this was evident through the reduction in sample number from 254 to 135 after clone correction. The presence of clones did not skew allelic diversity metrics (Table 3-2) nor the MLL diversity (Table 3-1), and thus supports the absence of any single dominate clonal lineage in the population. Partitioning the genetic variance by AMOVA (Table 3-5) emphasised these trends of a diverse population; with clear structuring at "within post-district" and "between postdistricts within county", which is indicative of local discrete populations spreading between outbreaks at these levels. The absence of an effect by year ("between year"), and "between county within year" indicates similarity in annual genetic diversity which would support clones emerging annually and some long-range spread between counties.

Samples collected from the UK exhibited genotypes with some tri-allelic or tetra-allelic markers. From the genotypes of representative samples from cluster group 5 in Table 3-3, notably there are triploid alleles at Marker 1 and Marker 7. With further examination, most of group 5 samples, if not triploid at these markers, were usually diploid with one or two of the three common alleles, suggesting they were variants of the tri-allelic strain that lost alleles. Multiple alleles at a SSR locus are indicative of somatic fusion, which with *B. lactucae*, heterokaryons can be presumed. The presence of heterokaryons in UK samples was anticipated as samples from the European population had evidence of heterokaryosis (Fletcher et al., 2019), and isolates obtained from Japan, Australia, and Wisconsin (US) also had genetic indicators of polyploidy and heterokaryosis within a *B. lactucae* population has not been well documented. Of the 254 MLLs obtained from UK samples 168 had tri-allelic or tetra-allelic markers, providing evidence for widespread incidence of heterokaryosis within the UK population.

This study has also indicated an involvement of heterokaryosis with overwintering. The dominant K-cluster group emerging annually with high incidence of clonality, was group 5, which had tri-allelic markers. Trisomy has been linked with self-fertility via secondary homothallism (Michelmore & Sansome, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Considering, group 5, and evidence for secondary homothallism reported in *B. lactucae* from an isolate collected from the UK, specifically from isolate IM25 from a NIAB trial ground in Cambridge (Michelmore & Ingram, 1981), homothallism and/or heterokaryosis may be a reproductive strategy of within the UK population. Therefore, there is evidence to support that secondary homothallism and the production of oospores, via heterokaryons, is making a contribution to the overwintering clonal lineages observed in the UK samples collected. Heterokaryons as a common means of propagation would be problematic for LDM management as heterokaryons have been found to improve fitness (Fletcher et al., 2019), allowing the pathogen to adapt to more diverse cultivars and to contain more diverse virulence profiles than non-heterokaryotic strains. Therefore, if trisomy and/or heterokaryons are prevalent and contribute to the source of overwintering oospores, B. lactucae management should consider the inclusion of soil treatment (fungicide or biological), or cultural controls similar to other soil-based pathogens (Barrière et al., 2014; Volynchikova & Kim, 2022).

The analysis of the ten SSR loci of UK samples consistently indicated that the population comprises a mix of asexually reproducing clones (some that can overwinter) in addition to the occurrence of sexual recombination. The allelic and expected MLL diversity, the expected heterozygosity and allelic evenness obtained from ten SSR loci from UK samples tested did not correspond to the expected results of a population with highly dominant clonal lineages (Table 3-1, Table 3-2). Structural analysis with AMOVA indicated discrete localised populations with occasional gene flow in and across county regions (Table 3-5). Linkage disequilibrium was not observed at any population strata tested, which indicated a population primarily comprised of asexual clones with MLG variants mostly resulting from allele loss and mutation. However, the presence of multiple novel K cluster groups does suggest the creation of new genotypes, thereby a population with mixed modes of reproduction (Table 3-6). This suggests genetic differentiation at more local and regional levels is common, and location is more important to genetic differentiation than year. Reportedly there is an inverse correlation between the occurrence of sexual and asexual reproduction, with the implication that there is suppression from utilising both modes (Michelmore & Ingram, 1980). Though the reason underpinning whether sexual or asexual reproduction occurs is not known, the suppression of reproductive types could explain why analysis indicates a preferentially asexual reproduction in UK representative samples. There is evidence that the European population tends to be diploid with high heterozygosity, and within some populations a frequent occurrence of sexual reproduction (Gustafsson et al., 1985; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Heterozygosity was observed at moderate levels in UK samples collected, and samples with bi- and tri- allelic markers were observed. However, analysis of samples collected suggests that sexual recombination is not as prevalent as asexual reproduction.

While clonality was evident within the UK population, characterisation and tracking of lineages was more difficult than in other oomycete pathogens such as P. infestans (Cooke et al., 2012; Li et al., 2013; Lynott et al., 2023). Notably, most of the samples to represent the UK population were from commercial environments, and few from allotments, gardens or from L. serriola which is a wild host to B. lactucae present in the UK (Oswald, 2000; Thines et al., 2010). Having a larger sample pool from multiple environments would give more comprehensive information on clonality, heterokaryons, and recombination in the population. Samples that did come from allotments did contain virulence not observed in commercial environments in the same county, for example 2021_Bl4C, and 2021_Bl9A (data not shown) as such they could be a reserve of diverse virulence profiles as cultivars grown on commercial scale are likely different to what is grown by amateur growers. Considering allotments and weeds could be a source of non-commercial inoculum, and that inoculum can be aerially dispersed, public awareness of this disease or monitoring including noncommercial environments would be beneficial (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b, 2003a). Each differential line in set C was susceptible to at least one of the tested UK samples of B. lactucae. This observation raises concerns, given prior reports of B. lactucae populations retaining resistance-breaking capabilities, (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b, 2003a), leading to increasingly complex virulence patterns that ultimately increases the challenge of managing LDM with host resistance cultivars. Despite all differential lines being overcome by at least one UK sample, the proportion of UK samples that could overcome the differential Dm genes ranged from 0.13-0.98. This demonstrates there are still genes, like Dm3, that are widely effective against the majority of the UK pathogen population. In Europe, Dm2, Dm3, Dm6, Dm7, Dm11, and *Dm16* have been used frequently in cultivars. Interestingly from samples collected historically from 1983-1989 (excluding 1986) virulence that could match Dm3 was present in the pathogen population (Crute, 1992b). Crute (1992) mentions that virulence matching to Dm2 and Dm3, which are some of the earliest host resistances utilised in modern breeding programs, declined in frequency in 1984-1990 with the implication that the reduced use of this host resistance in cultivars meant retention of it was less important to the pathogen population. Virulence that could overcome *Dm7* was also reported as historically frequent in the UK pathogen population Crute (1992b) but IBEB differential set C and D did not test for this resistance gene.

Most of the UK samples did not show identical matched IBEB designated races, which hold significance for lettuce breeding companies in advertising *B. lactucae* resistance within their developed cultivars. Therefore, lettuce varieties with reported resistance to races Bl:16-37 EU can still be infected by *B. lactucae*. It is apparently a common finding, as many European samples exhibit discrepancies in virulence to the limited number of designated races, revealing a considerable degree of variation in virulence profile. According to an IBEB press release (Plantum, 2021), there is a discernible trend towards localised outbreaks being observed. This phenomenon is suggested to be the result of the integration of resistance genes. Given that the UK samples collected had virulence profiles that appeared to have greater similarity within than between outbreaks, it is plausible this phenomenon is true for the UK.

Evidence collected did not give conclusive support for a direct association between virulence and genotypic profiles. Virulence and genotype were more similar per outbreak or local region, than between outbreaks. In most cases, the variance between genotype and virulence in an outbreak was a few alleles or by a few differential lines. However, outbreaks not comprised of single clones were also observed. The associations between the genotype and virulence are more complex than the SSR assay can discriminate. This was not unexpected as SSR markers are theoretically neutral and there are many mechanisms that can alter virulence in oomycetes. Additionally, most resistance genes for *B. lactucae* are clustered together (Parra et al 2016) and the location of the ten SSR loci may not have been close to any *R* genes and therefore not associated with them. No fungicide insensitivity was observed in any samples tested, therefore no correlation between genotype and fungicide insensitivity could be derived. Further analysis of virulence and fungicide insensitivity with more samples could prove more informative considering there was an association reported by Crute (1992b).

Notably, there were virtually no novel alleles found in a range of samples genotyped from mainland Europe despite geographical isolation of the UK from mainland Europe (data not shown). Considering the widespread source of samples from different countries and their similarity in alleles but different allele combination, it seemed unlikely that the ten SSR loci could only effectively discriminate UK samples. It is plausible that the mainland European population is similar through gene flow with the UK.

Importantly, the data shows that the UK population of *B. lactucae* is variable in virulence and genotype, and evidence of prevalent heterokaryosis. As such, the challenge of managing *B. lactucae* is that likely most growers are contending with a selection of multiple diverse nuclei in the same isolate rather than individual races (Fletcher et al., 2019), which can result in multiple virulence profiles. Therefore, careful selection of *R* genes in cultivars for LDM management is needed to mitigate the risk of novel virulence to host resistance emerging. Especially, as there is evidence that virulence can persist in a *B. lactucae* population (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b).

3.5 Conclusion

Through genotyping 292 samples from more than 40 outbreaks over 3 years with ten SSR markers it was shown that the UK population of *B. lactucae* was highly diverse. Localised outbreaks were usually genetically distinct with a complex mix of virulence. Evidence was presented to show both clonal lineages that overwinter, with evidence of asexual reproduction but also gene-flow suggesting sexual reproduction. Heterokaryotic traits were prevalent in the UK samples collected suggesting heterokaryosis plays a key role in the population structure. As such this study suggests that the *B. lactucae* population in the UK is complex and utilises mixed reproduction methods. Virulence profiles shows that most host resistance can be overcome in set C of the IBEB differential assay. In addition to this, virulence profiles show fluctuating frequencies of *Dm* resistance through the years. Therefore, management of LDM should take into account that the population is comprised of genetically diverse isolates (with potentially multiple nuclei) and varying virulence profiles, with the potential of overwintering.

Chapter 4 Investigating selection in *B. lactucae*

4.1 Background

As previously established, *B. lactucae* can adapt when selection pressure is applied. Several studies have linked selection pressure from *R* genes and fungicides to change in *B. lactucae* populations. Fungicide-insensitive strains, for example to phenylamides (Brown et al., 2004; Cobelli et al., 1998; Crute et al., 1987; Schettini et al., 1991) or novel or more complex virulence profiles may emerge as a result of such selection pressures (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b; Trimboli & Nieuwenhuis, 2011; van Hese et al., 2016). Strains with complex virulence profiles or fungicide insensitivity have been noted to persist in the environment (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003) and their presence in the local population is problematic for managing LDM.

Management practices and choice of cultivar and fungicides have been inferred to affect race diversity within the population (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b). In general *B. lactucae* population studies have focused on phenotype, particularly virulence profile (race), rather than specific genotype (Nordskog et al., 2014; Souza et al., 2022; van Hese et al., 2016). Fletcher et al. (2019) investigated the virulence of variant isolates arising from heterokaryons and examined the genetics of *B. lactucae* heterokaryotic strains. However, tracking of pathogen population change in a disease outbreak under field conditions has not been attempted. The dynamics of multilocus genotypes (MLGs) within a *B. lactucae* population have not been well studied, especially in response to disease management choices such as cultivar resistance.

Cultivar choice is important to agricultural production, with multiple commercial considerations, such as flavour, morphology and size, in addition to disease resistance. Most lettuce cultivars are marketed as having resistance to a range of IBEB designated *B. lactucae* races, without reference to the specific host resistance genes. Economically problematic races are designated by use of a standardised IBEB virulence test (IBEB, 2023). However, the IBEB virulence test has been adapted multiple times due to emergence of more complex virulence than the original assay could capture, and many combinations of virulence occurring in the field differ from IBEB race designation.

Cultivar choice can shape the race structure of *B. lactucae* populations due to gene-for-gene interactions between isolates and *R* genes, (Michelmore et al., 1984; Parra et al., 2016). Heterokaryotic *B. lactucae* isolates have been documented to lose virulence to specific *R* genes when infecting specific cultivars or to 'choose' one group of diploid nuclei over others due to differences in virulence to the host (Fletcher et al., 2019). The population genetic study described in Chapter 3 was unable to determine an effect of cultivar choice on the contemporary *B. lactucae* population in the UK, due to insufficient reporting of cultivars and the wide diversity of cultivars reported. By monitoring allelic diversity and variation in MLGs during artificially created epidemics with a range of pathogen genotypes on genetically diverse cultivars under field conditions this work aimed to gain a further understanding of the effect of cultivar choice on isolate selection.

Allele frequency distribution in a population can be used to infer evolutionary processes (Grünwald et al., 2017), therefore the allelic variation observed using SSR markers can be a proxy for the scale of mutations in the population when subjected to environmental stressors (Ellegren, 2004), which may include the limited availability of a suitable host. With the availability of data analysis techniques appropriate for polyploid organisms, which can also be applied to heterokaryons, the ability to genotype isolates and observe how selection can drive changes in population genetics in an outbreak is feasible (Kamvar et al., 2014).

These experiments focused on the impact of cultivar choice on population genetic diversity, specifically the ratio of MLGs and allelic diversity by cultivar over the course of an epidemic. Evidence for sexual or only clonal reproduction in the *B. lactucae* population was also assessed, to ascertain whether variance between samples could be attributed to genetic crosses between isolates.

Additionally, isolates were resampled from several lettuce cultivars after running the IBEB virulence assay and allelic differences in their genotypes scrutinised to examine if cultivars with differing *R* genes altered the allelic diversity of an isolate, and thus to seek preliminary evidence of a cultivar selection effect.

4.1.1 Aims

This study aimed to examine the effect of cultivar choice on selection for individual isolates of *B. lactucae* over time. Specific isolates of known genotype were released into a trial containing a range of commercial lettuce cultivars of differing resistance background and disease progress was monitored. At several assessment time points the pathogen population was resampled and genotyped using the multiplex SSR assay. Isolate selection according to host cultivar was represented by changes in the ratio of each distinct isolate on each cultivar over time, and the genotypic variation within each distinct isolate on each cultivar over time. In addition, an analysis of the genetic diversity was undertaken to determine whether the pathogen was reproducing via sexual or purely clonal means and if this was shaped by cultivar.

4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Mark and recapture experiment

To analyse the effect of cultivar on pathogen population genetics under field conditions, a mark and recapture experiment was designed. Genetically distinct or 'marked' isolates, characterised using SSRs, were released in a field trial comprised of 3-4 different susceptible cultivars, and recaptured by sampling throughout the epidemic. Isolate ratios were identified, using the SSR multiplex assay on the samples collected from the trials. In addition, LDM symptoms were scored throughout the experiment. Two iterations of this trial were carried out, each with different isolate mixes and commercial cultivars.

4.2.1.1 Trial 1 2021

The available literature, and industry partners were consulted on relevant LDM susceptible cultivars to include. Four lettuce cultivars (cv Excalibur, Stallion, Actina, and Coventry) were planted in a randomised block design. Each plot comprised one cultivar planted in 2 rows of 12 plants (n=24) surrounded by guard plants and was infected with four genetically distinct UK *B. lactucae* isolates (Figure 1-1B). Lettuce plugs were obtained from Kettle Produce and kept in the glasshouse until transplanted into the field on the 18th of August 2021. Plots were covered with netting to prevent grazing by herbivores. The *B. lactucae* isolates were introduced via infector plants, which were placed in the centre of each plot on the 9th of September 2021.

Preparation of infector plants:

Infector plants were ~4-week-old plants of lettuce cv Green Towers inoculated on the 19th of August 2021 with an equal mix of inoculum of four UK *B. lactucae* isolates (2020_Bl2A, 2020_Bl4E, 2020_Bl4G, and 2021_Bl1B) each adjusted to 20,000 sporangia/ml. Strains 2020_Bl4E and 2020_Bl4G are grouped and referred to as 2020_Bl4 as both are variants of a presumed heterokaryotic strain and were difficult to distinguish genetically. However, they were both included in the analysis to understand changes in the population. After inoculation, infector plants were placed in a growth cabinet overnight in the dark at high RH (>90%). Infector plants were then left in a cool north-facing greenhouse, until angular discolouration was observed. When these symptoms were observed, a mini polytunnel was placed over the infector plants, and the plants were misted regularly to promote sporulation (Figure 1-1 A).



Figure 4-1 Images of Trial; top, apparatus to promote sporulation with infector plants, middle, trial layout including spore traps and netting, bottom right recapturing a single lesion.

When at least one sporulating lesion on each plant was observed and the weather conditions were conducive to infection, the plants were relocated to the field trial and one plant was placed in the centre of each plot.

Disease Scoring and lesion sampling

Field assessments were carried out every 3-4 days, from the 14th of September 2021 until the 14th of October 2021 giving a total of 10 scores. Disease assessments included percentage of leaf coverage that was 1) sporulating and 2) angular damage and discolouration by *B. lactucae* for each plant (Figure 4-2). Assessments were conducted exclusively on the visible foliage of each plant as accurate analysis of all leaves would require destroying the plant. To standardise scores a visual metric was developed and used for each assessment. Any other damage via rots or pests was also noted for each plant. An optimal sample comprised ten single lesions from across the plants in each plot. Each lesion was cut out using scissors that were wiped with 70% ethanol between plants. Each lesion was placed in a single labelled plastic zip-lock bag and returned to the laboratory for processing. Early in the epidemic when few lesions were evident care was taken to ensure that not all the lesions were sampled as it could delay or halt the epidemic. Three full sampling events were carried out, with a single sporulating lesion from each plant collected (example of a single lesion Figure 1-1 C). Single lesions were pressed onto FTA cards, air dried and single 3 mm disks were genotyped using the SSR assay developed in Chapter 2.



Figure 4-2 Labelling for each plant position within plot that was scored and a picture of a plot. Each plot had a total of 24 plants scored.

4.2.1.2 Trial 2 2022

In Trial 2, three lettuce cultivars (cv Stallion, Actina, and Coventry) were planted in a randomised block design. Cultivar Excalibur was not available, so the trial design was optimised for three cultivars by adding an additional block making five blocks with one plot of each cultivar per block giving a total of 15 plots. The trial was conducted according to the same methods as Trial 1, however, Trial 2 was inoculated with three genetically distinct UK *B. lactucae* isolates originating from the 2021 season at a concentration 5,700 sporangia/ml on the 18th of August 2022.

Lettuce plugs were transplanted in-field on the 28th of July 2022. Infector plants were placed into the centre of each plot on the 26th of August 2022. Disease assessments (percentage of plant foliage visibly damaged by angular discolouration and sporulation) were carried out every 3-4 days for each starting on 26th of August 2022 and ending on 17th of October 2022, using the same metric as Trial 1 Collection and processing of samples was the same as described for Trial 1.

4.2.2 Data Analysis

GeneMapper (v5.0) was used to process the electropherograms and adjust the allele peak calls. For example, alleles were renamed or adjusted to the 2bp or 3bp interval sizes required of the stepwise mutation model in calculating the Bruvo's genetic distance matrix which accommodates comparison of individuals of a different ploidy (Bruvo et al., 2004). Genotype assignment for the expected *B. lactucae* strains was carried out for each lesion to determine the ratio of inoculated strains in the epidemic population. To determine if undesignated samples were genotyping errors, the result of poor DNA, mutations or a new strain, the MLG assignment was also carried out in R. Data was filtered in R, first to remove samples with more than 2 loci missing, followed by a multilocus lineage (MLL) filter that grouped samples within specific Bruvo's distance thresholds into a single lineage. The following R packages and their dependencies were used to examine the structure and diversity of the population: poppr (v2.9.4; Kamvar et al., 2014, 2015), magrittr (v2.0.3; Bache & Wickham, 2022), ggplot2 (v3.4.2; Wickham, 2016), reshape2 (v1.4.4; Wickham, 2020), adgenet (v 2.1.10; Jombart & Ahmed, 2011), ade4 (v1.7-22; Thioulouse et al., 2018), and ape (v5.7-1; Paradis & Schliep, 2019). Minimum spanning networks (MSNs) were generated in *poppr* to plot the abundance and genetic relatedness of the sample genotypes using semi-euclidean distances. Friedman's chi squared and Nemenyi post hoc analysis were used to test the statistical significance of the differences in sporulation per cultivar, per block, and per block and cultivar, these were carried out using R package *PMCMRplus* (v1.9.8, Pohlert, 2014).

4.2.3 Preliminary examination of differential selection

The IBEB differential assay to determine virulence profile was carried out using seven live UK *B. lactucae* isolates. The protocol was the same as described in Chapter 3. After virulence scoring, single sporulating lesions on seedlings for every isolate x differential cultivar combination were pressed onto separate FTA cards. The isolates were genotyped using the developed SSR protocol (Chapter 2) and genotypic profiles were compared. As this was a preliminary test, sample numbers were insufficient to carry-out LD nor AMOVAs, therefore only population diversity (*poppr*), and allelic diversity (*poppr*), was carried out on the genotypic data. Data was filtered in R, to remove samples with more than 2 loci missing, and to remove loci that had more than 5% missing data, followed by a MLL filter that grouped samples within specific Bruvo's distance thresholds into a single lineage.
4.3 Results

4.3.1 Trial 1

4.3.1.1 Disease progression

Disease progress scored as angular foliar discolouration from chlorosis and necrosis attributed to LDM followed similar trends to angular sporulation attributed to LDM, in that they both increased over time by approximately the same amount (Figure 4-4). By 14 days after inoculation (DAI) angular sporulating lesions were present on multiple plants per block, with a mean percentage foliar discolouration of 0.23% and sporulation of 0.21%.

During the trial, patches of diffuse sporulation without initial angular chlorosis were observed (Figure 4-3). Sporulation was considered a more reliable indicator of LDM as discolouration could result from other stressors and area of sporulation was therefore used to monitor disease progression.

Despite the increase in LDM symptoms observed throughout the trial, the increases in symptoms were not equal between blocks. The mean percentage of leaf area showing LDM symptoms on living plants between blocks began to diverge for each cultivar at 26 DAI, with the final scoring (35 DAI) generally having the most pronounced difference between block repeats for each cultivar (Figure 4-4). For all cultivars block 1 had the lowest mean values for percentage of leaf area sporulation, which was most evident in the final scoring with cv Stallion, where the mean percentage of leaf area sporulation on living plants for block 1 was 0.54% and all other blocks were \geq 8.40% (Figure 4-4).

Due to block repeats exhibiting differences in observed sporulation, the effect of cultivar on percentage leaf area sporulation per block, and the difference in mean percentage foliar sporulation per block were analysed. Overall, blocks did not differ in mean percentage of foliar sporulation (Friedman's chi squared = 7.35, df = 3, *p*-value = 0.06), but when data was grouped by block and cultivar there was a statistically significant difference (Friedman's chi squared = 40.46, df = 11, *p*-value <0.01). Nemenyi pairwise analysis showed statistically significant differences (*p*<0.05) between the mean percentage of leaf area sporulation on cv Stallion block 1 to the sporulation recorded on the following: Coventry block 2 and block 4, Excalibur block 1 and 3, and Stallion block 2 and 3.



Figure 4-3 Lettuce foliage affected by LDM; A, diffuse sporulation, B, clear angular sporulating lesions with faint angular chlorosis, C, angular necrotic lesions; D and E lesions on abaxial and adaxial surfaces of cv Actina leaf with sparse sporulation and highly confined lesions.

Differences in LDM symptoms per cultivar were evident in the final assessment of disease at 35 DAI, in which cv Coventry had a mean percentage of foliar sporulation value of 13.73%, Excalibur a value of 10.36% and Stallion 7.56% (Figure 4-4). This difference between the mean percentage of leaf area sporulation per cultivar was statistically significant (Friedman's chi-squared = 6.75, df = 2, *p*-value <0.05). The lowest *p*-value but highest level of statistical significance obtained from Nemenyi pair-wise analysis on the mean percentage of leaf area sporulation between sporulation observed on Stallion and the other two cultivars (both *p* =0.11). Despite careful assessment, no disease was observed on cv Actina until the final sampling date (40 DAI) after all assessments occurred and therefore there was no data to be plotted or subject to statistical analysis.



Figure 4-4 LDM progression curves for Trial 1 (Aug to Oct 2021), measured as mean percentage of leaf area of living plants affected by LDM angular discolouration and sporulation. DAI = is days after inoculation.

Population diversity and epidemiology of Bremia lactucae the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

Table 4-1 Reference SSR genotypes for the B. lactucae strains used in Trial 1, run in duplicate. Below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number. The different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

		Mark	er 4	Mark	ker 9	Mark	er 10	Mark	er 1		Mark	er 2	Mark	er 5	1001a		1008b		1011a		Mark	er 7		
		1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	4
2020_Bl2A	R1	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	157	157	140	146	359	359	223	223	292	303		
	R2	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	157	157	140	146	359	359	223	223	281	292	303	
2020_Bl4E	R1	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	299	301
	R2	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	148		266	266	155	157	140	146	359	362	220	223	290	292	299	301
2020_Bl4G	R1	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	301	
	R2	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223	290	292	303	
2021_Bl1B	R1	275	275	209	209	330	330	142	145		272	272	157	157	146	146	359	359	220	223	299	299		
	R2	275	275	209	209	330	330	142	145		272	272	157	157	146	146	359	359	220	223	299	299		

4.3.1.2 Population structure in sampled lesions

Despite some minor variation, all four of the reference isolates used to inoculate the trial could be discriminated using the ten SSR loci (Table 4-1). Despite this, when examining the lesions resampled from the trial the isolates 2020_Bl4E and 2020_Bl4G, which were obtained from the same outbreak and had similar MLGs, could not be consistently discriminated at the Marker 1 and Marker 7, and were therefore grouped together as 2020_Bl4.

Isolate 2021_Bl1B was found to have caused disease on all cultivars (Figure 4-5) and was the most frequently occurring isolate (with a total incidence of 459 out of 859 genotyped samples). Isolate 2020_Bl2A had the lowest frequency of all isolates (with a total incidence of 22). Some isolates were constrained to certain cultivars. For example, isolates 2020_Bl2A, and 2020_Bl4 were only collected from cv Excalibur and Stallion. The only designated isolate collected from cv Actina and Coventry was 2021_Bl1B, the rest of the samples collected from these cultivars were undesignated to any released isolate. The cultivar Actina had only one sample collection as LDM symptoms were only observed on the final sampling day resulting in a total of 28 samples.



Figure 4-5 Ratio of each isolate's genotype recovered from 853 genotyped LDM lesions sampled on four sampling dates from four cultivars in Trial 1. Lesion numbers: n = 278, 286, 261, and 28 from cultivars Coventry, Excalibur, Stallion and Actina, respectively.

To further test whether cultivar affected isolate selection, all isolates, including those referred to as undesignated were examined in more detail to establish whether they were genetically similar to the initial reference isolates or constituted novel strains. MLGs were therefore combined into MLLs using a Bruvo's distance threshold. From 843 samples obtained over four sample dates, from four cultivars in Trial 1, 95 multilocus lineages (MLL: Bruvo's distance, average threshold 0.008) were identified (Table 4-2). When accounting for population size the number of these MLLs differed per cultivar (Actina eMLL: 3.00, Coventry eMLL: 4.02; Excalibur eMLL: 9.73; and Stallion eMLL: 12.97; Table 1-4). There was minor variation in the number of expected MLL (eMLL) per cultivar between sample collections (time-point), with samples from Coventry ranging between 1-1.00-6.03 eMLLs, samples from Excalibur ranging from 5.4-12.05 eMLLs, and samples from Stallion ranging from 8.79-14.91 eMLLs. The only sample collection from Actina yielded an eMLL score of 3.00.

Simpson's Index of diversity values, reflecting MLL diversity corrected to sample size, also exhibited variability between sample dates per cultivar. Specifically, samples collected from cv Coventry had Simpson's Index of diversity values ranging from 0.00 to 0.46, samples collected from Excalibur ranged from 0.62 to 0.80, and samples collected from Stallion ranging from 0.77 to 0.92 (lambda corrected: Table 4-2). Notably, the maximum Simpson's Index of diversity value from samples collected from cv Coventry was lower than the minimum values obtained from samples collected from cv Stallion and Excalibur, indicating a disparity in MLL diversity between cultivar sub-populations. The only sample collection for Actina had a Simpson's Index of 0.14, and an evenness score of 0.41.

The evenness of MLLs observed varied between cultivar and sample collection, with samples from cv Coventry not exceeding an evenness score of 0.41 (E.5), samples from cv Excalibur ranging from 0.41-0.72 (E.5), and samples from Stallion ranging from 0.53-0.67 (E.5: Table 4-2). The highest evenness score was observed with samples collected from Excalibur in the early sample (E.5 = 0.72) and the lowest in samples collected from Coventry (E.5 = 0.35, E.5: Table 4-2). The expected heterozygosity also differed between cultivar and sample collection. Samples collected from Coventry had the lowest score (0.1 in early sample) whereas samples from Stallion had the highest (0.38, Hexp: Table 4-2). These data highlight that samples

collected from cv Coventry had a much lower genetic diversity, evenness of MLLs, and less expected heterozygosity than samples collected from cv Excalibur and cv Stallion.



DISTANCE

Figure 4-6 Minimum spanning network based on Bruvo's distances calculated SSR genotype data from Trial 1 samples compared to the reference isolates. Nodes are multilocus lineage groupings, and edges represent the Bruvo's distance between MLLs. A, B and C are three main clusters around the three largest nodes. The largest nodes comprised 93 samples (A), 87 samples (B) and 476 samples (C). 2020_Bl4 comprised 2020_Bl4E and 2020_Bl4G combined.

The MSN provides a graphical representation of the Bruvo's distance amongst the samples with each node indicating an MLL with its size proportional to the number of representatives (Figure 4-6). Edges connecting nodes are plotted with the thickness and darkness increasing as the genetic distances decrease, i.e. grey and thinner edges show greater genetic distance. The nodes are coloured according to the lettuce cultivar and sampling date and single nodes indicate the reference genotypes of the isolates as genotyped prior to inoculation. Of the three largest clusters in the MSN (Figure 4-6) cluster C comprised 476 sample genotype reads that were genetically most similar to isolate 2021_Bl1B and cluster B with 87 reads and cluster A

with 93 reads were most similar to the combined isolate 2020_B14. Each cluster contained a main node and minor genetically similar nodes. The genotypic profile of the single lesion samples from the Trial 1 epidemic thus broadly matched the profile of the distinct isolates used to inoculate the trial (Figure 4-6).

The MLL variations up to two nodes apart (with each a Bruvo's distance < 0.03) to the three main isolate nodes were counted, resulting in a total of 729 of 1024 sample genotypes that closely matched a released isolate. This dominant clustering of samples near an isolate MLL indicates that the undesignated samples from Figure 1-5 were closely related to the isolates released and the MLL variation observed stemmed from minor allelic variation of the released isolates. Isolate 2020_Bl2A did not appear to have a larger sample node clustered near its reference isolate genotype read, with instead nodes comprised of 1-2 samples each and being 2 nodes/edges away from the main node A of 2020_Bl4. Consistent with the SSR data in Table 1-1, the reference genotype of isolate 2020_Bl2A was genetically closer to reference isolate 2020 Bl4 and 2020 Bl4 MLL variants than to the 2021 Bl1B in the MSN. As the 2020 Bl4 isolates showed variation in markers that had three alleles that were consistent with being triploid the loss of the third allele may have created the genetic similarity to 2020_Bl2A. Note there were 14 alleles in common between these isolates and only 7 alleles that discriminated them. Consistent with the data shown in Figure 1-5 the genotypic profiles of samples from cv Coventry were genetically similar to the 2021_Bl1B samples in node C than any of the other distinct isolates released, suggesting that the undesignated samples in manual assignment were variants of 2021_Bl1B. Isolate 2021_Bl1B exhibited the lowest level of heterozygosity amongst the isolates tested, with only two loci (Marker 1 and 1011a) showing two or more alleles (Table 4-1). In the MSN generally, samples matching isolate 2021_Bl1B had fewest genetic variants. The main node of cluster C was surrounded by smaller nodes of MLL variants that were mostly only one or two mutational steps (each <0.03 Bruvo's distance) apart from the main node and comprised of ≤8 samples. The furthest MLL variant of 2021_Bl1B was 5 steps/nodes distant from the main cluster. In contrast the isolate 2020_Bl4 had more heterozygous loci and triploid allelic signatures in reference tests than isolate 2021_Bl1B (Table 4-1).

Cultivar	Time point	Ν	MLL	eMLL ^a	SE⁵	Hc	G^d	lambda corrected ^e	E.5 ^f	Hexp ^g
Actina	S5	28	3.00	3.00	0.00	0.31	1.16	0.14	0.44	0.13
Coventry	Total	276	15.00	4.02	1.38	0.67	1.30	0.23	0.31	0.13
	Е	38	1.00	1.00	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	NaN	0.10
	S1	77	11.00	6.03	1.31	1.12	1.84	0.46	0.41	0.15
	S2	74	6.00	2.89	1.05	0.36	1.15	0.13	0.35	0.12
	S5	87	7.00	3.30	1.10	0.46	1.21	0.18	0.36	0.12
Excalibur	Total	285	50.00	9.73	2.04	2.18	3.73	0.74	0.35	0.35
	Е	39	6.00	5.42	0.64	1.35	3.06	0.69	0.72	0.35
	S1	82	26.00	11.65	1.91	2.24	4.43	0.78	0.41	0.35
	S2	80	13.00	6.71	1.42	1.44	2.59	0.62	0.49	0.33
	S5	84	26.00	12.05	1.89	2.31	4.84	0.80	0.42	0.36
Stallion	Total	254	59.00	12.97	2.19	2.80	7.34	0.87	0.41	0.38
	Е	29	9.00	8.79	0.41	1.68	3.91	0.77	0.67	0.37
	S1	69	27.00	14.91	1.83	2.78	10.37	0.92	0.62	0.39
	S2	63	17.00	10.35	1.56	2.11	5.19	0.82	0.58	0.36
	S5	93	30.00	12.98	1.96	2.59	7.45	0.88	0.53	0.38
Total		843	95.00	9.42	2.07	2.14	2.97	0.66	0.26	0.32

Table 4-2 Trial 1 population genetic diversity of B. lactucae samples based on 10 SSR loci with data analysed by poppr. Names of indices of genetic variation and their descriptions are in the table footnotes. Dataset shows MLL.N = number of samples. E = early sample, and S1, S2 and S5 correspond to lesion sampling at time points 1, 2 and 5.

^a eMLL is the expected MLLs at the lowest common sample size

^bSE is standard error for rarefaction analysis used to create eMLLs

^c H is Shannon-Wiener Index of MLL diversity (Shannon, 2001) the higher the number the higher the diversity, includes genotypic diversity and evenness in calculations, is sensitive to number of different MLLs and evenness.

^dG is Stoddart and Taylor's Index of MLL diversity (Stoddart & Taylor, 1988), the higher the number the higher the diversity, includes genotypic diversity and evenness in calculations

^e lambda corrected is Simpson's Index (Simpson, 1949) of diversity, corrected to population size, values from 0-1, with 0 being no diversity, and 1 all genotypes are different.

^f E.5 is Evenness (Grünwald et al., 2003), values from 0-1, with 0 being complete unevenness.

^gHexp is Nei's unbiased gene diversity (Nei, 1978), i.e. expected heterozygosity, values from 0-1, with 0 not heterozygous/ no diversity.

In the MSN, the isolate 2020_Bl4 had two main clusters (A and B). The largest nodes of each of these were four steps apart (of <0.03 Bruvo's distance) and had more variant MLL branches with smaller nodes of 1-3 samples in the MSN going up to 8 steps from the main node of the cluster (Figure 4-6). The distance of the first MLLs from 2020_Bl4 clusters tended to closer to a Bruvo's distance of 0.011 than 0.03, whereas for 2021_Bl1B the first MLL variants tended to be closer to 0.03 Bruvo's distance away from the main cluster.

Analysis of the total genetic variation of tested loci was partitioned to experimental factors using AMOVA. The highest percentage of variation observed for samples collected was always 'Within cultivar' (>70%) rather than 'Sample collection time points', regardless of clone correction (Table 4-3). The percentage of genetic variation for tested SSR loci 'Within cultivar' increased with clone correction (from 76.61% to 87.57%) which suggests the population is likely clonal and asexually reproducing. According to the AMOVA results the population is less likely to be sexually reproducing and genetic material is not being shared between the isolates released. This suggests therefore that the genetic variance found in tested loci was from existing variance in the isolates themselves.

Linkage disequilibrium is an analysis where the null hypothesis assumes panmixia and that loci are completely unlinked, whereas for clonal populations a significant result rejecting the null hypothesis is expected as there is more likely to be linkage amongst loci therefore no linkage disequilibrium. No linkage disequilibrium was observed in the loci within the samples collected from the same cultivar, both with and without clone correction of the genotypes of each isolate group collected from the same cultivar, (Table 4-4). Only for clone corrected samples collected from cv Actina, which had three MLLs, did the observation p= 0.002 for r_D = 0.63 (Table 4-4) fall in the right tail of expected distribution if random mating occurred. The linkage disequilibrium analysis shows that for the isolates collected from same cultivar have high linkage which indicates populations are clonal and therefore asexually reproducing.

Table 4-3 Results of Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA) showing the partitioning of genetic variation among and within sample collections and cultivars during Trial 1. Dataset shows MLL and clone correction Note clone correction was with nine loci omitting LM7.

Dataset

treatment	Populations	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	Sigma	%	Phi	<i>p</i> -value ^b
MLL filtered ^a	Between Sample collections (time-points)	3	0.19	0.06	-0.00353	-10.21	-0.102	0.942
	Between cultivars within sample collections (time-points)	9	6.93	0.77	0.012	33.60	0.305	0.001
	Within cultivars	830	22.00	0.03	0.027	76.61	0.234	0.001
	Total	842	29.11	0.03	0.035	100.00		
Clone-	Between Sample collections (time-points)	3	0.17	0.06	-0.00290	-6.21	-0.062	0.686
corrected and	Between cultivars within sample collections (time-points)	9	1.10	0.12	0.009	18.64	0.175	0.001
MLL filtered	Within cultivars	123	5.04	0.04	0.041	87.57	0.124	0.001
	Total	135	6.30	0.05	0.047	100.00		

a – MLL filtered with Bruvos distance using the average distance as it was the highest threshold value, with a threshold of 0.007877103.

b – Out of 999 permutations

In addition to an algorithm applied for MLL groupings, data filters were applied to remove samples with low DNA concentrations from the analysis to mitigate genotyping errors. Therefore, the genetic variation observed between MLLs is likely to be derived from genuine biological variation at these loci in the population rather than from genotyping errors. Both the linkage analysis and AMOVA analysis on samples collected from each cultivar showed that clonal lineages were present. Samples presumed to be derived from isolate 2020_Bl4 had more variation in alleles per marker than samples presumed to be derived from 2020_Bl2A and 2021_Bl1B. Such samples from 2020_Bl4 had more MLL variants with more mutational steps than from other isolates in the study. The longest chain of linked MLLs was comprised of nine variants from the main node of 2021_Bl1B (cluster B), compared to a five node branch of sample variants from the main node of 2021_Bl1B (cluster C). This was greater than that observed from 2020_Bl2A and 2021_Bl1B (Figure 4-6). In combination all the data strongly suggests that the genetic variation observed in samples collected is from the isolates themselves rather than sexual reproduction between the released isolates.

Dataset		Cultivar	No. samples	of	$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{A}}$	r _D
MLL filtered		Actina	_	28	2.70 ^a	0.68 a
		Coventry		278	2.23 ^a	0.43 a
		Excalibur		285	2.98 ^a	0.52 ª
		Stallion		254	2.62 ^a	0.42 ª
		Total		846	3.02 ª	0.50 a
Clone-corrected	and	Actina		3	2.35 ^b	0.63 ^b
MLL filtered		Coventry		15	1.45 ^a	0.25 a
		Excalibur		50	1.04 ^a	0.14 ª
		Stallion		59	1.19 ^a	0.15 ª
		Total		136	1.34 ª	0.17 ^a

Table 4-4 Summary of multilocus LD analysis results for each of the Cultivar populations from Trial 1 both with and without clone correction

 I_A = Index of association

```
r_D = rBarD
```

a = *p* < 0.01

b = p < 0.05

4.3.2 Trial 2

4.3.2.1 Disease progression

Widespread chlorosis and sporulating lesions were observed after 18 days on the cultivars Stallion and Actina, with the mean percentage of leaf area sporulation 2.6% and 2.5% respectively (Figure 4-7). All of the plots of cultivar Coventry developed disease symptoms later than the other cultivars, with the first incidence of disease 25 DAI (for 3/5 plots), whereas for cultivars Excalibur and Stallion sporulation was first observed 4 DAI. Due to the later onset of disease on cv. Coventry the trial was monitored for longer (52 days) than Trial 1 (35 days), in order to obtain three full sets of lesion samples from cv Coventry.

The longer assessment period resulted in a decline in the observed LDM symptoms which was due to an expanding area of late season lettuce rot which obscured symptoms and ultimately resulted in plant death. In the final assessment 297 plants out of 360 remained of which 83 were scored as showing rotting symptoms. Of all cultivars, rot affected Stallion the most, of a starting total of 120 plants, 35 died, and 62 plants had observed rot by the final assessment. This explains the marked decline in recorded LDM from around day 32 onwards and also the slight declines in blocks of cultivar Coventry (Figure 4-7).

With the exception of the data for Stallion (as described above), the LDM symptoms scored by angular discolouration and sporulation generally increased throughout the duration of the trial. The data for two types of disease score were very similar (usually within 5%) with the main differences being between replicate blocks in the trial (Figure 4-7). Of the three cultivars, Coventry had the largest difference in mean percentage of leaf area sporulation between blocks, which was evident at 45 DAI, where mean percentage leaf area sporulation was 0.1% in block 1 and 19.0% in block 4.



Figure 4-7 LDM progression curves for Trial 2 (Jul to Oct 2022), measured as mean of leaf area of living plants affected by angular discolouration and sporulation. DAI is days after inoculation. High incidence of rot obscuring LDM symptoms led to cv Stallion having a drop in LDM symptoms from DAI 32 onwards.

There were statistically significant differences in levels of foliar sporulation between blocks with Nemenyi pair-wise analysis identifying differences between block 4 and both block 2 and 5 (Friedman chi-squared = 18.64, df = 4, *p*-value <0.01). To further identify the source of this difference, the mean percentage of leaf area sporulation values were grouped per cultivar per block which also showed statistically significant differences (Friedman chi-squared=94.54, df = 14, *p*-value < 0.01) and pairwise analysis identified multiple combinations of cultivar and block that were significantly different in observed sporulation (data not shown). Noticeably, sporulation on cv Coventry in blocks 1 and 2 were both significantly different (*p* <0.05) to sporulation observed on cv Stallion in blocks 1, 2, 3, and 5.

4.3.2.2 Population structure in sampled lesions

Marker 2 was difficult to score for samples obtained from Trial 2; it did not amplify efficiently and was subsequently removed from the analysis. The data on the genotypes amplified from the lesions sampled from each cultivar Trial 2 showed the epidemic was dominated by two main genotypes (Figure 1-8). One matched the released isolate, 2021_BI8A and the other a common pattern that did not match any released isolates but was subsequently named the T3_283 strain. The isolate 2021_BI8A was observed to be highly cultivar specific, only being isolated from cv Coventry. Isolates 2021_BI3A and 2021_BI4C were present in later samples (sample collections 2 and 3) collected from cultivars Actina and Stallion. During manual MLL assignment one single incidence of the isolate T3_283 was detected out of 267 Coventry samples from S2. Similarly to Trial 1, the proportion of undesignated samples varied between time points and cultivars with the highest proportion of undesignated samples being 38% in samples collected from cv Actina in full sample collection 1, and the lowest proportion being 5% in samples collected from cv Stallion in sample collection 2.

The 916 sample genotypes obtained from ten SSR loci were analysed using *poppr* in R which identified 52 multilocus lineages (MLL: Bruvo's distance, farthest threshold 0.011;Table 4-5). Of the three cultivars, samples from Coventry had the lowest expected MLL (14.00 eMLL), followed by samples from Actina (19.20 eMLL), and then samples from Stallion (23.60 eMLL). In addition, samples collected from cv Coventry had the lowest observed Simpson diversity value (lambda corrected = 0.32) when accounting for population size, (Samples from Actina = 0.36, samples from Stallion = 0.47, Lambda corrected: Table 4-5).



Figure 4-8 Ratio of each isolate's genotype recovered from 947 genotyped LDM lesions sampled on four sampling dates from four cultivars in Trial 2. Lesion numbers: n = 264, 360, and 323 from cultivars Coventry, Actina and Stallion, respectively.

An objective MSN analysis of designated and undesignated sample genotypes using Bruvo's distances identified two large clusters centred around large nodes comprised of many samples; cluster A which had a main node of 232 samples, and B with a main node of 617 samples (Figure 4-9). Cluster A corresponded to isolate 2021_Bl8A and Cluster B corresponded to the non-released T3_283 strain. Genotypes matching isolates 2021_Bl3A and 2021_Bl4C were uncommon and formed smaller clusters with the main nodes comprised of 2 (cluster C) and 9 (cluster D) samples respectively (Figure 4-9).



DISTANCE

Figure 4-9 Minimum spanning network of Trial 2 samples against the reference races using Bruvo's distances with average threshold. Reference isolates from Trial 1 and 2 were included. Nodes are multilocus lineage (MLL) groupings, and edge colour and shade in proportion to the Bruvo's distance between MLLs. A, B, C and D are four main clusters around the four largest nodes. The largest nodes were comprised of 232 samples (Cluster A), 617 samples (B), 12 samples (C) and 9 samples (D).

The MLL nodes up to two mutational steps away (with each node a Bruvo's distance below 0.03 apart) from each cluster's main node were counted, resulting in a total of 902 of 947 genotype reads closely corresponding to an isolate genotype. This indicates that undesignated strains in Figure 4-8 were mostly closely related to the isolates released and or isolate T3_283. A single sample from cultivar Coventry was noted within the cluster B dominated by the non-released genotype T3_283 strain that was mainly collected from Stallion and Actina and these may represent errors in labelling or processing or perhaps a rare cross over of genotypes from one cultivar to another due to mutation (see discussion).

The T3_283 strain was checked against the reference isolates from Trial 1 to see if it was a variant of any released isolate. Interestingly, the closest reference isolates to the T3_283 strain were 2021_Bl1B (from Trial 1) and 2021_Bl3A. However, both isolate reference reads were two or more nodes removed with Bruvo's distances 0.03 and above. When checking for common alleles (at all markers except Marker 2), T3_283 had 7 alleles in common with 2021_Bl1B and 10 with 2021_Bl3A and differed by 6 alleles to both 2021_Bl1B and 2021_Bl3A. However, at Marker 7, T3_283 had a novel allele suggesting that was a different lineage or had mutated.

There were many smaller nodes of similar MLLs around the isolates 2021_Bl4C and one replicate of 2020_Bl3A, all from the final sample of cv Actina and Stallion. This suggests that these low numbers of these two isolates in manual assignment was in part attributed to the number of variant strains of these isolates, which would have been classified as undesignated in the manual assignment. Interestingly, isolate 2021_Bl4C appeared to be closely related to 2020_Bl4 isolates from Trial 1. The 2020_Bl4 samples came from Cambridgeshire (CB24), which was also where isolate 2021_Bl4C originated, and were both part of the *K* cluster group 5 (Chapter 3). Therefore, similarities observed between these samples are likely due to them being from the same lineage.

Analysis of the partitioning of total genetic variation for Trial 2 samples was tested by AMOVA with sample populations grouped by factors such as sample collection date and the cultivar they were isolated from. The highest percentage of genetic variation observed in AMOVA was 'Between cultivars within sample collection time-points' at 124.16% when data was not clone corrected (Table 4-7), which likely indicates clonal reproduction, as a proliferation of genetically similar *B. lactucae* samples within cultivars would result in greater genetic differentiation between cultivar sub-populations of *B. lactucae*. An increase in the percentage of genetic variation portioned in the 'Within cultivars' sub-populations of *B. lactucae* with clone correction (from 16.53% to 73.08%) also suggests the population is likely clonal and asexually reproducing. The AMOVA results indicates that the Trial 2 population of *B. lactucae* is clonally reproducing which in turn implies that the genetic variance found in tested loci was not from genetic recombination of loci but from other sources (see discussion).

Cultivar	Time point	Ν	MLL	eMLL ^a	SE ^b	Hc	G ^d	lambda corrected ^e	E.5 ^f	Hexp ^g
Actina	Total	351	23	19.20	1.61	1.01	1.56	0.36	0.32	0.18
	Е	37	4	2.05	0.80	0.37	1.18	0.16	0.40	0.12
	S1	97	13	4.18	1.17	1.36	2.44	0.60	0.50	0.17
	S2	107	5	1.70	0.74	0.29	1.12	0.11	0.36	0.10
	S3	110	14	3.52	1.25	1.02	1.59	0.37	0.33	0.21
Coventry	Total	246	14	14.00	0.00	0.84	1.46	0.32	0.35	0.33
	SE	13	2	2.00	0.00	0.43	1.35	0.28	0.66	0.29
	S1	67	6	3.45	0.88	0.99	1.91	0.49	0.54	0.25
	S2	81	8	2.47	0.98	0.59	1.30	0.23	0.37	0.34
	S3	85	8	2.58	1.02	0.62	1.31	0.24	0.36	0.34
Stallion	Total	319	28	23.60	1.80	1.25	1.87	0.47	0.35	0.18
	Е	47	5	2.46	0.88	0.54	1.30	0.24	0.43	0.12
	S1	76	9	3.95	1.06	1.26	2.42	0.60	0.57	0.17
	S2	97	8	2.17	0.94	0.48	1.21	0.18	0.34	0.19
	S3	99	19	4.99	1.34	1.65	2.79	0.65	0.43	0.23
Total		916	52	4.48	1.28	1.66	2.73	0.64	0.41	0.26

Table 4-5 Trial 2 population genetic diversity of B. lactucae samples based on 10 SSR loci with data analysed by poppr. Names of indices of genetic variation and their descriptions are in the table footnotes. Dataset shows MLL. N= the number of samples. E = early sample, and S1, S2 and S3 correspond to lesion sampling 1, 2 and 3.

^a eMLL is the expected MLLs at the lowest common sample size.

^bSE is standard error for rarefaction analysis used to create eMLLs.

^c H is Shannon-Wiener Index of MLL diversity (Shannon, 2001) the higher the number the higher the diversity, includes genotypic diversity and evenness in calculations, is sensitive to number of different MLLs and evenness.

^dG is Stoddart and Taylor's Index of MLL diversity (Stoddart & Taylor, 1988), the higher the number the higher the diversity, includes genotypic diversity and evenness in calculations

elambda corrected is Simpson's Index (Simpson, 1949) of diversity, corrected to population size, values from 0-1, with 0 being no diversity, and 1 all genotypes are different.

^f E.5 is Evenness (Grünwald et al., 2003), values from 0-1, with 0 being complete unevenness.

^gHexp is Nei's unbiased gene diversity (Nei, 1978), i.e. expected heterozygosity, values from 0-1, with 0 not heterozygous/ no diversity.

No linkage disequilibrium was observed between the loci on isolates collected from the same cultivar when sampled from cv Actina or Stallion, both with (Actina: $r_D = 0.11$, p < 0.01; Stallion: $r_D = 0.11$, p < 0.01) and without clone correction (Actina: $r_D = 0.35$, p < 0.01; Stallion: $r_D = 0.45$, p < 0.01; Table 4-6). The clone corrected data from samples collected from Coventry showed observations falling into the tail of the resampled distribution with indications of linkage disequilibrium ($r_D = 0.07$, p < 0.05). All other samples showed that there was significant linkage between loci which implies that the sub-populations of *B. lactucae*, which were collected from the same cultivar, are not sexually reproducing.

Deterat				
Dataset	Cultivar	No. of samples	IA	r d
MLL filtered	Actina	351	1.94 a	0.35 a
	Coventry	246	0.46 a	0.16 a
	Stallion	319	3.16 a	0.45 a
	Total	916	1.77 a	0.32 a
Clone-corrected and MLL	Actina	17	0.86 a	0.11 a
filtered	Coventry	11	0.17 ь	0.07 c
	Stallion	22	0.93 a	0.11 a
	Total	83	1.10 a	0.13 a

Table 4-6 Summary of multilocus linkage disequilibrium analysis results for each of the Cultivar populations from Trial 2 both with and without clone correction

 I_A = Index of association

 $r_D = rBarD$

a = *p*<0.01

b =p>0.05

c =p<0.05

Table 4-7 Results of Analysis of Molecular Variance (AMOVA) showing the partitioning of genetic variation among and within sample collections and cultivars during Trial 2. Dataset shows MLLs with and without clone correction.

Dataset

treatment	Populations	Df	Sum Sq	Mean Sq	Sigma	%	Phi	<i>p</i> -value ^b
MLL	Between Sample collections (time-points)	3	0.57	0.19	-0.01462	-40.69	-0.407	0.906
filtered ^a	Between cultivars within sample collections (time-points)	8	26.82	3.35	0.045	124.16	0.883	0.001
	Within cultivars	904	5.37	0.01	0.006	16.53	0.835	0.001
	Total	915	32.76	0.04	0.036	100.00		
Clone-	Between Sample collections (time-points)	3	0.24	0.08	-0.00371	-7.10	-0.071	0.669
corrected	Between cultivars within sample collections (time-points)	8	0.97	0.12	0.018	34.02	0.318	0.001
and MLL	Within cultivars	48	1.83	0.04	0.038	73.08	0.269	0.001
filtered	Total	59	3.04	0.05	0.052	100.00		

^a - MLL filtered with Bruvo's distance using the average distance as it was the highest threshold value, with a threshold of 0.007877103.

^b - Out of 999 permutations

Table 4-8 Reference SSR genotypes for the B. lactucae strains used in Trial 2 along with dominant resampled genotype termed T3_283. Below each marker the numbers in the column header represents the allele number. The different colours and corresponding number (bp) at each marker represent a different allele.

	Marker 4		Marker 4 Marker 9		Marker 10		Marker 1			Marker 2		Marker 5		1001a		1008b		1011a			Marker 7		
	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	3	1	2	3
T3_283	275	277	206	209	330	330	142	142				157	157	146	146	362	362	220	220		283	283	
2021_Bl3A	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142		266	266	157	157	146	146	359	362	215	220	223	290	292	
2021_Bl4C	275	277	209	209	330	330	142	145	148	266	266	155	157	140	146	359	359	220	223		290	292	301
2021_Bl8A	275	277	206	209	327	330	142	142		266	266	157	157	146	146	359	362	220	223		297	299	301

4.3.3 Selection of alleles of isolates of *B. lactucae* on lettuce differentials

The preliminary experiment to explore the effect of passaging isolates of *B. lactucae* through differential cultivars (and the *R* genes they contain) indicated genetic differences in the SSR profile in many cases. Seven isolates were tested before and after virulence testing with the number of tested samples ranging from 6 to 9 as it was dependent on the number of differentials overcome. A total of 51 lesions from differentials and despite the limitations of only a single replicate lesion per isolate differential combination the findings were of note.

Marker 2 was removed from analysis by filtering in R to remove loci that had more than 5% missing results, showing inconsistent amplification of Marker 2. From the 51 lesions, 27 MLGs were identified, which were combined into 22 MLLs using a Bruvo's distance threshold (MLL: Bruvo's distance, furthest threshold 0.016). No consistent pattern of allele loss was observed; mean allele number was generally lower in the reference isolate than in the isolates resampled from the differentials (Table 4-9). The isolate with the largest difference was 2022_Bl7A with 1.56 alleles in the reference compared with a mean of 2.33 alleles in the six resampled lesions.

Nei's unbiased gene diversity (Nei, 1978), which indicates expected heterozygosity, was between 0.24-0.39 for both reference isolates and samples collected from differentials. For some isolates, the reference isolate genotypes had a higher Nei's diversity value than those collected from differentials, such as 2022_Bl4.1 (Ref: Hexp = 0.39; Diff: Hexp = 0.31) and 2022_Bl5A (Ref: Hexp = 0.39; Diff: Hexp = 0.28). Conversely, reference isolate genotypes of 2022_Bl5B (Ref: Hexp = 0.27) and 2022_Bl7A (Ref: Hexp = 0.24), had a lower Nei's diversity value, than those resampled from the differentials (2022_Bl5B Diff: Hexp = 0.32; 2022_Bl7A Diff: Hexp = 0.36). Allele evenness was largely consistent for differentials and reference genotypes, with values between 0.77-1.00

Of all the isolates tested in this experiment, 2022_Bl7A was the most variable with only three of all ten markers having identical alleles across all six genotyped samples which unsurprisingly lead to multiple MLLs in the differential sub-group, (Figure 4-9).

New alleles not previously observed in the reference isolates were recorded. For example, within data from isolate 2022_Bl4, there was one genotype from a sample collected from a differential that had four alleles at Marker 7 whereas, the reference genotype only had two or three alleles at the same marker (data not shown). For isolate 2022_Bl6A, samples collected

from the differentials cv Green Towers (Set C- S0; the universal susceptible) and cv Bartoli (Set C – S13) had an additional allele in Marker 4 (data not shown). Isolate 2022_Bl5B had the most new alleles in samples collected from differentials; all six differential samples were heterozygous at Marker 10 and 1008b unlike the reference isolate that was homozygous at these markers (data not shown).

Table 4-9 Allelic diversity analysis results between the reference (Ref) B. lactucae isolates and the samples resampled from differentials (Diff) based on nine SSR loci with data analysed by poppr. Names of indices of allelic variation and their descriptions are in the table footnotes.

			Mean allele			
		Sample	number per	Lambda		
Isolate	- <u>-</u>	Number	locus	corrected ^a	Hexp ^b	Evenness
2022_Bl4	Ref	3	1.78	0.31	0.36	0.98
	Diff	9	1.89	0.31	0.32	0.96
	Total	12	1.89	0.31	0.32	0.96
2022_Bl4.1	Ref	2	1.67	0.30	0.39	1.00
	Diff	9	1.67	0.29	0.31	0.99
	Total	11	1.67	0.29	0.31	0.99
2022_Bl5A	Ref	2	1.67	0.30	0.39	1.00
	Diff	9	1.67	0.26	0.28	0.91
	Total	11	1.67	0.27	0.29	0.94
2022_Bl5B	Ref	2	1.44	0.18	0.27	0.98
	Diff	6	1.67	0.30	0.32	1.00
	Total	8	1.78	0.30	0.31	0.95
2022_Bl6A	Ref	2	1.67	0.27	0.35	0.92
	Diff	6	1.78	0.32	0.35	0.93
	Total	8	1.78	0.31	0.33	0.91
2022_Bl6B	Ref	3	1.67	0.28	0.34	0.89
	Diff	6	1.67	0.29	0.31	0.97
	Total	9	1.78	0.30	0.31	0.88
2022_Bl7A	Ref	2	1.56	0.19	0.24	0.98
	Diff	6	2.33	0.33	0.36	0.81
	Total	8	2.56	0.32	0.34	0.77
All	Ref	16	2.33	0.31	0.32	0.77
	Diff	51	2.33	0.31	0.31	0.86
	Total	67	2.78	0.31	0.31	0.77

^aLambda corrected = Simpson's Index (Simpson, 1949) of diversity, corrected to population size, values from 0-1, with 0 being no diversity, and 1 all genotypes are different

^b Hexp = Nei's unbiased gene diversity (Nei, 1978), i.e. expected heterozygosity, values from 0-1, with 0 not heterozygous/ no diversity.

^c Evenness (Grünwald et al., 2003), values from 0-1, with 0 being complete unevenness.

In most cases where an allele was not previously recorded in reference isolates, the peak height was the same or lower than the alleles present in the reference sample genotype (data not shown). An example would be the sample of 2022_Bl7A collected from (Set C- S6; Colorado), which had two novel alleles (283 and 297) at Marker 7 with peak heights of 1209 and 563 relative fluorescent units (RFU) respectively. Comparatively the two commonly occurring alleles, 290 and 292, had peak heights of 1714 and 1960 RFU.

Not all variation was generated from novel alleles. Variation observed in sample genotypes was initially present in reference genotypes for the isolates 2022_Bl4.1, and 2022_Bl5A, where the allelic variation in genotype reads was in general from losing an allele and becoming homozygous at some markers (data not shown). This is reflected by the decrease in the Nei diversity value from genotype reads of the isolate reference (2022_Bl4.1 Ref: Hexp = 0.39; 2022_Bl5A Ref: Hexp = 0.39), to the samples collected from the differentials (2022_Bl4.1 Diff: Hexp = 0.31; 2022_Bl5A Diff: Hexp = 0.28). The loss of alleles in differential collected samples for isolates 2022_Bl4.1 and 2022_Bl5A, did not counteract the impact of novel alleles, with the Nei's diversity value genotypes of samples collected from differentials (Hexp = 0.32) only marginally higher than from references (Hexp = 31;Table 4-9).

There were more MLLs observed in the samples collected from differentials (15 MLLs out of 26 MLL; Figure 4-10) than the reference genotype reads. MLL's recurred across isolates released: MLL 19 was assigned to reference reads of isolate 2022_Bl4, 2022_Bl4.1, 2022_Bl5A, and was assigned to at least one sample collected from differentials (excluding 2022_Bl7A). Every read for all isolates except 2022_Bl7A samples had seven shared alleles, with an additional eight alleles in most reads. Notably the origin of isolates tested were from two counties, Lancashire, and Fife, both of which have had associations in genotype with 2019 samples in *K* – cluster group 1 (Chapter 3).



Figure 4-10 Plot of the named MLLs and their frequency observed in seven reference isolates (the upper seven plots and then the same isolates resampled after infecting differential lines of lettuce (lower seven plots). Individual plot headings show isolate names with the prefix Ref for reference isolate names and Diff (Differential) for the same isolates sampled after infecting differential lettuce seedlings.

4.4 Discussion

The results obtained from the two field trials showed a clear effect of cultivar on the frequency of different isolates sampled from the trial *B. lactucae* population. In both trials genotyping proved that a distinct pathogen population developed on lettuce cultivar Coventry than on the other cultivars in the trials. These case-studies demonstrate the gene-for-gene effect (Michelmore et al., 1984), where isolates are either able or unable to infect a cultivar depending on the efficacy of the host resistance to *B. lactucae* present and show the potential importance of cultivar choice as a management tool by growers to alter the pathogen population present in field.

Another key observation was that in these trials the extensive sampling and genotyping of many hundreds of lesions did not yield any strong evidence of sexual recombination amongst the isolates within the epidemics. The number of MLLs in the population were in general consistent throughout the trials. This was of interest as there were multiple different isolates present on the same cultivar, which would have presented the opportunity for recombination or competition, both of which would modify the MLL number. Genetic variation in isolates before and after exposure to cultivars did not appear to be as a result of crosses between isolates, as the population was predominantly clonal. In support of this, AMOVAs and linkage disequilibrium analyses showed that asexual reproduction was predominant in both field trials. Sexual reproduction in populations of *B. lactucae* has been documented in European fields (Gustafsson et al., 1985; van Hese et al., 2016), and in general, European populations were considered to utilise sexual reproduction rather than heterokaryosis and polyploidy which appeared to be common in isolates from Australia, and Japan (Gustafsson et al., 1985; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). More recent research found heterokaryosis to be common in European isolates (Fletcher et al., 2019). Once an isolate is established on a host it undergoes repeated asexual cycles producing aerial sporangia. Therefore, the prevalence of clonal reproduction in the Hutton trials was in part expected. The lack of evidence for sexual reproduction obtained from this study could be due to incompatibility between isolates, as generally two mating types are required for sexual reproduction (Michelmore & Ingram, 1980). Inability to obtain standard *B1* and *B2* strains prevented compatibility type assignment to isolates used.

The many distinct MLGs and MLLs detected in the trials and the fact that reproduction was asexual suggests that genetic variation either came from novel mutations or represented genetic variation that was pre-existing within the isolates. The latter scenario can emerge from heterokaryosis where multiple genetically distinct diploid nuclei are present at variable ratios in the same isolate. Consistent with this, the increase in genotype variation was particularly clear in the isolates with more than two alleles at a marker, which may be presumed to be heterokaryotic. Using whole genome sequencing Fletcher et al, (2019) reported that some heterokaryotic strains were stable in heterokaryosis, but others separated into homokaryotic derivatives when under selection pressure. Unstable heterokaryosis may therefore have contributed to the allelic variation observed in the isolates recaptured after exposure to the cultivars in these trials. It cannot be ruled out that some lesions pressed onto FTA cards were mixed, particularly as lesions became more difficult to distinguish, resulting in some variation. However, this is unlikely to have had a significant effect overall, as variations of released isolates were observed earlier in the trial when lesions were sparse and distinct.

Heterokaryons have been reported to generally grow faster than homokaryotic derivatives (Fletcher et al., 2019). Isolate 2020_Bl4 is presumed to be heterokaryotic, and it therefore seems counter intuitive that MLLs in this isolate were minimal in Trial 1 in comparison to 2021_Bl1B. However, a key aspect noted by Fletcher et al. (2019) is that homokaryons do perform better than heterokaryons if one of the nuclear products of the heterokaryon is recognised by a host resistance and the homokaryon products are not. This could explain why isolates 2021_Bl1B and T3_283 performed well (i.e. dominated) in Trial 1 and Trial 2 respectively, despite not having strong indications of trisomy/tri-alleles in the genotype data. Conversely, for isolate 2020_Bl4 which was tri-allelic, the MSN figure shows (Figure 4-6) it had higher numbers of MLL variants, none of which matched the reference isolates of 2020_Bl4 in the MSN.

In this study isolate selection by cultivar was shown as plots of the changes in the frequency of each distinct isolate on each cultivar over time (Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-8). There was an expectation that the frequency of isolates on each cultivar would change over the course of the epidemic reflecting that some isolates would be better at infecting the cultivars used in the trials. This is what was observed in a similar 'mark and recapture' type of trial with *P. infestans* (Cooke et al., 2012). However, no significant shift in isolate frequency was observed in either

trial across multiple sample time points. The only differences in isolate frequency was between different cultivars, indicating strong selection on isolates by cultivar. In particular a greater diversity of isolates was recovered on Excalibur and Stallion in Trial 1 and on Actina and Stallion in Trial 2 than on Coventry that appeared to be infected by only a single genotype in both trials.

An explanation for the difference in frequency of these isolates may be due to differing aggressiveness. Aggressiveness refers to quantitative traits that affect the variation of pathogenicity on a susceptible host, such as lesion size, sporulation rate or infection efficiency (Pariaud et al., 2009). If an isolate was less efficient in infection or had a lower sporulation rate, then the first transfer from infector plant to the field could skew the population proportions, in this case the population ratio, as observed with the Cooke et al. (2012) trial. Aggressiveness of each isolate could only be reflected in the frequency of isolates obtained, as it is difficult to quantify aggressiveness from latency and sporulation observed as neither could be directly linked to an isolate.

In each trial there was one cultivar that exhibited symptoms of LDM comparatively later than the other cultivars, cv Actina in Trial 1 and cv Coventry in Trial 2. The late development of symptoms in these two cultivars were attributed to different reasons. Notably in Trial 1, cv Actina presented LDM symptoms in the form of relatively small lesions with necrotic dots and more sparse sporulation than observed in other cultivars, whereas cv Coventry had clear angular discolouration and sporulation typical of LDM. The IBEB scoring sheet for virulence often considered necrotic speckles, even with sparse sporulation, as an indicator of partial resistance (IBEB, 2023). Partial resistance with hypersensitive necrosis has been reported with some *Dm* genes (Crute & Norwood, 1978), and the effectiveness of *R* genes has been reported to decrease with low temperatures (Judelson & Michelmore, 1992). The R genes present in cv Actina and cv Coventry are not publicly available therefore efficacy of R genes in these cultivars be it partial, or temperature based is unknown. The isolate that was collected from cv Actina at the end of Trial 1 was prevalent on samples collected from the other cultivars, and sporulation was sparse with necrotic dots This suggested that a combination of partial resistance and/or the high pressure of disease and inoculum load ultimately rendered cv Actina susceptible. By contrast, in the case of Trial 2, the isolate that affected cv Coventry,

2021_Bl8A was highly cultivar specific, and only collected from this cultivar. There were susceptible plants present (infector plants) that could have provided a reservoir for 2021_Bl8A, however it is likely that the isolate 2021_Bl8A was less 'aggressive' than the other prevalent isolate T3_283, in that its latent period may have been longer or its infection efficiency was lower (Pariaud et al., 2009). Latency period has been reported to change depending on temperature and RH (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1994), which did change during the trial. Considering cv Coventry in Trial 2 was predominately affected by 2021_Bl8A and had less foliar sporulation than the other two cultivars which had T3_283 present (Figure 4-7 and Figure 4-8) and no acute necrosis was observed, it supports the idea that it was not partial resistance that led to delayed symptoms but rather that the isolate 2021_Bl8A was less aggressive than the T3_283 isolate.

Selection was further examined with the comparison of the SSR genotypes of seven reference isolates of *B. lactucae* to that of DNA of same isolates resampled from FTA cards from lesions that had infected seedlings of cultivars in the IBEB differential assay. The hypothesis being tested here was that the selection pressure from the differential resistance genes may be reflected in the change in of MLL. In this analysis, the resampled samples exhibited more allelic diversity than the initial reference genotype reads. If an isolate had heterokaryotic signatures and cultivar selection led to certain alleles being preferentially selected, the allelic diversity would be higher in the reference sample for that isolate. This was not observed in the data collected. In general, the allelic variability observed was thought to have come from the isolates themselves rather than *de novo* mutation. That is, nuclear sorting allowing for one genetically distinct diploid nucleus to be preferentially selected over another, as seen by Fletcher et al. (2019). However, some novel alleles were observed in the recollected samples that were not previously recorded in the references. A plausible explanation for the presence of the new alleles can be from replication slippage (Dufresne et al., 2014), which can occur naturally in the pathogen or may occur during PCR. Changes in peak height ratios were also observed in this experiment and it is possible that some rarer alleles were undetectable in the reference isolate, but that infection of the differential cultivar imposed strong selection that increased the frequency of the nuclei containing these rare alleles to detectable levels. It was not possible to relate specific genetic changes to individual differential lettuce cultivars in this study so the results for the 6 to 9 resample isolates were pooled in each case (Figure 4-10 and

Table 4-9). Further research into cultivar selection through a standardisation of collecting FTAs to genotype after the virulence test would be beneficial in part to measure whether the isolate was polyploid or heterokaryotic. To be sure that cv Green Towers is filtering out complex virulence or preferentially selecting nuclei, an FTA sample prior to bulking inoculum on cv Green Towers and before sporangial suspension use in the differential assay would need to be included.

Another limitation is the lack of knowledge on the *R* genes within the cultivars utilised, which was not publicly made available or is unknown. Knowing the resistance genes in the cultivars used would help relate back to the sextet virulence profile of the isolates released allowing the determination of whether cv Actina host resistance broke down in Trial 1, and to give more information into which *R* genes prevented Coventry from being infected by 2020_Bl4 and 2020_Bl2A in Trials 1 and 2 respectively.

An interesting avenue for future studies would be to continue the trial in the same location, to see if previously used isolates re-emerge and influence the population ratio. Oospores have been found at lettuce outbreak sites and some studies have shown that they can lead to infection (Blok, 1981; Morgan, 1983; Yuen & Lorbeer, 1987). Trisomy in *B. lactucae* has been linked to self-fertility and the production of oospores (Michelmore & Sansome, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Evidence of the prevalence of overwintering clonal heterokaryotic (tri and tetra-allelic) strains in the UK population was unknown until analysis of the UK population (Chapter 3) in this work. The Hutton trials did not take into consideration the impact of overwintering oospores in the population structure.

4.5 Conclusion

This study aimed to look at the effect of selection from cultivars on a *B. lactucae* population over an outbreak by examining two artificially induced field epidemics using SSRs. The SSR assay was able to capture differences in MLLs. The results suggested that cultivar does affect the population genetics as evidenced by the different proportion of MLLs in samples collected from each cultivar. Different levels of sporulation between cultivars in light of different predominating MLLs suggests differing aggression or virulence between isolates. Cultivar choice therefore does influence the local pathogen population.

Further data analysis suggested genetic variation in samples collected likely came from within the isolates themselves, and was not the result sexual reproduction, supporting the idea of preferential asexual reproduction as suggested by van Hese et al., (2016) and the benefits of the heterokaryotic state (Fletcher et al., 2019). Data from a preliminary test into cultivar selection on the genetic variants within an isolate found that genotypic variation was exposed after selection by a range of differential lines.

Empirical evidence into cultivar selection on a single heterokaryotic isolate and further homokaryotic derivatives, would be beneficial in furthering the knowledge of cultivar selection in the presence of heterokaryotic isolates.

Chapter 5 Validation and application of a real-time LAMP assay for the detection of *B. lactucae*

5.1 Background information

5.1.1 Benefits of diagnostic assays:

Early pathogen detection plays a pivotal role in curtailing plant disease epidemics and their subsequent impacts. Rapid detection enables prompt interventions to mitigate further propagation and spread (Buja et al., 2021; Crandall et al., 2018). In the context of managing LDM, early detection is particularly important as the aesthetic and foliar damage caused can reduce marketability of the lettuce crop. The causal pathogen *B. lactucae*, has been reported to complete its asexual cycle in as few as four days (Verhoeff, 1960), producing aerially dispersed sporangia which can facilitate rapid field-wide transmission. Consequently, effective disease prevention is of paramount importance in lettuce production, often involving prophylactic use of chemical control. Use of chemical control in the absence of inoculum of *B. lactucae* increases production costs in an industry challenged by increasing agrochemical and seed costs (DEFRA, 2022). Prophylactic application of fungicides, especially if one active ingredient is used repeatedly, also exerts selective pressure on the pathogen population, increasing the risk of fungicide insensitive pathogen strains emerging (Brown et al., 2004; Cobelli et al., 1998; Crute et al., 1987).

For sustainable cropping of lettuce, stewardship of pesticides is required. One approach is to alter the timing of fungicide application in line with the presence of the pathogen, ultimately reducing environmental impact and production costs without compromising crop quality. Thus, the development and validation of an assay to detect inoculum under field conditions can aid in optimising fungicide applications, benefitting the environment and improving cost efficiency, whilst concurrently mitigating selective pressure for fungicide resistance.

5.1.2 B. lactucae diagnostic assays

Early detection of *B. lactucae* has previously focused on the asexual aerial sporangia, which are presumed to be the main source of crop infection (Michelmore & Wong, 2008; van Hese et al., 2016). Previous studies have monitored the aerial space for sporangia using samplers, from which sporangia can be counted or from which DNA can be extracted and subsequently tested

for the presence of pathogens using diagnostic assays (Carisse & Philion, 2002; Fall et al., 2015; Kunjeti et al., 2016). Research has also focussed on altering spray programs, with fewer applications made when the weather is not conducive to disease development (Hovius et al., 2007; Scherm et al., 1995; Wu, Subbarao, et al., 2001). There have been efforts to utilise aerial sampling for the prediction of disease, by correlating the number of sporangia detected to weather parameters (Dhar et al., 2020; Kunjeti et al., 2016). For example, to measure the weather conditions suitable for sporangial release in the Canadian lettuce growing regions (Carisse & Philion, 2002; Fall et al., 2015), or to obtain more accurate localised disease forecast predictions and decision making with regard to fungicide spray programs (Dhar et al., 2020; Fall et al., 2020; Fall et al., 2016).

Diagnostic assays for the quantification of aerial sporangia of *B. lactucae* exist. In the past, time consuming manual methods such as counting sporangia captured on silicon grease coated impaction tapes were used (Carisse & Philion, 2002; Fall et al., 2015), while more recently qPCR has been used (Dhar et al., 2020; Kunjeti et al., 2016). Although diagnostic assays are useful, they also need to be economically viable, robust in a field environment and provide a quick turn-around to be a useful warning service to the lettuce growing industry.

Another key requirement for the diagnostic assay is the effective collection of samples. As the main presumed source of inoculum of *B. lactucae* in commercial environments is aerial sporangia, a means to sample the air space near to the crops is required. In general, most aerial samplers rely on impaction, whereby the sporangia adhere to the sticky surface of a collection device (e.g. Rotorod, tape or filter disc) on impact. Some alternative methods, such as the multi-vial sampler use a reverse vortex airflow to deposit aerial material within a vial. With impaction traps that utilise adherence, surface overloading can occur, where the entirety of the surface is blocked by material collected (Jackson & Bayliss, 2011; West & Kimber, 2015). Overloading is less commonly a problem with multi-vial samplers, although they rely on airflow and the material is unable to be moved once deposited, so contaminants such as insects and soil can be an issue.

In order to improve detection of *B. lactucae* in the field, a loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) assay that amplified DNA of *B. lactucae* was developed prior to this

PhD study in an associated project funded by the AHDB (project CP184) and was planned to be used with aerial sampling in commercial environments.

5.1.3 LAMP assays and their use as early warning tools

The LAMP assay, which amplifies DNA at a consistent temperature (isothermic), was devised by Notomi et al. (2000). The basic premise of a LAMP assays is 4-6 primers are used to amplify 6-8 regions of the target DNA using a polymerase that has high strand displacement and extension activity at temperatures where DNA does not denature, allowing for annealing and extension at a consistent temperature. Typically, the amplified products of LAMP are designed to form a dumbbell structure that accelerates amplification. More information on the LAMP assay, including how it works, is provided in the reviews of Parida et al. (2008), Becherer et al. (2020) and the original publication of Notomi et al. (2000). The LAMP assay is an alternative to conventional and quantitative PCR, providing a high tolerance for crude samples (Notomi et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2018). The isothermal nature of the LAMP reaction means that thermocyclers are not required (Wong et al., 2018). LAMP assays can have a reduced run time compared with qPCR assays and can be made suitable for in-field detection devices or adapted for less sophisticated heating apparatus (e.g. water-baths)(Notomi et al., 2000; Wong et al., 2018). LAMP assays can be modified in design to suit several purposes (Becherer et al., 2020). For example, DNA amplification by the LAMP assay can be tracked in real-time with the inclusion of DNA targeting fluorophores (intercalating dyes), such as SYBR green, and a set of known DNA standards to estimate the level of DNA in a sample (Cai et al., 2008; Lucchi et al., 2010). This type of LAMP assay has previously been referred to as RtF-LAMP (Cai et al., 2008), or RealAMP (Lucchi et al., 2010), with RT-LAMP referring to reversetranscription (Fukuta et al., 2003) a PCR modification that includes the reverse transcription of RNA into DNA. Despite the real-time LAMP assay not being able to quantify inoculum present in a sample absolutely, assays can be adapted using fluorescent signals to make them suitable as point of care/in-field tests (Lucchi et al., 2010). However, this is dependent on whether the samples taken require further processing that can also be adapted for in-field testing e.g. DNA extractions or further sample purification. LAMP assays are inherently less sensitive than PCR assays and have a relatively higher false positive rate (Wong et al., 2018). Therefore, they are not a complete replacement for qPCR based assays. The lower sensitivity of LAMP assays compared with qPCR means that there is potential for false negative results

at low levels of DNA of *B. lactucae*. Thus, it is important to determine the detection limit of the LAMP assay and to check whether the pathogen can be detected reliably in commercial field samples taken at the onset of epidemics.

Early samples of aerial sporangia in a commercial environment, i.e., adjacent to lettuce crops, can be exposed to pesticides and environmental variables that may introduce contaminants, as observed by Kunjeti et al. (2016). Therefore, a diagnostic that is robust and reliable with crude samples and provides a quick turnaround for monitoring purposes would be required for in-field detection. The LAMP assay previously developed at the James Hutton Institute is a real-time assay which uses an DNA-intercalating dye to visualise the amplified DNA, and the protocol includes a serial dilution of DNA of *B. lactucae* to provide an approximate quantification. Prior validation tests examined assay specificity but not the effects of collection method or the specificity and sensitivity with samples collected from field environments. This work aims to bridge this laboratory-to-field gap by a comparison of the conventional qPCR assay with the LAMP assay.

5.1.4 Validation of diagnostic assays

To validate the LAMP diagnostic assay as an early warning tool for use in a field environment, knowledge of how to interpret assay results, set the criteria for positives, and then test the assay with the relevant field samples is required. Conventional PCR and LAMP assays usually result in a binary outcome, i.e., positive, or negative. Real-time diagnostic assays produce experimental outputs that are continuous for each sample and are more complex to interpret with regard to recording a positive result (Burns & Valdivia, 2008). Although LAMP is an isothermal process without thermal cycles, the terminology of "cycles" can be used, with cycles being a unit of time depending on the amplification program and machinery used.

One of the key measured outputs for both diagnostic assays is the cycle threshold (C_T), at which the fluorescent signal detected for a sample exceeds the background noise. After the C_T cycle the relative fluorescent signal is detected at the end of each subsequent cycle and the value plotted against cycle number (or time) to form a curve, with sigmoidal curves expected for positive samples. The longer that real-time assays are run, the presumed higher chance of non-specific amplification or degradation of the probe-based fluorophore through cross-contamination, which could lead to a false positive result. Therefore, limitations on an

acceptable amplification curve, relative fluorescent threshold, and C_T cut-offs (arbitrary cycle where any amplification after is not considered positive) are implemented.

More than one threshold of detection measure can be used to determine C_T cut-offs. The limit of detection in DNA/RNA diagnostics according to Burns and Valdivia (2008) is the minimum amount of DNA/RNA that can, with good probability, be distinguished from a 'blank'/negative value. A good probability for limit of detection was interpreted by Nutz et al. (2011) to be a 95-100% incidence of positive when the sample should be positive. These authors suggested using the Youden index with receiver operating character (ROC) curve analysis to determine C_T cut-off, by comparing "positive" and "negative" assignments for samples using different C_T cut-offs with the "true" positive sample status. The "true" positive is denoted by a gold standard test or through spiking the sample with analyte (e.g. DNA). Essentially the highest value of the Youden index is the optimal cut-off, with the Youden index (J) calculated by sensitivity (SE) and specificity (Sp) in the equation:

$$J = SE + Sp - 1$$

With sensitivity and specificity defined in the expanded equation:

$$J = \left(\frac{true \ positives}{true \ positives} + false \ negatives}\right) + \left(\frac{true \ negatives}{true \ negatives} + false \ positives}\right) - 1$$

The limit of detection/sensitivity value is comprised of several factors, including the initial sampling, the sample handling, DNA/RNA extraction protocols and whether the sample contains inhibitors or competitors (Burns and Valdivia, 2008). This sentiment was echoed by Forootan et al. (2017) who advocated for a higher number of sample replicates, and Nutz et al. (2011) who suggested using melt-curves to determine true positives and negatives in samples as use of spiked samples or a dilution series as controls would not account for the variables encountered in the field.

The Hutton designed real-time LAMP assay is a six primer assay, targeting mitochondrial DNA, specifically between 11914bp – 12118bp of NCBI GenBank accession: MH271689.1. Prior validation of the Hutton real-time LAMP assay for *B. lactucae* examined specificity with eighteen *B. lactucae* strains from seven outbreaks and other plant pathogens (three *Peronospora spp.,* 26 *Phytophthora spp.,* one *Pythium ultimum* and 2 *Alternaria spp.*). However, the sensitivity with field samples had not been tested, nor had a CT cut-off value for positive detection been
provided. In addition, the Hutton developed LAMP assay had not been tested on samples collected from the field environment. Therefore, further validation of the LAMP assay with regard to the effect of collection method with Rotorod samplers on the limit of detection of the assay was required in order to produce a test suitable for in-field use.

5.1.5 Aims and objectives

This work aimed to validate a previously developed LAMP detection assay for use in commercially grown crops and field trials and to compare its utility with a conventional qPCR assay previously developed by Kunjeti et al. (2016).

The study first (Part A) looks at assessing criteria for determining a positive result using the real-time LAMP assay, along with evaluating the sensitivity of the real-time LAMP assay for the detection of *B. lactucae* when simulating a collection method.

In part B, the real-time LAMP assay is evaluated for the detection of *B. lactucae* in commercial field and field trials using aerial samplers. Additionally, the study uses the real-time LAMP assay to investigate gaps in the knowledge of lettuce downy mildew, by studying the effect of distance from a disease outbreak on detection sensitivity and the effect of timing of sampling (AM/PM periods) on the incidence of detection of the pathogen relating to sporangial release. Unless specified as 'conventional', any reference to a LAMP assay hereafter refers to the real-time LAMP assay developed.

Part A. Evaluating sensitivity of the LAMP assay

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 DNA extraction from sporangial suspensions

For the standards (positive controls) in each diagnostic assay, sporangial suspensions were obtained from isolates maintained on lettuce cotyledons and genomic DNA of *B. lactucae* was extracted using a method modified from Raeder and Broda (1985), as described in (Lees et al., 2019) in addition to replacing freeze dried material with the 1 ml sporangial solutions from 3.2.1.3. DNA concentration (ng/ μ l) was quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer ND-1000 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK).

5.2.2 LAMP assay protocol

Each LAMP assay was carried out in a final reaction volume of 25 μ l, which included 15 μ l Isothermal Master Mix ISO-001 or ISO-004 with ds-DNA binding fluorescent dye (Optigene), 5 μ l primer mix containing loop primers (F-loop and B-loop) at 10 μ M, external primers (F3 and B3) at 5 μ M and internal primers (FIP and BIP) at 20 μ M final concentrations, and 5 μ l of template DNA or a negative control of HPLC grade water (Table 5-1).

Primer Name	Sequence 5'> 3'
F3	TTCATAGTACCGGCGATT
B3	ACAGGCAGTTGCTTATAGAC
FIP(F1c+F2)	AAGCAGGTGATGTTTCGGCATACACACTAATAGCCGGTCTT
BIP(B1c+B2)	GCAGTTAATGAACCTCCACCGAAGAGAAGCTTATCCAGGTGA
LoopF	TTCAATCACGGATGGTCAA
LoopB	GCTGCTCTTTCCAATAAACGAG

Table 5-1 LAMP primer names and sequences

The real-time LAMP assay was carried out in a StepOnePlusTM (Thermofisher), with a program of 20 seconds at 65°C, followed by 60 cycles at 65°C for 30 seconds, during which the product was visualised every 15 seconds using the FAM detection channel. A C_T of 60 (equivalent of 30 minutes) was assigned to samples where no *B. lactucae* was detected or when

the amplification curve was abnormal. All other samples were considered positive unless nonspecific amplification was detected in melt-curve analysis. A melt-curve was included at the end of every program to check for non-specific amplification, with a maximum temperature of 95°C and data was collected after each 0.3°C increase in temperature. To allow for approximate quantification of DNA of *B. lactucae* and for comparison between real-time LAMP assay plates, standards comprising DNA of *B. lactucae* were included in each plate. For these, DNA was extracted from known sporangial sample concentrations and unless otherwise stated DNA of *B. lactucae* was serially diluted to give concentrations of 10 ng/µl, 1 ng/µl, 100 pg/µl, 1 pg/µl, and 0.1 pg/µl.

5.2.3 qPCR assay protocol

Quantitative (real-time) PCR (qPCR) was performed according to the method of Kunjeti et al. (2016). Each qPCR assay was carried out in a final reaction volume of 25 µl containing 7.5 µl of HPLC grade water, 12.5 µl of TaqManTM Universal PCR Master Mix, no AmpEraseTM UNG (Thermofisher), 3 µl of primer mix containing a final concentration of 5 µM each of probe, forward and reverse primers, and 2 µl of the template DNA. The sample template and DNA standards were as described for the LAMP assay. The qPCR was run with a 10-minute incubation period at 95°C, and 55 cycles of 10 seconds at 95°C and 30 seconds at 56°C. **C**r values were plotted against the log of the initial concentration of DNA to produce a standard curve. A C^T of 55 (equivalent to ~37 minutes excluding incubation time) was assigned to samples where no *B. lactucae* was detected or abnormal amplification curves were observed (different from the genomic standards), all other samples were considered positive.

5.2.4 Sensitivity of detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* from aerial sampling rods to which sporangia were added artificially

Aerial samplers can be used to monitor airspace for aerial sporangia of *B. lactucae*. A common type of these is impaction samplers which use sampling rods. To test the limit of sporangial detection of the LAMP assay using samples obtained from aerial samplers, and to further check the sensitivity of the real-time LAMP assay, a modified protocol from Lees et al. (2019) was used to simulate the collection and processing of Rotorod aerial sampler collected

samples. Four replicates each consisting of two Perspex air sampling rods smeared with Vaseline[®] in a 2 ml screw-cap tube with 100 µl of a sporangial suspension of sporangia of *B*. lactucae added were prepared. Sporangial suspensions, collected from seedlings, were counted using a Haemocytometer. Two sporangial dilution series were tested; 1) 1000, 100, 10 and 1 sporangia, and 2) 1000, 100, 85, 70, 55, 40, 25, 10 sporangia per reaction These values were chosen according to the results of preliminary experiments estimating sensitivity of the assay to be between 1000-100 sporangia added (data not shown). Samples were then frozen at -20°C to replicate storage conditions prior to DNA extraction of field samples. DNA was extracted using the MasterPure[™] Yeast DNA Purification Kit (Lucigen/Cambio, Cambridge UK) with minor modifications (Appendix i). Extracted DNA was tested in duplicate for the presence of *B. lactucae* DNA using both the real-time LAMP and qPCR assay. Genomic DNA of B. lactucae was used as a positive control in a standard dilution, equivalent to 1000, 100, 10, 1, 0.1 and 0.01 sporangia per reaction. The amount of template DNA for each reaction differed, 2µl of template was used in the qPCR assay and 5 µl was used in the LAMP assay, therefore the estimated sporangial equivalents per reaction for each diagnostic assay differed (Table 5-2). For comparison between the two assays, samples were referred to by the number of sporangia added to sample.

Table 5-2 Estimated number of sporangia of B. lactucae to detect in each reaction compared with initial number added to
sample before DNA extraction. Sporangia were counted using a haemocytometer. Each sample contained 100 μ l of a sporangial
suspension, DNA extractions were to a volume of 35 μ l.

Number of sporangia	1000	100	85	70	55	40	25	10	1
added to sample	1000	100	05	70	33	40	25	10	I
LAMP assay	142.86	14.29	12.14	10.00	7.86	5.71	3.57	1.43	0.14
qPCR assay	57.14	5.71	4.86	4.00	3.14	2.29	1.43	0.57	0.06

5.2.5 Melt-curve analysis

Melt-curve analyses on the LAMP assay products derived from the amended Rotorods were carried out. The average melt-curve value from the genomic DNA standards (83°C) was used to set a range of melt temperatures (82<x<84°C) to denote a whether the sample was specifically amplifying the target DNA and therefore "positive". Each sample had two results assigned, one from the melt curve analysis and the second an expected result which assumed that if DNA was added to the sample regardless of the concentration, it should be positive. These two results per sample were compared in ROC analysis with Youden Index as described by Nutz et al. (2011). The ROC tested a range of CT cut-offs, starting from 0-50 CT with intervals of 2 CT, to find which CT cut-off gave the least false positives and false negatives. The qPCR assay did not have a melt-curve verification step and was thus excluded from the ROC curve analysis as the methodology did not include an intercalating dye.

5.3 Detection and quantification of DNA of *B. lactucae* from Rotorods using the LAMP and qPCR assay

5.3.1 Detection limit of LAMP and qPCR assay

After 10 minutes of incubation the LAMP assay could reliably detect DNA of *B. lactucae* in samples containing 1000 sporangia equivalents, whereas the qPCR assay could reliably detect *B. lactucae* after 20 minutes from the same samples. The LAMP and qPCR diagnostic assays could detect to the lowest sporangial equivalents tested, which was 0.01 sporangial equivalents per reaction, but detection was not consistent between replicates. Using the LAMP assay, the time until detection varied between sample repeats (22.5-30 minutes). This was in part due to only half the repeats amplifying successfully (2/4 using LAMP; Figure 5-1). The reliable lower limit of detection of the LAMP assay is estimated to be between 1-10 sporangia equivalents per reaction considering a lower incidence of positive results in samples containing less DNA. This was particularly evident in samples with 0.10 sporangial equivalents, where no amplification was observed using qPCR. Neither the LAMP nor qPCR assay showed amplification of *B. lactucae* DNA when no sporangia were added to the reaction mix (false positives).

Overall, the time taken until detection increased as the number of sporangial equivalents decreased per sample. Samples in which *B. lactucae* DNA was undetectable were given the value of the maximum number of cycles for the particular assay. Samples with 0.10 sporangia added all yielded amplification curves that did not match the curves produced by either the negative or positive controls and were considered non-specific amplification when tested using qPCR. The non-specific amplification was attributed to contamination and data were removed from analysis.



Figure 5-1 Time (min) until detection of DNA of B. lactucae in the real-time LAMP and qPCR assays. DNA concentrations were made to the equivalent of 1000, 100, 10, 10, 1, 0.1, and 0.01 sporangia per reaction, each was run in duplicate over two plates (n=4). qPCR times exclude the initial 10-minute incubation. Samples in which B. lactucae DNA was undetectable were given the max cycle in calculations, however in the case of replicates of 0.10 sporangia equivalents for qPCR all had suspected contamination from amplification curves not matching positive nor negative control amplification curves and were removed from analysis. Box and whisker plot; X is the mean, dots are each individual result, median is exclusive.

5.3.2 Detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* from Rotorods to which sporangia had been added

The detection limit for DNA of *B. lactucae* was between 10-100 sporangial equivalents using the LAMP assay when sporangia were added to Rotorods (data not shown). Following 11 minutes of incubation, the LAMP assay consistently detected DNA of *B. lactucae* from Rotorods to which 100 sporangia had been added and low levels of variation were observed (Figure 5-2).

A low incidence of amplification was observed in samples that had 10 sporangia added. The lowest concentration at which DNA was detected in all replicates was 25 sporangia per Rotorod using the LAMP assay. The results suggest that the limit of detection of the LAMP assay when samples are collected using sampling Rotorods is approximately 25 sporangia, which results in values equivalent to ~3.5 sporangia per LAMP reaction (and ~1.4 sporangia

per qPCR reaction). Variation between replicates for the time until detection of *B. lactucae* using the LAMP assay decreased with an increase in the number of sporangia added to sampling Rotorods (Figure 5-2).

Overall, the time taken for DNA of *B. lactucae* to be detected using a qPCR assay increased with a decreasing number of sporangia added to sampling rods. For example, a reaction time of ~27 minutes was recorded when 100 sporangia were added compared with ~32 minutes when 10 sporangia were added (Figure 5-2). However, the average time taken until detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* using the qPCR assay varied between replicates and did not appear to follow a trend (Figure 5-2); this was attributed to amplification not being observed in all replicates.



Figure 5-2 Time (minutes) until the detection of DNA of B. lactucae in LAMP and qPCR assays from DNA extracted from Rotorod samplers to which a known number of sporangia of B. lactucae had been added.

5.3.3 Comparison of *B. lactucae* detection from Rotorod samplers compared with controls

The effect of sampling method on detection efficiency was investigated by a comparison of the results from the Rotorods to which sporangia had been added and the genomic DNA standards. Overall, the Rotorod sampling method resulted in increased variation between sample replicates when compared to the genomic DNA standards, which was evident in Figure 5-1 and Figure 5-2. At 100 sporangial equivalents, genomic DNA was detected in 22.9 minutes using qPCR and 12.3 minutes using the LAMP assay, with the difference between replicates being less than 0.01 minutes. When 100 sporangia were added to sampling Rotorods the time taken for the qPCR to detect *B. lactucae* ranged from 26.3-27.9 minutes, and when using the LAMP assay detection ranged from 10.2-11.7 minutes.

There was also an effect of diagnostic assay on detection (Figure 5-3), the relationship curve between sporangia added and time taken until detection was on average 5 minutes longer for DNA extracted from sampling rods (R²<0.45) compared with genomic DNA(R²<0.46) when tested using qPCR. In contrast, the difference between time until DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected between Rotorod samples and genomic DNA in the LAMP assay was not correlated (R²<0.45) (Figure 5-3). This can be explained by greater variance for time until detection in the LAMP assay (10.8-30 minutes at 40 sporangia added) compared with the qPCR results (28.9-32.3 minutes at 40 sporangia added) and by the LAMP having a lower incidence of amplification at lower sporangial concentrations (3/8 replicates amplified of 10 sporangia added in LAMP vs 7/8 replicates in qPCR).

Overall, results showed that sampling of aerial sporangia using Rotorods would affect the detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* in the LAMP assay compared with the qPCR assay, increasing the time taken until detection, or preventing amplification (Figure 5-3). This was especially evident in samples to which low numbers of sporangia were added. A similar phenomenon was observed with the qPCR assay results. For the qPCR assay and the LAMP assay, less DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected when using sampling Rotorods than with genomic DNA; this could be a result of inhibition of the reaction due to contaminants from the collection procedure and/or a reduction in the total amount of DNA extracted from the sample.



Figure 5-3 DNA of B. lactucae detectable from a dilution series of B. lactucae genomic DNA extracted from sporangia and samples obtained from Rotorods to which sporangia were added at a range of concentrations (0-1000 sporangia added or equivalents) measured as time (mins) until detection. Black line represents samples obtained from Rotorods; red line represents genomic DNA. Error range is confidence interval. X-axis was transformed using square-root function to allow visual clarity. A is qPCR assay results, and B is the LAMP assay results.

5.3.4 Assessing LAMP CT cut-off values

LAMP results were checked for non-specific amplification using melt-curve analysis with DNA samples extracted from sampling Rotorods to which different sporangial dilutions of *B. lactucae* had been added. Amplification of *B. lactucae* was in general observed in samples which had 10 or more sporangia added to the sampling Rotorods.

To assess C_T cut-off values, DNA extracted from Rotorods to which different sporangial dilutions of *B. lactucae* were added were assigned a positive or negative score based on two different approaches and the results compared. These approaches were 1) a theoretical (expected) positive approach in which any sample that resulted in amplification following the addition of sporangia was considered positive, and 2) specific amplification observed in melt-curve analysis. These were compared at different cut-off points ranging from 0-50 CT,

A ROC analysis to compare sensitivity (true positive rate) and specificity (false positive rate) showed a difference in results according to the method of analysis. The melt-curve approach resulted in a false positive rate not exceeding 0.7 at all C_T cut-offs, whereas the theoretical (expected results) approach exceeded this threshold at a C_T of 22 (

Figure 5-4 A:. The expected results started with a 0.2 false positive rate, whereas with the meltcurve approach the last C_T before a false positive rate of less than 0.2 was recorded was a C_T of 24 Therefore, results indicate that using a melt-curve approach would reduce false positives. The max Youden index (J=1), which is considered an ideal cut-off point (Nutz et al., 2011), was reached at a C_T of 48 for both approaches used to determine "positive" results, (Figure 5-4, B). The relevant C_T cut-off using the Youden Index was calculated to be between 42-48 cycles, as at 40 cycles a) the Youden Index starts to reach below 0.9 on the index scale and b) the two approaches used to determine positive results start to diverge, indicating higher false positive and false negative rates.

5.3.5 Assessing qPCR CT cut-off values

Kunjeti et al. (2016) suggested a C^T cut-off of 35 cycles (23.3 minutes) for the qPCR assay. When applied to genomic DNA samples only 100 sporangial equivalents or more gave a positive result. With a subsequent application to Rotorod data, only two of eight replicate samples with 1000 sporangia added would be considered positive. No other sporangial concentration tested gave a positive result. As there was no melt-curve set for the qPCR assay a ROC curve and Youden Index analysis could not be carried out. Instead, by observing the data collected at this point, the latest a sigmoidal curve usually reached a plateau of peak fluorescence was between 53-54 cycles.

5.3.6 Parameters for determining a positive result

Following a comparison of results obtained from genomic DNA standards and DNA extracted from sporangia added to Rotorods, and analysis of Youden index test results, the following criteria were chosen for determining a positive score. A positive score was assigned to sample replicates if they met these requirements.

For real-time LAMP:

- 1. Cycle threshold (C_T) = 15<x<45
- 2. Melting temperature (°C) = 82 < x < 84

For qPCR:

- 1. Cycle threshold (C_T) = 15<x<53.5
- 2. Quantity value $(fg/\mu l) = 0 <$

5.3.7 Comparison of LAMP and qPCR assays

The McNemar's test compares diagnostic assays by assessing discrepancies in amplification (positive) incidence. There was no significant difference between the LAMP and qPCR assays when tested using genomic DNA (McNemar's mid-p, mid-p=0.45, p=0.69, n=6). However, a significant difference was observed (Mcnemar's mid-p, mid-p=0.03, p=0.04, n=20) when the two assays were compared using DNA extracted from Rotorods to which sporangia had been added. Discrepancies between the two assays were due to a higher incidence of positive results from the qPCR assay compared with the LAMP, which suggests that sensitivity of detection of *B. lactucae* is decreased with the LAMP assay when DNA is obtained from the Rotorod sampler.



Figure 5-4 A: ROC curve analysis of real-time LAMP assay results where positives are determined by the melt-curve, or by DNA added. A reference line where y=x is included. B: corresponding Youden Index J values against different CT cut-off points applied to real-time LAMP assay results from Rotorods with DNA of B. lactucae added and processed as field samples, a reference line for the best J value y=x was included.

5.4 Discussion

Data analysis showed that the LAMP and qPCR assays differ in sensitivity. The LAMP assay could detect DNA concentrations of *B. lactucae* equivalent to 1 sporangium when genomic DNA was tested, whereas the qPCR assay could detect DNA concentrations equivalent to 0.01 sporangium (Figure 5-1). Both the LAMP and qPCR assays could detect DNA of *B. lactucae* from three or more of four replicate samples to which 100 - 1000 sporangia had been added to Rotorod samplers (Figure 5-2). DNA of B. lactucae was reliably detected from Rotorod air samplers using qPCR when 10 sporangia or more were added to the sampler and 25 or more sporangia when using LAMP. Though the minimum detection limit for both assays is lower than these values, detection became more variable across technical replicates and therefore less reliable. The use of aerial Rotorod samplers for collection of sporangia increased the time until detection of DNA of B. lactucae when compared to genomic DNA equivalents (Figure 5-3). Accounting for the reliable limit of detection of genomic DNA mentioned above (Figure 5-1 and Figure 5-2), the Youden index value of 0.9 was lost at CT 40 (Figure 5-4) and that time until detection is increased when sampling Rotorods are used (Figure 5-3); a CT cut-off of 45 (equivalent to 22.5 minutes) for the LAMP assay was determined to be appropriate in avoiding false-positive results based on lab tests.

Kunjeti et al., (2016) advised a C_T cut-off of <35 cycles for the qPCR assay. However, when applied in these tests to Rotorod data, only two replicates from 8 replicates containing 1000 sporangia were detected using this cut off value. The differences in collection or processing of samples between Kunjeti et al., (2016) and our study may have contributed to the difference in DNA detection. Thus, the C_T cut-off for the qPCR assay was set at 53.5 cycles out of 55 cycles, as this allows for enough of the amplification curve to be observed to characterise correct amplification in the form of a sigmoidal curve.

Part B. Implementing the LAMP diagnostic under field conditions

5.5 Materials and methods

5.5.1 Monitoring aerial dispersal of sporangia of *B. lactucae* from an inoculum source

5.5.1.1 Set up of inoculated lettuce field

Three field trials were conducted to a) test the feasibility of in-field detection of *B. lactucae* sporangia, b) examine the effect of distance between an inoculum source and the sampler on detection efficiency and c) understand the timing of sporangial release from diseased plants. Assessing in-field detection of aerial sporangia was carried out to examine LAMP assay performance for the surveillance of inoculum of *B. lactucae* under field conditions. The dispersal gradient was monitored to give information relating to the spread of inoculum of *B. lactucae*, and the timing of release to inform prevention of the spread of airborne inoculum.

Two trials (Trial 1 and Trial 2) were conducted in 2021 and one (Trial 3) in 2022. Trials consisted of randomised blocks, each containing one 24 plant plot of each cultivar. Plants were spaced 30cm apart and surrounded by guard plants of disease resistant cultivars. Commercial cultivars were chosen, and lettuce plugs were kindly sourced and supplied by Kettle Produce. Trials 1 and 2 had four blocks of four plots of the commercial cultivars Excalibur, Coventry, Actina and Stallion. Trial 3 had five blocks of three plots of cultivars Excalibur, Coventry and Actina. Lettuce plugs were kept in a glasshouse until transfer to the field on the 11/06/2021 (Trial 1), 18/08/2021(Trial 2), and 28/07/2022 (Trial 3), after which plants were irrigated regularly.

To inoculate the field trials, 5–6-week-old lettuce plants of the universally LDM susceptible cultivar Green Towers, were grown in a north facing green house before a sporangial suspension made from an equal mixture of *B. lactucae* isolates was sprayed onto them. Isolates differed between trials (Table 5-3) as the inoculated field was additionally used to test cultivar selection (Chapter 4). After inoculation, the infector plants were kept in a dark room at high humidity overnight before being moved to a north facing greenhouse under high RH conditions.

Table 5-3 Isolates u	tilised in	each field	Trial.
----------------------	------------	------------	--------

Trial	Isolates
Trial 1 (2021)	2020_Bl2A, 2020_Bl4E, 2020_Bl4G
Trial 2 (2021)	2020_Bl2A, 2020_Bl4E, 2020_Bl4G, 2021_Bl1B
Trial 3 (2022)	2021_Bl3A, 2021_Bl4C, 2021_Bl8A

Infector plants were placed in the field on the 16/07/2021(Trial 1), 19/08/2021 (Trial 2), and the 26/08/2022 (Trial 3). LDM incidence and severity was scored on all the lettuce plants, except the guard plants, approximately every three days.

5.5.1.2 Aerial monitoring

An aerial sampler was placed in the centre of the lettuce trial field (position 0 m (H2)), the other five samplers were placed in a line on the axis of the prevailing wind at distances relative to the central sampler, at 5 m (H3), 30 m (H4), 60 m (H5) and 90 or 100 m (H6) in a north-easterly direction, and -5 m (H1) in a south-westerly direction (Figure 5-5). Aerial samplers were programmed to sample twice per week, 2-3 days apart, with the Rotorod spinning for 2 mins on and 2 mins off between 04:00-23:00.



Figure 5-5 Distance of aerial samplers from inoculum source and each other. Not to scale. Inoculum source was a lettuce field inoculated by plants infected with B. lactucae.

The trials ran from 03/06/2021-18/08/2021, 19/08/2021-14/10/2021 and 28/07/2022-17/10/2022. DNA was extracted from the Perspex Rotorod using the MasterPure[™] Yeast DNA Purification Kit (Lucigen/Cambio, Cambridge UK) following the manufacturer's instructions (with some modifications see appendix i) before amplification using the qPCR assay as

described by Kunjeti et al., (2016) and the real-time LAMP assay as previously described. Each sample was run in duplicate, along with a serial dilution of genomic DNA as a positive control and a HPLC grade water negative DNA template.

5.5.2 Examining timing of sporangial release from diseased plants

In a preliminary assessment into whether sporangial release time was favoured in the morning or evening in Scotland a Burkard 7-day continuous sampler (Burkard, Rickmansworth, UK), referred to as a '7-day sampler', was used to collect samples. The 7-day sampler contained a tape coated with grease in the drum which slowly turns throughout the 7-days. The 7-day sampler was positioned next to the aerial Rotorod sampler at position H3 (5m downwind from the outbreak). The drum (and tape) was changed weekly at 11am each Friday. Sampling was carried out from 28/08/2021-21/10/2021 with each day split into 12-hour blocks beginning at 11AM. Using ethanol sterilised tools, the tape was cut to represent each time block, then cut in half to provide a test sample and a back-up sample. DNA was extracted from each section of tape using the YCL kit (Qiagen) following the manufacturer's instructions, (with some modifications see appendix i), before being amplified using both the real-time LAMP and qPCR assays as previously described. Samples collected from PM 24/09/2021-AM 01/10/2021 were excluded from the analysis due to processing errors with samples. Therefore, DNA from 51 samples were tested in duplicate with both diagnostic assays.



Figure 5-6 Aerial samplers at the 5m (H3 position) from the centre of the field trial. The GRIPS-99M (H3 5 m) aerial sampler (left), the Burkard 7-day continuous samples (Tape trap) (right).

5.5.3 Commercial field site testing

Field sampling of sporangia was carried out in commercial crops between 07/07/2020-09/10/2020, 23/05/2021-27/09/2021, and 08/7/2022-29/09/2022. Field sites were sampled using Rotorod samplers (Burkard, Rickmansworth, UK), or Grips-99M (Aerobiology Research Laboratories, Nepean, Canada), in which two petroleum-jelly (Vaseline®) coated Perspex Rotorods to which sporangia adhere, were spun by a motor. Rain guards were used to protect airborne particles from being washed off the Rotorods. Two commercial lettuce growing sites were sampled in each year located in Cambridgeshire, England (courtesy of G's Growers), and Fife, Scotland (courtesy of Kettle Produce). Aerial samplers were moved periodically throughout the growing season to different lettuce fields in the same region due to the short cultivation times of lettuce crop (Table 5-4).



Figure 5-7 Rotorod sampler at commercial field sites. A: Rotorod sampler with rain guard attached. B: Scottish field site 2 (2021), and C: English field site 1 (2021).

Two Rotorod samplers were placed adjacent to a lettuce crop at a 50 m spacing according to the prevalent wind direction at each sample location, Figure 5-7. The traps were programmed to sample twice per week, 2-3 days apart, at 2 min intervals (2 mins on/ 2 mins off) between 04:00 – 23.00. Samples were retrieved twice a week, by G's Growers in England, and by JHI in Scotland, after which the rods were replaced. Samples were returned to the laboratory and DNA was extracted using method YCL kit (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instructions, before amplifying in the LAMP and qPCR as previously described in Part A. In 2020 an additional multi-vial aerial sampler (Burkard, Rickmansworth, UK) was located at the commercial site in England adjacent to a Rotorod sampler. The multi-vial sampler was programmed to sample every day according to the same schedule as the Rotorod samplers. No multi-vial sampler was discontinued after 2020 due to high levels of introduced contaminants in the samples and therefore unreliable results.

Transf. (C 1'				
Location of Commercial Field	Fields	Sampling Date Start	Sampling Date End	Trap Name	Location ~X cord.	Location ~Y cord.
Fife, Scotland	1	07/07/2020	13/08/2020	Rotorod - 1 Rotorod - 2	56.265255	-3.115123
	-	18/08/2020	09/10/2020	Rotorod - 1	56.275747	-3.166688
	2			Rotorod - 2		
Cambridgeshire, England	1	08/07/2020	30/07/2020	Rotorod - West	52.421389	0.367667
	-			Rotorod - East		
		08/07/2020	30/07/2020	Multi-vial		0.004//7
	2	30/07/2020	28/08/2020	Rotorod - West	52.408278	0.394667
	2	20/07/2020	07/00/2020	Rotorod - East		
		30/07/2020	28/09/2020	Potorod Fast	52 4562212	0 2026124
	2	28/08/2020	20/09/2020	Rotorod West	52.4502512	0.3930124
	5	28/08/2020	09/10/2020	Multi-vial		
Fife Scotland		28/05/2020	14/06/2021	Rotorod – 1	56 271063	-3 155168
The, beottand	1	20/00/2021	14/00/2021	Rotorod – 2	50.27 1005	0.100100
		18/06/2021	26/07/2021	Rotorod – 1	56.311348	-3.067131
	2	10,00,2021	20/07/2021	Rotorod – 2	00.011010	0.007101
		29/07/2021	27/09/2021	Rotorod – 1	56.287767	-3.200956
	3			Rotorod – 2		
				Rotorod – 3		
Cambridgeshire, England	1	23/05/2021	04/06/2021	Rotorod – West	52.464701	0.356782
				Rotorod – East		
	n	27/06/2021	17/08/2021	Rotorod – West	52.414373	0.390583
	۷			Rotorod – East		
	3	18/08/2021	19/09/2021	Rotorod – West	52.446883	0.436014
	5			Rotorod – East		
Fife, Scotland	1	14/07/2022	21/07/2022	Grips 99M - 1	56.260174	-3.163644
				Grips 99M - 2		
	2	25/06/2022	08/09/2022	Grips 99M - 1	56.268327	-3.158698
				Grips 99M - 2		
	3	12/09/2022	22/09/2022	Grips 99M - 1	56.311348	-3.067131
				Grips 99M - 2		
Campriageshire,	1	08/07/2022	20/08/2022	Potorod 1	~52.4	~0.4
	1	00/07/2022	27/00/2022	Rotorod - 2		~0.4
		01/09/2022	22/09/2022	Rotorod - 1	~52 4	~04
	2	01/07/2022		Rotorod - 2	02.1	0.1
		26/09/2022	29/09/2022	Rotorod - 1	~52.4	~0.4
	3			Rotorod - 2		

Table 5-4 Aerial sampler locations and sample dates in commercial fields 2020-2022

^{*1} Locations were not given via GPS

5.5.4 Sample purification

Samples occasionally exhibited visible contaminants, such as soil and insects (Figure 5-8) which resulted in DNA pellet discolouration. To mitigate the effects of discolouration and/or inhibitors interfering with the real-time amplification, a purification step was incorporated into the DNA extraction. Selected samples were intentionally spiked with known amounts of DNA of *B. lactucae* to verify whether the inhibitors were present and had led to false negative results. For purification, Micro Bio-Spin Columns (7326204) (BioRad) had the bottom snapped off and were placed into 2ml Eppendorf tubes. Each Eppendorf had 900 µl of 10% PVPP solution (10 g in 100 ml of SDW) added, followed by centrifugation at 12.3 rpm for 1 minute. After removing the water, this step was repeated until no water appeared below the column. DNA samples were added on top of the PVPP layer and centrifuged at 13,200 rpm for one minute.

This method filters contaminants along with some DNA which could potentially affect diagnostic accuracy especially at low DNA of *B*. lactucae concentrations. As discoloration was the amount of soil contained.



Figure 5-8 Example of Multivial sample collected, note

infrequent, this purification method was only applied to discoloured samples.

For assessment of potential inhibition, field-collected samples were spiked with a 1:1 ratio of genomic DNA of B. lactucae. Ten commercial samples including five discoloured (two purified and spiked with DNA equivalent to 700 sporangia/µl), were selected in 2020. Subsequent samples from 2021 and 2022, from fields with observed disease but no detection, were chosen. In 2021, five negative controls and ten test samples (3 Scottish, 2 English, 5 Hutton field site) were tested. In 2022, eight samples from each commercial field (LDM or no LDM) and three Trial 3 JHI inoculated samples were tested, both un-spiked and spiked with DNA of B. lactucae (10 ng/µl). All samples were duplicates, following previously described protocols, using genomic DNA standards, and duplicate water controls.

5.5.5 Data analysis

Each real-time assay was analysed and viewed in the StepOne Software v2.3 (Thermofisher). The baseline and detection threshold were modified per run if required. Each real-time LAMP or qPCR run was evaluated for various attributes, including the positive and negative control results. Samples with particularly low levels of DNA amplification and abnormal amplification curves which suggested contamination was present were treated as negative samples and given the highest C_T possible. Data management and collation were performed in excel before input into R studio (ver1.2.5042) for analysis. Statistical significance was set at *p* value <0.05, unless otherwise stated. To ensure legitimate comparison unpaired data was omitted from the analysis. A set of criteria was employed to exclude data with abnormal melt-curves for genomic standards for the 2021 data only.

The criteria for transforming assay data into binary sample status data (positive or negative for detection of DNA of *B. lactucae*) are available in Appendix ii. This binary dataset was analysed with the McNemar's mid-*p* test, as described by Fagerland et al. (2013) for the assessment of clinical diagnostic assays. This analysis was chosen as the data violated assumptions for the typical Chi-squared test. There are four variations of the McNemar's test. Fagerland et al. (2013) tested each of these on pre-collected data and found the best of these that preserved statistical power whilst reducing Type 1 error rates on small to moderate sized data was the mid-*p*. Therefore, the McNemar's mid-*p* test was utilised to process the data following the R script provided by Fagerland et al. (2013). When diagnostic assays were not being directly compared, the average value of CT, melt-curve, and quantity for all the replicates of each sample were used to determine a positive or negative result. The proportion of replicates that were positive was recorded to account for different replicates, and to indicate how reliable a positive result is relative to replicates.

A Friedman's Chi squared test was used to compare results obtained from each aerial sampler in the dispersal gradient, using the base R function. Results from each pair of samplers were checked using Nemanyi post-hoc test (sometimes referred to as Wilcoxon–Nemenyi– McDonald–Thompson test) using the R package: PMCRplus (v1.9.4, Pohlert, 2014) The following R packages were also used to aid in data visualisation: ggplots2 (v3.3.5, Wickham, 2016), qqpmisc (v0.4.0, Aphalo, 2023), ggpp (v0.4.4, Aphalo,2023), tibble (v.3.1.6, Müller & Wickham, 2023) and dplyr (v.1.0.9, Wickham et al., 2023). Data was also visualised with Excel (v2204 Build 16.0.15128.20278, Microsoft, n.d.). All R packages were installed and run with their dependencies.

5.6 Results

5.6.1 Dispersal gradient of sporangia of *B. lactucae* originating from an inoculum source

Three field trials were conducted at the James Hutton Institute to assess the dispersal gradient of sporangia of *B. lactucae* from an inoculum source, in addition to testing the efficacy of the LAMP assay with samples collected in-field. Each of the three trials showed that the further the aerial sampler from the source of inoculum, the lower the incidence of positive samples for DNA of *B. lactucae*. Each trial demonstrated that the LAMP assay was able to detect *B. lactucae* from in-field samples.

5.6.1.1 Trial 1

The epidemic in Trial 1 progressed well in the two cultivars (cv Excalibur and cv Stallion) that were susceptible to the three isolates of *B. lactucae* introduced. The weather was generally conducive to disease development throughout the trial with an average temperature range between 12.0-20.7 °C, and an average RH of 82.6%. DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected using both the LAMP assay and the qPCR assay before the infector plants were placed in Trial 1. This could be due to contamination, or prior LDM established in the area (Figure 5-9). The first detection of *B. lactucae* after infector plants were placed out was 19/07/2021, which was 9 days before disease was first observed in the non-inoculated lettuce plants, and 17 days before disease was widespread (8.5% mean foliar sporulation on susceptible lettuce plants).

In Trial 1, generally the closer the aerial sampler to inoculum source the higher the incidence of positive results in the LAMP diagnostic assay; aerial samplers H1, H2 and H3 had five or more incidences of positives each, H4 had three, whereas H5 and H6 had only two (Figure 5-9). Positive incidences of detection did not appear to be correlated with distance when using the qPCR assay, H3 and H5 had the highest number of positive incidences (eight), whereas H2 had six incidences. Quantity of DNA detected decreased as the distance from the inoculum source increased, the highest quantity for H1 was 88.1 pg/µl, whereas for H6 it was 0.5 pg/µl (Figure 5-9). An increase in the distance of sample collection from the epidemic source reduced the detection of *B. lactucae* differently in each diagnostic assay. With the LAMP assay, the incidence of positive results decreased as the distance a sample was collected increased. Whereas, when testing samples with the qPCR assay, an increase in sample distance from the

epidemic resulted in a decrease in the quantity of DNA detected but not the incidence of positive results.

The quantity of DNA detected ranged between 0.01-88 $pg/\mu l$ for a positive result, which indicated the variation in the values of a positive result and lead to closer analysis of the values of a positive when samples were collected further from an inoculum source.

Subsequently, comparisons between aerial samplers were made by measuring the variation in both the C_T and proportion of replicates that had a positive outcome, and using Friedman's Chi squared to detect overall differences between samples collected from aerial samplers and Nemenyi test to identify which aerial samplers sample datasets were most different. This comparison was carried out to better understand the dispersal gradient of *B. lactucae* from an inoculum source.

In Trial 1, when comparing the sample results between aerial samplers a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) was obtained on evaluation of the LAMP assay C_T values (χ 2 (5) = 11.6, p<0.05) and similarly in the proportion of replicates that were positive (χ 2 (5) = 11.3, p<0.05), (Figure 5-10, C and D). When the sample qPCR results of aerial samplers were compared by which aerial sampler the sample was collected from there was no statistically significant difference between the qPCR C_T values nor the proportion of replicates that were positive (Figure 5-10, A and B).

Subsequent exploration of the data with Nemenyi post-hoc analysis did not reach statistical significance when comparing the differences in C^T value between positive results nor in the proportion of replicates with a positive result, in pairwise comparisons between each aerial sampler.



Figure 5-9 Quantitative detection of DNA of B. lactucae $(pg/\mu l)$ using qPCR in samples collected at different distances from an LDM inoculum source. Aerial samples were collected between 05/07/2021– 16/08/2021), quantity of DNA as measured using qPCR assay was between ~0.01-88 pg/ μ l. Mean percentage of leaf area sporulating was assessed. Results from LAMP assays are shown as positive/negative results represented by dots. Arrow shows increasing distance from inoculum source where H2 = 0m from inoculated plant. Results from aerial samplers are represented in the same colour for both assays. Infector plant in the figure is positioned according to the DAI, which it was placed in field, and its relative distance compared to the other aerial samplers. DAI is days after inoculation.



Figure 5-10 Comparison of positive results in LAMP and qPCR assays for each aerial sampler from Trial 1. Friedman's chi squared test and Nemenyi post-hoc analysis on the differences between aerial samplers both C_T and proportion of replicates that were positive per sample. Relevant Friedmans test is above each Nemenyi p-value table giving p -values from pair-wise comparisons of sample results from each aerial sampler. Positives (B and D) refers to using the data of the proportion of sample replicates that were positive per sample in Friedmans and Nemenyi test. C_T (A and C) refers to using the average C_T for replicates samples for input into Friedmans test and Nemenyi test. A and B were for qPCR results, and C and D for LAMP results.

However, Nemenyi *p*-values decreased as aerial samplers increased in distance in the LAMP assay comparisons (Figure 5-10, C and D). This pattern indicated overall differences in C_T and proportion of positives, particularly evident when comparing H6 (100m) with samplers H1-H3 (-5m to 5m), (Figure 5-10, C and D). In contrast, adjacent samplers generally displayed *p*-values exceeding 0.90. This phenomenon is attributed in part to the close-to-threshold *p*-values from the Friedman test (*p*=0.040 and *p*=0.047) and the conservative nature of the Nemenyi test. Regardless, this result indicates that overall distance influenced the value of the positive results obtained with the LAMP assay. However, the difference in values of a positive between aerial samplers the effect was not always significantly different. The decrease in Nemenyi *p*-value between aerial samplers as distance increased, this suggests that during this trial sporangial dispersion of *B. lactucae* gradually declined with increasing distance from inoculum source. The sporadic occurrence of higher values of DNA detected, for example 88 pg/µl determined by a low C_T value of 35.9 in qPCR sample from sampler H1 at DAI 24, when most DNA values were below 31 pg/µl, may have led to a lack of statistical significance

between results obtained from different aerial samplers. The previous comparison between results obtained from different aerial samplers did not account for the presence of disease. DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected before inoculation of Trial 1 via infector plants and therefore the results relating to aerial sporangia concentrations may be confounded. However, a 3D regression analysis was employed to investigate potential associations between disease presence (quantified in terms of days after initial symptoms - DAS), the distance of aerial samplers from the inoculum source, and the time taken until detection of *B. lactucae*.

The incidence and severity of disease symptoms increased throughout the epidemic, as shown in Figure 5-9. Therefore, as DAS increases so does the level of disease. The orientation and slope of the 3D regression plane indicates the strength and direction of correlation between DAS, distance and the time until detection. The regression plane for Trial 1 showed that the time taken until detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* decreased for both assays when samples were collected closer to the inoculum source, and with increased levels of disease (indicated through an increase in DAS; Figure 5-11). The regression plane was steeper for LAMP than qPCR showing a stronger correlation between distance and time until detection. This also indicates greater variation in time taken for detection ranging from 11.5-30 minutes when testing samples with the LAMP assay but 24.0-36.7 minutes when using the qPCR assay.

To summarise, in Trial 1 the LAMP assay could detect *B. lactucae* in-field, but both the distance of sample collection from the inoculum source and the level of disease (therefore concentration of aerial sporangia present) was found to influence the incidence and value of positive results.



Figure 5-11 Modelling the relationship between time after first symptoms, distance of sample collection from inoculum source and time taken until B. lactucae detection when using the LAMP assay (A) and qPCR assay (B). Regression plane is the relationship between the three variables. Data from Trial 1. DAS is days after initial symptoms.

5.6.1.2 Trial 2

Trial 2 was a repeat of Trial 1 and used aerial samplers to monitor another trial lettuce field with LDM inoculated plant triggered epidemic. The epidemic progressed well as weather was conducive to LDM; with the average temperature range between 9.7-17.1 °C, and an average RH of 86.4%. Trial 2 had similar findings to Trial 1, in that an increase in distance from inoculum source decreased the incidence of samples positive for DNA of *B. lactucae*. Unlike Trial 1, this was the case for both diagnostic assays, sampler H2 had six positive outcomes in LAMP and 18 in qPCR, whereas sampler H6 had two and four respectively. The greatest quantity of DNA detected by qPCR was from a sample collected 5 m from the inoculum source (138.8 pg/µl for H2)

In general, aerial samplers in a 5 m radius of the centre of the trial had a higher incidence of positives for DNA of *B. lactucae* in both diagnostic assays compared to samples collected further away (Figure 5-12). Samples collected from H1-H3 had 19 positive incidences when tested with the LAMP assay, and 36 when tested with the qPCR. Whereas samples from H4-H6 had 9 and 31 positive incidences when tested in the LAMP and qPCR respectively. DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in samples collected 90 m away from an inoculum source using both the LAMP assay and the qPCR assay (Figure 5-12). The incidence of positives in the LAMP assay positively correlated to the mean percentage of leaf area sporulating, with a higher incidence of positives as the trial progressed. DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected using the LAMP assay and the qPCR assay before the infector plants were placed in-field in Trial 2. This could be due to contamination, or leaf debris from Trial 1 in an adjacent area. In addition, the qPCR assay detected a high amount of DNA of *B. lactucae* four days after the infector plants were placed in field, this was presumed to be sporangial dispersal from the infector plants.



Figure 5-12 Detection of DNA of B. lactucae in samples collected at different distances from an inoculum source. Aerial samples were collected between 23/08/2021 - 21/10/2021, in Trial 2, quantity of DNA as measured using qPCR assay (lower figure) was between $\sim 0.02-103 \text{ pg/}\mu$ l. Mean percentage of leaf area sporulating was taken from living susceptible plants (≤ 384). Results from LAMP assay are shown as positive/negative results represented by dots. Arrow shows increasing distance from inoculum source where H2 = 0m from inoculated plant. Results from aerial samplers are represented in the same colour for both assays. Assessments of disease were carried out at approximately 3-4 day intervals. Arrow shows the increasing distance between aerial samplers. Infector plant is both the position (in line with date placed out) and H2 (0 m) aerial sampler for proximity. DAI is days after inoculation.

Significant variation in average LAMP assay C_T between samples collected from different aerial samplers (χ 2 (5) = 14.0, *p*<0.02), was observed in Trial 2. The proportion of replicates that were positive per sample using the LAMP assay did not vary significantly according to sampler location (χ 2 (5) = 7.2, *p*>0.05; Figure 5-13, C and D). Therefore, although the incidence of positive results per sample was not significantly different when collected at different distances, the value of a positive result was. Although a Friedman's chi squared could identify differences between the average LAMP C_T results collected from the different aerial samplers in general, the Nemenyi test did not identify specifically which sampler results were significantly different when using *p*=0.05 as a cut-off. The lowest *p* value observed was between aerial samplers H3 and H5 when comparing LAMP C_T values (*p* = 0.15; Figure 5-13, C).



Figure 5-13 Comparison of positive results in LAMP and qPCR assay for each aerial sampler from Trial 2. Friedman's chi squared test and Nemenyi post-hoc analysis on the differences between aerial samplers both C_T and proportion of replicates that were positive per sample. Relevant Friedmans test is above each Nemenyi p-value table giving p -values from pair-wise comparisons of sample results from each aerial sampler. Positives (B and D) refers to using the data of the proportion of sample replicates that were positive per sample in Friedmans and Nemenyi test. C_T (A and C) refers to using the average C_T for sample's replicates for input into Friedmans test and Nemenyi test. A and B were for qPCR results, and C and D for LAMP results.

In Trial 1, the distance of aerial samplers from the inoculum source in the dispersal gradient appeared to be associated with lower *p*-values in the Nemenyi test when comparing average LAMP C^T and proportion of positive replicates (Figure 5-10, C and D). Conversely, in Trial 2 there did not seem to be any strong association of Nemenyi *p*-values to the distance of aerial

samplers from the inoculum source when LAMP values of a positive were analysed (Figure 5-13, C and D).

When samples from Trial 2 were tested for DNA of *B. lactucae* using the qPCR assay there were significant differences (*p*<0.01) between each aerial sampler in the average qPCR C_T, and proportion of replicates per sample that had a positive outcome (Figure 5-13, A and B). When the Nemenyi test was carried out to determine which aerial samplers were different, two aerial samplers pairwise comparisons were consistently statistically significantly different H2 (0m) to H5 (60m), and H2 (0m) to H6 (90m). H2 has a difference of 65m to H5 and 95m to H6 in the prevailing wind direction. Consequently, the significant difference obtained from sample set results suggests that in this trial distance of sample collection from inoculum source affected the value of a positive result when samples were tested with qPCR more than when tested with the LAMP assay.

A 3D regression analysis was employed to assess the correlation between the presence of disease (quantified in terms of days after initial symptoms), the distance of aerial samplers from the inoculum source, and the time taken until the detection of *B. lactucae*. LDM symptoms increased in incidence and severity throughout the epidemic (Figure 5-12). Consequently the 3D regression plane indicated that time until detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* decreased for both assays when samples were collected from closer to inoculum source, and with increased levels of disease (indicated through an increase in DAS; Figure 5-14). The regression plane for Trial 2 data was steeper for the LAMP assay results than qPCR showing a stronger correlation between distance and time until detection of DNA of *B. lactucae*. This was expected as the variation in time taken until detection ranged from 14.8-30 minutes when testing samples with the LAMP assay but 25.6-36.7 minutes when using the qPCR assay.

In conclusion, data from Trial 2 demonstrates that the LAMP assay could detect *B. lactucae* infield. In addition, the distance of sample collection from inoculum source and the level of disease (therefore aerial sporangia) was found to influence the incidence of positive results.



Figure 5-14 Modelling the relationship between time after first symptoms, distance of sample collection from inoculum source and time taken until B. lactucae detection when using the LAMP assay (A) and qPCR assay (B). Regression plane is the relationship between the three variables. Data from Trial 2. DAS is days after initial symptoms.

5.6.1.3 Trial 3

LDM progressed well in the inoculated lettuce field in Trial 3. Weather was conducive to LDM with the average temperature range between 8.7 and 16.6°C, and a total of 119.9 mm of rain. DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in samples collected 90 m away from an inoculum source in both the LAMP assay and the qPCR assay (Figure 5-15). The aerial samplers in a 5 m radius of the centre of the trial had a higher incidence of positive *B. lactucae* detection when using the LAMP assay compared to samples collected further away, with a total of 25 positives for samples collected from samplers H1-H3, and 21 from samples collected from H4-H6 (Figure 5-15).

Significant differences were observed in Trial 3 samples for both LAMP C_T averages and proportional positives in sample replicates (χ 2 (5) = 17.2, *p*<0.01; χ 2 (5) = 14.4, *p*<0.05 respectively) (Figure 5-16, C and D). Nemenyi pairwise comparisons, identified that the C_T difference was significant between sampler H2 (0m) and the two furthest samplers H5 (60m) and H6 (100m). Conversely, there was no clear correlation nor statistically significant difference between aerial sampler position and the proportion of replicates with a positive outcome in pairwise comparison of aerial samplers. When testing the qPCR parameters with Friedmans Chi squared test, only the C_T (χ 2 (5) =20.6, *p*<0.001) and proportion of sample positives were significant (χ 2 (5) =13.9, *p*<0.05) (Figure 5-16, A and B). Nemenyi pairwise comparisons on qPCR results found no clear statistically significant interaction between aerial sampler location from inoculum source when comparing the proportion of replicates that were positive. However, there was a significant difference (*p*<0.05) for average C_T between sampler H1(-5m) and the samplers H4(30m) and H5(60m).



Figure 5-15 Detection of DNA of B. lactucae in samples collected from different distances from an inoculum source, in Trial 3. Aerial samples were collected between 25/08/2022-03/10/2022, quantity of DNA was between $\sim 0.01-27 \text{ pg/µl}$. Mean percentage of leaf area sporulating was taken from living susceptible plants (≤ 360). Results from LAMP assay are shown as positive/negative results represented by dots. Arrow shows increasing distance from inoculum source where H2 = 0m from inoculated plant. Results from aerial samplers are represented in the same colour for both assays. Assessments of disease were carried out at approximately 3-4 day intervals but were matched to the closest aerial sampling data for clearer figure. Arrow shows the increasing distance between aerial samplers. Infector plant is both the position (in line with date placed out) and H2 (0 m) aerial sampler for proximity. DAI is days after inoculation.



Figure 5-16 Comparison of positive results in LAMP and qPCR assay for each aerial sampler from Trial 3. Friedman's chi squared test and Nemenyi post-hoc analysis on the differences between aerial samplers both C_T and proportion of replicates that were positive per sample. Relevant Friedmans test is above each Nemenyi p-value table giving p -values from pair-wise comparisons of sample results from each aerial sampler. Positives (B and D) refers to using the data of the proportion of sample replicates that were positive per sample in Friedmans and Nemenyi test. C_T (A and C) refers to using the average C_T for sample's replicates for input into Friedmans test and Nemenyi test. A and B were for qPCR results, and C and D for LAMP results.

Similar to previous trials, disease symptom severity increased throughout the epidemic, therefore as DAS increases so does disease, as observed in Figure 5-15. 3D regression analysis looked at the effect of distance on the detection of *B. lactucae* when accounting for disease presence (DAS). The regression plane was steeper for LAMP than qPCR showing a stronger correlation between distance and time until *B. lactucae* detection (Figure 5-17). This also indicates greater variation in time taken for detection ranging from 12.7-30 minutes when testing samples with the LAMP assay but 27.9-36.7 minutes when using the qPCR assay.


Figure 5-17, Modelling the relationship between time after first symptoms, distance of sample collection from inoculum source and time taken until B. lactucae detection when using the LAMP assay (A) and qPCR assay (B). Regression plane is the relationship between the three variables. Data from Trial 3. DAS is days after initial symptoms.

5.6.1.4 Summary

In all three trials *B. lactucae* could be detected using the LAMP assay and qPCR assay, and every aerial sampler had at least one positive result in all trials. Consequently, dispersal can be assumed to occur as far as 100 m from an inoculum source. Generally, the aerial samplers within a 5 m radius of the inoculum source had a higher incidence of *B. lactucae* detection

when using the LAMP assay. In Trial 1, the incidence of positives obtained from samples collected in a 5m radius of the inoculum source when testing with the LAMP assay was 16 out of a total of 23 positives obtained by the whole trial. In the following trials the positive LAMP outcomes obtained from samples collected in the 5m radius was 19 out of a total of 28 obtained in Trial 2 and 25 out of a total of 46 in Trial 3. In each case the samples from the 5m radius when tested in LAMP, accounted for more than half of the positives obtained in each trial (Trial 1 = 69.6%, Trial 2 = 67.9%, Trial 3 = 54.3%). The 5 m radius also had the highest individual quantity of DNA of *B. lactucae* detected in every trial, which was 88.1 pg/µl from H1 in Trial 1, 138.8 pg/µl from H2 in Trial 2 and 27.5 pg/µl from H3 in Trial 3.

Analysis showed that distance from inoculum source did generally have a statistically significant effect on positive result values (Trial 1 - Figure 5-10, C and D: p < 0.05; Trial 2 - Figure 5-13, A, B and C: p < 0.05; Trial 3 - Figure 5-16, A, B, C and D: p < 0.05). Overall, aerial samplers at an increased distance from inoculum source generally yielded lower p-values in a Nemenyi test than adjacent aerial samplers, particularly with aerial samplers at the start (H1 and H2) and the end (H5 and H6) of the dispersal gradient. This was expected as the further from an inoculum source the fewer the sporangia captured by aerial samplers.

Further checks into the effect of distance on the time taken until detection in the presence of disease (DAS) with 3D regression analysis found that the LAMP assay results were affected more than the qPCR results by disease presence and distance. This was clear by the variation in time taken until detection, which for the LAMP assay ranged from a minimum of 11.5 (Trial 1), 14.8 (Trial 2) and 12.7 (Trial 3) minutes to a maximum of 30 minutes. This was a greater difference in time until detection in comparison to the qPCR which ranged from a minimum of 24.0 (Trial 1), 25.6 (Trial 2) and 27.9 (Trial 3) minutes to a maximum of 36.7 minutes.

5.6.2 Timing of sporangial release

The Burkard 7-day continuous sampler (7-day sampler) monitored the aerial space 5m from the centre of an inoculated lettuce field from 28/08/21-21/10/21. Samples collected from the 7-day sampler tested positive for DNA of *B. lactucae* using both the LAMP and qPCR assay (Figure 5-18). Weather became increasingly conducive to disease throughout the 7-day sampler monitoring period, with an increase in rainfall (total rainfall 50 mm in September and 59.4 mm in October), and a decrease in solar radiation (9.3 MJ/m2 in September and 5.1 MJ/m2

in October) and temperature (average max temperature was 18.3°C in September and 13.6°C in October) (Figure 5-18). There was a widespread incidence of sporulating lesions in the trial 14 days after infector plants were placed, (170 of 288 susceptible plants had sporulation). The increasing incidence of sporulation matches prior reports of the days taken (14-21 days) for *B. lactucae* to complete its asexual life-cycle (Verhoeff, 1960). Though week 5 was removed from analysis it was retained and highlighted graphically.

When samples were tested using the LAMP assay, the incidence of positive results were only slightly different between AM and PM collection periods; samples collected in the AM period had 21 positives and those in the PM period had 20 positives. There was no difference in the incidence of positives detected in samples from AM and PM collection periods when tested using qPCR, with each collection period having 36 positives. For both assays the number of replicates of a sample that gave a positive result varied. Statistical analysis using McNemar's mid-*p* test identified no significant difference between incidence of positives when samples were collected in the AM or PM (LAMP McNemar's mid-*p*: mid-*p*= 0.688, *p* =1, n=5; qPCR McNemar's mid-*p*: mid-*p*= 1, *p* =1.19, n=18).

However, the quantity of DNA of *B. lactucae* detected in samples using the qPCR assay, showed differences between AM and PM, with the AM having a total of 4964.5 pg/µl detected and the PM period having a total of 3525.6 pg/µl detected. However, the difference between the quantity of DNA detected in the AM and PM periods was not significant (Kruskal-Wallis: H = 0.2474, N = 98, p = 0.62). Therefore, data shows that though AM period has more aerial sporangia, sporangia were still prevalent in the PM period, but in lower quantities. Interestingly, the quantity of DNA for 'PM' collected samples appeared to "echo" the 'AM' peaks at some points throughout the trial (Figure 5-18). This could have occurred by chance as the highest peak in PM (DAI 38: 17/10/21) could have been triggered by the increase in rainfall and the epidemic being further progressed.



Figure 5-18 Timeline of Burkard 7-day continuous sampler results against weather parameters. Blue box is indicative of problematic sample processing. Number labels denote proportion of the replicates that amplified (n=2). Mean percentage of leaf area sporulating was from susceptible and living plants (n≤ 384). DAI is days after inoculation.

5.6.3 Aerial sampling at commercial field sites

5.6.3.1 Aerial sampling at commercial field sites in 2021

Commercial sampling in 2021 was conducted between 23/05/21-23/09/21. LDM outbreaks were reported at both commercial sampling sites. Generally, weather was conducive to disease throughout the monitoring period at both sites (data not shown.) Samples collected from the English commercial field site had complications with inhibition, possible due to inhibiting material such as peat soil and insects being present in samples collected (see section: 5.6.4.2).



Figure 5-19 Detection of DNA of B. lactucae (pg/ μ l) from aerial samples. Results from the third Scottish commercial sampling site over the 2021 growing season (29/07/21-27/09/21). Values ranged from 0.012pg/ μ l to >65pg/ μ l. Dates of fungicide applications are noted. There is missing data, 01/08/21-09/08/21 (sampler 1), and 20/09/21 (Sampler 2). Positive qPCR results are plotted as values, and positive LAMP results by binary positive/negative with the proportion of the assays (0.5 or 1.0) that tested positive when the sample was run in duplicate.

In field 1 and 2 of the Scottish commercial sampling site, positives for *B. lactucae* were detected but were sporadic in incidence and sample results from each assay did not coincide, nor was LDM reported in field (data not shown). Field 3 of the Scottish commercial sampling site was the only field with reported incidence of LDM, which was on the 16/08/2021 (Figure 5-19). The LDM outbreak in field 3 was approximately 50 m from one of the aerial samplers. Samples from both aerial samplers in the field amplified in the LAMP assay and the qPCR assay detected DNA of *B. lactucae* prior to the LDM incidence reported in this field. Samples tested using the qPCR assay were positive for DNA of *B. lactucae* at an earlier date than when tested with the LAMP assay; with a positive result from qPCR on the 29/07/2021 followed by several positives after the 2/08/2021. The quantity of DNA of *B. lactucae* detected decreased after 9/08/2021, which may have been linked to the fungicide spray on 12/08/2021. The LAMP assay was able to detect DNA of *B. lactucae* from samples collected in field, even in the presence of fungicide sprays.

5.6.3.2 Aerial sampling at commercial field sites in 2022

In 2022, sampling of commercial crops occurred between 08/07/2022-29/09/2022. Each commercial site had at least one field with LDM symptoms reported. Samples from the English site had contaminants present. The inclusion of sample purification in DNA extraction protocol could not completely remove the contaminants that inhibited DNA amplification in both diagnostic assays (see section: 5.6.4.2).

Two fields at the Scottish site reported LDM symptoms in lettuce crops, on 24/08/2022 (field 2), and 22/09/2022 (field 3). Both outbreaks were close (~50-80m) to at least one aerial sampler. In field 2, DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in samples collected on 18/08/2022 and 22/08/2022 using the LAMP assay, six and two days respectively prior to the observed in-field LDM symptoms (Figure 5-20).



Figure 5-20, Detection of DNA of B. lactucae ($pg/\mu l$). Results from Scottish field site, field 2 (21/07/2022-08/09/2022). Dates of fungicide applications are noted. Values range from 0.241 $pg/\mu l$ to >2 $pg/\mu l$. Positive qPCR results are plotted as values, and positive LAMP results by binary positive/negative with the proportion of the assays (0.5 or 1.0) that tested positive when the sample was run in duplicate. Samplers 1 and 2 were 50 m apart in line with the prevailing wind direction.

Similarly, in field 3, samples retrieved on the 12/09/2022 and 19/09/2022 gave positive results when amplified using the LAMP assay (data not shown). In field 3 a single sample gave a positive result prior to the LDM observation using the qPCR assay (data not shown). The quantity of DNA detected at commercial sites was notably lower in 2022 than in 2021.

One sample in 2022, collected on 19/09/2022 from sampler 2, was positive in both the LAMP and qPCR. The only observed sample where both replicates were positive when tested using the LAMP assay was from sampler 2 collected on 25/08/2022. When samples were tested using qPCR it was only the samples collected on 05/09/2022 that had positive results for both replicates. Other positives were each in a single replicate of a sample.



Figure 5-21, Detection of DNA of B. lactucae $(pg/\mu l)$. Results from Scottish field site, field three (12/09/2022-22/09/2022). Dates of fungicide applications are noted. Values range from $0pg/\mu l$ to >0.2 $pg/\mu l$. Positive qPCR results are plotted as values, and positive LAMP results by binary positive/negative with the proportion of the assays (0.5 or 1.0) that tested positive when the sample was run in duplicate. Samplers 1 and 2 were 50 m apart in line with the prevailing wind direction.

5.6.4 Inhibition and contamination

5.6.4.1 Exploration into the inhibiting effects of discolouration from contamination on the detection of DNA of B. lactucae

During commercial field trial data collection, it was observed that some fields with reported LDM symptoms were not represented in, or correlated with, the diagnostic assay results. Additionally, post DNA extraction certain samples displayed unusually dark DNA pellets and suspensions. Based on the 2020 results, it was determined that discolouration resulting from contaminants reduced positive results. None of the three discoloured non-purified 2020 samples produced clear amplification curves or prominent melt-curves run in the real-time LAMP assay, suggesting inhibition (Figure 5-22).

Population diversity and epidemiology of Bremia lactucae the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.



Figure 5-22 Comparison of time until B. lactucae detection when samples were contaminated, purified or non-contaminated. Contaminated includes the results of both Purified and Non-purified samples as N=N with clear samples. Spiked samples were spiked to a 1:1 ratio with DNA of B. lactucae ($10ng/\mu$ l). Samples in which B. lactucae DNA was undetectable were given the max cycle in calculations, qPCR = 37 mins; LAMP = 30 minutes

For the purified discoloured samples (n=2), all but one replicate produced amplification curves with evidence of specific amplification (melt-curve analysis, Tm = 82-83°C, Figure 5-23, B). However, the amplification curves were detected in later cycles (mean time 26.6 minutes, SD=7.7, Figure 5-22) and melt-curve peaks were smaller than genomic DNA standards. The smaller melt-curve peaks suggested reduced target DNA was present and/or that there was still interference with fluorescent signal from contaminants (Figure 5-23, B). The discolouration of samples appeared to be more problematic for detection of *B. lactucae* with the qPCR assay, as none of the discoloured samples (regardless of purification) were detected, while only two of the clear samples amplified (n=5). Ultimately, although the purification did improve readings, none of the sample readings would be classified as a positive result.

5.6.4.2 Inhibition in field samples 2021-2022

Exploration of whether inhibition was present in samples collected by aerial samplers in 2021 that were near lettuce that had LDM symptoms found that inhibition was prevalent in samples collected at one commercial site (Figure 5-24). Sample sub-sets were taken from each commercial site close to when disease symptoms were confirmed in-field as putative positives and from when the field did not have disease reported as negative controls. A sub-set of samples from the Hutton trial looking at dispersal gradients was also used to compare to the commercial sites.

Scottish commercial samples, including negative controls (n=2) and samples of interest (putative positives, n=3), gave positive results when spiked with DNA, suggesting that low target DNA concentrations in the sample, rather than inhibition, was the cause of the initial negative result. Samples collected from the Hutton trial showed similar results (n=6). Only one of the sample replicates was positive for *B. lactucae* and the spiked version of this sample took less time for detection. This suggested that there was no inhibitory contamination present, but rather that the sample had a low concentration of *B. lactucae* DNA and therefore did not amplify within the CT cut-off set. None of the English samples of interest (n=2) or their negative controls gave a positive result, even when spiked with *B. lactucae* DNA. This suggested that, at this particular site, inhibitors present in the sample were behind the negative results. This qPCR plate also included re-testing of purified samples from the English commercial site. None of these samples gave a positive result when tested using the qPCR, further suggesting the presence of inhibitors.

In 2022, samples were checked for inhibition across all fields as LDM was generally reported at least once within each field where aerial sampling was carried out, but *B. lactucae* was not always detected in the samples where LDM was reportedly present. Spiking of samples collected from the Scottish commercial site decreased the time taken until *B. lactucae* was detected using both assays (Figure 5-25, A). This suggests that if a negative result was obtained from samples at this commercial site it could be attributed to low concentrations or no DNA of *B. lactucae* present in the sample rather than occurring as a result of inhibition. However, there was an exception with field 2 of the Scottish commercial site. When spiking samples collected from field 2 fewer than half of the samples run through the qPCR came up positive (n=4/10), which could suggest the presence inhibitors, possibly at low concentrations.

Population diversity and epidemiology of Bremia lactucae the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.



Figure 5-23 Melt curves of discoloured samples amplified using the real time LAMP assay. A) Non-purified in blue, (B) purified small purple, (C) the clear samples, magenta lines around 74°C are the negative control, red lines around 83°C are the standards. Neg. Rep. is the only clear sample replicate that had no peak that matched the temperature of the standards.

Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.



Figure 5-24 The difference in time for DNA of B. lactucae to be detected in field samples, untreated, purified and or spiked. Cleaned means sample went through soil purification protocol, putative positives are field samples of interest where with LDM was viewed in-field, or a replicate came up positive in one assay and is a putative positive result. Spiked means the samples was spiked to a 1:1 ratio with DNA of B. lactucae ($10ng/\mu$). Samples in which B. lactucae DNA was undetectable were given the max cycle in calculations, qPCR = 37 mins.

Spiking the samples collected from field 1 and 2 of the English commercial site fields only resulted in positives when using the LAMP assay (n=10/11) (Figure 5-25, B). In field 3, both the LAMP and one replicate of qPCR gave positive results when spiked (LAMP n=4/4; qPCR n=1/4). This suggests that inhibitors were generally more prevalent at the English commercial site, confirming the findings observed with 2021 samples. The subset of samples collected from the Hutton field trials all gave positive results, with the exception of one replicate in each assay. For these samples, spiking generally reduced the time for detection of *B. lactucae*. Therefore, contamination that could inhibit DNA amplification in both diagnostic assays was not observed on this site (Figure 5-25, C).



Figure 5-25 Check for inhibition in 2022 samples. Spiked means the samples was spiked to a 1:1 ratio with DNA of B. lactucae $(10ng/\mu l)$. Samples in which B. lactucae DNA was undetectable were given the max cycle in calculations, qPCR = 37 mins. A, is samples from the Scottish commercial site, B, is from the English commercial site and C is from the Hutton field trial.

5.7 Discussion

In this study, a previously developed real-time LAMP assay, capable of detecting *B. lactucae* in DNA extracted from sporangial suspensions containing as few as 0.01 sporangia equivalents per reaction, was tested to determine detection limits for in-field application in combination with aerial samplers. The assay could detect 25 sporangia equivalents reliably. Real-time amplification of *B. lactucae* followed by a melt-curve analysis for confirmation of positive detection on both genomic DNA and DNA from sampling Rotorods to which sporangia were added, was used to set cycle thresholds to reduce the number of false positive results. The LAMP assay cycle threshold was set at 45 C_T as the limit for a binary (positive/negative) outcome, which was 22.5 minutes run time.

The real-time LAMP assay was used in field trials at Hutton to test detection in field environments, and to study the epidemiology of LDM, including the spore dispersal gradient which could give an indication of how wide an area can be affected from a single disease outbreak. With samples collected in JHI field trials, DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in samples collected from an aerial sampler 100m from an inoculum source. Wu, van Bruggen, et al. (2001) estimated that sporangial dispersal was between 80 m and 3000 m. The most consistent detection of DNA of *B. lactucae* occurred directly adjacent to the inoculum source in the Hutton trials, generally within a 5 m radius. The 5 m radius was also where the highest amount of DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in each Hutton trial. Distance had an effect on detection of *B. lactucae* when using the LAMP assay in field environments. However, detection was not consistent, the sporadic detection of *B. lactucae* can be attributed to wind dynamics which are complex and not consistent.

Preliminary analysis of the timing of sporangial release, found that sporangia were prevalent and present in the aerial space in both parts of the day sampled, with the 'AM' having slightly more sporangia released than the 'PM' period. According to Carisse & Philion, (2002), different sporangial release times were observed in Canada compared with in California (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1995b). Preventative measures may therefore be slightly more effective in the morning, but further studies into quantity of aerial sporangia and timing of fungicide applications in the UK would need to be carried out to confirm this. The key objective of the LAMP assay development was to detect *B. lactucae* prior to a disease outbreak, preferentially prior to symptom development, in order to inform prompt action, such as altering fungicide applications to prevent further disease spread (Buja et al., 2021; Crandall et al., 2018). The LAMP assay detected DNA of *B. lactucae* two to six days before disease was reported in commercial fields in Scotland (Figure 5-20 and Figure 5-21). Sampling was carried out twice per week, approximately 3-4 days apart. An increased sampling frequency may have detected DNA of *B. lactucae* more than six days ahead of symptom development. At least one of the aerial samplers was roughly 50-80 m from LDM symptomatic lettuces when *B. lactucae* was detected. As both diagnostic assays were able to detect *B. lactucae* up to 80 m from an inoculum source in commercial field environments when using Rotorod aerial samplers.

LDM symptoms were present up until harvest at the Scottish site, although lesions were more necrotic post-fungicide sprays and new growth had fewer lesions. In addition, not all commercial environments with observable LDM symptoms in lettuce crops had positive results when samples were tested using the LAMP assay. This was attributed to soil contaminants on aerial samples collected from commercial trials in England.

The LAMP assay is often used as an alternative to conventional and quantitative PCR, in part due to its high tolerance of crude DNA samples (Notomi et al., 2000; Wong et al., 2018). The LAMP assay for detecting *B. lactucae*, though not as sensitive as the qPCR assay, was found to be less sensitive to inhibition from soil contamination (see section 5.6.4). Spiking of commercial samples with relatively high quantities of DNA showed that strong inhibition had occurred at some sites (Figure 5-25), specifically at one commercial field in 2021 where no DNA of *B. lactucae* was amplified despite visual confirmation of in-field LDM adjacent to the aerial sampler. Analysis did not suggest that agrochemical applications had a notable effect on pathogen detection and both commercial sites utilised similar active ingredients in their spray programs (data not shown). However, soil did have a significant effect, preventing fluorescent readings through discolouration, whilst also introducing PCR inhibitors which are prevalent in soil (Watson & Blackwell, 2000). Soil was presumed to cause overloading, in which the adhesive surface was coated by soil preventing sporangial adhesion (Jackson &

Bayliss, 2011; West & Kimber, 2015). Soil contamination of this level was unanticipated and subsequent changes to protocols were unable to resolve the issue.

Detection of *B. lactucae* could be refined further through optimisation of timing and duration of sampling. Other studies have highlighted that sporangial release varies throughout the day in part due to conducive weather conditions (Carisse & Philion, 2002; Fall et al., 2015; Scherm & van Bruggen, 1995b). The efficacy of weather-based decision support systems has been demonstrated for informing spray programs for multiple downy mildew species (Araújo et al., 2017; Hovius et al., 2007; Kushalappa, 2001; Scherm et al., 1995). These systems could be utilised in combination with spore monitoring techniques to inform disease control decisions.

LAMP assays can be made suitable for use in in-field detection devices or adapted for less sophisticated heating apparatus (e.g. water-baths) (Notomi et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2018). The LAMP assay for *B. lactucae* could be adapted for full in-field use utilising machinery, such as the Genie® II developed by Optigene (Optigene, 2018). However, further testing and optimisation would be required, as currently the YCL DNA extraction kit utilised for DNA extraction in LAMP protocol does not lend itself to in-field preparation.

The integration of in-field devices that incorporate aerial samplers with isothermal detection assays, such as LAMP, could be a potential approach for notifying growers of disease risk periods and to facilitate disease control through the efficient use of fungicides. Villari et al. (2016) demonstrated that the use of aerial samplers capturing the airborne inoculum of *Magnaporthe oryzae* (the cause of grey leaf spot of perennial ryegrass) in conjunction with real-time LAMP assay for pathogen detection, allowed detection of *M. oryzae* up to 12 days before symptoms developed in the field. Thus, the assay they developed could be used for disease risk forecasting. A similar finding was reported by Thiessen et al., (2016), who demonstrated that using aerial sampling and a variety of LAMP assays for the detection of *Erysiphe necator* (the cause of grape powdery mildew) to determine fungicide sprays led to an average reduction of fungicide applications by 3.3 fold. Detection of *B. lactucae* using qPCR assays (Dhar et al., 2020) and a cut-off of 24 CT did save 1-3 fungicide applications, however the assay was not developed for in field use.

In this study the LAMP assay detected *B. lactucae* before the first disease symptoms were observed, 9 days before symptoms in Trial 1 and 1 day in Trial 3. Similarly, DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in samples 4 days (field 3 - 2021), 7 days (field 2 - 2022), and 10 days (field 3 - 2022) before disease was reported in Scottish commercial trials. When detection of *B. lactucae* using LAMP occurred after symptoms were observed, the disease symptoms were not widespread, with only 0.21% of susceptible plant foliage in Hutton Trial 2 and 0.03% in Trial 3 recorded at the time of the first instance of disease. This indicates that the LAMP assay when employed with aerial samplers is sensitive enough to detect *B. lactucae* a stage where it could be used to impact decision making regarding chemical controls.

5.8 Conclusion

Both the real-time LAMP assay and the qPCR assay are capable of detecting *B. lactucae* in field environments. Each diagnostic assay has its own strengths and weaknesses, specifically if weather stations do not measure in-field parameters. Both diagnostic assays are best employed in combination with monitoring of conditions conducive to disease development.

The qPCR was more accurate than the real-time LAMP in terms of assessing the extent of disease as the quantity of DNA of B. lactucae detected by the qPCR assay tended to represent the level of disease, more accurately than the time taken until detection outcome by LAMP. Better measurements of the amount of inoculum present can aid in detection of an epidemic. Epidemics are signalled by an exponential increase in DNA quantity detected. Therefore, if an assay can reliably detect low levels of DNA (as is the case for qPCR) the exponential trend becomes apparent more quickly than an assay that cannot detect low levels of DNA. However, the qPCR assay was more susceptible to inhibition from contaminants. Although the real-time LAMP assay protocol developed was carried out in laboratory, it could be fully adapted for in-field devices. For example, Lucchi et al., (2010) reported a LAMP assay reaction that was carried out and read with an ESE-Quant Tube Scanner (ESE GmbH., Stockach, Germany) which is battery operated and portable. Further modifications could be used to increase detection capabilities via methods such as "bumping", in which slight modifications to primers based on their thermodynamic predictions are carried out to reduce undesirable hairpin and dimer structures whilst retaining primer fidelity to target DNA (Meagher et al., 2018). More effective amplification and in-field devices could increase the turn-over of results which is crucial for detecting the exponential growth phase of a pathogen. Further tests would be required for fully operational in-field detection using the LAMP assay. The diagnostic assays proved to be useful in further exploratory experiments addressing B. lactucae epidemiology, providing more data to support reported dispersal distances with field trials and commercial case studies.

Chapter 6 General discussion, conclusions and future directions

6.1 Reiteration of research problem and aims

Lettuce is a horticultural crop grown for fresh consumption in many countries including the UK. Approximately 4000 ha of land was used to grow 95 thousand tonnes of lettuce worth £187 million in the UK in 2020 (DEFRA, 2023). This industry is threatened by Lettuce Downy Mildew (LDM) a foliar disease caused by *Bremia lactucae* that damages leaf tissue reducing marketability and has been linked to secondary pathogenic infections (Simko et al., 2015). It is estimated that LDM costs £15 million in annual crop losses in the UK (AHDB, 2019b).

Disease management is predominantly through host resistance and fungicide spray programs (Barrière et al., 2014). The risk of emergence of more complex virulence and fungicide insensitivity in the pathogen population is a threat to management. Considering the potential of *B. lactucae* to adapt to overcome host resistance (Lebeda & Zinkernagel, 2003b; Trimboli & Nieuwenhuis, 2011; van Hese et al., 2016), develop fungicide insensitivity (Brown et al., 2004; Cobelli et al., 1998; Crute et al., 1987; Schettini et al., 1991), and be transmitted aerially, a lack of knowledge on the contemporary pathogen population can be problematic for management.

This work aimed to explore several aspects of the contemporary *B. lactucae* population, including monitoring the genetic diversity, virulence, and fungicide insensitivity present in the population to aid decisions on appropriate cultivars and to elucidate the reproductive biology of *B. lactucae* in the UK (Chapter 3). An assay that could examine genetic diversity at an appropriate level was developed (Chapter 2).

Competitive interactions between *B. lactucae* isolates were studied to gain an understanding of the effect of cultivar choice on population diversity (Chapter 4). Finally, aerial transmission of *B. lactucae* was studied to determine whether sporangia could be detected in commercial field environments, at what distance from an inoculum source sporangia could be detected and the effect of time of day on sporangial release (Chapter 5).

6.2 Key results

To investigate the genetic diversity of the *B. lactucae* population, a multiplex SSR assay was developed and through analysis of variation at ten loci it could distinguish between *B. lactucae* isolates. Using the SSR multiplex assay 135 MLLs were identified from 254 pathogen samples that were sourced from 29 disease outbreaks sampled from 12 UK counties between 2019 and 2022. Population statistics, including Simpson's diversity index, expected MLG, evenness and Nei's unbiased gene diversity, were notably similar across the years 2019 to 2022 after correction for population size, indicating a degree in consistency in annual scores. Further analysis suggested that mixed reproduction was likely, with clonal reproduction and evidence of heterokaryons. Specifically, trisomy in clonal lineages that re-emerged year on year (*K* cluster group 5) was observed; trisomy has been previously linked to secondary homothallism and oospore formation (Michelmore & Sansome, 1982; Michelmore & Wong, 2008). Therefore, heterokaryon overwintering in the UK is likely and should be accounted for in LDM management. Clonal lineages appear to be widely distributed, for example *K* cluster group 2 was identified in Surrey, Lancashire, and Fife.

Virulence and fungicide insensitivity had minimal association with genotype. However, there was great diversity in virulence present in the population, with at least one UK isolate able to overcome each differential in the differential set-C. Fungicide insensitivity was not observed in the 15 *B. lactucae* samples tested with the fungicide active ingredients axoystrobin, mandipropamid and dimethomorph.

Cultivar choice greatly influenced the population diversity when trials were inoculated with isolates of various pathogen genotypes. In general, specific MLLs were associated with some cultivars. For example, only isolate 2021_Bl1B and 2021_Bl1B variants were recovered from cv. Coventry in Trial 1. Genotype variants of the original released isolates were common. At least one of the strains in each trial was a strain hypothesised to be heterokaryotic, 2020_Bl4 in Trial 1, 2021_Bl4C and 2021_Bl8A in Trial 2. Nuclear sorting in the hyphae of such heterokaryotic strains would explain part of the variation observed. Other sources could be replication slippage occurring naturally or during PCR (Dufresne et al., 2014). Although it appears that heterokaryons can provide an advantage through more complex virulence the clonal multi-allelic strains did not always perform better in simulated populations in this

study. Homokaryon isolates with virulence effective against host resistance performed better than heterokaryons with partial effective virulence (Fletcher et al., 2019) and this was observed in both trials with isolates with non-heterokaryotic indicators (e.g. T3_283) being less prevalent than heterokaryons (e.g.2021_Bl8A).

DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected up to 100 m from an inoculum source. The estimation of outbreak influence (implied maximum sporangial dispersion) was between 80 m to 3000 m (Wu, van Bruggen, et al., 2001). Aerial samplers in commercial fields detected *B. lactucae* DNA when situated up to approximately 50-80m away from plants with LDM symptoms. DNA of *B. lactucae* was detected in commercial environments using the LAMP assay as early as two days before symptomatic plants were observed or reported. LDM symptomatic plants in commercial environments were observed at a 50-80 m distance to at least one aerial sampler each monitoring year. Therefore, gene flow from aerial transmission via sporangia within field and between fields was evident and should be considered in lettuce production. Aerial transmission of sporangia, or other pathways, such as movement of lettuce plugs from specialised growers to field or crop debris rotovated back into soil, may have contributed to the widespread occurrence of certain *K* cluster groups.

6.3 Study limitations

As this PhD study coincided with Covid-19 lockdowns, travel was restricted, severely limiting the options to travel to lettuce fields and sampling from domestic gardens and allotments. The full picture of *B. lactucae* diversity in the UK population remains unknown. Lettuce grown in garden and allotments and also on native host plants and could be a reservoir for *B. lactucae* isolates initiating epidemics in commercial crops.

SSRs are appropriate for analysing genotypic diversity, with multiple alleles indicative of heterokaryosis, full sequencing for these samples to confirm this has not been carried out. NGS sequencing of one or two of the heterokaryotic-like strains would be informative both on accessory chromosomes and the full extent of the trisomy/heterokaryosis observed. Three of the ten SSR markers were relatively stable therefore less informative. The SSR assay developed has room for improvement or further modification for other studies. However, the assay developed provided sufficient distinguishing power for this study.

6.4 Recommendations for future directions

The data collected suggests that the UK population of *B. lactucae* is genetically diverse and appears to contain heterokaryotic strains. Monitoring heterokaryosis is important to understand, for example, if it has an impact in encouraging oospore formation, and therefore overwintering. The *K* group 5 heterokaryotic strains were collected from a large geographical area (Cambridge, West Sussex, Kent, Norfolk, Suffolk and Lincolnshire) and there is evidence of this clonal lineage overwintering which implies dispersal or transmission mechanisms. Deciphering whether dispersal occurs through seed, soil and/or aerial sporangial transmission will be key in understanding gene flow in the *B. lactucae* population. A potential way of investigating heterokaryosis and the link to overwintering on a smaller scale would be to carry out the mark and recapture trials, but in the same field location a year later, as mentioned in the chapter 4 discussion. Notably, phenylamine insensitive isolates from a disease outbreak in Lancashire were reported to have spread by distribution of plants from specialised propagators (Crute et al., 1987). Thus, the inclusion of more details of the host the *B. lactucae* samples are collected from, i.e. where the lettuce plugs were sourced, would also need to be accounted for, as the human factor can impact gene flow in *B. lactucae* populations.

Preliminary experiments to investigate desiccation of aerial sporangia were not continued due to difficulties in maintaining the desired controlled environmental conditions. Research into leaf wetness duration (LWD) and its effect on sporulation and germination (Scherm & van Bruggen, 1993, 1995b) has previously been conducted however there has been little research into breaking LWD periods. In several other studies, induction of desiccation at key time points halted the spread of disease in glasshouse environments (Cohen & Ben-Naim, 2016; Davidson & Krysinska-Kaczmarek, 2007; Jhorar et al., 1998). This is an additional area of integrated management that could be implemented. Drying can be introduced at certain time points under glasshouse conditions to trigger germ tube growth, exhausting the energy reserves of sporangia but preventing infection of plant tissues. As a large portion of lettuce is grown in glasshouses for the full lifecycle, or for transplanting to field, this could be a key management practise to reduce disease.

6.5 Conclusion

In summary, this study found that the UK population of *B. lactucae* is complex and shows diversity for genotype and virulence. The virulence in the sampled UK population was diverse and widespread. Knowledge of population diversity linked to type of host resistance used, (i.e. cultivar choice) is a key area of importance in disease management.

Aerial dispersal of sporangia was predominantly local to infected plants (0-5 m) but sporangia were detectable at distances of 100 m in trials and ~80 m in commercial fields. Sporangial release did not vary significantly between AM and PM periods; therefore, dispersal should be treated as generally consistent through most of the day. The LAMP assay, provides a tool to detect *B. lactucae* in commercial fields to allow for improved timing of control measures and therefore mitigation of disease.

Management of LDM should account for the genetic flexibility of heterokaryons of *B. lactucae*, which are likely to result in overwintering soil-borne inoculum, and aerial dispersal within, and potentially between fields.

Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

References

- Abuley, I. K., Lynott, J. S., Hansen, J. G., Cooke, D. E. L., & Lees, A. K. (2023). The EU43 genotype of Phytophthora infestans displays resistance to mandipropamid. *Plant Pathology*, 72(7), 1305–1313. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.13737
- Acharya, C. B., Najarro, M. C., Fletcher, K., & Michelmore, R. W. (2019). Development of molecular markers to explore population dynamics of Bremia lactucae (lettuce downy mildew).
 (p. 61). Poster abstract Oomycete Molecular Genetics Network meeting.
- Agarwal, M., Shrivastava, N., & Padh, H. (2008). Advances in molecular marker techniques and their applications in plant sciences. *Plant Cell Reports*, 27(4), 617–631. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00299-008-0507-z
- AHDB. (2019a). Diseases of lettuce crops (T. O'Neill, Ed.; pp. 1–28).
 https://projectblue.blob.core.windows.net/media/Default/Imported%20Publication%20
 Docs/AHDB%20Horticulture%20/LettuceDiseases1846_190109_WEB.pdf
- AHDB. (2019b). *New drive to control downy mildew and blight*. https://ahdb.org.uk/news/newdrive-to-control-downy-mildew-and-blight
- AHDB. (2022). Farm inputs at a glance. https://ahdb.org.uk/farm-costs-at-a-glance
- Aphalo P. (2023). ggpmisc: Miscellaneous Extensions to "ggplot2." https://docs.r4photobiology.info/ggpmisc/
- Araújo, E. R., Alves, D. P., & Knoth, J. R. (2017). Weather-based decision support reduces the fungicide spraying to control onion downy mildew. *Crop Protection*, 92, 89–92. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2016.10.022
- Assurance, R. T. (2015). Crop Module: Lettuce (protected) (Issue 2, pp. 1–16).
- Assurance, R. T. (2016). Crop Module: Lettuce (field) (Issue 2, pp. 1–20).
- Aydinsakir, K., Karaca, C., Ozkan, C. F., Dinc, N., Buyuktas, D., & Isik, M. (2019). Excess
 Nitrogen Exceeds the European Standards in Lettuce Grown under Greenhouse
 Conditions. *Agronomy Journal*, 111(2), 764–769.
 https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2018.07.0425

- Bache, S. M., & Wickham, H. (2022). *magrittr: A Forward-Pipe Operator for R* (2.0.3). https://magrittr.tidyverse.org, https://github.com/tidyverse/magrittr
- Baker, B., Zambryski, P., Staskawicz, B., & Dinesh-Kumar, S. P. (1997). Signaling in plantmicrobe interactions. *Science*, 276(5313), 726–733. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.276.5313.726
- Barrière, V., Lecompte, F., Nicot, P. C., Maisonneuve, B., Tchamitchian, M., & Lescourret, F. (2014). Lettuce cropping with less pesticides. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 34(1), 175–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-013-0158-5
- Bauriegel, E., Brabandt, H., Gärber, U., & Herppich, W. B. (2014). Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging to facilitate breeding of Bremia lactucae-resistant lettuce cultivars. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 105, 74–82. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2014.04.010
- Beakes, G. W., Glockling, S. L., & Sekimoto, S. (2012). The evolutionary phylogeny of the oomycete "fungi." *Protoplasma*, 249(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-011-0269-2
- Beakes, G. W., & Thines, M. (2017). Hyphochytriomycota and Oomycota. In J. M. Archibald, A. G. B. Simpson, & C. H. Slamovits (Eds.), *Handbook of the Protists* (pp. 435–505). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28149-0_26
- Becherer, L., Borst, N., Bakheit, M., Frischmann, S., Zengerle, R., & von Stetten, F. (2020). Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) review and classification of methods for sequence-specific detection. *Analytical Methods*, 12(6), 717–746. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9AY02246E
- Blacket, M., Robin, C., Good, R., Lee, S. F., & Miller, A. D. (2012). Universal primers for fluorescent labelling of PCR fragments-an efficient and cost-effective approach to genotyping by fluorescence. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 12, 456–463. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2011.03104.x
- Blok, I. (1981). A procedure to infect lettuce seedlings with oospores of Bremia lactucae. *Netherlands Journal of Plant Pathology*, *87*(4), 159–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01980412

- Bronkhorst, J., Kasteel, M., van Veen, S., Clough, J. M., Kots, K., Buijs, J., van der Gucht, J.,
 Ketelaar, T., Govers, F., & Sprakel, J. (2021). A slicing mechanism facilitates host entry by
 plant-pathogenic Phytophthora. *Nat Microbiol*, 6(8), 1000–1006.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-021-00919-7
- Bronkhorst, J., Kots, K., de Jong, D., Kasteel, M., van Boxmeer, T., Joemmanbaks, T., Govers, F., van der Gucht, J., Ketelaar, T., & Sprakel, J. (2022). An actin mechanostat ensures hyphal tip sharpness in Phytophthora infestans to achieve host penetration. *Sci Adv*, 8(23), eabo0875. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abo0875
- Brown, S., Koike, S. T., Ochoa, O. E., Laemmlen, F., & Michelmore, R. W. (2004). Insensitivity to the fungicide fosetyl-aluminum in California isolates of the lettuce downy mildew pathogen, Bremia lactucae. *Plant Disease*, 88(5), 502–508. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000220978300010
- Brownstein, M. J., Carpten, J. D., & Smith, J. R. (1996). Modulation of non-templated nucleotide addition by Taq DNA polymerase: primer modifications that facilitate genotyping. *Biotechniques*, 20(6), 1004–1006, 1008–1010. https://doi.org/10.2144/96206st01
- Bruvo, R., Michiels, N. K., D'Souza, T. G., & Schulenburg, H. (2004). A simple method for the calculation of microsatellite genotype distances irrespective of ploidy level. *Mol Ecol*, 13(7), 2101–2106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02209.x
- Buja, I., Sabella, E., Monteduro, A. G., Chiriacò, M. S., De Bellis, L., Luvisi, A., & Maruccio, G. (2021). Advances in Plant Disease Detection and Monitoring: From Traditional Assays to In-Field Diagnostics. *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland)*, 21(6), 2129. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21062129
- Burns, M., & Valdivia, H. (2008). Modelling the limit of detection in real-time quantitative
 PCR. *European Food Research and Technology*, 226(6), 1513–1524.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-007-0683-z
- Cai, T., Lou, G., Yang, J., Xu, D., & Meng, Z. (2008). Development and evaluation of real-time loop-mediated isothermal amplification for hepatitis B virus DNA quantification: A new tool for HBV management. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 41(4), 270–276. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2007.11.025

- Carisse, O., & Philion, V. (2002). Meteorological factors affecting periodicity and concentration of airborne spores of Bremia lactucae. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology-Revue Canadienne De Phytopathologie*, 24(2), 184–193. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1080/07060660309506994
- Carleson, N. C., Daniels, H. A., Reeser, P. W., Kanaskie, A., Navarro, S. M., LeBoldus, J. M., & Grünwald, N. J. (2020). Novel Introductions and Epidemic Dynamics of the Sudden Oak Death Pathogen Phytophthora ramorum in Oregon Forests. *Phytopathology*®, 111(4), 731– 740. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-05-20-0164-R
- Carter, R. N., & Oswald, P. H. (1998). Lactuca. In T. C. G. Rich & A. C. Jermy (Eds.), *Plant. Crib.* . London: Botanical Society of the British Isles. https://bsbi.org/plant-crib.
- Cavalier-Smith, T., & Chao, E. E. Y. (2006). Phylogeny and Megasystematics of Phagotrophic Heterokonts (Kingdom Chromista). *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 62(4), 388–420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00239-004-0353-8
- Choi, Y. J., Thines, M., Runge, F., Hong, S. B., Telle, S., & Shin, H. D. (2011). Evidence for high degrees of specialisation, evolutionary diversity, and morphological distinctiveness in the genus Bremia. *Fungal Biology*, 115(2), 102–111. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funbio.2010.10.010.
- Choi, Y. J., Wong, J., Runge, F., Mishra, B., Michelmore, R. W., & Thines, M. (2017). BrRxLR11
 a new phylogenetic marker with high resolution in the downy mildew genus Bremia and related genera. *Mycological Progress*, 16(2), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11557-016-1258-9
- Cobelli, L., Collina, M., & Brunelli, A. (1998). Occurrence in Italy and characteristics of lettuce downy mildew (Bremia lactucae) resistant to phenylamide fungicides. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 104(5), 449–455. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008696021621
- Cohen, Y., & Ben-Naim, Y. (2016). Nocturnal Fanning Suppresses Downy Mildew Epidemics in Sweet Basil. *Plos One*, *11*(5), e0155330. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155330

- Cohen, Y., Rubin, A. E., & Kilfin, G. (2010). Mechanisms of induced resistance in lettuce against Bremia lactucae by DL-β-amino-butyric acid (BABA). *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 126(4), 553–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-009-9564-6
- Cohen, Y., Rubin, A. E., & Vaknin, M. (2011). Post infection application of DL-3-amino-butyric acid (BABA) induces multiple forms of resistance against Bremia lactucae in lettuce. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 130(1), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-010-9724-8
- Cohen, Y., Rubin, A., & Gotlieb, D. (2008). Activity of carboxylic acid amide (CAA) fungicides against Bremia lactucae. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 122(1), 169–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-008-9327-9
- Collard, B. C. Y., & Mackill, D. J. (2008). Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1491), 557–572. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2170
- Cooke, D. E. L., Cano, L. M., Raffaele, S., Bain, R. A., Cooke, L. R., Etherington, G. J., Deahl, K. L., Farrer, R. A., Gilroy, E. M., Goss, E. M., Grünwald, N. J., Hein, I., MacLean, D., McNicol, J. W., Randall, E., Oliva, R. F., Pel, M. A., Shaw, D. S., Squires, J. N., ... Kamoun, S. (2012). Genome Analyses of an Aggressive and Invasive Lineage of the Irish Potato Famine Pathogen. *PLOS Pathogens, 8*(10), e1002940. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002940
- Cooke, D. E. L., & Lees, A. K. (2004). Markers, old and new, for examining Phytophthora infestans diversity. *Plant Pathology*, 53(6), 692–704. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2004.01104.x
- Crandall, S. G., Rahman, A., Quesada-Ocampo, L. M., Martin, F. N., Bilodeau, G. J., & Miles, T. D. (2018). Advances in Diagnostics of Downy Mildews: Lessons Learned from Other Oomycetes and Future Challenges. *Plant Disease*, 102(2), 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1094/Pdis-09-17-1455-Fe
- Cruaud, A., Groussier, G., Genson, G., Sauné, L., Polaszek, A., & Rasplus, J.-Y. (2018). Pushing the limits of whole genome amplification: successful sequencing of RADseq library from

a single microhymenopteran (Chalcidoidea, *Trichogramma*). *PeerJ*, *6*, e5640. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5640

- Crute, I. R. (1992a). From Breeding to Cloning (And Back Again?): A Case Study with Lettuce Downy Mildew. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 30(1), 485–506. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.py.30.090192.002413
- Crute, I. R. (1992b). The Role of Resistance Breeding in the Integrated Control of Downy Mildew (Bremia-Lactucae) in Protected Lettuce. *Euphytica*, 63(1–2), 95–102. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1007/Bf00023915
- Crute, I. R., & Johnson, A. G. (1976). The genetic relationship between races of Bremiae lactucae and cultivars of Lactuca sativa. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *83*(1), 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1976.tb01701.x
- Crute, I. R., & Norwood, J. M. (1978). Incomplete specific resistance to *Bremia lactucae* in lettuce. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *89*(3), 467–474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1978.tb05975.x
- Crute, I. R., Norwood, J. M., & Gordon, P. L. (1987). The Occurrence, Characteristics and Distribution in the United-Kingdom of Resistance to Phenylamide Fungicides in Bremia-Lactucae (Lettuce Downy Mildew). *Plant Pathology*, *36*(3), 297–315. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1111/j.1365-3059.1987.tb02237.x
- Davidson, J. A., & Krysinska-Kaczmarek, M. (2007). Effects of inoculum concentration, temperature, plant age and interrupted wetness on infection of lentil (Lens culinaris) by Botrytis spp. conidia. *Australasian Plant Pathology*, 36(4), 389–396. https://doi.org/10.1071/AP07039

DEFRA. (2011). MARKETING STANDARD FOR LETTUCES, CURLED-LEAVED ENDIVES AND BROAD-LEAVED (BATAVIAN) ENDIVES (DEFRA, Ed.). https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme nt_data/file/869239/marketing-standard-lettuces-curled-leaved-broad-leavedendives.pdf

- DEFRA. (2022). API Index of the prices of agricultural outputs and inputs statistics notice (data to March 2022). https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/agricultural-priceindices/api-index-of-the-prices-of-agricultural-outputs-and-inputs-statistics-noticedata-to-march-2022
- DEFRA. (2023). *Horticulture statistics dataset* (*Excel*). https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/latest-horticulture-statistics
- Dhar, N., Mamo, B. E., Subbarao, K. V, Koike, S. T., Fox, A., Anchieta, A., & Klosterman, S. J. (2020). Measurements of Aerial Spore Load by qPCR Facilitates Lettuce Downy Mildew Risk Advisement. *Plant Disease*, 104(1), 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-03-19-0441-RE
- Dufresne, F., Stift, M., Vergilino, R., & Mable, B. K. (2014). Recent progress and challenges in population genetics of polyploid organisms: an overview of current state-of-the-art molecular and statistical tools. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(1), 40–69. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12581
- Ellegren, H. (2004). Microsatellites: simple sequences with complex evolution. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 5(6), 435–445. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1348
- Fagerland, M. W., Lydersen, S., & Laake, P. (2013). The McNemar test for binary matchedpairs data: mid-p and asymptotic are better than exact conditional. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13(1), 91. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-91
- Fall, M. L., van der Heyden, H., Beaulieu, C., & Carisse, O. (2015). Bremia lactucae Infection Efficiency in Lettuce is Modulated by Temperature and Leaf Wetness Duration Under Quebec Field Conditions. *Plant Disease*, 99(7), 1010–1019. https://doi.org/10.1094/Pdis-05-14-0548-Re
- Fall, M. L., van der Heyden, H., & Carisse, O. (2016). A Quantitative Dynamic Simulation of Bremia lactucae Airborne Conidia Concentration above a Lettuce Canopy. *Plos One*, 11(3). https://doi.org/ARTN e0144573 10.1371/journal.pone.0144573
- FAOSTAT. (2021). Crops and livestock products. FAO. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC

- Fawke, S., Doumane, M., & Schornack, S. (2015). Oomycete Interactions with Plants: Infection Strategies and Resistance Principles. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 79(3), 263–280. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00010-15
- Fletcher, J. T. (1976). Bremia lactucae, oospores, sporangial dissemination and control. Annals of Applied Biology, 84(2), 294–298. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1976.tb01770.x
- Fletcher, K., Gil, J., Bertier, L. D., Kenefick, A., Wood, K. J., Zhang, L., Reyes-Chin-Wo, S., Cayanaugh, K., Tsuchida, C., Wong, J., & Michelmore, R. W. (2019). Genomic signatures of heterokaryosis in the oomycete pathogen Bremia lactucae. *Nature Communications*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-10550-0
- Fletcher, K., Han, R., Smilde, D., & Michelmore, R. W. (2022). Variance of allele balance calculated from low coverage sequencing data infers departure from a diploid state. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 23(1), 150. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-022-04685-z
- Fletcher, K., Zhang, L., Gil, J., Han, R., Cavanaugh, K., & Michelmore, R. W. (2021). AFLAP: assembly-free linkage analysis pipeline using k-mers from genome sequencing data. *Genome Biol*, 22(1), 115. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-021-02326-x
- Forootan, A., Sjöback, R., Björkman, J., Sjögreen, B., Linz, L., & Kubista, M. (2017). Methods to determine limit of detection and limit of quantification in quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR). *Biomol Detect Quantif*, 12, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bdq.2017.04.001
- Frietema, F. T. (1994). The systematic relationship of Lactuca sativa and Lactuca serriola, in relation to the distribution of prickly lettuce. *Acta Bot. Neerl*, *43*, 79.
- Fry, W. E., & Grünwald, N. J. (2010). Introduction to Oomycetes. *The Plant Health Instructor*. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHI-I-2010-1207-01
- Fukuta, S., Iida, T., Mizukami, Y., Ishida, A., Ueda, J., Kanbe, M., & Ishimoto, Y. (2003). Detection of Japanese yam mosaic virus by RT-LAMP. Arch Virol, 148(9), 1713–1720. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-003-0134-5

- Gemayel, R., Cho, J., Boeynaems, S., & Verstrepen, K. J. (2012). Beyond Junk-Variable Tandem Repeats as Facilitators of Rapid Evolution of Regulatory and Coding Sequences. *Genes*, 3(3), 461–480. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes3030461
- Giesbers, A. K. J., den Boer, E., Braspenning, D. N. J., Bouten, T. P. H., Specken, J. W., van Kaauwen, M. P. W., Visser, R. G. F., Niks, R. E., & Jeuken, M. J. W. (2018). Bidirectional backcrosses between wild and cultivated lettuce identify loci involved in nonhost resistance to downy mildew. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 131(8), 1761–1776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-018-3112-8
- Gisi, U. (2002). Chemical Control of Downy Mildews. In U. G. P T N Spencer-Phillips and A Lebeda (Ed.), *Advances in Downy Mildew Research* (pp. 119–159).
- Gisi, U., & Sierotzki, H. (2008). Fungicide modes of action and resistance in downy mildews. In A. Lebeda, P. T. N. Spencer-Phillips, & B. M. Cooke (Eds.), *The Downy Mildews - Genetics, Molecular Biology and Control* (pp. 157–167). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8973-2_12
- Gobbin, D., Jermini, M., Loskill, B., Pertot, I., Raynal, M., & Gessler, C. (2005). Importance of secondary inoculum of Plasmopara viticola to epidemics of grapevine downy mildew. *Plant Pathology*, 54(4), 522–534. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2005.01208.x
- Gobbin, D., Pertot, I., & Gessler, C. (2003). Identification of microsatellite markers for Plasmopara viticola and establishment of high throughput method for SSR analysis. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 109(2), 153–164. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1022565405974
- Goodwin, S. B. (1997). The Population Genetics of Phytophthora. *Phytopathology*®, 87(4), 462–473. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.1997.87.4.462
- Grube, R. C., Wintermantel, W. M., Hand, P., Aburomia, R., Pink, D. A. C., & Ryder, E. J. (2005). Genetic analysis and mapping of resistance to lettuce dieback: a soilborne disease caused by tombusviruses. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 110(2), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-004-1825-3

- Grünwald, N. J., Everhart, S. E., Knaus, B. J., & Kamvar, Z. N. (2017). Best Practices for Population Genetic Analyses. *Phytopathology*®, 107(9), 1000–1010. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-12-16-0425-RVW
- Grünwald, N. J., Goodwin, S. B., Milgroom, M. G., & Fry, W. E. (2003). Analysis of Genotypic Diversity Data for Populations of Microorganisms. *Phytopathology*®, 93(6), 738–746. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.2003.93.6.738
- G's Fresh. (2020). Pers Comm.
- Guérin, F., Franck, P., Loiseau, A., Devaux, M., & Le Cam, B. (2004). Isolation of 21 new polymorphic microsatellite loci in the phytopathogenic fungus Venturia inaequalis. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 4(2), 268–270. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2004.00637.x
- Guichoux, E., Lagache, L., Wagner, S., Chaumeil, P., Léger, P., Lepais, O., Lepoittevin, C., Malausa, T., Revardel, E., Salin, F., & Petit, R. J. (2011). Current trends in microsatellite genotyping. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 11(4), 591–611. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2011.03014.x
- Gustafsson, M., Liljeroth, E., & Gustafsson, I. (1985). Pathogenic variation and sexual reproduction in Swedish populations of Bremia lactucae. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 70(6), 643–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00252290
- Hayes, R. J., & Simko, I. (2016). Breeding lettuce for improved fresh-cut processing. 65–76. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1141.7
- He, R., Ju, J., Liu, K., Song, J., Zhang, S., Zhang, M., Hu, Y., Liu, X., Li, Y., & Liu, H. (2024).
 Technology of plant factory for vegetable crop speed breeding. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2024.1414860
- Hooftman, D. A. P., Nieuwenhuis, B. P. S., Posthuma, K. I., Oostermeijer, J. G. B., & den Nijs,
 H. C. M. (2007). Introgression potential of downy mildew resistance from lettuce to
 Lactuca serriola and its relevance for plant fitness. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 8(2), 135–146. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2006.03.008

- Hovius, M. H. Y., Carisse, O., Philion, V., & McDonald, M. R. (2007). Field evaluation of weather-based spray programs for the control of downy mildew of lettuce (Lactuca sativa), caused by Bremia lactucae, in Quebec and Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 29(1), 9–17. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1080/07060660709507432
- HSE. (2023). Pesticides: The basics. https://www.hse.gov.uk/pesticides/about-pesticides.htm
- Hulbert, S. H., Ilott, T. W., Legg, E. J., Lincoln, S. E., Lander, E. S., & Michelmore, R. W. (1988). Genetic analysis of the fungus, Bremia lactucae, using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. *Genetics*, 120(4), 947–958. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/120.4.947
- Hulbert, S. H., & Michelmore, R. W. (1988). DNA Restriction fragment length polymorphism and somatic variation in the lettuce downy mildew fungus, Bremia lactucae. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, *1*, 12–24.
- Hutchinson, T. Q., Agriculture, U. States. D. of, Hoffman, L. A., Administration, U. States. S. and E., Parlett, R., & Service, U. States. D. of Agriculture. E. R. (1975). *Improving the Export Distribution System for Fresh Fruits and Vegetables* (Issue nos. 1017-1027). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=a6JPAQAAMAAJ
- IBEB. (2023). The International Bremia Evaluation Board (IBEB) aims to identify new races of Bremia lactucae that pose a significant threat to the European lettuce industry. https://worldseed.org/our-work/disease-resistance/other-initiatives/ibeb/
- Ilott, T. W., Hulbert, S. H., & Michelmore, R. W. (1989). Genetic Analysis of the Gene-for-Gene Interaction Between Lettuce (Lactuca sativa) and Bremia lactucae. *Phytopathology*, 79, 888–897. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1094/Phyto-79-888
- Jackson, S. L., & Bayliss, K. L. (2011). Spore traps need improvement to fulfil plant biosecurity requirements. *Plant Pathology*, 60(5), 801–810. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2011.02445.x
- Jeuken, M., & Lindhout, P. (2002). Lactuca saligna, a non-host for lettuce downy mildew (Bremia lactucae), harbors a new race-specific Dm gene and three QTLs for resistance.

Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 105(2), 384–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00122-002-0943-z

- Jhorar, O. P., Butler, D. R., & Mathauda, S. S. (1998). Effects of leaf wetness duration, relative humidity, light and dark on infection and sporulation by Didymella rabiei on chickpea. *Plant Pathology*, 47(5), 586–594. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3059.1998.0280a.x
- Jombart, T., & Ahmed, I. (2011). adegenet 1.3-1: new tools for the analysis of genome-wide SNP data. *Bioinformatics*, 27(21), 3070–3071. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr521
- Jombart, T., Devillard, S., & Balloux, F. (2010). Discriminant analysis of principal components: a new method for the analysis of genetically structured populations. *BMC Genetics*, 11(1), 94. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2156-11-94
- Jones, J. D. G., & Dangl, J. L. (2006). The plant immune system. *Nature*, 444(7117), 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05286
- Judelson, H. S., & Michelmore, R. W. (1992). Temperature and genotype interactions in the expression of host resistance in lettuce downy mildew. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 40(4), 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/0885-5765(92)90074-6
- Kamvar, Z. N., Brooks, J. C., & Grünwald, N. J. (2015). Novel R tools for analysis of genomewide population genetic data with emphasis on clonality. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2015.00208
- Kamvar, Z. N., Tabima, J. F., & Grünwald, N. J. (2014). Poppr: an R package for genetic analysis of populations with clonal, partially clonal, and/or sexual reproduction. *PeerJ*, 2, e281. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.281
- Kilian, N., Gemeinholzer, B., Lack, H. W., Funk, V. A., Susanna, A., Stuessy, T. F., & Bayer, R.J. (2009). *Systematics, evolution, and biogeography of Compositae*. International Association for Plant Taxonomy.
- Kilian, N., Sennikov, A., Wang, Z.-H., Gemeinholzer, B., & Zhang, J.-W. (2017). Sub-Paratethyan origin and Middle to Late Miocene principal diversification of the Lactucinae (Compositae: Cichorieae) inferred from molecular phylogenetics, divergence-

dating and biogeographic analysis. *TAXON*, *66*(3), 675–703. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.12705/663.9

- Kim, M. J., Moon, Y., Tou, J. C., Mou, B. Q., & Waterland, N. L. (2016). Nutritional value, bioactive compounds and health benefits of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.). *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 49, 19–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2016.03.004
- Koike, S. T., & Ochoa, O. E. (2007). Downy mildew caused by Bremia lactucae on strawflower (Helichrysum bracteatum) in California. *Plant Disease*, 91(3), 326. https://doi.org/10.1094/Pdis-91-3-0326a
- Koopman, W. J. M., Guetta, E., van de Wiel, C. C. M., Vosman, B., & van den Berg, R. G. (1998).
 Phylogenetic relationships among Lactuca (Asteraceae) species and related genera based on ITS-1 DNA sequences. *American Journal of Botany*, *85*(11), 1517–1530. https://doi.org/10.2307/2446479
- Koopman, W. J. M., Zevenbergen, M. J., & van den Berg, R. G. (2001). Species relationships in Lactuca s.l. (Lactuceae, Asteraceae) inferred from AFLP fingerprints. *American Journal of Botany*, 88(10), 1881–1887. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/3558364
- Křístková, E., Doležalová, I., Lebeda, A., Vinter, V., & Novotná, A. (2008). Description of morphological characters of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) genetic resources. *Horticultural Science*, 35(3), 113–129.
- Kunjeti, S. G., Anchieta, A., Martin, F. N., Choi, Y. J., Thines, M., Michelmore, R. W., Koike, S. T., Tsuchida, C., Mahaffee, W., Subbarao, K. V, & Klosteiman, S. J. (2016). Detection and Quantification of Bremia lactucae by Spore Trapping and Quantitative PCR. *Phytopathology*, *106*(11), 1426–1437. https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-03-16-0143-R
- Kushalappa, A. C. (2001). BREMCAST: Development of a system to forecast risk levels of downy mildew on lettuce (Bremia lactucae). *International Journal of Pest Management*, 47(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1080/09670870150215540
- Lebeda, A., Dolezalova, I., Ferakova, V., & Astley, D. (2004). Geographical distribution of wild Lactuca species (Asteraceae, Lactuceae). *Botanical Review*, 70(3), 328–356. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1663/0006-8101(2004)070[0328:Gdowls]2.0.Co;2
- Lebeda, A., Doležalová, I., Křístková, E., Kitner, M., Petrželová, I., Mieslerová, B., & Novotná,
 A. (2009). Wild Lactuca germplasm for lettuce breeding: current status, gaps and
 challenges. *Euphytica*, 170(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-009-9914-7
- Lebeda, A., Dolezalova, I., Kristkova, E., & Mieslerova, B. (2001). Biodiversity and ecogeography of wild Lactuca spp. in some European countries. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 48(2), 153–164. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1023/A:1011265614395
- Lebeda, A., Křístková, E., Doležalová, I., Kitner, M., & Widrlechner, M. P. (2019). Wild Lactuca Species in North America. In S. L. Greene, K. A. Williams, C. K. Khoury, M. B. Kantar, & L. F. Marek (Eds.), North American Crop Wild Relatives, Volume 2: Important Species (pp. 131–194). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-97121-6_5
- Lebeda, A., Kristkova, E., Kitner, M., Mieslerova, B., Jemelkova, M., & Pink, D. A. C. (2014). Wild Lactuca species, their genetic diversity, resistance to diseases and pests, and exploitation in lettuce breeding. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 138(3), 597–640. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-013-0254-z
- Lebeda, A., Pink, D. A. C., & Astley, D. (2002). Aspects of the interactions between wild Lactuca spp. and related genera and lettuce downy mildew (Bremia lactucae). In *Advances in downy mildew research* (pp. 85–117). Springer.
- Lebeda, A., Sedlářová, M., Petřivalský, M., & Prokopová, J. (2008). Diversity of defence mechanisms in plant–oomycete interactions: a case study of Lactuca spp. and Bremia lactucae. In A. Lebeda, P. T. N. Spencer-Phillips, & B. M. Cooke (Eds.), *The Downy Mildews Genetics, Molecular Biology and Control* (pp. 71–89). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8973-2_7
- Lebeda, A., & Zinkernagel, V. (2003a). Characterization of new highly virulent German isolates of Bremia lactucae and efficiency of resistance in wild Lactuca spp. germplasm. *JOURNAL OF PHYTOPATHOLOGY-PHYTOPATHOLOGISCHE ZEITSCHRIFT*, 151(5), 274–282. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0434.2003.00719.x
- Lebeda, A., & Zinkernagel, V. (2003b). Evolution and distribution of virulence in the German population of Bremia lactucae. *Plant Pathology*, 52(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3059.2003.00802.x

- Lees, A. K., Roberts, D. M., Lynott, J., Sullivan, L., & Brierley, J. L. (2019). Real-Time PCR and LAMP Assays for the Detection of Spores of Alternaria solani and Sporangia of Phytophthora infestans to Inform Disease Risk Forecasting. *Plant Disease*, 103(12), 3172– 3180. https://doi.org/10.1094/pdis-04-19-0765-re
- Lees, A. K., Wattier, R., Shaw, D. S., Sullivan, L., Williams, N. A., & Cooke, D. E. L. (2006). Novel microsatellite markers for the analysis of Phytophthora infestans populations. *Plant Pathology*, 55(3), 311–319. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2006.01359.x
- Li, Y., Cooke, D. E. L., Jacobsen, E., & van der Lee, T. (2013). Efficient multiplex simple sequence repeat genotyping of the oomycete plant pathogen Phytophthora infestans. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 92(3), 316–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2012.11.021.
- Li, Y.-C., Korol, A. B., Fahima, T., Beiles, A., & Nevo, E. (2002). Microsatellites: genomic distribution, putative functions and mutational mechanisms: a review. *Molecular Ecology*, 11(12), 2453–2465. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2002.01643.x
- Lindqvist, K. (1960). On the Origin of Cultivated Lettuce. *Hereditas*, 46(3–4), 319–350. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-5223.1960.tb03091.x
- Lucchi, N. W., Demas, A., Narayanan, J., Sumari, D., Kabanywanyi, A., Kachur, S. P., Barnwell, J. W., & Udhayakumar, V. (2010). Real-Time Fluorescence Loop Mediated Isothermal Amplification for the Diagnosis of Malaria. *Plos One*, 5(10), e13733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013733
- Lynott, J. S., Cooke, D. E. L., Sullivan, L., & Lees, A. K. (2023). Sensitivity of dominant UK Phytophthora infestans genotypes to a range of fungicide active ingredients. *Plant Pathology*, *n/a*(n/a). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.13832
- MacPherson, N. J. (1932). The cultivation of lettuce under glass with special reference to varieties resistant to downy mildew. *The Journal of the Ministry of Agriculture, 38,* 998–1003.

- MAFF. (1999). *The Pesticides (Maximum Residue Levels in Crops, Food and Feeding Stuffs) (England and Wales) Regulations* 1999 (F. and F. (MAFF) Ministry of Agriculture, Ed.). https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1999/3483/made
- MapChart. (2024). United Kingdom & Ireland Counties. https://www.mapchart.net/uk.html
- Matheron, M. E. (2015). *Biology and Management of Downy Mildew of Lettuce*. The University of Arizona, College of Agriculture and Life Sciences. extension.arizona.edu/pubs/az1682-2015.pdf
- Matson, M. E. H., Small, I. M., Fry, W. E., & Judelson, H. S. (2015). Metalaxyl Resistance in Phytophthora infestans: Assessing Role of RPA190 Gene and Diversity Within Clonal Lineages. *Phytopathology*®, 105(12), 1594–1600. https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto-05-15-0129r
- Mayer, C. (2006). Phobos (v3.3.12). http://www.rub.de/ecoevo/cm/cm_phobos.htm
- McDonald, B. A., & Linde, C. (2002). PATHOGEN POPULATION GENETICS, EVOLUTIONARY POTENTIAL, AND DURABLE RESISTANCE. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 40(1), 349–379. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.40.120501.101443
- Meagher, R. J., Priye, A., Light, Y. K., Huang, C., & Wang, E. (2018). Impact of primer dimers and self-amplifying hairpins on reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification detection of viral RNA. *The Analyst*, 143(8), 1924–1933. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7an01897e
- Meunier, C., Darolti, I., Reimegård, J., Mank, J. E., & Johannesson, H. (2022). Nuclear-specific gene expression in heterokaryons of the filamentous ascomycete Neurospora tetrasperma. *Proc Biol Sci*, 289(1980), 20220971. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2022.0971
- Meyers, B. C., Chin, D. B., Shen, K. A., Sivaramakrishnan, S., Lavelle, D. O., Zhang, Z., & Michelmore, R. W. (1998). The Major Resistance Gene Cluster in Lettuce Is Highly Duplicated and Spans Several Megabases. *The Plant Cell*, 10(11), 1817–1832. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.10.11.1817

- Michelmore, R. W., & Ingram, D. S. (1980). Heterothallism in Bremia-Lactucae. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 75(Aug), 47–56. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1016/S0007-1536(80)80193-8
- Michelmore, R. W., & Ingram, D. S. (1981). Recovery of progeny following sexual reproduction of Bremia lactucae. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 77(1), 131– 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0007-1536(81)80187-8
- Michelmore, R. W., & Ingram, D. S. (1982). Secondary Homothallism in Bremia-Lactucae. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 78(Feb), 1–9. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1016/S0007-1536(82)80070-3
- Michelmore, R. W., Norwood, J. M., Ingram, D. S., Crute, I. R., & Nicholson, P. (1984). The inheritance of virulence in Bremia lactucae to match resistance factors 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10 and 11 in lettuce (Lactuca sativa). *Plant Pathology*, 33(3), 301–315. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.1984.tb01325.x
- Michelmore, R. W., & Sansome, E. R. (1982). Cytological studies of heterothallism and secondary homothallism in Bremia lactucae. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 79(2), 291–297. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(82)80116-2
- Michelmore, R. W., & Wong, J. (2008). Classical and molecular genetics of Bremia lactucae, cause of lettuce downy mildew. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 122(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-008-9305-2
- Mieslerova, B., Lebeda, A., Petrzelova, I., & Korbelova, P. (2013). Incidence of Lettuce Downy Mildew (Bremia lactucae) and Powdery Mildew (Golovinomyces cichoracearum) in Natural Populations of Prickly Lettuce (Lactuca serriola). *Plant Protection Science*, 49, S24– S32. https://doi.org/10.17221/51/2013-Pps
- Mikel, M. A. (2007). Genealogy of Contemporary North American Lettuce. *HortScience Horts*, 42(3), 489. https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.42.3.489
- Mikel, M. A. (2013). Genetic composition of contemporary proprietary U.S. lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) cultivars. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 60(1), 89–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-012-9818-6

- Miller, A. D., Nitschke, C., Weeks, A. R., Weatherly, W. L., Heyes, S. D., Sinclair, S. J., Holland,
 O. J., Stevenson, A., Broadhurst, L., Hoebee, S. E., Sherman, C. D. H., & Morgan, J. W.
 (2020). Genetic data and climate niche suitability models highlight the vulnerability of a functionally important plant species from south-eastern Australia. *Evolutionary Applications*, *13*(8), 2014–2029. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12958
- Montazar, A., Cahn, M., & Putman, A. (2019). Research Advances in Adopting Drip Irrigation for California Organic Spinach: Preliminary Findings. In *Agriculture* (Vol. 9, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture9080177
- Morgan, W. M. (1978). Germination of Bremia lactucae oospores. Transactions of the British Mycological Society, 71(2), 337–340. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(78)80120-X
- Morgan, W. M. (1983). Viability of Bremia lactucae oospores and stimulation of their germination by lettuce seedlings. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 80(3), 403– 408. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(83)80036-9
- Mou, B., Hayes, R. J., & Ryder, E. J. (2007). Crisphead Lettuce Breeding Lines with Resistance to Corky Root and Lettuce Mosaic Virus. *HortScience Horts*, 42(3), 701–703. https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.42.3.701
- Müller K, & Wickham H. (2023). tibble: Simple Data Frames. (3.1.6). https://tibble.tidyverse.org/
- Nei, M. (1978). ESTIMATION OF AVERAGE HETEROZYGOSITY AND GENETIC DISTANCE FROM A SMALL NUMBER OF INDIVIDUALS. *Genetics*, 89(3), 583–590. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/89.3.583
- Nipitwattanaphon, M., Swatdipong, A., Hasin, S., & Wang, J. (2020). Population Genetic and Social Structure Survey of Solenopsis geminata in Thailand. *Zool Stud*, 59, e22. https://doi.org/10.6620/zs.2020.59-22
- Nordskog, B., Elameen, A., Gadoury, D. M., & Hermansen, A. (2014). Virulence characteristics of Bremia lactucae populations in Norway. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 139(4), 679–686. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-014-0422-9

- Nordskog, B., Gadoury, D. M., Seem, R. C., & Hermansen, A. (2007). Impact of diurnal periodicity, temperature, and light on sporulation of Bremia lactucae. *Phytopathology*, 97(8), 979–986. https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-97-8-0979
- Norwood, J. M., & Crute, I. R. (1983). Infection of lettuce by oospores of Bremia lactucae. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, *81*(1), 144–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0007-1536(83)80214-9
- Notomi, T., Mori, Y., Tomita, N., & Kanda, H. (2015). Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP): principle, features, and future prospects. *Journal of Microbiology*, 53(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-015-4656-9
- Notomi, T., Okayama, H., Masubuchi, H., Yonekawa, T., Watanabe, K., Amino, N., & Hase, T. (2000). Loop-mediated isothermal amplification of DNA. *NUCLEIC ACIDS RESEARCH*, *28*(12). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/28.12.e63
- Noumedem, J. A. K., Djeussi, D. E., Hritcu, L., Mihasan, M., & Kuete, V. (2017). Lactuca sativa. In V. Kuete (Ed.), *Medicinal Spices and Vegetables from Africa* (pp. 437–449). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809286-6.00020-0.
- Nutz, S., Döll, K., & Karlovsky, P. (2011). Determination of the LOQ in real-time PCR by receiver operating characteristic curve analysis: application to qPCR assays for Fusarium verticillioides and F. proliferatum. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 401(2), 717–726. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-011-5089-x
- Optigene. (2018). *Determining the Detection Limits of a LAMP Assay* http://www.optigene.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Determining-the-Detection-Limits-of-LAMP-Assay-V1.0.pdf
- Oswald, P. H. (2000). Historical records of Lactuca serriola L. and L. virosa L. in Britain, with special reference to Cambridgeshire (vc 29). *Watsonia*, 23, 149–159. http://archive.bsbi.org.uk/Wats23p149.pdf
- Paradis, E., & Schliep, K. (2019). ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics*, 35(3), 526–528. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty633

- Pariaud, B., Ravigné, V., Halkett, F., Goyeau, H., Carlier, J., & Lannou, C. (2009). Aggressiveness and its role in the adaptation of plant pathogens. *Plant Pathology*, 58(3), 409–424. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2009.02039.x
- Parida, M., Sannarangaiah, S., Dash, P. K., Rao, P. V. L., & Morita, K. (2008). Loop mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP): a new generation of innovative gene amplification technique; perspectives in clinical diagnosis of infectious diseases. *Reviews in Medical Virology*, 18(6), 407–421. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.593
- Parra, L., Maisonneuve, B., Lebeda, A., Schut, J., Christopoulou, M., Jeuken, M., McHale, L., Truco, M. J., Crute, I., & Michelmore, R. W. (2016). Rationalization of genes for resistance to Bremia lactucae in lettuce. *Euphytica*, 210(3), 309–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-016-1687-1
- Paul, N. D., Moore, J. P., McPherson, M., Lambourne, C., Croft, P., Heaton, J. C., & Wargent,
 J. J. (2012). Ecological responses to UV radiation: interactions between the biological effects of UV on plants and on associated organisms. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 145(4), 565–581. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2011.01553.x
- Petrželová, I., & Lebeda, A. (2004). Occurrence of Bremia lactucae in Natural Populations of Lactuca serriola. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 152(7), 391–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2004.00859.x
- Petrželová, I., Lebeda, A., & Kosman, E. (2013). Distribution, Disease Level and Virulence Variation of Bremia lactucae on Lactuca sativa in the Czech Republic in the Period 1999– 2011. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 161(7–8), 503–514. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jph.12098
- Pettitt, T., Lees, A., Wood, T., & Wedgwood, E. (2020). CP 184 Report Annual 2019 Downy Mildew Late Blight Control-1. https://archive.ahdb.org.uk/downy-mildew-late-blightcontrol-cp-184
- Pettitt, T., Lees, A., Wood, T., & Wedgwood, E. (2023). *CP* 184 Final Report. https://archive.ahdb.org.uk/downy-mildew-late-blight-control-cp-184

- Plantum. (2021, June 1). Press Release IBEB EU: A new race of Bremia lactucae, Bl: 37EU identified and denominated in Europe. Plantum. https://plantum.nl/press-release-ibeb-eu-a-newrace-of-bremia-lactucae-bl-37eu-identified-and-denominated-in-europe/
- Pohlert T. (2014). *The Pairwise Multiple Comparison of Mean Ranks Package (PMCMR)* (1.9.4). https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=PMCMR
- Powlesland, R. (1954). On the biology of Bremia lactucae. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 37(4), 362–371. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(54)80019-2
- Powlesland, R., & Brown, W. (1954). The Fungicidal Control of Lettuce Downy Mildew, caused by Bremia lactucae. Annals of Applied Biology, 41(3), 461–469. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1954.tb01145.x

QIAGEN. (2009). Type-it Microsatellite PCR Handbook.

- Raeder, U., & Broda, P. (1985). Rapid preparation of DNA from filamentous fungi. Letters in Applied Microbiology, 1(1), 17–20. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.1985.tb01479.x
- Raid R. N., & Sui D. D. (2012). Management of lettuce downy mildew with fungicides. *Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society*, 125, 218–221.
- Red Tractor Assurance. (2015). Crop Module: Lettuce (protected) (Issue 2, pp. 1–16).
- Red Tractor Assurance. (2016). Crop Module: Lettuce (field) (Issue 2, pp. 1-20).
- Reuveni, M., & Cohen, Y. R. (2020). Essential Tea Tree Oil Activity against Bremia lactucae in Lettuce. In *Agronomy* (Vol. 10, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10060836
- Rönspies, M., Schindele, P., & Puchta, H. (2021). CRISPR/Cas-mediated chromosome engineering: opening up a new avenue for plant breeding. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 72(2), 177–183. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/eraa463
- Samils, N., Oliva, J., & Johannesson, H. (2014). Nuclear interactions in a heterokaryon: insight from the model Neurospora tetrasperma. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 281(1786), 20140084. https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rspb.2014.0084

- Sargent, J. A., Ingram, D. S., & Tommerup, I. C. (1977). Oospore Development in Bremia-Lactucae-Regel - Ultrastructural-Study. *Proceedings of the Royal Society Series B-Biological Sciences*, 198(1131), 129-+. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1098/rspb.1977.0089
- Sargent, J. A., Tommerup, I. C., & Ingram, D. S. (1973). The penetration of a susceptible lettuce variety by the downy mildew fungus Bremia lactucae Regel. *Physiological Plant Pathology*, 3(2), 231–234. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-4059(73)90085-4
- Scherm, H., Koike, S. T., Laemmlen, F. F., & van Bruggen, A. H. C. (1995). Field evaluation of fungicide spray advisories against lettuce downy mildew (Bremia lactucae) based on measured or forecast morning leaf wetness. *Plant Disease*, 79(5), 511–516.
- Scherm, H., & van Bruggen, A. H. C. (1993). Response-Surface Models for Germination and Infection of Bremia-Lactucae, the Fungus Causing Downy Mildew of Lettuce. *Ecological Modelling*, 65(3–4), 281–296. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1016/0304-3800(93)90084-6
- Scherm, H., & van Bruggen, A. H. C. (1994). Effects of Fluctuating Temperatures on the Latent Period of Lettuce Downy Mildew (Bremia-Lactucae). *Phytopathology*, 84(8), 853–859. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1094/Phyto-84-853
- Scherm, H., & van Bruggen, A. H. C. (1995a). Comparative Study of Microclimate and Downy Mildew Development in Subsurface Drip- and Furrow-Irrigated Lettuce Fields in California. *Plant Disease*, 79, 620–625. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-79-0620.
- Scherm, H., & van Bruggen, A. H. C. (1995b). Concurrent Spore Release and Infection of Lettuce by Bremia-Lactucae during Mornings with Prolonged Leaf Wetness. *Phytopathology*, 85(5), 552–555. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1094/Phyto-85-552
- Schettini, T. M., Legg, E. J., & Michelmore, R. W. (1991). Insensitivity to Metalaxyl in California Populations of Bremia-Lactucae and Resistance of California Lettuce Cultivars to Downy Mildew. *Phytopathology*, 81(1), 64–70. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1094/Phyto-81-64
- Schoch, C. L., Ciufo, S., Domrachev, M., Hotton, C. L., Kannan, S., Khovanskaya, R., Leipe, D., McVeigh, R., O'Neill, K., Robbertse, B., Sharma, S., Soussov, V., Sullivan, J. P., Sun, L., Turner, S., & Karsch-Mizrachi, I. (2020). NCBI Taxonomy: a comprehensive update on

curation, resources and tools. *Database* (*Oxford*), 2020. https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baaa062

Science, R. A. (2006). GS Guide to Amplicon Sequencing. RocheDiagnostics GmbHUSM-00022.B.

- Shannon, C. E. (2001). A Mathematical Theory of Communication. *SIGMOBILE Mob. Comput. Commun. Rev.*, 5(1), 3–55. https://doi.org/10.1145/584091.584093
- Sheane, R., McCosker, C., & Lillywhite, R. (2017). Food waste in primary production a preliminary study on strawberries and lettuce. (WRAP, Ed.). https://wrap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-10/WRAP-Food_waste_in_primary_production_report.pdf
- Sicard, D., Legg, E., Brown, S., Babu, N. K., Ochoa, O., Sudarshana, P., & Michelmore, R. W. (2003). A genetic map of the lettuce downy mildew pathogen, Bremia lactucae, constructed from molecular markers and avirulence genes. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 39(1), 16–30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1087-1845(03)00005-7
- Simko, I. (2019). Genetic variation and relationship among content of vitamins, pigments, and sugars in baby leaf lettuce. *Food Science & Nutrition*, 7(10), 3317–3326. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.1196
- Simko, I., Hayes, R. J., & Furbank, R. T. (2016). Non-destructive Phenotyping of Lettuce Plants in Early Stages of Development with Optical Sensors. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01985
- Simko, I., Zhou, Y. G., & Brandl, M. T. (2015). Downy mildew disease promotes the colonization of romaine lettuce by Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica. *Bmc Microbiology*, 15. https://doi.org/ARTN 19 10.1186/s12866-015-0360-5
- Simpson, E. H. (1949). Measurement of Diversity. *Nature*, 163(4148), 688. https://doi.org/10.1038/163688a0
- Souza, L. N., Marin, M. V, Franco, C. A., Silva, E. H. C., Caprio, C. H., Panizzi, R. C., Braz, L. T., & Lebeda, A. (2022). Monitoring virulence and sexual compatibility in Brazilian Bremia lactucae populations. *Plant Pathology*, 71(2), 446–457. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.13478

- Spring, O., Gomez-Zeledon, J., Hadziabdic, D., Trigiano, R. N., Thines, M., & Lebeda, A. (2018). Biological Characteristics and Assessment of Virulence Diversity in Pathosystems of Economically Important Biotrophic Oomycetes. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 37(6), 439–495. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2018.1530848
- Statista. (2023). Chilled salads & vegetables: Market value in the United Kingdom 2007-2021 (2/01/2023). Statista Research Department. https://www.statista.com/statistics/281670/value-of-chilled-prepared-leafy-salads-andvegetables-in-the-uk/
- Stevens, R. B. (1960). Plant Pathology, an Advanced Treatise. In J. G. Horsfall & A. E. Dimond (Eds.), Plant Pathology, an Advanced Treatise, (Vol. 3, pp. 357–429). Academic Press.
- Stoddart, J. A., & Taylor, J. F. (1988). Genotypic diversity: estimation and prediction in samples. *Genetics*, 118(4), 705–711. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/118.4.705
- Su, H., van Bruggen, A. H. C., & Subbarao, K. V. (2000). Spore Release of Bremia lactucae on Lettuce Is Affected by Timing of Light Initiation and Decrease in Relative Humidity. *Phytopathology*®, 90(1), 67–71. https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto.2000.90.1.67
- Su, H., van Bruggen, A. H. C., Subbarao, K. V, & Scherm, H. (2004). Sporulation of Bremia lactucae affected by temperature, relative humidity, and wind in controlled conditions. *Phytopathology*, 94(4), 396–401. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1094/Phyto.2004.94.4.396
- Subbarao, K. V, Davis, R. M., Gilbertson, R. L., & Raid, R. N. (2018). PART I: Infectious Diseases. In Compendium of Lettuce Diseases and Pests, Second Edition (pp. 32–34). https://doi.org/10.1094/9780890545782.002
- Subbarao, K. V, Hubbard, J. C., & Schulbach, K. F. (1997). Comparison of lettuce diseases and yield under subsurface drip and furrow irrigation. *Phytopathology*, 87(8), 877–883. https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto.1997.87.8.877
- Taylor, A., Jackson, A. C., & Clarkson, J. P. (2018). First Report of Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lactucae Race 4 Causing Lettuce Wilt in England and Ireland. *Plant Disease*, 103(5), 1033. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-10-18-1858-PDN

- Temnykh, S., DeClerck, G., Lukashova, A., Lipovich, L., Cartinhour, S., & McCouch, S. (2001). Computational and experimental analysis of microsatellites in rice (Oryza sativa L.): frequency, length variation, transposon associations, and genetic marker potential. *Genome Res*, 11(8), 1441–1452. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.184001
- Thiessen, L. D., Keune, J. A., Neill, T. M., Turechek, W. W., Grove, G. G., & Mahaffee, W. F. (2016). Development of a grower-conducted inoculum detection assay for management of grape powdery mildew. *Plant Pathology*, 65(2), 238–249. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12421
- Thines, M. (2014). Phylogeny and evolution of plant pathogenic oomycetes-a global overview. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 138(3), 431–447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-013-0366-5
- Thines, M., & Choi, Y. J. (2016). Evolution, Diversity, and Taxonomy of the Peronosporaceae, with Focus on the Genus Peronospora. *Phytopathology*, 106(1), 6–18. https://doi.org/10.1094/Phyto-05-15-0127-Rvw
- Thines, M., Runge, F., Telle, S., & Voglmayr, H. (2010). Phylogenetic investigations in the downy mildew genus Bremia reveal several distinct lineages and a species with a presumably exceptional wide host range. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 128(1), 81– 89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-010-9632-y
- Thioulouse, J., Dray, S., Dufour, A.-B., Siberchicot, A., Jombart, T., & Pavoine, S. (2018). Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data with ade4. Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8850-1
- Thomas, D. T. T., & Puthur, J. T. (2017). UV radiation priming: A means of amplifying the inherent potential for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 138, 57–66. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2017.03.003
- Tör, M., Wood, T., Webb, A., Göl, D., & McDowell, J. M. (2023). Recent developments in plantdowny mildew interactions. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology*, 148–149, 42–50. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2023.01.010

- Tourte, L., Smith, R. F., Murdock, J., & Sumner, D. A. (2017). SAMPLE COSTS TO PRODUCE AND HARVEST ICEBERG LETTUCE (U. of C. A. and N. Resources, C. E. and A. I. Center, & U. C. D. D. of A. and R. Economics, Eds.; pp. 1-17). https://coststudyfiles.ucdavis.edu/uploads/cs_public/52/c9/52c99335-fcc8-44fe-9ce0-6a0bd5fbe006/2017headlettuce-final_-_5-25-2017.pdf
- Trimboli, D. S., & Nieuwenhuis, J. (2011). New races of Bremia lactucae on lettuce in Australia. *Australasian Plant Disease Notes*, 6(1), 62–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13314-011-0021-y
- Turini, T. A., Joseph, S. V, Baldwin, R. A., Koike, S. T., Natwick, E. T., Ploeg, A. T., Smith, R.
 F., Dara, S. K., Fennimore, S. A., LeStrange, M., & Westerdahl, B. B. (2017). UC IPM Pest
 Management Guidelines: Lettuce. In *Publication 3450 Davis, CA*. (pp. 65–66). UC ANR.
 https://ipm.ucanr.edu/agriculture/lettuce/
- van Hese, N. a, Huang, C. J., De Vleesschauwer, D., Delaere, I., Pauwelyn, E., Bleyaert, P., & Hofte, M. (2016). Evolution and distribution of virulence characteristics of Belgian Bremia lactucae populations between 2008 and 2013. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 144(2), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-015-0779-4
- van Soest, L. J. M., & Boukema, I. W. (1997). Genetic resources conservation of wild relatives with a users' perspective. *Bocconea*, *7*, 305–316. https://doi.org/10.7320/Bocc
- Vega-Polo, P., Cobo, M. M., Argudo, A., Gutierrez, B., Rowntree, J., & Torres, M. L. (2020). Characterizing the genetic diversity of the Andean blueberry (Vaccinium floribundum Kunth.) across the Ecuadorian Highlands. *Plos One*, 15(12), e0243420. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0243420
- Verhoeff, K. (1960). On the parasitism of bremia lactucae REGEL on lettuce. *Tijdschrift Over Plantenziekten*, 66(3), 133–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01987251
- Vieira, M. L., Santini, L., Diniz, A. L., & Munhoz Cde, F. (2016). Microsatellite markers: what they mean and why they are so useful. *Genet Mol Biol*, 39(3), 312–328. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4685-gmb-2016-0027
- Villari, C., Mahaffee, W. F., Mitchell, T. K., Pedley, K. F., Pieck, M. L., & Hand, F. P. (2016). Early Detection of Airborne Inoculum of Magnaporthe oryzae in Turfgrass Fields Using

a Quantitative LAMP Assay. *Plant Disease, 101*(1), 170–177. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-06-16-0834-RE

- Volynchikova, E., & Kim, K. D. (2022). Biological Control of Oomycete Soilborne Diseases
 Caused by *Phytophthora capsici, Phytophthora infestans*, and *Phytophthora nicotianae* in
 Solanaceous Crops. *Mycobiology*, 50(5), 269–293.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/12298093.2022.2136333
- Wallace, R. W., Wszelaki, A. L., Miles, C. A., Cowan, J. S., Martin, J., Roozen, J., Gundersen,
 B., & Inglis, D. A. (2012). Lettuce Yield and Quality When Grown in High Tunnel and Open-Field Production Systems Under Three Diverse Climates. 22(5), 659. https://doi.org/10.21273/horttech.22.5.659
- Wang, X., Liu, Y., Liu, H., Pan, W., Ren, J., Zheng, X., Tan, Y., Chen, Z., Deng, Y., He, N., Chen, H., & Li, S. (2022). Recent advances and application of whole genome amplification in molecular diagnosis and medicine. *MedComm*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/mco2.116
- Wang, Z. H., Peng, H., & Kilian, N. (2013). Molecular phylogeny of the Lactuca alliance (Cichorieae subtribe Lactucinae, Asteraceae) with focus on their Chinese centre of diversity detects potential events of reticulation and chloroplast capture. *Plos One*, 8(12), e82692. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082692
- Watson, A., Ghosh, S., Williams, M. J., Cuddy, W. S., Simmonds, J., Rey, M.-D., Asyraf Md Hatta, M., Hinchliffe, A., Steed, A., Reynolds, D., Adamski, N. M., Breakspear, A., Korolev, A., Rayner, T., Dixon, L. E., Riaz, A., Martin, W., Ryan, M., Edwards, D., ... Hickey, L. T. (2018). Speed breeding is a powerful tool to accelerate crop research and breeding. *Nature Plants*, 4(1), 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-017-0083-8
- Watson, R. J., & Blackwell, B. (2000). Purification and characterization of a common soil component which inhibits the polymerase chain reaction. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 46(7), 633–642. https://doi.org/10.1139/w00-043
- Wei, Z., Zhu, S.-X., van den Berg, R. G., Bakker, F. T., & Schranz, M. E. (2017). Phylogenetic relationships within Lactuca L. (Asteraceae), including African species, based on chloroplast DNA sequence comparisons. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, 64(1), 55– 71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10722-015-0332-5

- West, J. S., & Kimber, R. B. E. (2015). Innovations in air sampling to detect plant pathogens. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *166*(1), 4–17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/aab.12191
- Whitaker, T. W. (1969). Salads for Everyone: A Look at the Lettuce Plant. *Economic Botany*, 23(3), 261–264. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4253063
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis (3.4.2). Springer-Verlag New York. https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org
- Wickham, H. (2020). *reshape2: Flexibly Reshape Data: A Reboot of the Reshape Package* (1.4.4). https://github.com/hadley/reshape
- Wickham H, François R, Henry L, Müller K, & Vaughan D. (2023). *dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation* (1.1.4). https://dplyr.tidyverse.org
- Wong, Y.-P., Othman, S., Lau, Y.-L., Radu, S., & Chee, H.-Y. (2018). Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP): a versatile technique for detection of micro-organisms. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 124(3), 626–643. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.13647
- Wu, B. M., Subbarao, K. V, & van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2000). Factors affecting the survival of Bremia lactucae sporangia deposited on lettuce leaves. *Phytopathology*, 90(8), 827–833. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1094/Phyto.2000.90.8.827
- Wu, B. M., Subbarao, K. V, van Bruggen, A. H. C., & Koike, S. T. (2001). Comparison of three fungicide spray advisories for lettuce downy mildew. *Plant Disease*, 85(8), 895–900.
- Wu, B. M., van Bruggen, A. H. C., Subbarao, K. V, & Pennings, G. G. H. (2001). Spatial Analysis of Lettuce Downy Mildew Using Geostatistics and Geographic Information Systems. *Phytopathology*®, 91(2), 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto.2001.91.2.134
- Yuen, J. E., & Lorbeer, J. W. (1987). Natural and Experimental Production of Oospores of Bremia lactucae in Lettuce in New York. *Plant Disease*, 71, 63964. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1094/PD-71-0063
- Zhan, J., Linde, C. C., Jürgens, T., Merz, U., Steinebrunner, F., & McDonald, B. A. (2005). Variation for neutral markers is correlated with variation for quantitative traits in the plant pathogenic fungus Mycosphaerella graminicola. *Molecular Ecology*, 14(9), 2683– 2693. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02638.x

- Zhang, N. W., Pelgrom, K., Niks, R. E., Visser, R. G. F., & Jeuken, M. J. W. (2009). Three Combined Quantitative Trait Loci from Nonhost Lactuca saligna Are Sufficient to Provide Complete Resistance of Lettuce Against Bremia lactucae. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*®, 22(9), 1160–1168. https://doi.org/10.1094/mpmi-22-9-1160
- Zohary, D. (1991). The wild genetic resources of cultivated lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.). *Euphytica*, 53(1), 31–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00032029

Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

Appendix

i. DNA extraction of aerial sampler samples

DNA was extracted from field samples using the MasterPure[™] Yeast DNA Purification Kit (Lucigen, Cambio), following the manufacturer's instructions with some minor modifications. If samples had high Vaseline[®] debris evident in the first centrifuge step, a repeat of centrifuging the sample for 2 minutes at 13,200 rpm and transferring into a new 1.5 ml Eppendorf was used to ensure as much Vaseline[®] as possible was removed whilst not compromising on DNA yield.

To begin the process, 300 μ l YCL mixture was added to samples, vortexed, then incubated on a hot plate for 15 minutes at 65°C. The samples were vortexed briefly after the incubation before resting on ice for 5 minutes. Aerial sampler collection components (Rotorods/tape) were then removed using forceps cleaned with 70% ethanol mixture between each sample. Following this 150 μ l MPC was added and vortexed briefly before centrifuging for 10 minutes at 13,200 rpm. The supernatant was transferred into a 1.5 μ l Eppendorf tube.

If high Vaseline[®] precipitate was present, the sample was centrifuged for a further 2 minutes at 13,200rpm and transferred to another 1.5 μ l Eppendorf tube. 500 μ l of Isopropanol was added and gently inverted till well mixed. Samples were then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 13,200 rpm, before carefully discarding the supernatant leaving behind a pellet. The pellet was washed using 500 μ l of ethanol (70%), during which the tube was flicked to suspend the pellet, so that all sides of the pellet came in contact with the ethanol. A brief spin down was used to ensure pellet was at the bottom of the Eppendorf before carefully removing the ethanol. A repeat centrifuge for 2 minutes at 13,200 rpm was used to remove excess liquid. Samples were then left to dry for 20-30 minutes at room temperature, with the lids open on the bench to allow the ethanol to evaporate. When liquid was no longer present DNA was resuspended in 35 μ l 1 x TE buffer and then stored at -20°C.

Population diversity and epidemiology of *Bremia lactucae* the cause of Lettuce Downy Mildew.

ii. Binary data-set rules

Sorting out the binary data set to two values could add subjectivity and skew the data, thus a list of parameters is needed to make sure they are best represented.

- (i) **Remove missing values:** this is likely a plating error or contamination during plating.
- (ii) Choose data from the best run: (i.e., the positives controls amplify, with the majority of the standards appearing in clear distances, and the negative controls don't amplify), some runs were retained in the data set as the positive's controls did come up, but due to degradation they didn't come up as early as they should and samples stock is limited
- (iii) If multiple runs were all similar, then the following applied:
 - **a.** If the reps are 50:50, the sample was assigned 1:1.
 - b. If the reps were 1:3 split, then:
 - i. If the 1 was a strong positive in LAMP it was considered an error 0:1
 - **ii. If the 1 was positive** in LAMP and all qPCR reps were positive, it is likely a low positive that just made the threshold to account for this 1:1.
 - **iii.** If the 1 was positive in LAMP, and the 3 were low positives (had the right melting temperature but failed the C^T threshold marginally- thus counted negative) **the sample would be marked as 1:1.**
 - **iv.** If the 1 was a negative or a low positive it was considered an error, and the samples is positive.